

PREDICTORS OF COVID-19 VACCINE ACCEPTANCE, DELAY, AND REFUSAL:

Who accepts, delays, or refuses COVID-19 vaccines?

A Rapid Evidence Assessment

January 2023



UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight tackles the questions of greatest importance for children, both current and emerging. It drives change through research and foresight on a wide range of child rights issues, sparking global discourse and actively engaging young people in its work.

UNICEF Innocenti equips thought leaders and decision-makers with the evidence they need to build a better, safer world for children. The office undertakes research on unresolved and emerging issues, using primary and secondary data that represent the voices of children and families themselves. It uses foresight to set the agenda for children, including horizon scanning, trends analysis and scenario development. The office produces a diverse and dynamic library of high-level reports, analyses and policy papers, and provides a platform for debate and advocacy on a wide range of child rights issues.

UNICEF Innocenti provides, for every child, answers to their most pressing concerns.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of UNICEF. This paper has been peer reviewed both externally and within UNICEF.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to utilize larger portions or the full publication should be addressed to the Communications Unit at: researchpublications@unicef.org.

Any part of this publication may be freely reproduced if accompanied by the following citation: Predictors of Social Distancing to Prevent the Community Spread of SARS-CoV-2: Who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context? A Rapid Evidence Assessment, London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre. UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight, Florence, 2022.

This research was commissioned and funded by UNICEF and undertaken by London Metropolitan University's Performance with Purpose Research Centre.

London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre

London Metropolitan University's Centre for Performance with Purpose is located within the Guildhall School of Business and Law. The Centre focuses on research that addresses real societal challenges, such as inclusion, social value and equity, and applies business and management techniques to support effective organizational performance in tackling social problems. The research team was led by Dr. Stephen Hills and included Dr. Justin Webb, Dr. Anna Baker, Dr. Somayeh Pouransari and Alexandros Semertzi. For more information please visit: https://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research-centre/

UNICEF Europe and Central Asia

UNICEF works with and for disadvantaged children and adolescents across 22 countries and territories in Europe and Central Asia where we have country programmes. We also have programmes to respond to the needs of refugee and migrant women and children in the Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland and Slovakia, as well as engagement with institutions across many more countries to uphold the rights of children. In line with our mandate, shaped by the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), we work to ensure that no child is left out of economic and social progress.

Correspondence should be addressed to:

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani, 58 50121 Florence, Italy

Tel: (+39) 055 20 330/Fax: (+39) 055 2033 220

researchpublications@unicef.org

www.unicef-irc.org

- @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and Youtube
- © 2023 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Graphic design by Mason Riley, London Metropolitan University

CONTENTS

01 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
02 INTRODUCTION	9
03 METHODOLOGY	11
04 EVIDENCE	17
05 WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	23
5.1 Demographics	24
5.1.1 Age	24
5.1.2 Sex/gender	43
5.1.3 Education	59
5.1.4 Income	73
5.1.5 Race/ethnicity	84
5.1.6 Marital status	93
5.1.7 Living area	99
5.1.8 Having children	105
5.1.9 COVID-19 infection	111
06 WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	116
6.1 Psychological capability	117
6.1.1 COVID-19 knowledge	117
6.1.2 Social media	124
6.2 Social opportunity	131
6.2.1 Political ideology	131
6.3 Reflective motivation	137
6.3.1 Perceived vaccine safety	137
6.3.2 Perceived vaccine efficacy	144
6.3.3 Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19	150
6.3.4 Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19	158
6.3.5 Trust in healthcare professionals	167
6.3.6 Trust in government	173
07 CONCLUSIONS	179
7.1 Who is more likely to delay or refuse vaccination and in what context?	180
7.2 Why are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination and in what context?	183
08 POLICY IMPLICATIONS	187
8.1Targeting those more likely to be vaccine hesitant	188
8.2 Improving psychological capability	192
8.3 Improving social opportunity	194
8.4 Improving reflective motivation	196
09 REFERENCES	200

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Background

The arrival of effective COVID-19 vaccines was expected to be the beginning of the end of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as vaccine availability has increased in much of the world, challenges remain related to acceptance and up-take of COVID-19 vaccines. This rapid evidence assessment (REA) seeks to understand the existing evidence about who delays or refuses COVID-19 vaccination, why and in what contexts, to inform tailored policies and interventions that support vaccination acceptance and uptake wherever the COVID-19 vaccine is available.

Research questions

- Who is more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?
- Why are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?
- 3. In what contexts are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model proposes that there are three components that play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change behaviour. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing the behaviour, have the physical and social opportunity to perform the behaviour and the motivation to perform the behaviour such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing behaviours.

Methodology

A systematic search of the literature was undertaken to identify empirical research in journal articles written in English, published up to and including 30 June 2021, which investigated factors associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy or resistance. Keywords and search strings were designed and tested to capture this focus and a systematic search was undertaken in PubMed Central, Web of Science and Google Scholar, which returned 1,394 studies about vaccine hesitancy. The returned articles underwent title, abstract and full text screening against the inclusion and exclusion criteria before a quality appraisal determined the final list of 56 unique studies to be included in this REA. These studies underwent thematic analysis to establish factors associated with vaccine hesitancy before evidence was segmented by region, cultural groups and income of countries to establish the contexts in which factors were predictive of vaccine hesitancy, using the COM-B model as a theoretical framework.

Who are more likely to delay or refuse vaccination and in what contexts?

Age: Younger age groups are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [55 per cent of studies; 26 out of 47], as particularly evident in European [71 per cent of studies, 17 out of 24] and the Germanic Europe cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4] countries.

Sex/gender: Females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [69 per cent of studies, 31 out of 45], as particularly evident in Middle East cultural group countries [100 per cent of studies, 7 out of 7].

Education: The relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive [47 per cent of studies, 5 16 out of 34 found that education is not predictive; 41 per cent of studies, 14 out of 34 found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases].

Income: People with lower income are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [57 per cent of studies, 12 out of 21], as particularly evident in European [71 per cent of studies, 5 out of 7] and Anglo cultural group [77 per cent of studies, 10 out of 13] countries.

Race/ethnicity: Members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant [65 per cent of studies, 11 out of 17].

Marital status: Unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [63 per cent of studies, 5 out of 8].

Living area: Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [62 per cent of studies, 5 out of 8], as particularly evident in European [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4] and high income [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5] countries.

Having children: Whether someone has children or not is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [50 per cent of studies, 5 out of 10].

COVID-19 Infection: Previously having had COVID-19 is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6], as particularly evident in European [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4] and high income [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6] countries.

Why are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination and in what contexts?

Psychological capability: Our psychological capability to perform a behaviour.

COVID-19 knowledge: People with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more likely to be vaccine hesitant: [73 per cent of studies, 8 out of 11].

Social media: Users of social media for COVID-19 information are most likely to be vaccine hesitant [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Social opportunity: External social opportunities required to make performing a behaviour possible, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions.

Political ideology: Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [70 per cent of studies, 7 out of 10].

Reflective motivation: The reflective and internal processes by which we evaluate existing situations, influencing our decision-making and thus behaviours.

Perceived vaccine safety: People who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [100 per cent of studies, 16 out of 16], as particularly evident in North American [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6], Asian [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5] European [100% of studies, 4 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 7 out of 7] and high income [100 per cent of studies, 13 out of 13] countries.

Perceived vaccine efficacy: People who perceive the vaccine to be less effective are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [80% of studies, 4 out of 5], as particularly evident in high income countries [75% of studies, 3 out of 4].

Perceived vulnerability: People who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [79 per cent of studies, 11 out of 14], as particularly evident in North American [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4], European [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5 studies] and high income [73 per cent of studies, 8 out of 11] countries.

Perceived susceptibility: People who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more likely to be vaccine hesitant as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

Trust in healthcare professionals: People who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6], as particularly evident in European [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5], Anglo cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5] and high income [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6] countries.

Trust in government: People who have less trust in the government are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Policy implications

Support younger age groups to receive the COVID-19 vaccine: Health services should present easy and convenient opportunities to receive a COVID-19 vaccine. For example, the NHS in the UK is using pop-up vaccination sites near young people's most common work, study and leisure locations. Also, smoothing out the registration process for an appointment makes it easier to get a vaccine. For example, the NHS in the UK is making it easier to book and cancel appointments online.

Support females to receive the COVID-19 vaccine: Females may be concerned that the COVID-19 vaccine poses a threat to fertility or that the vaccine should not be taken during pregnancy or when breastfeeding, related to uncertainty at the start of the vaccine rollout when there was not enough data to be as conclusive about the safety of the vaccine for pregnant women and breastfeeding women. Doctors and midwives should assure pregnant and breastfeeding women of the safety of the vaccine based upon the extensive data that is now available, communicating that having COVID-19 during pregnancy carries a far higher risk than having the vaccine, whereby pre-term births, stillbirths and newborn deaths are more common among women who recently had COVID-19.

Support low income people and households to receive the COVID-19 vaccine: Low income people may not have the resources (e.g., time, transport, childcare) to access the vaccine, thus the vaccine should be taken to them, such as pop-up vaccination centres in areas of greater deprivation.

Increase COVID-19 knowledge and reduce acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories: Continued regulation of COVID-19 conspiracy theories on social media and other channels can help to limit the spread of information that is eroding COVID-19 knowledge. However, a more sustainable approach is empowering people to be able to think critically about information, to be able to distinguish fact from fiction. Schools should place an emphasis on teaching critical thinking, rather than attempting the futile task of converting vaccine-resistant people who are invested in conspiracy theories. Changing highly engrained beliefs in the short term is unlikely. Rather, there is a need to engage with the themes of power, personal freedom, agency, citizen against state and loss of traditional lifestyle, which anti-vax conspiracy theories revolve around and are now being extended to the climate change challenge. Such engagement can be undertaken in schools and universities, and town hall meetings.

Reduce reliance on social media for COVID-19 information:

Continued regulation of fake COVID-19 news on social media can help to limit the broadcasting of COVID-19 conspiracy theories. However, mega media corporations labelling pseudoscience as misleading may only support the beliefs of conspiracy theorists. Also, regulating the information shared in groups, such as WhatsApp groups, is much more of a challenge and is where most fake news and conspiracy theories are spread.

Depoliticise the vaccine, avoid mandates and diversify pro-vaccine messengers: Governments mandating vaccines serves to strengthen the political divide on vaccines and should be avoided wherever possible, with focus instead being on building trust and addressing concerns with receiving the vaccine. Diversifying the messengers, and using non-political figures to promote pro-vaccine messages will further depoliticise the vaccine. Right

wing and conservative leaders (especially when not in government) should be involved in promoting pro-vaccine messages to encourage vaccine uptake among right wing and conservative voters.

Communicate real-world safety data in a meaningful context: Transparent communication of trial and real-world data, focusing not just on the efficacy data, but also the safety data, is required for confidence in vaccine safety. Safety data should be put into context so that it can be more meaningful, such as providing comparable data on blood clot risk from the vaccine, versus COVID-19 itself and birth control pills, or even calculating the risk of hospitalization and death from a COVID-19 vaccine and comparing this with the risk of hospitalization and death from undertaking a car journey.

Communicate real-world efficacy data for transmission, hospitalizations and deaths when adhering to an appropriate vaccine schedule: Timely communication about the effectiveness of vaccines against new COVID-19 variants is critical to maintain confidence in the efficacy of vaccines so that, even where efficacy in transmission drops, the efficacy of the vaccines in limiting transmission and the spread of the virus is understood and that, even where efficacy in limiting transmission decreases, that efficacy in limiting hospitalizations and deaths remains very high. Furthermore, communication of efficacy data should also consider efficacy of number of doses and boosters, and how long protection can be expected to last for before it starts to wane, to build confidence in the vaccines when an appropriate vaccine schedule is followed. Real-world data, rather than trial data, should be used wherever possible to ensure communications are more meaningful.

Challenge beliefs of invulnerability: Communicate risks for groups who do not perceive themselves to be vulnerable to COVID-19, with a focus on different risk profiles dependent upon vaccination status. For example, hospital occupancy rates for different age groups segmented by vaccination status, so to reframe personal risk assessment to be about the risk of not receiving the vaccine, rather than about the risk of catching COVID-19. For example, in the first half of 2021 in the United Kingdom for every one death from COVID-19 in the vaccinated population, there were nearly 200 deaths from COVID-19 in the unvaccinated population. Deliver messages via age-appropriate and relevant people who previously considered themselves to be invulnerable until they were infected.

Understand historical reasons for lack of trust in medical professionals and diversify messengers: Research is required to understand why different groups have a lack of trust in healthcare professionals as a foundation from which trust can be rebuilt. For example, do certain groups face or have faced unethical and medical treatment in the past from healthcare professionals (e.g., the Tuskegee

Syphilis Study)? History may lead groups who are being prioritised to receive a vaccine due to age, health conditions and occupation to believe that they are again being used as guinea pigs for experimental drugs. Also, policymakers should seek to understand community hierarchies and local patterns of trust and deliver messages via age-appropriate, relevant and trusted people known to each target group.

Model COVID-19 protective behaviours and be transparent:

State-level research is required to understand if and why trust in a government is a barrier to vaccine acceptance to serve as a foundation from which to rebuild trust. Governments should model the behaviour, including receiving vaccines and engaging in other protective behaviours, that they ask their public to engage in, in order to maintain trust. Also, if a government is perceived to not accurately be reporting cases and deaths of COVID-19, it may be difficult to trust them with regard to a vaccine. Governments should be transparent and honest during a public health emergency to maintain trust.

INTRODUCTION



Background

The arrival of effective COVID-19 vaccines was expected to be the key intervention to bring about the end the COVID-19 pandemic (1, 2). However, as vaccine availability has increased in much of the world since vaccines first became available in December 2020, pockets of unvaccinated people continue to put health systems under pressure in the face of more contagious variants that have resulted in record numbers of infections. For example, in January 2021 when the United Kingdom experienced the peak of a wave of omicron variant infections, unvaccinated people represented only 9% of the United Kingdom's over-12 -years-old population (3), but accounted for an estimated 70% of the nearly 35,000 people hospitalized with COVID-19 in England (4).

As issues with COVID-19 vaccine supply and availability are increasingly resolved, the challenge now is supporting populations to get vaccinated. This requires encouraging people to accept and seek out COVID-19 vaccination services. This REA seeks to understand the existing evidence about who delays or refuses COVID-19 vaccination, why and in what contexts. The World Health Organization (WHO) uses the term 'vaccine hesitancy' to refer to the delay in acceptance or refusal of vaccination despite availability of vaccination services (5). Recognizing that the terminology of vaccine hesitancy is contested, this review uses the term in its broadest sense without presuppositions about why people might delay or refuse vaccination. The objective of the REA is to synthesize existing evidence to inform policies and interventions to support people to accept the vaccine when and where it is available.

This report forms part of a larger evidence assessment to investigate non-pharmacological interventions (NPIs) or behavioural interventions to prevent the community spread of SARS-CoV-2, namely social distancing, mask wearing and self-isolation.

Research questions

1. Who is more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?

- 2. Why are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?
- 3. In what contexts are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model (6) was used as a conceptual framework for this REA. It proposes that there are three components that play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change behaviour. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, such as the behaviour of receiving a vaccine, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing the behaviour, have the physical and social opportunity to perform the behaviour and the motivation to perform the behaviour such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing behaviours, such as not receiving a vaccine or violating social distancing rules.

- Capability: Our abilities to perform a behaviour, including psychological capability, such as knowledge, and physical capability.
- Opportunity: External factors required to make performing a behaviour possible, including physical opportunities, such as being able to access a location, having the time and the resources, and social opportunities, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions. Furthermore, opportunities may include campaigns or interventions (e.g., advertizing campaigns) designed to encourage adherence.
- Motivation: Internal processes that influence our decision-making and thus behaviours, including reflective motivation, which covers the reflective processes whereby we evaluate existing situations, such as perceptions of the impact of the behaviour on oneself, and automatic motivation, such as desires and impulses.

METHODOLOGY



Systematic search

Inclusion criteria: The inclusion criteria are presented in Table 1 below. Only published academic journal articles are included in this REA, so that the evidence being rapidly assessed has first passed through the peer review process so as to pass an initial quality threshold. Only studies written in English are included, such that there may be relevant evidence published in non-English that are excluded in this review. Collection of evidence commenced on 30 June 2021, so any studies published after this date are excluded. This REA includes factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities, motivations, campaigns) associated with the hesitancy or resistance (or

conversely the acceptance or uptake) of COVID-19 vaccines. Studies about efficacy of vaccines (i.e., clinical trials) are excluded, but studies about the efficacy of campaigns to increase vaccine uptake are included, if available. Although there are pre-COVID-19 studies (e.g., SARS, Ebola, swine flu), studies in these contexts are excluded and only studies in the context of COVID-19 are included. Study designs that are included are empirical research, whether quantitative or qualitative. Theoretical or conceptual studies are excluded, as are studies that are lacking explanation of the methodology used or which are secondary literature reviews. Systematic reviews or REAs are also excluded, to avoid double review of studies included in the review as independent studies.

Table 1: Inclusion criteria

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Publication format	Journal articles	Not journal articles
		Pre-Prints
Language	English	Not in English
Publication date	Up to and including 30 June 2021	Post 30 June 2021
Aim of study	Investigating factors associated with vaccine hesitancy or resistance (or conversely, vaccine acceptance or uptake) Not investigating factors associated with vaccine hesitance (or conversely, vaccine uptake) Efficacy of vaccines (i	
Protective measure	Vaccine	Not vaccine

Virus	COVID-19	SARS Ebola Swine flu Not COVID-19
Study population	General population for a given territory Specific populations defined by demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age	Specific populations defined by factors other than demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age (e.g., hospital populations).
Study design	Empirical research (quantitative OR qualitative)	EITHER theoretical/conceptual OR lacking explanation of methodology OR secondary literature review OR systematic reviews OR rapid evidence assessments

Keywords and search strings: The following table provides a list of the keywords for the systematic search of studies via the study's title, abstract and key words. Three layers of keywords are used to reflect the inclusion criteria.

Table 2: Covid vaccine hesitancy keywords

Keywords 1	Covid; coronavirus
Keywords 2	Vaccin* [vaccine/vaccination/vaccinating]
Keywords 3	Hesitan* [hesitancy/hesitant]; uptake; sentiment; resist* [resistance/resisting/resisted]; avoid* [avoidance/avoiding/avoided]; reason* [reasons]; associat* [associated/associations]; predict* [predictors/predicted]; expla* [explanatory/explained]; campaign* [campaigns]

The research team tested the keywords and search strings across the databases and found that they were effective at returning relevant evidence ahead of the full search commencing.

Databases: The research team undertook a comprehensive search of academic and open source databases, as listed in Table 3.

Table 3: List of databases searched

PubMed Central

Web of Science

Google Scholar

Screening

The following three-stage screening process was undertaken to determine the evidence to be included in the REA.

Title screening stage: The titles of studies returned by the systematic searches were screened for relevance using the inclusion criteria and studies clearly not meeting the inclusion criteria, based upon the limited information available from a title, were excluded. Where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) in the next stage of screening.

Abstract screening stage: Of the remaining studies, their abstracts were next screened for relevance against the inclusion criteria, using the greater information available. Studies deemed not to meet the inclusion criteria were excluded. Again, where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) in the next stage of screening.

Full text screening stage: Of the remaining studies, studies were read in full to determine if all inclusion criteria had been met and excluded if not. Where a member of the research team was unsure, a second member of the research team also read the full text. Both then discussed the study and came to a decision together on whether the study should be included or excluded. The quality of a study was also appraised when reading the full text, considering guidance from the UK's Department for International Development (DFID) (7). on assessing the strengths of evidence.

Quality appraisal

According to (DFID) (7), judgment about a study's quality should be based upon a combination of criteria covering conceptual framing, transparency, appropriateness, cultural sensitivity, validity, reliability and cogency, as summarised and applied to this REA as follows:

Conceptual framing: The study should acknowledge existing research or theory, construct a conceptual or

theoretical framework setting out the study's assumptions and pose specific research questions or hypotheses.

Transparency: The study should be transparent about its design and methods, including data collection and analysis and research setting, such that results can be reproduced. Studies receiving funding from a party with vested interests are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Appropriateness: The study should use an appropriate research design to answer its research question or achieve its aim or objectives. The screening process will have included only studies investigating factors associated with decisions to delay or refuse vaccination (vaccine hesitancy). Experimental designs are most appropriate for establishing causal linkages between a treatment (e.g., campaign) and a dependent variable (e.g., hesitancy), but, other than campaigns, most factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities and motivations) can only be measured and observed as independent variables, rather than manipulated or randomly assigned. As such, associations are most appropriately measured using observational designs, such as regression designs, these measure the association between factors and behaviours whilst controlling for confounding variables. this protects against bias whereby an unmeasured and uncontrolled variable can result in a distortion in the measurement of an association between a factor and a behavioural outcome. Qualitative studies are not appropriate for measuring associations but they are included in this REA because rich qualitative data can provide valuable evidence in terms of detailing the mechanisms and processes by which a factor is associated with decisions to delay or refuse vaccination. Studies considered to be using an inappropriate design were excluded from this REA.

Cultural sensitivity: The study should take steps to consider the local, socio-cultural factors that might affect the association between factors and decisions to delay or refuse vaccination (i.e., are confounding variables). This is particularly important in the context of campaigns as treatment variables, where a control condition, in which the setting (i.e., socio-cultural factors) is held constant, should be included as part of the design, to isolate the effect of a campaign from the setting in which it was implemented. Such measures are not possible when

observing independent variables, but a study could theoretically consider socio-cultural factors when they represent a potential bias.

Validity: The study should take steps to ensure measurement validity, internal validity, external validity and ecological validity.

Measurement validity: The study should use indicators that are well suited to measure the target concept and which are valid in the research setting of the study. For example, using statements that measure the construct or variable of interest and using concrete facts (e.g., qualifications obtained to measure education) rather than abstract concepts where available.

Internal validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its evidence establishes a cause and effect relationship. As described above, the study should take steps to control for confounding variables, which is possible in both experimental and observational designs. Furthermore, the study should take steps to consider reverse causality; the possibility that the supposed independent variable and supposed dependent variable are operating in reverse such that the supposed dependent variable is causing the supposed independent variable. For example, perceived susceptibility has been conceived as an independent variable in relation to the dependent variable of compliance with social distancing rules, but equally, an individual's compliance with social distancing rules can just as plausibly be an independent variable in relation to perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, i.e., I am not complying with social distancing rules so I am more susceptible to infection. An experimental design removes the possibility of reverse causality because the sequence of cause and effect can be observed following implementation of a treatment. However, reverse causality is a potential problem in observational research and where this is a risk it should be considered theoretically, i.e., provide an explanation based upon what we know about the variables to make a claim that one is causing the other.

External validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its findings are likely to be generalisable and replicable across other contexts. Quantitative studies should take steps to construct a representative sample of the population of interest, such as using a sampling frame, randomly selecting responsive units from that sampling frame so that no units are systematically excluded and collecting a sufficient sample size for appropriate margin of error and confidence level.

Ecological validity: The study should take steps to capture or accurately represent the real world by undertaking reflexivity to consider how much the activity of doing the research biased the research findings. For example, asking questions about legal compliance with rules in a way and

in a context that captures the truth, rather than the socially desirable response.

Reliability: The study should take steps to ensure stability, internal reliability and analytical reliability.

Stability: The study should take steps to ensure that measures being used work consistently (i.e., results are stable under the same conditions), for example, by ensuring researchers are consistent in the way questions are asked and data gathered.

Internal reliability: The study should take steps to ensure internal consistency between different components of a measure. For example, Cronbach's Alpha can be used to measure the internal consistency of items comprising a scale and items from scales or variables removed from studies where internal consistency thresholds are not met.

Analytical reliability: The study should take steps to ensure that dramatically different results from the same set of data by different researchers or analytical steps being used are avoided. For example, using multiple researchers and using a coding scheme in thematic analysis.

Cogency: The study should provide a clear, logical thread that runs throughout the manuscript, linking conceptual frameworks to data collection, data analysis and conclusions, only making claims supported by the data and findings. Furthermore, the study should consider alternative explanations and interpretations of the data and findings and be self-critical such that limitations of the study are identified.

Where a member of the research team was unsure whether to include or exclude on the basis of quality, a second member of the research team undertook a quality appraisal of the study before both discussed to jointly reach a decision on inclusion or exclusion.

Data analysis and synthesis

Predictors: Using NVivo software, open coding was undertaken to identify predictors of hesitancy. Once all studies had been coded for predictors, lists of studies containing each predictor were established. At this point, predictors were reviewed to identify predictors of equivalent meaning but different labelling and these collapsed to form a single predictor. For example, it was decided that knowledge and belief in conspiracy theories were equivalent predictors, as were perceived vaccine safety and side effects concern.

Predictor-specific study summaries: Next, predictorspecific summaries of each study were written, identifying the study's context (e.g., United Kingdom residents), sampling method (e.g., convenience sample), how it defined and measured the predictor, how it defined (e.g., vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance or vaccine intention) and measured (e.g., binary variable; hesitant or not) the protective measure outcome variable, the study design (e.g., cross-sectional survey design) and data analysis method (e.g., logistic regression). Next, a summary of the evidence relevant to the predictor of interest was written, which may have been quantitative or qualitative. Where the quantitative analysis was simple (e.g., Chi-square with a single independent variable), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., percentage differences and statistical significance), but where it was multiple (e.g., multiple logistic regression), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., odds ratio (OR) and statistical significance) when holding other variables constant. Finally, a conclusion was drawn as to the overall finding of the study in terms of the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable. This may have been identifying a category (e.g., Black respondents were most likely to be vaccine hesitant) where the outcome variable was most prevalent, whether a numerical association was positive (e.g., as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases), negative (e.g., as age increases, vaccine hesitance decreases), non-linear or non-significant (e.g., there was no association between age and vaccine hesitancy). Where there was conflicting evidence within a single study, the strength of the conflicting evidence was weighed up to determine an overall finding. For example, if the vast majority of categories of a predictor were not significantly associated with an outcome variable then that study would be deemed to evidence that the predictor was not associated with the outcome variable.

Themes by finding: Next, the predictor-specific study summaries were thematically analysed on the basis of their findings. For example, studies were grouped on the basis of a positive association, negative association, non-linear association or no association.

Data synthesis: To draw conclusions for each predictor, frequencies of studies for each theme were counted and percentages calculated, first at the level of predictive vs. non-predictive whereby, for example, studies finding statistically significant associations, regardless of direction of the association, were grouped and counted and compared against all studies that did not find a statistically significant association between a predictor and outcome variable. Next, this synthesis was undertaken at the granular level of themes, breaking predictive studies down into their different findings (e.g., positive association, negative association, non-linear association and no association). Where a category made up 70% or above of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of high confidence about the relationship; where a category made up 60% to 69% of the evidence it was deemed to yield a confident conclusion about the relationship; where a category made up 50% to 59% of the evidence it was

deemed to yield a conclusion of some confidence about the relationship, unless another category also made up 50% of the evidence, in which case the evidence was deemed in-conclusive. Equally, if no categories made up at least 50% of the evidence it was deemed inconclusive.

Context segmentation: To address the question of 'in what contexts are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?' evidence was segmented on the basis of (i) region, (ii) cultural group and (iii) income, as determined by the country in which the study was conducted. Region segments used were Europe, North America, Asia, Oceania, South America and Africa. Cultural group segments used were Anglo, Germanic Europe, Nordic Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin Europe, Latin America, Southern Asia, Confucian Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East, as defined by House et al. (8). Income segments used were high income, upper middle income, lower middle income and low income, as defined by the World Bank. The above data synthesis approach was followed at the level of each segment. Where there were less than four studies in a segment, it was deemed that this was insufficient evidence by which to draw conclusions about the relationship between a predictor and outcome variable.

Themes by conceptual framework: Demographic predictors were identified to answer the 'who are more likely to delay or refuse vaccination' question. The remaining predictors were then organised within the COM-B model conceptual framework in terms of psychological capability (e.g., knowledge), physical capability (e.g., physical strength), physical opportunity (e.g., time, location and resources), social opportunity (e.g., cultural norms and social cues), reflective motivation (e.g., reflections and motivations) and automatic motivation (e.g., desires, impulses and inhibitions) to answer the 'why are people more likely to delay or refuse vaccination?' question.

EVIDENCE



Systematic search and screening results

The systematic search returned 1'394 studies about vaccine hesitancy (625 from Web of Science, 420 from Google Scholar and 349 from PubMed). After duplicates were removed on Zotero software, the number of studies decreased to 634.

Title screening stage: Of the 634 unique studies returned from the systematic search, 550 studies were excluded at the title screening stage:

 550 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy.

Abstract screening stage: Of the 84 studies remaining after the title screening stage, 14 studies were excluded at the abstract screening stage:

- Eight studies were excluded for being about too specific a population.
- Three studies were excluded for not being relevant: one measured vaccine hesitancy, but did not consider factors associated with vaccine hesitancy, one considered non-COVID-19 vaccines and one considered vaccine efficacy (not hesitancy).
- Two studies were excluded for being commentaries, rather than empirical research.
- One study was excluded for not being published in a peer-reviewed academic journal.

Full text screening and quality appraisal stage: Of the 70 studies remaining after the abstract screening stage, 14 studies were excluded at the full text screening and quality appraisal stage:

- Seven studies were excluded for being pre-prints, not having gone through the peer review process at the point of the systematic search.
- Three studies were excluded for not being relevant: not using vaccine hesitancy as an outcome variable.
- One study was excluded for not being in English (although the title and abstract was in English, the full text was only available in Portugese).
- One study was excluded for not being published in a peer-reviewed academic journal.
- Two studies were excluded for quality issues: one used a highly biased sample, one used an inappropriate research design to measure associations.

Overview of vaccine hesitancy evidence

The final list of vaccine hesitancy evidence to be reviewed consisted of 56 studies, a summary of which follows:

Table 4: Summary of studies included in REA

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
5	Lockyer et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
6	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
7	Wakefield et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
8	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom and Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
9	Salali and Uysal (2021)	United Kingdom and Turkey	Europe and Asia	Anglo and Middle East	High Income and Upper Middle Income
10	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
11	Allen et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
12	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
13	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
14	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
15	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
16	Huynh and Senger (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
17	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
18	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
19	Park et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
20	Ruiz and Bell. (2021	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
21	Savoia et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
22	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
23	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
24	Edwards et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
25	Bendau et al. (2021)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income

26	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
27	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
28	Lamot et al. (2020)	Slovenia	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
29	Montagni et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
30	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
31	Caserotti et al. (2021)	Italy	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
32	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
33	Zampetakis et al. (2021)	Greece	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
34	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
35	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
36	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income
37	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income
38	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
39	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
40	Nazli et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
41	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
42	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
43	Mir et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
44	Sharun et al. (2020)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
45	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income
46	Tao et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
47	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
48	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
49	Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021)	Multiple Countries	South America	Latin America	Varies
50	Mesele (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income

51	Mose and Yesshaneh (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
52	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income
53	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
54	Lazarus et al. (2021)	Multiple countries non-aggregated			
55	Lindholt et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			
56	Rozek et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated			

Region: Evidence was reviewed from all regions of the world, but the vast majority of research [82%] was limited to three regions: Europe [34%], North America [25%] and Asia [23%].

Cultural group: Evidence was reviewed from all cultural groups of the world, but considerably more from the Anglo cultural group [41%] than any other cultural group, followed by the Latin Europe cultural group [11%].

Income: The majority of evidence reviewed was from high income countries [66%]. Only two studies [4%] were conducted in the context of low income countries.

Study design: The vast majority of studies [91%] followed a cross-sectional survey research design, which lends itself well to measuring factors associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Table 5: Studies by region, cultural group, income category and study design

	Number	%					
Region							
	10	249/					
Europe	19	34%					
North America	14	25%					
Asia	13	23%					
Oceania	1	2%					
Cocama	'	270					
South America	1	2%					
Africa	4	7%					
Multi-regional	4	7%					
Cultural group							
3 2 4							
Anglo	23	41%					
Germanic Europe	3	5%					
Nordic Europe	1	2%					

Eastern Europe	1	2%
Latin Europe	6	11%
Latin America	1	2%
Southern Asia	4	7%
Confucian Asia	4	7%
Sub-Saharan Africa	4	7%
Middle East	5	9%
Multi-cultural group	4	7%
Income		
High Income	37	66%
Upper Middle Income	4	7%
Lower Middle Income	8	14%
Low Income	2	4%
Multi-incomes	5	9%
Study design		
Cross-sectional	51	91%
Conjoint experiment	4	7%
Qualitative	1	2%
Total	56	100%

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



DEMOGRAPHICS AGE

5.1.1

Age is the number of years since an individual was born. The evidence reviewed measured it as either discrete numerical data (i.e., the exact age in years of a respondent) or as a categorical variable (i.e., the age range group that a respondent's age corresponds to).

In total, 48 studies considered the association between age and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 33 found that age was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 14 found that age was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy and one had mixed findings. Of the 33 studies that found age was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 26 found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more vaccine hesitant), four found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases (i.e., older age groups are more vaccine hesitant) and three found that the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear.

As age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 6: Studies evidencing that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Wakefield et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
5	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
6	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
11	Edwards et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income

12	Bendau et al. (2021)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
13	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
14	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
15	Caserotti et al. (2021)	Italy	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
16	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
17	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
18	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
19	Nazli et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
20	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
21	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
22	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
23	Mose and Yesshaneh (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
24	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
25	Lazarus et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
		France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
		Sweden	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
		Poland	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
		Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
		Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
26	Lindholt et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated			
27	Rozek et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine hesitancy, measured from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that age was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs =-0.3], whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant. Age was found to be the most predictive of demographic variables, although less predictive than general vaccine attitude, COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, trust in scientists working at universities, trust in doctors and nurses and trust in scientists working for private companies, such that age was the sixth most important predictor in the rank-order correlations analysis. In terms of mechanisms, age was negatively associated with informational use of social media, which, in turn, was positively associated with conspiracy suspicions.

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant other demographic factors (gender, ethnicity, education, household income), age was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs = -0.29, p < 0.001], whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant. Age remained predictive, but less so, when holding other factors constant. When also holding constant reliance on legacy media and reliance on social media for COVID-19 knowledge, age was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs =-0.25, p < 0.001]. When holding constant perceived risk of COVID-19 to oneself, the UK and the world, as well as other demographic factors, age was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs = -0.26, p < 0.001]. When holding constant trust in the government, scientists working at universities, scientists working at private companies, and doctors and nurses, as well as other demographic factors, age was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs = -0.24, p < 0.001]. When holding constant general vaccine attitude and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, as well as other demographic factors, age was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs = -0.24, p < 0.001]. When holding constant all factors studied in a single model, age was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [Rs = -0.21, p < 0.001]. In this full model, age was the third most predictive factor of vaccine hesitancy after general vaccine hesitancy and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions.

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable

at a hesitancy rate of 29%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, social media platforms use, gender, posting political content online, fact-checking, having had COVID-19, sources of information, education, trust in the media, voting Conservative, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations, and evaluation of government's handling of COVID-19, age was positively associated with vaccine acceptance, whereby the OR of just over 20 means that the oldest respondents were more than 20 times more likely to receive the vaccine compared with the youngest [age range of 18 to 87 was rescaled to a range of 0 to 1], this establishes a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant. Indeed, out of all predictors measured, age was the strongest predictor of vaccine acceptance.

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that age was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [B =-0.031, p < 0.001] whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Age was found to be the strongest predictor of vaccine hesitancy [R2 = 0.038] amongst demographic factors, including gender, education, religion, politics, income, ethnicity, relationship status, English region, housing situation, employment status, employment change due to COVID-19, child at school and risk of severe COVID-19.

United Kingdom, Wakefield et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 130 UK residents, Wakefield et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a discrete numerical variable in years, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely), using linear regression.

Wakefield et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant community identification, duty to community to get vaccinated and subjective neighbourhood socio-economic status, age was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.01, p = 0.02], evidencing a negative

association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 2025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable with a hesitancy rate of 31%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, respondents aged 18-24 years old [AOR = 1.9, p < 0.05], respondents aged 25–34 years old [AOR = 2.33, p < 0.05], respondents aged 35-44 years old [AOR = 2.53, p < 0.05], respondents aged 45-54 years old [AOR = 2.27, p < 0.05] and respondents aged 55-64years old [AOR = 2.48, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents aged 65 years and older. Respondents aged 18-24 years old [AOR = 13.9, p < 0.05], respondents aged 25-34 years old [AOR = 10.11, p < 0.05], respondents aged 35-44 years old [AOR = 11.83, p < 0.05], respondents aged 45-54 years old [AOR = 4.91, p < 0.05] and respondents aged 55–64 years old [AOR = 4.36, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents aged 65 years and older. Respondents aged 18-24 years old [AOR = 7.3, p < 0.05], respondents aged 25–34 years old [AOR = 4.34, p < 0.05] and respondents aged 35-44 years old [AOR = 4.67, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than respondents aged 65 years and older. Respondents aged 45-54 years old and respondents aged 55-64 years old were not more or less likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents aged 65 years and older [p > 0.05].

Overall, there is a negative association between age and both vaccine hesitancy and resistance whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy and resistance decrease, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant and resistant. This relationship was much stronger for vaccine resistance than hesitancy.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a binary variable, and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, respondents aged 65 years and older were more likely to receive the vaccine than respondents aged under 65 years old [COR = 1.71, 95% CI: 1.18–2.47].

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, race, region, ethnicity, education, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, age was not associated with vaccine acceptance [AOR = 1.05, 95% CI: 0.58–1.9], which suggests that other factors modelled better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, there is some evidence of a positive association between age and vaccine acceptance whereby as age increases, vaccine acceptance increases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Willis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,205 Arkansas residents, Willis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 78.14%, using a cross-sectional survey design, t-test and a logistic regression model.

Using t-test, Willis et al. (2021) found that there was a significant difference [p = 0.002] between the average age of those who reported hesitancy [45.36 years old] and those who were likely to get the vaccine [49.02 years old], whereby hesitant respondents were, on average, younger.

Using logistic regression, Willis et al. (2021) found that when holding constant sex, race/ethnicity, income, education, COVID-19 health literacy, fear of COVID-19 infection and general vaccine trust, age was negatively associated with vaccine hesitance [OR = 0.98, p = 0.026].

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Dorman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional research design and Chi-square.

Using Chi-square, Dorman et al. (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by age group [p < 0.001]. Respondents aged 75+ were most willing to receive the vaccine [5.48 out of 7], followed by 55-74-year-olds [4.99 out of 7], 18-34-year-olds [4.7 out of 7] and least willing were

35-54 year-olds [4.31 out of 7]. Using t-tests, Dorman et al. (2021) found that differences between each category were all significant [p < 0.001], which, with the exception of the 35-54-year-old age group, establishes a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found significant differences in vaccine uptake intention between age groups [p = 0.005]. Respondents aged 65 years old and over [74.5%] were most likely to get the vaccine followed by respondents aged 55-64 years old [64%], respondents aged 35-44 years old [64%], 25-34 years old [61%] and 45-54 years old [55.6%]. Respondents aged 18-24 years old [52.5%] were least likely to get the vaccine [52.5%], evidencing a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, gender, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.148], which suggests that other factors modelled better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age (generation), measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured using an adapted version of the World Health Organization (WHO) Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunizations (SAGEs) 10-item scale, which was then recoded as two binary variables (vaccine rejection and vaccine resistance), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant residence, generation race/ethnicity, monthly family income and political affiliation, age was not associated with vaccine resistance, but it was with vaccine hesitancy.

Baby Boomers (56 years old +) [OR = 0.4, 95% CI 0.25-0.65] and GenX (40-55 years old) [OR = 0.54, 95% CI 0.34-0.85] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than Millennials (24-39 years old). However, there was no significant difference between Millennials (24-39 years old) and GenZ (18-23 years old [95% CI 0.71-2.51].

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant, but no association between age and vaccine resistance.

Australia, Edwards et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 3,000 Australia residents, Edwards et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not get the vaccine) to 4 (definitely get the vaccine) at a hesitancy rate of 58.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal probit regression, presenting average marginal effects (AME).

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, gender, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment and income, 55-64-year-olds [AME = -0.021, p < 0.05], 65-74-year-olds [AME = -0.03,p < 0.01] and 75+ year-olds [AME =-0038, p < 0.001] were less likely to definitely not get the vaccine than 35-44year-olds. When holding constant location in Australia, gender, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment and income, 55-64-year-olds [AME = 0.089, p < 0.05], 65-74-year olds [AME = 0.134, p < 0.01] and 75+ year olds [AME = 0.191, p < 0.01] were more likely to definitely get the vaccine than 35-44-year-olds. 18-24-year-olds and 25-34 year olds were not more or less likely to definitely not get the vaccine or definitely get the vaccine than 35-44-year-olds.

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, gender, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, income, belief that too much fuss is being made about COVID-19, social distancing behaviour, having downloaded the COVID-19 Safe App, voting intention, confidence in government, confidence in hospitals and health system, support for migration, populism and religiosity, 55-64-year-olds [AME = -0.03, p < 0.05], 65-74-year-olds [AME = -0.039, p < 0.05] and 75+ yearolds [AME =-0049, p < 0.05] were less likely to definitely not get the vaccine than 35-44-year-olds. When holding constant location in Australia, gender, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, income, belief that too much fuss is being made about COVID-19, social distancing behaviour, having downloaded the COVID-19

Safe App, voting intention, confidence in government, confidence in hospitals and health system, support for migration, populism and religiosity, 55-64-year-olds [AME = 0.11, p < 0.05], 65-74-year-olds [AME = 0.153, p < 0.01] and 75+ year-olds [AME = 0.216, p < 0.01] were more likely to definitely get the vaccine than 35-44-year-olds. 18-24-year-olds and 25-34-year-olds were not more or less likely to definitely not get the vaccine or definitely get the vaccine than 35-44-year-olds.

Overall, this study establishes a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Germany, Bendau et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,779 Germany residents, Bendau et al., (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of-2 (absolutely not) to +2 (absolutely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Spearman rank correlations.

Bendau et al. (2021) found that age was positively associated with vaccine willingness [rs = 0.7, p = 0.003] whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Austria, Paul et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,301 Austrian residents, Paul et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and readiness to get vaccinated, measured on a scale from 1 (completely disagree) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and ordinary least squares (OLS) regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Paul et al. (2021) found that more respondents aged over 65 years old [66%] completely or somewhat agreed that they intended to receive the vaccine as soon as possible than respondents aged 30-65 [46%] and respondents aged 30 years old and younger [44%].

Using (OLS) regression, Paul et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, income situation, pre-existing condition, subjective health risk, sense of community, conspiracy belief and party voted for, respondents aged over 65 years old were more likely to accept the vaccine as soon as possible than respondents aged 31-65, such that age is negatively associated vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases vaccine hesitancy decreases and younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Austria, Schernhammer et al. (2021): In a quota sample of 1,007 Austria residents, Schernhammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a

categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy rate of 41.1% (intermediate or severe), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, area of residence, education, politics, optimism, resilience, need for cognitive closure, main source of information and health status, respondents aged 55-59 years [OR = 0.48, 95% CI 0.28-0.84] and respondents aged 60+ years [OR = 0.37, 95% CI 0.21-0.66] were less likely to be intermediate or high vaccine hesitant than respondents aged under 35 years old.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) also found that when holding constant the same factors, respondents aged 55-59 years $[OR=0.4,\,Cl\,0.22\text{-}0.76]$ and respondents aged 60+ years $[OR=0.4,\,Cl\,0.14\text{-}0.54]$ were less likely to be undecided about the vaccine than respondents aged under 35 years old.

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Italy, Caserotti et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,267 Italy residents, Caserotti et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and (i) vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale from 0 (not at all likely) to 100 (very likely), using a logistic regression model (from which ORs were presented) and (ii) vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (no hesitancy vs. hesitancy > 0), using a negative binomial (from which incidence rate ratios (IRR) were presented).

In modelling vaccine acceptance, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents aged 25 and under [OR = 1.65, p < 0.001] and aged 46-65 [OR = 1.47, p = 0.003] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents aged 26-45, but there was no difference between respondents aged 45-65 and respondents aged 26-45 [p = 0.413].

In modelling vaccine hesitancy, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents aged 25 and under [IRR = 1.65, p < 0.001] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents aged 26-45, but there was no difference

between respondents aged 45-65 and respondents aged 26-45 [p = 0.764] or between respondents aged over 65 and respondents aged 26-45 [p = 0.897].

On balance, Caserotti et al. (2021) found a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a discrete numerical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and multinomial logistic regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Soares et al. (2021) found that respondents who would take the vaccine as soon as possible were, on average, older [47.7 years old] than respondents who would wait [45.4 years old] and would not take the vaccine [44.9 years old].

Using multinomial logistic regression, Soares et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, monthly household income, lost income during pandemic and occupation, older respondents were more likely to take the vaccine as soon as possible [wait vs. yes OR = 0.99, 95% CI 0.98 - 0.99; no vs. yes, OR: 0.98, 95% CI 0.97, 0.99].

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,529 Malta residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely no) to 10 (definitely yes), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and linear regression.

In simple ANOVA analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by age group [p = 0.005]. Post-hoc analysis found respondents over the age of 60 were more willing to take the vaccine than respondents aged 40-49 years old [p < 0.01] and respondents aged 30-39 years old [p < 0.02], which establishes a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

In multiple regression analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 knowledge, accessing COVID-19 news and information, engaging in preventative behaviour, vaccine efficacy, importance of family and friends. Opinion of the vaccine, importance of

healthcare professionals. Advice, health worker status, chronic health condition status, gender, education, flu jab status, opinion on giving the vaccine to children and opinion on encouraging elderly patients to take the vaccine, there was no association between age and vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05], which suggests that other factors modelled better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 8 (strongly agree), using descriptive statistics and a stratified linear regression model.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that strongly agreeing that a respondent would get the vaccine when it becomes available increased with age; 64+ year-olds [58%], 50-64-year-olds [41%], 30-49-year-olds [24%] and 18-29-year-olds [21%], evidencing a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

To understand mechanisms behind the association between age and vaccine hesitancy, Hammer et al. (2021) used a linear regression model stratified by age group (under 50 years old vs. 50 years old and over). They found that factors that were uniquely predictive of vaccine acceptance for the younger age group were having previously been infected [B =-0.12, p = 0.016], more likely to accept the vaccine with a recommendation from a healthcare professional [B = 0.22, p = 0.005] and require it to be easy it to get a vaccine [B = 0.12, p = 0.001]. They also found that factors that were uniquely predictive of vaccine acceptance in respondents 50 and over perceived vaccine efficacy and safety [B = 0.2, p = 0.001] and being female [B =-0.22, p = 0.019] vs. male.

Turkey, Nazli et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 467 of Turkey residents, Nazli et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine attitude, measured as a categorical variable (trust and want to get vaccinated, undecided about positive effects of vaccine but want to get vaccinated, undecided about positive effects of vaccine and do not want to get vaccinated, think vaccine has negative effects and is ineffective and do not want to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 15%, using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and ANOVA.

Nazli et al. (2021) found a significant difference [p < 0.003] in mean age between respondents who trust and want to get vaccinated [36.9 years old] and respondents who think vaccine has negative effects and is ineffective and do not want to get vaccinated [32 years old], such that age

is negatively associated vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases vaccine hesitancy decreases and younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 of India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 10.73%, using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and multiple logistic regression.

Using ANOVA, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by age group [p < 0.001]. Vaccine acceptance was highest in 40-49-year-olds [96.84%], 50-59-year-olds [96.43%] and 60+ year-olds [96%], lower in 30-39-years [91.93%] and lowest in under 20-year-olds [87.5%] and 20-29-year-olds [86.24%].

Goruntla et al. (2021) found that when holding constant marital status, area of location, education, occupation, income, healthcare profession, chronic disorders and overall health, respondents aged 40-49, [OR = 4.38, p < 0.001], aged 50-59 [OR = 3.86, p < 0.05] or aged 60+ [OR = 3.43, p < 0.01] were more likely to be accept the vaccine than respondents aged under 20.

Across all data a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy was evident whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitance, measured as a binary variable (unwilling vs. willing) at a rate of 47.3%, using simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Using multiple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that when holding constant sex, education, occupational status, experience of vaccine refusal, severity of the pandemic in Taiwan and worry about contracting COVID-19, health and political orientation, respondents aged 60 and above, [AOR = -1.967, p = 0.003] and respondents aged 40-59 [AOR = 1.667, p = 0.008] were more vaccine hesitant than respondents aged 20-39.

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy, but only when holding other factors constant, suggesting that age groups differ by other factors that are associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

In all nine scenarios in the conjoint experimental design, respondents aged over 65 years old were most likely (likely/definitely yes) to accept the vaccine than males were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents aged 36-65 years old and respondents aged 18-35 years old.

Overall, there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Ethiopia, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021): In a random sample of 396 Ethiopia pregnant women, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that respondents aged 34-41 were more likely to accept the vaccine [COR = 2.545, p < 0.05] than respondents aged 18-24. However, there was no significant difference [p > 0.05] in vaccine acceptance between respondents aged 25-33 and respondents aged 18-24.

Using multiple logistic regression, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that, when holding constant educational status, occupation, gravidity, parity, African National Congress (ANC) visit, medical illness, knowledge, attitude and practice, respondents aged 34-41 were more likely to accept the vaccine [AOR = 1.464, p < 0.05] than respondents aged 18-24. However, there was no significant difference [p > 0.05] in vaccine acceptance between respondents aged 25-33 and respondents aged 18-24. That the OR decreases in multiple logistic regression suggests that some of the variance in vaccine acceptance as a result of age group is better accounted for by other variables in the model.

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable and at a hesitancy rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional research design and logistic regression.

Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, occupation, religion, marital status, income, and rural or urban residence, 21-30-year-olds [OR = 0.14, p = 0.000], 31-40-year-olds [OR = 0.27, p = 0.000], 41-50-year-olds [OR = 0.31, p = 0.000] and 61-70-year-olds [OR = 0.17, p = 0.000] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than 18-20 year olds, which establishes a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, France, Germany, Sweden, Poland, Canada, Brazil, Lazarus et al. (2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) for descriptive statistics but recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses) for logistic regression, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Using descriptive statistics and simple logistic regression to test significance, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that older (\geq 50) respondents in Brazil [48.3% vs. 32.1% in <50, p < 0.05], Canada [74.6% vs. 66% in <50, p < 0.05], Poland [63.7% vs. 51.6% in <50, p < 0.05], Sweden [76.2% vs. 51.9% in <50, p < 0.05], and the UK [79.4% vs. 68.4% in <50, p < 0.05] were significantly more likely to accept the vaccine than younger (<50) respondents.

Using logistic regression models, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender and education, older (\geq 50) respondents in Canada [OR = 1.4], Poland [OR = 1.63], France [OR = 1.48], Germany [OR = 1.61], Sweden [OR = 2.94], and the UK [OR = 1.65] were significantly more likely to accept the vaccine than younger (<50) respondents.

For these countries there is a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 18,231 respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United

Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%], France (47%) and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in Hungary [47%].

Using simple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that age was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.231, p < 0.001], evidencing a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Using multiple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in national health authorities, trust in scientists, trust in the government, democratic rights, support of public protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, political ideology, vote choice (government), fatigue, behaviour change, knowledge, gender, education, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the economy, support for restrictions and interpersonal trust, age was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.188, p < 0.001], evidencing a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Multiple Countries, Rozek et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples (except for snowball sample from Russia) of 17 countries (Canada, United States, Germany, Poland, Russia, Sweden, Ukraine, China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam, Turkey) totalling 17,608 responses, Rozek et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, maybe) but recoded as a binary variable (yes vs. no/maybe) and at a hesitancy rate of 44% (no and maybe combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Rozek et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant confidence in local health department, confidence in the ministry of health, confidence in the WHO, trust in medical practitioners, trust in science, trust in religious leaders, trust in political leaders and gender, respondents over 70 years old were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents below 30 years old [OR = 0.75, p < 0.001], such that age is negatively associated vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases vaccine hesitancy decreases and younger respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

As age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases

Table 7: Studies evidencing that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
3	Tao et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
4	Lazarus et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that there was no statistically significant association between age and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker sample, but age was associated with vaccine hesitancy in the non-key worker sample. When holding constant gender, area lived, education, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and perceived COVID-19 risk, respondents aged 25-34 years old [OR = 2.41, p < 0.001], aged 35-44 years old [OR = 1.96, p < 0.05], aged 45-55 years old [OR = 2.91, p < 0.001] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents aged 18-24 years old. There was no difference in likelihood to be vaccine hesitant between respondents aged 55 years old and above and respondents aged 18-24 years old [p > 0.05].

Overall, there is a positive association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases, such that older respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as both a categorical variable (Chi-square analysis) and numerical discrete variable in years (multiple linear regression), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance), using Chi-square and multiple linear

regression. Vaccine hesitancy (refusal and hesitancy categories combined) was at 58.9%.

Using Chi-square, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by age group [p < 0.001]. Vaccine acceptance was highest in 18-25-year-olds [54.5%], followed by 36-65-year-olds [48.8%], then 26-35-year-olds [44.6%] and lowest in 65+ year-olds [39.7%], overall, establishing a positive association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases, such that older respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Using multiple linear regression, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that when holding constant gender, education level, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, risk perception, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, age was negatively associated with vaccine acceptance [B =-0.05, p = 0.004], whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases, such that older respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

China (Pregnant Women), Tao et al. (2021): In a multi-stage part-random and part-convenience sample of 1,392 pregnant China residents, Tao et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy (intermediate or severe) rate of 41.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Tao et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by age group [p = 0.04]. Vaccine acceptance was highest in under-26-year-olds [81.7%], followed by 26-30 year olds [78.2%], then 31-35-year-olds [77.6%], then 36-40-year-olds [68.6%] and lowest in over 40-year-olds [66.7%].

Using logistic regression, Tao et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant region, education, occupation, income, gravidity, parity, gestational trimester, history of adverse pregnancy outcomes, history of chronic disease, history of influence vaccination, gestational complications, COVID-19 knowledge, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, barriers to receiving the vaccine, perceived benefits of the vaccine and cues to action, respondents aged 35 years old and younger were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents aged over 35 years old [AOR = 1.87, p = 0.01].

Overall, there is a positive association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases, such that older respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

China, Lazarus et al. (2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely

agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) for descriptive statistics but recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses) for logistic regression, using a cross-sectional survey design.

In the China sample, younger respondents [74.6% vs. 66% in \geq 50, p < 0.05] were significantly more likely to accept the vaccine [90.3% vs. 85.8% in \geq 50, p < 0.05]. Using logistic regression models, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that, in the China sample, when holding constant gender and education, older (\geq 50) respondents were significantly less likely to receive the vaccine [OR = 0.71], evidencing a positive association between age and vaccine hesitancy whereby as age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases, such that older respondents are more vaccine hesitant.

Relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

Table 8: Studies evidencing that the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Lamot et al. (2020)	Slovenia	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
3	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income

United Kingdom, Sethi et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 4,884 United Kingdom residents, Sethi et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intent, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested, unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 20.7% (unsure and not interested combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Sethi et al. (2021) found that of respondents over 18 years of age, respondents aged 70 years and older were least likely to not receive the vaccine (5.34%), followed by respondents aged 60-99 years old (10.78%), respondents aged 18-29 years old (13.95%) and respondents aged 30-39 years old [19.19%]. Most likely to reject the vaccine were respondents aged 40-49 years old [24.73%] and respondents aged 50-59 years old [23.54%].

This study evidences that age is associated with vaccine hesitancy, with the oldest respondents being the least hesitant, suggesting a negative association between age and vaccine hesitancy. However, overall, the relationship is non-linear whereby middle-age respondents were most hesitant.

Slovenia, Lamot et al. (2020): In a snowball sample of 851 Slovenia residents, Lamot et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 0 (not likely at all) to 10 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Lamot et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant education, employment status, health and political orientation, respondents aged 18-29, [B=-1.16, p=0.000] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents

aged 40+, although respondents aged 30-39, [B = 0.5, p = 0.015] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents aged 40+.

Overall, the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is found to be non-linear in this study, with the middle age group being most hesitant.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, only 246 (24.6%) were willing to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. Allagoa et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured as a binary variable (willing vs. unwilling) at a hesitancy rate of 75.4%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Allagoa et al., (2021) found that when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, marital status, religion, occupation and educational attainment, and the presence of chronic illnesses and gender, respondents aged 26-35, [OR = 0.38, p < 0.001] and aged 36-45 [OR = 0.56, p < 0.05], were less likely to be willing to take the vaccine than respondents aged 25 years old and younger. There was no difference in vaccine willingness between respondents aged 46-55 [p = 0.342], respondents aged 55 years and older [p = 0.36] and respondents aged 25 years old and younger.

Overall, the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is found to be non-linear in this study, with the youngest and oldest groups being most vaccine willing and the middle groups most hesitant.

Age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 9: Studies evidencing that age is not predictive of vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Huynh and Senger (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Savoia et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Murphy et al. (2021)	Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
9	Montagni et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
10	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income
11	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income
12	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income

13	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income
14	Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021)	Latin America and the Caribbean	South America	Latin America	Varies
15	15 Lazarus et al. (2021)		Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
		Russia	Europe/Asia	Eastern Europe	High Income
		Mexico	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
		Ecuador	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
		South Korea	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
		Singapore	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
		South Africa	Africa	Anglo/Sub- Saharan Africa	Upper Middle Income
		Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, gender, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19 and friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, age was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.75].

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that respondents aged 45-54 years old [COR = 1.95, 95% CI: 1.14-3.41] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents aged 18-24. However, other age groups were not more likely to accept the vaccine than 18-24-year-olds.

Using multiple logistic regression (Model 1), Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, marital status, number of children, education, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, age was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p = 0.053].

Using multiple logistic regression (Model 2), Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, number of children, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, age was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p = 0.053].

On balance, there was not sufficient evidence to conclude that age is associated with vaccine hesitancy.

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, ethnicity, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, there was no association between age and vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Huynh and Senger (2021): In a convenience sample of 351 USA residents, Huynh and Senger (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccination intention, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and hierarchical regression.

Huynh and Senger (2021) found that, when holding constant ethnicity, gender, education, socio-economic situation and political orientation, age was not associated vaccination intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Fisher exact test and logistic regression.

Using Fisher exact test, Johnson et al, (2021) found that there were no statistically differences in vaccine intention between age groups [p = 0.205].

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant Black race, Hispanic ethnicity, education, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention, income and gender, age was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.211].

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a numerical discrete variable in decades, and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental design and ordinary least squares (OLS) regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving

body, origin, endorsements), politics, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion and ethnicity, age was negatively associated with vaccine intention measured as individual vaccine evaluation [B =-0.02, p < 0.001], such that the older a respondent was, the less likely they were to accept the vaccine, but not associated with vaccine intention measured as a discrete choice [p = 0.09].

United States, Savoia et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2640 United States residents, Savoia et al. (2020) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple logistic regression.

Sallam et al. (2021) found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05]

Ireland, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 1041 Ireland residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 35%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, respondents aged between 35 and 44 years [AOR= 2.00, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents aged 65 years and older. Respondents aged 35-44 years [AOR= 3.33, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than respondents 65 years and older. However, other age groups were not more or less likely be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) or resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents aged 65 years and older [p > 0.05].

Overall, for the most part, this study found that there was no association between income and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Ireland.

France, Montagni et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,344 France residents, Montagni et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a binary variable (18-34 vs. 35+), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a categorical variable (anti-vaccination = 18.6%, hesitant = 10.9%, pro-vaccination = 70.5%), using Chi-square.

Using Chi-square, Montagni et al. (2021) found that there were no significant differences between age groups in distribution between being anti-vaccination, hesitant and pro-vaccination [p = 0.1], evidencing that age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Using logistic regression, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant sex, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, age was not associated [p > 0.05] with vaccine resistance (no vs. yes) or hesitance (not sure vs. yes).

Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries, Sallam et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3'414 Arab country residents, Sallam et al. (2020) examined the relationship between age, measured as both a categorical variable and a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multinomial regression.

Using Chi-square, Sallam et al. (2021) found that there was no significant difference [p=0.908] in mean age between respondents who would get the vaccine when available $[31.4\,\text{years old}]$ and those who would not $[30.7\,\text{years old}]$, such that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Using logistic regression, Sallam et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 origin conspiracy belief, implanting microchips conspiracy belief, infertility belief, general vaccine belief, gender, country of residence, education, chronic disease history, and self or family experience of COVID-19, age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.762].

India, Kumar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 841 India residents, Kumar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine interest, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested and not sure) at a hesitancy rate of 46.8% (not interested and not sure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and ANOVA.

Kumar et al. (2021) found that there was no significant difference [p = 0.394] in the mean ages of respondents who intended to have the vaccine [Mean age = 34.39], respondents who did not intend to have the vaccine

[Mean age = 32.83] and respondents who were unsure about their intention to have the vaccine [Mean age = 34.18], thus finding no association between age and vaccine hesitancy.

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Wong et al. (2021) found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.304].

Latin America and the Caribbean, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021): In a secondary convenience sample of 472,521 Latin America and the Caribbean residents, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (definitely yes, probably yes, probably no, definitely yes), recoded as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 20%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple log-linear regression (reporting prevalence ratios).

Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) found that age was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

Spain, Russia, Mexico, Ecuador, South Korea, Singapore, South Africa, Nigeria, Lazarus et al. (2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) for descriptive statistics but recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses) for logistic regression, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Differences in vaccine acceptance between older and younger participants were not significant in Spain, Russia, Ecuador, South Korea, Singapore, South Africa and Nigeria. For these countries, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Conclusions

Table 10: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]			Non-predictive	Total
	As age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As age increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]	Relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear	[n, %]	
Studies		33 [70%]		14 [29%]	47
Studies	26 [55%]	4 [8%]	3 [6%]	14 [29%]	47
Region					
Europe	17 [71%]	1 [4%]	2 [8%]	4 [17%]	24
North America	6 [46%]	0	0	7 [54%]	13
Asia	4 [29%]	3 [21%]	0	7 [50%]	14
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
South America	1 [33%]	0	0	2 [67%]	3
Africa	2 [40%]	0	1 [20%]	2 [40%]	5
Cultural Group					
Anglo	12 [52%]	1 [4%]	1 [4%]	9 [39%]	23
Germanic Europe	4 [100%]	0	0	0	4
Nordic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Eastern Europe	1 [33%]	0	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Latin Europe	4 [67%]	0	0	2 [33%]	6
Latin America	1 [25%]	0	0	3 [75%]	4
Southern Asia	1 [33%]	0	0	2 [67%]	3
Confucian Asia	2 [33%]	2 [33%]	0	2 [33%]	6
Sub-Saharan Africa	2 [40%]	0	1 [20%]	2 [40%]	5
Middle East	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	0	2 [50%]	4
Income					
High Income	26 [57%]	3 [7%]	2 [4%]	15 [33%]	46

Upper Middle Income	2 [29%]	1 [14%]	0	4 [57%]	7
Lower Middle Income	1 [25%]	0	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Low Income	2 [100%]	0	0	0	2

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between age and vaccine hesitancy, 70% [33 out of 47] found age to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that age is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 33 studies that found age to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 79% of studies [26 out of 33] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when age is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, only 55% [26 out of 47] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), such that, overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

NB: Murphy et al. (2021) was not included in the above analysis as it contained two countries for which there were mixed findings in terms of the association between age and vaccine hesitancy.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, some associations between age and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in countries in Europe, 71% [17 out of 24] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

A relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in a North American context: 54% of studies [7 out of 13] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy; nor in an Asian context: 50% of studies [7 out of 14] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in countries in North America and Asia, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

The relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was inconclusive in an African context: 40% of studies [2 out of 5] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), but equally 40% of studies [2 out of 5] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of South America [3 studies] and Oceania [1 study].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Germanic Europe cultural group, 100% [4 out of 4] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Germanic Europe cultural group, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Of studies conducted in countries in the Latin Europe cultural group, 67% [4 out of 6] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant). As such, it can be confidently concluded that in Latin Europe cultural group countries, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Of studies conducted in countries that are part of the Anglo cultural group, 52% [12 out of 23] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant). As such, it can be concluded with some confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

A relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in a Latin American cultural group context: 75% of studies [3 out of 4] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Latin American cultural group, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

A relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was also not evident in a Middle East cultural group context: 50% of studies [2 out of 4] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in countries in the Latin America cultural group, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is inconclusive evidence of an association between age and vaccine hesitancy in Confucian Asia and Sub-Saharan cultural group contexts. In a Confucian Asia cultural group context, 33% of studies [2 out of 6] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), but equally 33% of studies [2 out of 6] found that as age increases,

vaccine hesitancy increases (i.e., older age groups are more hesitant) and 33% of studies [2 out of 6] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy. In a Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group context, 40% of studies [2 out of 5] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), but equally 40% of studies [2 out of 5] found that age was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Eastern Europe [3 studies], Southern Asia [3 studies] and Nordic Europe [1 study] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 57% of studies [26 out of 46] found that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high income countries, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

A relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in upper middle income countries: 57% of studies [4 out of 7] found that age was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in upper middle income countries, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

A relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy was also not evident in lower middle income countries: 50% of studies [2 out of 4] found that age was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in lower middle income countries, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy in the context of low income countries [2 studies].

DEMOGRAPHICS SEX/GENDER

5.1.2

Sex is the biological characteristics and gender is the socially constructed characteristics of males, females and other categories. In the evidence reviewed sex and gender were most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., male vs female), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., other).

In total, 47 studies considered the association between sex/gender and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 35 found that sex/gender was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and 10 found that gender was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 35 studies that found sex/gender was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 31 found that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males and four found that males are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than females.

Females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 11: Studies evidencing that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
5	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
6	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Kreps et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Ruiz and Bell (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Edwards et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
11	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
12	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
13	Zampetakis and Melas (2021)	Greece	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income

14	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
14	1 aui et al. (2021)	Austria	Lutope	Germanic Europe	riigii ilicollie
15	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
16	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
17	Lamot et al. (2020)	Slovenia	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
18	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
19	Mesesle (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
20	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
21	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
22	Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021)	Latin America and the Caribbean		Latin America	
23	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
24	Salali and Uysal (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
25	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
26	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income
27	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income
28	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
29	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
30	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income
31	Lazarus et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
32	Lindholt et al. (2020)	Multiple Countries			
33	Rozek et al. (2021)	Multiple Countries			

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a male and female, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that female gender was positively correlated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.08], but was less predictive than other demographic factors; age [rs =-0.3], membership of an other than White ethnic group [rs = 0.24] and level of education [rs = 0.16].

Using linear rank-order regression, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant other demographic factors (age, ethnicity, education, household income), females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.07, p < 0.001]. Being female was equally predictive when holding other factors constant. When also holding constant reliance on legacy media and reliance on social media for COVID-19 knowledge, females were still more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.07, p < 0.001]. When holding constant perceived risk of COVID-19 to oneself, the UK and the world, as well as other demographic factors, females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.08, p < 0.001]. When holding constant trust in the government, scientists working at universities, scientists working at private companies, and doctors and nurses, as well as other demographic factors, females were still more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.08, p < 0.001]. When holding constant general vaccine attitude and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, as well as other demographic factors, females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.06, p < 0.001]. When holding constant all factors studied in a single model, females were still more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [rs = 0.06, p < 0.001].

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that there was statistically significant association between gender and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker sample, but gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy in the non-key worker sample [p > 0.05]. When holding constant age, area lived, education, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure

to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and perceived COVID-19 risk, female respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than male respondents [OR = 1.96, p < 0.05].

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that gender was associated with vaccine hesitancy; females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant [B = 0.224, p < 0.001]. However, gender only accounted for 1% of variance in vaccine hesitancy [R2 = 0.010]. The strongest predictor of vaccine hesitancy was age [R2 = 0.038].

United Kingdom, Sethi et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 4,884 United Kingdom residents, Sethi et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intent, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested, unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 20.7% (unsure and not interested combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression

Sethi et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant smoker status, graduate status, Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) status, age group and health issues, males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females.

Ireland and the United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1'041 Ireland residents and 2'025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable and at hesitancy rates of 35% and 31% respectively, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the Irish sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [OR = 1.62, 95% CI = 1.18, 2.22].

In the British sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted,

mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [OR = 1.43, 95% CI = 1.14, 1.80].

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 4 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Coe et al. (2021) found that when holding constant race, region, ethnicity, age, education, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, females were less likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than males [AOR = 0.54; 95% CI 0.36-0.80].

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Dorman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and t-test.

Dorman et al. (2021) found that males were more willing to be vaccinated than females [t (12,963) = -20.73, p < 0.001].

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental survey design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), politics, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, and religion and ethnicity, being female was negatively associated with both vaccine intention measured as a discrete choice [B =-0.02, p = 0.001] and as individual vaccine evaluation [B =-0.08, p < 0.001] compared with being male, such that the females were less likely to accept the vaccine.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and

vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that more males [71.9%, p = 0.001] were likely to get the vaccine than females [53.8%].

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, being 65 years or older, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, being male was positive associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.119, p < 0.001], such that males were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than females.

Australia, Edwards et al. (2021): In a representative sample of 3,000 Australia residents, Edwards et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not get the vaccine) to 4 (definitely get the vaccine) at a hesitancy rate of 41.4%, using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal probit regression, presenting AME.

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, age, and income, females were more likely to be resistant to the vaccine [AME = 0.011, p < 0.10], to have high levels of hesitancy towards the vaccine [AME = 0.01, p < 0.01], have low levels of hesitancy towards the vaccines [AME = 0.021, p < 0.10] and less likely to definitely get the vaccine [AME =-0.042, p < 0.10].

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, age, income, belief that too much fuss is being made about COVID-19, social distancing behaviour, having downloaded the COVID-19 Safe App, voting intention, confidence in government, confidence in hospitals and health system, support for migration, populism and religiosity, females were more likely to be resistant to the the vaccine [AME = 0.018, p < 0.10], to have high levels of hesitancy towards the vaccine [AME = 0.016, p < 0.05], have low levels of hesitancy towards the vaccines [AME = 0.027, p < 0.10] and less likely to definitely get the vaccine [AME = -0.061, p < 0.05].

France, Tavolacci et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3'089 French students, Tavolacci et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical

variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitancy, resistance), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, years of study, courses of study, COVID-19 infection, having a relative hospitalized or died from COVID-19, COVID-19 knowledge, conventional vaccine beliefs, COVID-19 vaccine beliefs, confidence about conventional vaccination, perceived vaccine efficacy and perceived vaccine security, females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant [OR = 2.09, p < 0.0001] and to be vaccine resistant [OR = 1.72, p < 0.0001] than males.

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, with vaccine intention (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Soares et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education, monthly household income, lost income during pandemic and occupation, females were more likely to wait rather than accept the vaccine than males [OR = 1.44, CI = 1.16-1.78], but found no association between gender and not accepting the vaccine vs. accepting the vaccine.

Greece, Zampetakis and Melas (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,006 Greece residents, Zampetakis and Melas (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (I absolutely do not intend to vaccinate) to 7 (I absolutely intend to vaccinate), using a conjoint experimental survey design and linear regression.

Zampetakis et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, living area, educational level, marital status managerial position, females were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than males [B=-0.16, p<0.01].

Austria, Paul et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,301 Austrian residents, Paul et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and readiness to get vaccinated, measured on a scale from 1 (completely disagree) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and OLS regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Paul et al. (2021) found that more males [52%] completely or somewhat agreed that they intended to receive the vaccine as soon as possible than females [46%].

Using OLS regression, Paul et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education, income situation, pre-existing condition, subjective health risk, sense of community, conspiracy belief and party voted for, being

male was positively associated with vaccine intention, such that males were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than females.

Austria, Schernhammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,007 Austria residents, Schernhammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) but recoded to be a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 41.1% (intermediate or severe hesitancy combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, region of residence, area of residence, education, politics, optimism, resilience, need for cognitive closure, main source of information and health status, males were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than females [OR = 0.56, CI 0.41-0.76].

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 8 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and stratified linear regression.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine safety, vaccine efficacy, infection situation in Finland, side effects, recommendation from a healthcare professional, recommendation from health authorities, conversations with family and friends, how easy it is to get vaccinated, perceived susceptibility, perceived probability of infection, perceived severity if infected, perceived transparency with public, perceived politician honesty, belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theory, belief in other conspiracy theories, education and age, females over the age of 50 were less likely to get vaccinated compared to males over 50 [B = -0.22, p = 0.019], although gender was not associated with vaccine acceptance in respondents younger than 50 [p > 0.05].

Slovenia, Lamot et al. (2020): In a snowball sample of 851 Slovenia residents, Lamot et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 0 (not likely at all) to 10 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Lamot et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant education, employment status, health and political orientation, being male was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [B =-0.70, p = 0.000], such that males were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than female respondents.

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,529 Malta residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely no) to 10 (definitely yes), using a cross-sectional survey design, t-tests and linear regression.

In simple t-test analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that males were more willing to receive the vaccine than females [p < 0.0005].

In multiple regression analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 knowledge, accessing COVID-19 news and information, engaging in preventative behaviour, vaccine efficacy, importance of family and friends. Opinion of the vaccine, importance of healthcare professionals. Advice, health worker status, chronic health condition status, age, education, flu jab status, opinion on giving the vaccine to children and opinion on encouraging elderly patients to take the vaccine, there was no association between gender and vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.5311], which suggests that other factors modelled better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

In a follow-up study of 843 Malta residents and international visitors, of the 132 respondents who declared that they did not want to receive the vaccine, nearly 60% of female respondents attributed their hesitancy to belief that the vaccine may not be safe, compared with approximately 25% of males attributing their hesitancy to this reason.

Ethiopia, Mesesle (2021): In a random sample of 425 Ethiopia residents, Mesesle (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Mesesle (2021) found that males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females [COR = 2.05, p = 0.003].

Using multiple logistic regression, Mesele et al. (2021) again found that, when holding constant educational status, mass media usage, having received any vaccination during childhood, having a member of household diagnosed with COVID-19, having a relative diagnosed with COVID-19, having a friend diagnosed with COVID-19, having tested for COVID-19 and results of COVID-19 test, males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females [AOR = 2.14, p = 0.003].

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable (female and male), and vaccine hesitancy, which was measured as a binary variable and

at a hesitancy rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education, occupation, religion, marital status, income, and rural or urban residence, males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females [OR = 2.1, p = 0.000].

Using descriptive statistics and simple logistic regression to test significance, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by gender [p < 0.05] whereby more males accepted the vaccine compared with females in India [71.2% vs. 60.2%], but this association was not significant when holding constant age and education in multiple logistic regression.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (willing = 24.6%, unwilling = 75.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Allagoa et al., (2021) found that when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, age, marital status, religion, occupation and educational attainment, and the presence of chronic illnesses, males were more likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine [OR = 2.34, p = 0.01] than females.

Latin America and the Caribbean, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021): In a secondary convenience sample of 472,521 Latin America and the Caribbean residents, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (definitely yes, probably yes, probably no, definitely yes), recoded as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 20%, using a cross-sectional survey design and log-linear regression (reporting prevalence ratios).

Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, living age, COVID-19 symptomatology, compliance with community mitigation strategies, food insecurity, economic insecurity, fears of becoming ill or that a family member becomes seriously ill from COVID-19, anxiety symptomology, depressive symptomatology, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by friends and family, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by local health workers, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by the WHO, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by government health officials and probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by politicians, females were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than males [PR = 0.97, p < 0.001].

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et

al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance) and at a rate of hesitancy 58.9% (refusal and hesitancy categories combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multiple linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by gender [p < 0.001] whereby 56% of males accepted the vaccine compared with 43.3% of females.

Using multiple linear regression, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, education level, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, risk perception, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, being male was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.119, p = 0.000], such that males were more likely to accept the vaccine.

Turkey, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 3,936 Turkey residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant beliefs about origin of the virus, highest level of education, financial satisfaction, having children, COVID-19-related anxiety and COVID-19 perceived risk, males were more likely to accept the vaccine [OR = 1.47, p < 0.001], such that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males.

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

In the simple Chi-square analysis, Alobaidi (2021) found that males were more likely to receive the vaccine than females [47.8% vs. 33.3%, p < 0.05], but this association was not found to be significant when holding constant nationality, education, working in health care, monthly income, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived benefits of vaccine and cues to action in a logistic regression model [p > 0.05], which suggests that other factors modelled better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant age, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, females were more likely to reject the vaccine (intention = no) [OR = 3.00, p < 0.01] and more likely to be hesitant towards the vaccine (intention = not sure) [OR = 1.49, p < 0.05] than males.

Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries, Sallam et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3'414 Arab country residents, Sallam et al. (2020) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Sallam et al. (2021) found that more males [38.6%, p < 0.001] were likely to get the vaccine than females [23.9%].

Using logistic regression, Sallam et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 origin conspiracy belief, implanting microchips conspiracy belief, infertility belief, general vaccine belief, age, country of residence, education, chronic disease history, self or family experience of COVID-19, males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females [OR = 1.54, p < 0.001].

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured as a binary variable (unwilling vs. willing) at a hesitancy rate of 47.3%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that females were more likely to be unwilling to receive the vaccine than males [COR = 1.311, p = 0.033].

Tsai et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, education, occupational status, experience of vaccine refusal, severity of the pandemic in Taiwan and worry about contracting COVID-19, and health and political orientation, females were more likely to be unwilling to receive the vaccine than males [COR = 1.344, p = 0.039].

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

In six out of nine scenarios in the conjoint experimental design, males were more likely to accept the vaccine than females. There was no association between gender and vaccine intention in three of the nine scenarios.

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Wong et al. (2021) found that more males [54.6%, p = 0.002] definitely intended to receive the vaccine than females [45%].

Using logistic regression, Wong et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age group, ethnicity, highest education level, occupation category, average monthly household income, location, diagnosed with chronic diseases, perceived overall health, known any friends, neighbours or colleagues infected with COVID-19, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived benefits, and perceived barriers, males were more likely to have a definite intention to receive the vaccine than females [OR = 1.44, 95% CI 1.11-1.87].

India, Lazarus et al. (2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) and recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and logistic regression.

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 18,231 respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%] and France (47%), and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in Hungary [47%].

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in national health authorities, trust in scientists, trust in the government, democratic rights, support of public protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, political ideology, vote choice (government), fatigue, behaviour change, knowledge, age, education, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the economy, support for restrictions and interpersonal trust, being female was negatively associated with vaccine acceptance [B =-0.05; 95% CI-0.03-0.07], such that females were less likely to accept the vaccine than males.

Multiple Countries, Rozek et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples (except for snowball sample from Russia) of 17 countries (Canada, United States, Germany, Poland, Russia, Sweden, Ukraine, China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam, Turkey) totalling 17,608 responses, Rozek et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, maybe) but recoded as a binary variable (yes vs. no/maybe) and at a hesitancy rate of 44% (no and maybe combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Rozek et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant confidence in local health department, confidence in the ministry of health, confidence in the WHO, trust in medical practitioners, trust in science, trust in religious leaders, trust in political leaders and age, being female was associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 1.17, p < 0.001], such that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than males.

Males are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 12: Studies evidencing that males are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Savoia et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
4	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
5	Lazarus et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
		Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
		Sweden	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
		Russia	Asia	Eastern Europe	High Income

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In their first model, Benis et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, marital status, number of children, education, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, male respondents were less likely to accept the vaccine than females [OR = 0.39; 95% CI 0.25-0.62, p = 0.003]. In their second model, which was restricted to holding constant age, number of children, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry and civic responsibility to take vaccine, male respondents were less likely to accept the vaccine than females [OR = 0.43; 95% CI 0.27-0.65, p = 0.0031.

United States, Savoia et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2640 United States residents, Savoia et al. (2020) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a

categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design, and ordinal and logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Savoia et al. (2021) found that females were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than males [OR = 0.85, p < 0.05].

Using multiple logistic regression, Savoia et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, employment status, education, race, type of job, medical conditions, risk perception, COVID-19 diagnosis and experience of unfair treatment, gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05], suggesting that other factors better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy than gender.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and willingness to pay for a COVID-19 vaccine, measured by asking respondents to identify the maximum amount they would be willing to pay for a vaccine dose and providing four price points, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Goruntla et al. (2021) found that when holding constant marital status, area of location, education, occupation, income, healthcare profession, chronic disorders and overall health, females were more likely to be willing to pay for the vaccine at a higher price point than males [OR = 1.51, p < 0.05], but this association was not significant at a lower price point [p > 0.05].

India, Kumar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 841 India residents, Kumar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine interest, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested and not sure) at a hesitancy rate of 46.8% (not interested and not sure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Kumar et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant information on the vaccine, chances of getting coronavirus disease in the next 6 months, awareness of India COVID 19 vaccine, Indian manufacturing company of vaccine, family history of the laboratory confirmed case, and health status, males were less likely to be interested in receiving the vaccine vs. not interested compared with females $[OR=0.597,\,p<0.05]$, although there was no association between gender and interest in receiving the vaccine vs. not sure [p>0.05].

(2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy,

France, Germany, Sweden, Russia, Lazarus et al.

measured on a scale of 1 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) and recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and logistic regression.

Using descriptive statistics and simple logistic regression to test significance, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by gender [p < 0.05] whereby more females accepted the vaccine compared with males in France [67.9% vs. 50.3%], Germany [72.9% vs 62.4%], Sweden [69.9% vs 60.2%] and Russia [60.1% vs. 49.7%].

Using logistic regression, Lazarus et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age and education, females in France [OR = 0.5], Germany [OR = 0.62], Sweden [OR = 0.74] and Russia [OR = 0.65] were more likely to accept the vaccine than males.

Sex/Gender is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 13: Studies evidencing that gender is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Huynh and Senger (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
8	Wakefield et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
9	Salali and Uysal (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

10	Bendau et al. (2021)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
11	Caserotti et al. (2021)	Italy	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
12	Lazarus et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
		Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
		Italy	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
		Spain	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
		Poland	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
		Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
		Ecuador	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
		China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
		South Korea	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
		Singapore	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
		Mexico	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
			Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income
		South Africa	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Upper Middle Income

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, age, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19, friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, being female [p = 0.9] and being non-binary or transgender [p = 0.51] was not associated with vaccine intention.

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using an ordinal regression model.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, ethnicity, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, fear and perceived benefits, there was no statistically significant association between gender and vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Huynh and Senger (2021): In a convenience sample of 351 USA residents, Huynh and Senger (2021)

examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccination intention, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and hierarchical regression.

Huynh and Senger (2021) found that, when holding constant ethnicity, age, education, socio-economic situation and political orientation, gender was not associated with vaccination intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Fisher exact test and logistic regression.

Using Fisher exact test, Johnson et al, (2021) found that there were no statistically differences in vaccine intention between gender categories [p = 0.583].

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant Black race, Hispanic ethnicity, education, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention, income and age, gender was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.449].

United States, Willis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,205 Arkansas residents, Willis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 21.86%, using a cross-sectional survey design, t-test and logistic regression.

Using t-test, Willis et al. (2021) found that there was no significant difference in vaccine hesitancy between males and females [p = 0.137].

Using logistic regression, Willis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, race/ethnicity, income, education, COVID-19 health literacy, fear of COVID-19 infection and general vaccine trust, gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 1.38, p = 0.137].

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured using an adapted version of the WHO Sage's 10-item scale, which was then dichotomized, using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant residence, generation race/ethnicity, monthly family

income and political affiliation, gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 1.09, p = 0.3494].

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a rate of 71%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, social media platforms use, age, posting political content online, fact-checking, having had COVID-19, sources of information, education, trust in the media, voting Conservative, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations, and evaluation of government's handling of COVID-19, gender was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05].

United Kingdom, Wakefield et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 130 UK residents, Wakefield et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Wakefield et al. (2021) found that, in preliminary analysis, gender did not correlate with any vaccine willingness variables, so was not included in the regression analyses.

Germany, Bendau et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,779 Germany residents, Bendau et al., (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of-2 (absolutely) to +2 (absolutely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1% (absolutely = 64.5%, would rather accept it = 10.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Bendau et al. (2021) found that gender was not associated with vaccine willingness [p = 0.119].

United Kingdom, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 3 1,088 United Kingdom residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant beliefs about origin of the virus, highest level of education, financial satisfaction, having children, COVID-19-related anxiety, COVID-19 perceived risk, there was no association between gender and vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05].

Italy, Caserotti et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,267 Italy residents, Caserotti et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and (i) vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale from 0 (not at all likely) to 100 (very likely), using a logistic regression model (from which ORs were presented) and (ii) vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (no hesitancy vs. hesitancy > 0), using a cross-sectional survey design and negative binomial regression (from which IRRs were presented).

Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, age, deprivation and area in Italy, gender was not associated with vaccine acceptance using logistic regression [p = 0.618] or vaccine hesitancy using a negative binomial model [p = 0.44].

United Kingdom, United States, Canada, Italy, Spain, Poland, Brazil, Ecuador, China, South Korea, Singapore, Mexico, Nigeria, South Africa, Lazarus et al. (2021): In a random sample of 13,426 respondents from high-COVID-19 burden countries in June 2020, Lazarus et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely disagree) and recoded as a binary variable (completely agree and somewhat agree vs. all other responses), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and logistic regression.

Lazarus et al. (2021) found that gender was not significantly associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05] in Brazil, Canada, China, Ecuador, Italy, Mexico, Nigeria, Poland, South Africa, South Korea, Singapore, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States.

Conclusions

Table 14: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]		Total
	Females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Males are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	
Studies	35 [78%]	10 [22%]	45
Studies	31 [69%]	4 [9%]	10 [22%]	45
Region				
Europe	14 [54%]	3 [12%]	9 [35%]	26
North America	4 [33%]	2 [17%]	6 [50%]	12
Asia	11 [65%]	3 [18%]	3 [18%]	17
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	1 [25%]	0	3 [75%]	4
Africa	3 [60%]	0	2 [40%]	5
Cultural Group				
Anglo	11 [50%]	2 [9%]	9 [41%]	22
Germanic Europe	2 [50%]	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	4

Nordic Europe	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	0 [0%]	2
Eastern Europe	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Latin Europe	4 [50%]	1 [13%]	3 [38%]	8
Latin America	1 [33%]	0 [0%]	2 [67%]	3
Southern Asia	2 [50%]	2 [50%]	0 [0%]	4
Confucian Asia	2 [20%]	0 [40%]	3 [40%]	5
Sub-Saharan Africa	3 [60%]	0 [0%]	2 [40%]	5
Middle East	7 [100%]	0 [0%]	0 [0%]	7
Income				
High Income	24 [49%]	5 [10%]	20 [41%]	49
Upper Middle Income	3 [43%]	0 [0%]	4 [57%]	7
Lower Middle Income	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	1 [25%]	4
Low Income	3 [100%]	0	0	3

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between sex/gender and vaccine hesitancy, 78% [35 out of 45] found sex/gender to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that sex/gender is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 35 studies that found sex/gender to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 89% [31 out of 35] found that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when sex/gender is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Out of all studies, still 69% [31 out of 45] found that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that, overall, it can be confidently concluded that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

NB: Lazarus et al. (2021) and Salali and Uysal (2021) were not included in the above analysis as they contained multiple countries for which there were mixed findings in terms of the association between gender and vaccine hesitancy.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between sex/gender and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in Asian countries, 65% [11 out of 17] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Of studies conducted in African countries, 60% [3 out of 5] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant. As such, it can be confidently concluded that in Asian, and African countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Of studies conducted in European countries, 54% [14 out of 26] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in European countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is inconclusive evidence of an association between gender and vaccine hesitancy in North America; 33% [4 out of 12] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, 17% [2 out of 12] found that males were more likely to be vaccine hesitant and 50% [6 out of 12] found no association between gender and vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between gender and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of South America [4 studies] and Oceania [1 study].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in Middle East cultural group countries, 100% [7 out of 7] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Of studies conducted in Latin Europe cultural group countries, 60% [6 out of 10] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Of the studies conducted in Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group countries, 60% [3 out of 5] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant. As such, it can be confidently concluded that

in Latin Europe and Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Of studies conducted in Anglo [11 out of 22] and Germanic Europe [2 out of 4] cultural group countries, 50% of studies found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in Anglo and Germanic Europe cultural group countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Of studies conducted in Confucian Asia cultural group countries, 60% [3 out of 5] found that gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy such that it can be confidently concluded that in Confucian Asia cultural group countries, gender is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is inconclusive evidence about the association between gender and vaccine hesitancy in Southern Asia cultural group countries; 50% of studies [2 out of 4] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant and 50% [2 out of 4] found that males were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between gender and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Latin America [3 studies], Eastern Europe [3 studies] and Nordic Europe [2 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of studies conducted in upper middle income countries, 57% [4 out of 7] found that gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in upper middle income countries gender is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Of studies conducted in lower middle income countries, 50% [2 out of 4] found that males were more likely to be vaccine hesitant such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in lower middle income countries males are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is inconclusive evidence about the association between gender and vaccine hesitancy in high income countries; 49% of studies [24 out of 49] found that females were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, 10% [5 out of 49] found that males were more likely to be vaccine hesitant and 41% [20 out of 49] found that gender was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and vaccine hesitancy in the context of low income [3 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS EDUCATION

5.1.3

Education is the process of learning. Education was measured in terms of the highest level of formal education achieved by respondents as a categorical, but ordered, variable from low (e.g., no formal qualifications) to high (e.g., doctoral degree).

In total, 34 studies considered the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 18 found that education was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and 16 found that age was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 18 studies that found that education was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 14 found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., less educated are more vaccine hesitant), two found that as education increases, vaccine hesitancy increases (i.e., more educated are more vaccine hesitant) and two found that the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy was non-linear.

As education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 15: Studies evidencing that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Ruiz and Bell	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Kreps et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Bendau et al. (2021)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
8	Lamot et al. (2020)	Slovenia	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income
9	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income

10	Mesesle (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
11	Mose and Yesshaneh (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
12	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
13	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income
14	Lindholt et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that education level was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.01].

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education and household income, education level was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.05, p < 0.001]. When also holding constant reliance on legacy media and reliance on social media for COVID-19 knowledge, level of education was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.05, p = 0.004]. When holding constant perceived risk of COVID-19 to oneself, the UK and the world, as well as other demographic factors, level of education was further negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.07, p < 0.001]. When holding constant trust in the government, scientists working at universities, scientists working at private companies, and doctors and nurses, as well as other demographic factors, level of education was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.04, p = 0.015]. When holding constant general vaccine attitude and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, as well as other demographic factors, level of education became positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.04, p = 0.004]. When holding constant all factors studied in a single model, level of education was no longer associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.03, p = 0.062].

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between education level and vaccine hesitancy whereby as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant. Education level remained predictive, when holding other factors constant. Furthermore, education level is positively associated with general vaccine attitude [rs = 0.16] and negatively associated with belief in COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions [rs = -0.15] such that when these factors are modelled alongside education level, the relationship between education level and vaccine hesitancy changes.

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between being a university graduate, measured as a binary variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 29%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, social media platforms use, gender, posting political content online, , having had COVID-19, sources of information, age, trust in the media, voting Conservative, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations and evaluation of government's handling of COVID-19, university graduates were more likely to be willing to accept the vaccine [OR = 1.701, p]< 0.01] than non-graduates. This positive association between education and vaccine acceptance remained when use of information sources was added to the model [OR = 1.572, p < 0.01], when social media use was added to the model [OR = 1.574, p < 0.01] and when fact-checking an article online and having posted political content online was added to the model [OR = 1.56, p < 0.05].

This evidences a positive association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, Sethi et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 4,884 United Kingdom residents, Sethi et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested, unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 20.7% (unsure and not interested combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Sethi et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, smoker status, BAME status, graduates were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than non-graduates [OR = 3.005], evidencing a negative association between education level and vaccine intention.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 4 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and unadjusted and adjusted logistic regression.

Using unadjusted logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that respondents with a bachelor's degree [OR = 1.43, 95% CI 1.01-2.03] or a graduate or professional degree [OR = 2.79, 95% CI 1.81-4.31] were more likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than high school/General Education Development (GED) graduates. Respondents with no high school degree [95% CI 0.41-1.37] or with a two-year degree or some college [95% CI 0.66-1.31] were not more less likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than high school/ GED graduates.

Using adjusted logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant race, region, ethnicity, age, gender, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, respondents with a two-year degree or some college were less likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than high school/GED graduates [OR = 0.59, 95% CI 0.36-0.97]. Respondents with no high school degree [95% CI 0.48-2.77], with a bachelor's degree [95% CI 0.37-1.07] or with a graduate or professional degree [95% CI 0.74-3.04] were not more or less likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than high school/GED graduates.

Overall, there is some evidence of a positive association between education level and vaccine intention whereby as education level increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant. However, this association disappears in the adjusted logistic regression, suggesting that other factors better account for variance in vaccine intention.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found significant differences in vaccine intention between education categories [p = 0.001]. Respondents with a bachelor's degree [71.2%] were most likely to get the vaccine followed by respondents with a graduate degree [65.2%] and respondents with some college/associate's degree [60.6%]. Respondents with high school or less education [47.5%] were least likely to get the vaccine.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, gender, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, age, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, education was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05], which suggests that variance in education intention is better accounted for by other factors.

Overall, this study provides some evidence of a positive association between education level and vaccine intention whereby as education level increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), politics, age, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion and ethnicity, education level was positively associated with vaccine intention measured as a discrete choice [B = 0.01, p < 0.01] and measured as individual vaccine evaluation [B = 0.03, p < 0.001] whereby as education level increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Germany, Bendau et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,779 Germany residents, Bendau et al., (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of -2 (absolutely not) to +2 (absolutely) at a rate of 74.9% (absolutely = 64.5%, would rather accept it = 10.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and correlations.

Bendau et al. (2021) found that education level was positively associated with vaccine willingness [rs = 0.117, p < 0.001], whereby as education level increases, vaccine willingness increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Slovenia, Lamot et al. (2020): In a snowball sample of 851 Slovenia residents, Lamot et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 0 (not likely at all) to 10 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Lamot et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant age, employment status, health and political orientation, respondents with a high school diploma or less [B = 0.63, p = 0.004] and respondents with a first-cycle degree [B = 0.74, p = 0.000] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents in the highest educational group (having at least a second-cycle degree).

This evidences a negative association between education level and vaccine hesitancy whereby as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, with vaccine intention (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and multinomial logistic regression.

Using multinomial logistic regression, Soares et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, monthly household income, lost income during pandemic and occupation, respondents with secondary education, without education or with a basic education were more likely to be vaccine resistant (vs. vaccine accepting) than respondents with a university degree [OR = 1.78, 95% CI: 1.19-2.66] and more likely to be vaccine resistant (vs. vaccine hesitant) than respondents with a university degree [OR = 2.33, 95% CI: 1.08-5.05].

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between education and vaccine resistance whereby as education level increases, vaccine resistance decreases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine resistant.

Ethiopia, Mesesle (2021): In a random sample of 425 Ethiopia residents, Mesesle (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine awareness, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Mesesle (2021) found that respondents with college and above education were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with no higher than primary education [AOR = 3.17, 95% CI 1.72-5.81]. Respondents with no higher than secondary education were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with no higher than primary education [95% CI 0.69-2.44].

Using multiple logistic regression, Mesesle et al. (2021) again found that, when holding constant gender, mass media usage, having received any vaccination during childhood, having a member of household diagnosed with COVID-19, having a relative diagnosed with COVID-19, having a friend diagnosed with COVID-19, having tested for COVID-19 and results of COVID-19 test, respondents with college and above education were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with no higher than primary education [AOR = 3.09, 95% CI 1.5-6.37]. Respondents with no higher than secondary education were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with no higher than primary education [95% CI 0.72-3.23].

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Ethiopia, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021): In a random sample of 396 Ethiopia pregnant women, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that respondents who had completed primary education were more likely to accept the vaccine than pregnant mothers with no formal education [COR = 3.281, p < 0.05]. Pregnant mothers with a secondary education and above were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than pregnant mothers with no formal education.

Using multiple logistic regression, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that, when holding constant age, occupation,

gravidity, parity, ANC visit, medical illness, knowledge, attitude and practice, respondents who had completed primary education were more likely to accept the vaccine than pregnant mothers with no formal education [COR = 3.467, p < 0.05]. Pregnant mothers with a secondary education and above were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than pregnant mothers with no formal education.

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable and at a rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, occupation, religion, marital status, income, and rural or urban residence, respondents with a secondary level of education [OR = 2.8, p = 0.022] and respondents with a tertiary level of education [OR = 2.8, p = 0.009] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with a primary level of education.

This evidences a positive association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (willing = 24.6%, unwilling = 75.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Allagoa et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, age, marital status, religion, occupation, gender, and the presence of chronic illnesses, respondents whose highest level of education was secondary [OR = 0.13, p = 0.001] and tertiary education [OR = 0.51, p = 0.001] were significantly less likely to receive the COVID-19 vaccine than respondents whose highest level of education was postgraduate. However, there was no difference [p > 0.05] in vaccine intention between respondents whose highest level of education was primary and respondents whose highest level of education was postgraduate.

Overall, this study evidences that education level is positively associated with vaccine intention whereby as education level increases, so does vaccine intention, such

that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In nationally representative (quota) sample of 18,231 respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between having accessed tertiary education, measured as a binary variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%], France (47%). and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in Hungary [47%].

Using simple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that respondents who accessed tertiary education (i.e., post-secondary education) were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who did not $[B=0.049,\,p<0.001]$.

Using multiple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in national health authorities, trust in scientists, trust in the government, democratic rights, support of public protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, political ideology, vote choice (government), fatigue, behaviour change, knowledge, gender, age, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the economy, support for restrictions and interpersonal trust, respondents who accessed tertiary education (i.e., post-secondary education) were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who did not [B = 0.022, p < 0.001]. That the strength of the association decreases in the multiple analysis suggests that other factors better account for some of the variance in vaccine acceptance.

This evidences a positive association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with a lower level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

As education level increases, vaccine hesitancy increases

Table 16: Studies evidencing that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy increases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Salali and Uysal (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
2	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

Turkey, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 3,936 Turkey residents and 1,088 United Kingdom residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the Turkey sample, Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant beliefs about origin of the virus, sex, financial satisfaction, having children, COVID-19-related anxiety and COVID-19 perceived risk, respondents with a graduate degree were less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents without a graduate degree [OR = 0.69, p < 0.001]. There was no difference between respondents with a postgraduate degree and respondents without a graduate degree in Turkey [p > 0.05]. Overall, in the Turkey sample, there is evidence of a negative association between education level and vaccine acceptance whereby as education level increases, vaccine acceptance decreases such that respondents with a higher level of education are more vaccine hesitant.

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitance, measured as a binary variable (unwilling vs. willing) at a rate of 47.3%, using simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that respondents with a masters degree and above education, [COR = 2.026, p = 0.005] and respondents with college education [AOR = 1.866, p < 0.001] were more likely to be unwilling to receive the vaccine than respondents with high school and below education.

Tsai et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, education, occupational status, experience of vaccine refusal, severity of the pandemic in Taiwan and worry about contracting COVID-19, and health and political orientation, respondents with a masters degree and above education, [AOR = 2.399, p = 0.002] and respondents with college education [AOR = 2.1, p < 0.001] were more likely to be

unwilling to receive the vaccine than respondents with high school and below education.

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between education and vaccine hesitancy whereby as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy also increases such that respondents with a higher level of education are more vaccine resistant.

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education level, as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant marital status, having children under 18, employment status and chronic disease status, respondents with a college education or above were less likely to intend to receive the vaccination at the soonest opportunity than respondents with lower than a college education [OR = 0.27, p < 0.01].

This evidences a positive association between education and vaccine hesitancy whereby as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy also increases such that respondents with a higher level of education are more vaccine resistant.

Relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

Table 17: Studies evidencing that the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and ANOVA.

Dorman et al. (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by education level [p < 0.001]. Respondents with less than high school education, on average had the strongest will to receive the vaccine [4.82 on a scale of 1–7], followed by respondents with a four-year college degree [4.51] and respondents with a high school diploma [4.48]. Respondents with a community college degree or some college had the weakest will to receive the vaccine [4.3].

This evidences a non-linear association between education level and vaccine willingness.

United States, Willis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,205 Arkansas residents, Willis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured

as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 78.14%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Willis et al. (2021) found that there were significant differences in vaccine hesitancy between education categories [p < 0.001]. Respondents with some college education had the highest level of vaccine hesitancy [32.17%] followed by respondents with a high school degree or less [27.2%]. Respondents with a four-year degree [16.23%] had the lowest level of vaccine hesitancy.

Using logistic regression, Willis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant sex, race/ethnicity, income, age, COVID-19 health literacy, fear of COVID-19 infection and general vaccine trust, respondents with some college education were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with a four-year degree [OR = 1.67, p = 0.028]. Respondents with high school or less education were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with a four-year degree [p = 0.553].

Overall, this study evidences a non-linear association between education level and vaccine hesitancy.

Education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 18: Studies evidencing that education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Salali and Uysal (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income

4	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Huynh and Senger (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Savoia et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
10	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
11	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
12	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
13	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
14	Al-Qerem et al. (2020)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income
15	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income
16	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
17	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that , when holding constant age, gender, area lived, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and

perceived COVID-19 risk, there was no association between education level and vaccine hesitancy in either the key worker and non-key worker samples [p > 0.05].

United Kingdom, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 1,088 United Kingdom residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the British sample, Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant beliefs about origin of the virus, sex, financial satisfaction, having children, COVID-19-related anxiety and COVID-19 perceived risk, there

was no association between education and vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05].

Ireland and the United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 1'041 Ireland residents and 2025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable with rates of 35% and 31% respectively, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

In both the Irish and British samples, Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, age, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, education was not associated with vaccine intention.

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, at a rate of 81.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Benis et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, marital status, number of children, gender, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, there was no association between education level and vaccine acceptance [p = 0.06].

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, there was no association between education level and vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Huynh and Senger. (2021): In a convenience sample of 351 USA residents, Huynh and Senger. (2020) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccination intention, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely likely), using hierarchical regression analyses.

Huynh and Senger. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, ethnicity, age, socio-economic status and political orientation, education level was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having completed high school education, measured as a binary variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Fisher exact test and logistic regression.

Using Fisher exact test, Johnson et al, (2021) found that there were no statistically differences in vaccine intention between educational levels [p = 0.3779].

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant race, Hispanic ethnicity, age, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention, income and gender, having completed high school education was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.163].

United States, Savoia et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2'640 United States residents, Savoia et al. (2020) examined the relationship education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Savoia et al. (2021) found that respondents with some college education were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with less than a high school degree [OR = 0.66, p < 0.05]. Respondents with a high school education, respondents with a bachelor's degree and respondents with a post-graduate degree were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with less than a high school degree [p > 0.05].

Using multiple logistic regression, Savoia et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, employment status, education, race, type of job, medical conditions, risk perception, COVID-19 diagnosis and experience of unfair treatment, education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Overall, the majority of evidence from this study found that education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Austria, Paul et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,301 Austrian residents, Paul et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and readiness to get vaccinated, measured on a scale from 1 (completely disagree) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and OLS regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Paul et al. (2021) found that respondents who completed a high level of education were marginally more likely to receive the vaccine as soon as possible [55%] compared with respondents who completed a low [47%] and medium [47%] level of education.

Using OLS regression, Paul et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, income situation, pre-existing condition, subjective health risk, sense of community, conspiracy belief and party voted for, education was not associated with receiving the vaccine as soon as possible.

Overall, there was insufficient evidence that education is associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Austria, Schernhammer et al. (2021): In a quota sample of 1,007 Austria residents, Schernhammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy rate of 41.1% (intermediate or severe), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, area of residence, age, politics, optimism, resilience, need for cognitive closure, main source of information and health status, education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine

acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 8 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and stratified linear regression.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine safety, vaccine efficacy, infection situation in Finland, side effects, recommendation from a healthcare professional, recommendation from health authorities, conversations with family and friends, how easy it is to get vaccinated, perceived susceptibility, perceived probability of infection, perceived severity if infected, perceived transparency with public, perceived politician honesty, belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theory, belief in other conspiracy theories, gender and age, level of education was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p > 0.5].

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,529 Malta residents, Cordina et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely no) to 10 (definitely yes), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and linear regression.

In simple ANOVA analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that there was no association between education level and vaccine willingness [p = 0.09].

In multiple regression analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 knowledge, accessing COVID-19 news and information, engaging in preventative behaviour, vaccine efficacy, importance of family and friends. opinion of the vaccine, importance of healthcare professionals. advice, health worker status, chronic health condition status, age, gender, flu jab status, opinion on giving the vaccine to children and opinion on encouraging elderly patients to take the vaccine, there was no association between education and vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as both a categorical variable (Chi-square analysis) and numerical discrete variable in years (multiple linear regression), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance), using Chi-square and multiple linear regression. Vaccine hesitancy (refusal and hesitancy categories combined) was at 58.9%.

Using Chi-square, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by education levels [p = 0.041]. Vaccine resistance was higher in respondents with up to 12 years of schooling [25.3%] than respondents with at least

13 years of schooling [20.9%], but differences between other categories of vaccine intention were small.

Using multiple linear regression, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that when holding constant gender, age, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, risk perception, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, education level was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p = 0.515].

Overall, this study provides insufficient evidence that education level is associated with vaccine acceptance.

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between education level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, university students were less likely to be vaccine resistant (no) than a postgraduate level of education [OR = 0.49, p < 0.05], but there were no differences [p > 0.05] in vaccine resistance between the remaining levels of education (high school or less, diploma and bachelor's degree) and postgraduate level of education. There was no association [p > 0.05] between level of education and vaccine hesitancy (maybe).

Overall, there is insufficient evidence of an association between education level and vaccine intention.

Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries, Sallam et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3'414 Arab country residents, Sallam et al. (2020) examined the relationship between educational level, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multinomial regression.

Using Chi-square, Sallam et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by education level [p < 0.01]. Respondents with a postgraduate degree [40.2%] were most likely to accept the vaccine, followed by respondents with an undergraduate degree [27.2%]. Respondents with high school or less education [24%] were least likely to accept the vaccine.

Using multinomial regression, Sallam et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 origin conspiracy belief, implanting microchips conspiracy belief, infertility belief, general vaccine belief, gender, country of residence, age, chronic disease history and self or family experience of COVID-19, education level was negatively associated with vaccine acceptance [OR = 0.78, p = 0.010].

Overall, this study provides inconclusive evidence given that the direction of the relationship between education level and vaccine acceptance differs in the Chi-square and multinomial regression analyses.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and willingness to pay for a COVID-19 vaccine, measured by asking respondents to identify the maximum amount they would be willing to pay for a vaccine dose and providing four price points, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multiple logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that there was an association between education level and vaccine hesitancy [p < 0.001] whereby the respondents who had the lowest rate of intention to take the vaccine were respondents who were graduates, postgraduates or held PhDs [87.2% intended to take the vaccine].

Goruntla et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant marital status, area of location, gender, occupation, income, healthcare profession, chronic disorders and overall health, respondents who were graduates, postgraduates or held PhDs were more likely to intend to take the vaccine than illiterate respondents [OR = 0.26, p < 0.05]. Other education levels were not more or less likely to intend to take the vaccine than illiterate respondents [p > 0.05].

Overall, this study provides inconclusive evidence that education level is associated with vaccine hesitancy, especially given that 75.52% of respondents were in the highest education level.

India, Kumar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 841 India residents, Kumar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between education, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine interest, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested and not sure) at a hesitancy rate of 46.8% (not interested and not sure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and ANOVA.

Kumar et al. (2021) found that there was no significant difference between education levels on intention to be vaccinated [p = 0.06].

Conclusions

Table 19: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]			Non-predictive	Total
	As education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As education level increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]	Relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear	[n, %]	
Studies		18 [53%]		16 [47%]	34
Studies	14 [41%]	2 [6%]	2 [6%]	16 [47%]	34
Region					
Europe	6 [43%]	0	0	8 [57%]	14
North America	3 [30%]	0	2 [20%]	5 [50%]	10
Asia	0	3 [38%]	0	5 [63%]	8
Oceania	0	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0	0
Africa	4 [100%]	0	0	0	4
Cultural Group					
Anglo	6 [35%]	0	2 [12%]	9 [53%]	17
Germanic Europe	1 [33%]	0	0	2 [67%]	3
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Eastern Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Latin Europe	1 [50%]	0	0	1 [50%]	2
Latin America	0	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Confucian Asia	0	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	4 [100%]	0	0	0	4
Middle East	0	1 [25%]	0	3 [75%]	4

Income					
High Income	9 [32%]	2 [7%]	2 [7%]	15 [54%]	28
Upper Middle income	0	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Lower Middle income	1 [33%]	0	0	2 [67%]	3
Low Income	3 [100%]	0	0	0	3

Overall: The overall relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive: 53% of studies [18 out of 34] found education to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy and 47% of studies [16 out of 34] did not find education to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, such that the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive. Of the 18 studies that found education to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 78% of studies [14 out of 18] found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., less educated are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when education is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. However, out of all studies, only 41% of studies [14 out of 34] found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., less educated are more hesitant), such that, overall, the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive.

NB: Salali and Uysal (2021) was not included in the above analysis as it contained two countries for which there were mixed findings in terms of the association between education and vaccine hesitancy.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between education level and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in countries in Africa, 100% [4 out of 4] found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., lower educated are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in African countries, as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

An association between education and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in Asian, European and North American contexts. In Asia, 63% of studies [5 out of 8] found that education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with confidence that in Asia, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy. In Europe, 57% of studies [8 out of 14] found that education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy. In North

America, 50% of studies [5 out of 10] found that education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy. It can be concluded with some confidence that in Europe and North America, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [0 studies] and South America [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group, 100% [4 out of 4] found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., lower educated are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group countries, as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Of studies conducted in countries in the Middle East cultural group, 75% [3 out of 4] found that education was not associated vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

An association between education and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in an Anglo cultural group context: 53% of studies [9 out of 17] found that education was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy in the cultural group contexts of Germanic Europe [3 studies], Latin Europe [2 studies], Southern Asia [2 studies], Confucian Asia [2 studies], Nordic Europe [1 study] and Eastern Europe [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy in the context of the Latin America cultural group [0 studies].

Income: Segmenting evidence by income of countries did not identify any associations between education and vaccine hesitancy. Of studies conducted in high income countries, 54% of studies [15 out of 28] found no association between education and vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with confidence that in high income countries there is no association between education and vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of lower middle income countries [3 studies], low income countries [3 studies] and upper middle income countries [2 studies].

DEMOGRAPHICS INCOME

Income is the regular money received by an individual through work, a pension, investments, benefits or other sources. Income was primarily measured as a categorical, but ordered, variable using different money ranges, differing in terms of unit of income (e.g., household income or individual income) and time frame of income (e.g., monthly or annual income).

In total, 21 studies considered the association between income and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 13 found that income was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and eight found that income was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 13 studies that found income was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 12 found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more vaccine hesitant), zero found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy increases and one found that the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear.

As income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 20: Studies evidencing that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
5	Allen et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

9	Edwards et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
10	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
11	Alobaidi. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
12	Rozek et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between household income, measured as a binary variable (<£25,000 vs. £25,000 and above), and vaccine hesitancy, measured from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found a very weak negative correlation between household income and vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.05] whereby as household income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower household income are more vaccine hesitant.

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant other demographic factors (gender, ethnicity, education, age), household income was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.08, p < 0.001], whereby as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower household income are more vaccine hesitant.

Household income remained predictive when holding other factors constant. When also holding constant reliance on legacy media and reliance on social media for COVID-19 knowledge, household income was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.06, p < 0.001]. When holding constant perceived risk of COVID-19 to oneself, the UK and the world, as well as other demographic factors, household income was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = - 0.08, p < 0.001]. When holding constant trust in the government, scientists working at universities, scientists working at private companies, and doctors and nurses, as well as other demographic factors, income was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.03, p < 0.001]. When holding constant general vaccine attitude and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, as well as other demographic factors, income was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.04, p < 0.001]. When holding constant all factors studied in a single model, income was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.02, p < 0.001].

Overall, this study establishes a negative association between household income and vaccine hesitancy whereby as household income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower household income are more vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the key worker sample, Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, area lived, education, age, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and perceived COVID-19 risk, there was no association between income and vaccine hesitancy.

In the non-key worker sample, Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, area lived, education, age, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and perceived COVID-19 risk, respondents having an average [OR = 2.37, p < 0.01] or below average income [OR = 2.58, p < 0.001] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with an above average income.

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between income and vaccine hesitancy whereby as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with a lower income are more vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as an ordinal variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a

scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that income was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [B = -0.054, p < 0.001] whereby as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that with lower income are more vaccine hesitant. However, income only accounted for a small amount of variance in vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.012].

United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 2'025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable with a hesitancy rate of 31%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, respondents with an income of £0-£15,490 [AOR = 2.48, p < 0.05], respondents with an income of £15,491-£25,340 [AOR = 2.68, p < 0.05] and respondents with an income of £25,341-£38,740 [AOR = 2.31, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents with an income of £50,000 and over. Respondents with an income of £38,740-£57,930 were not more or less likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents with an income of £50,000 and over [p > 0.05]. No income groups were more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) or more or less likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than respondents with an income of £57,931 and over.

Overall, there is a negative association between income and vaccine resistance whereby as income increases, vaccine resistance decreases such that respondents with a lower income are more vaccine resistant. However, there is no association between income and vaccine hesitancy.

Ireland, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 1'041 Ireland residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 35%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education,

Respondents with an income of €0- €19,999 [AOR = 5.44, p < 0.05], respondents with an income of €20,000-€29,999 [AOR = 2.82, p < 0.05], respondents with an income of £30,000-£39,999 [AOR = 3.34, p < 0.05] and respondents with an income of £40,000-£49,999 [AOR = 5.24, p < 0.05] were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than respondents with an income of €50,000 and over. No income groups were more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) than respondents with an income of €50,000 and over.

Overall, there is a negative association between income and vaccine resistance and between income and vaccine hesitancy whereby as income increases, vaccine resistance and hesitancy decrease such that respondents with a lower income are more vaccine resistant and hesitant.

United States, Allen et al (2021): In a purposive sample of 396 United States racially/ethnically diverse women, Allen et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, don't know/unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 43.2%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Allen et al. (2021) found that more women with high income (> \$75,000/year) reported that they would get the vaccine [35.1%] than women with low incomes (< \$34,000/year) [25.3%, p = 0.03], such that income is positively associated with vaccine intention, whereby as income increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower income are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between annual household income, measured as a categorical variable, and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that respondents with an annual household income of less than \$15,000 were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents with an annual household income of \$50,000-99,999 [OR = 0.54, 95% CI 0.35-0.83] and that respondents with an annual household income of \$150,000 or more were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents with an annual household income of \$50,000-99,999 [OR = 2.20, 95% CI 1.33-3.66]. Respondents with an annual income of \$15,000 to \$49,999 [95% CI 0.64-1.19] and \$100,000-\$149,999 [95% CI 0.9-2.18] were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents with an annual household income of \$50,000-99,999.

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, race, region, ethnicity, education, age, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, annual household income was not associated with vaccine intention, suggesting that factors others than income better account for variance in vaccine intention.

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between annual household income and vaccine intention whereby as annual household income increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower annual household income are more vaccine hesitant, even though other factors better account for variance in vaccine intention.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between total household income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found significant differences in vaccine uptake intention between income groups [p = 0.005]. Respondents with a total household income of \$120,000 and higher [73.3%] were most likely to receive the vaccine, followed by respondents with a total household income of \$80,000-\$119,000 [72.8%], respondents with a total household income of \$40,000-\$79,999 [61.5%] and respondents with annual income below \$40,000 [54.3%]. Respondents who declined to answer about their income [31.8%] were least likely to get the vaccine.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having

had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, gender, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, age, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, respondents with household income of \$120,000 and over were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents with household income less than \$40,000 [B = 0.338, p = 0.004]. Respondents with other categories of household income were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents with household income less than \$40,000 [p > 0.05].

Overall, there is some evidence of a positive association between total household income and vaccine intention whereby a total household income increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with a lower household income are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Willis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,205 Arkansas residents, Willis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 78.14%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Willis et al. (2021) found that there was a significant variation in COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy based on income [p < 0.001]. Vaccine hesitancy was highest for respondents with an income of less than \$25,000 [30.68%], followed by respondents with an income of between \$25k and less than \$50k [23.28%], followed by respondents with an income of between \$25,000-\$49,000 [19.7%]. Vaccine hesitancy was lowest in respondents with an income of more than \$75k [13.1%].

Willis et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, sex, race/ethnicity, education, COVID-19 health literacy, fear of COVID-19 infection and general vaccine trust, income was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05], suggesting that factors other than income better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, there is some evidence of a negative association between income and vaccine hesitancy whereby as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with lower income are more vaccine hesitant.

Australia, Edwards et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 3,000 Australia residents, Edwards et al. (2021) examined the relationship between household income, measured as a discrete numerical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not get the vaccine) to 4 (definitely get the vaccine) at a hesitancy rate of 58.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal probit regression, presenting AME.

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, gender, age, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city and employment, household income was negatively associated with vaccine resistance [AME =-0.00003, p < 0.01], a high level of vaccine hesitancy [AME =-0.00005, p < 0.01] and positively associated with vaccine acceptance [AME = 0.0001, p < 0.01].

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, gender, age, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, belief that too much fuss is being made about COVID-19, social distancing behaviour, having downloaded the COVID-19 Safe App, voting intention, confidence in government, confidence in hospitals and health system, support for migration, populism and religiosity, household income was negatively associated with vaccine resistance [AME =-0.00003, p < 0.05], a high level of vaccine hesitancy [AME =-0.00004, p < 0.05] and positively associated with vaccine acceptance [AME = 0.0009, p < 0.01].

Overall, this study establishes a negative association between household income and vaccine resistance and hesitancy whereby as household income increases, vaccine resistance and hesitancy decreases, such that respondents with a lower household income are more vaccine resistant and hesitant.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 of India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between monthly family income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 10.73%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multiple logistic regression.

Using ANOVA, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by income level of participants [p < 0.001]. Vaccine acceptance was highest in respondents with a monthly income of \$40,001-80,000 (\$552.18-1,104.33) [93.66%], followed by respondents with a monthly income more than \$80,000 (\$1,104.33) [92.65%], respondents with a monthly income of \$20,001-40,000 (\$276.10-552.17) [91.21%], respondents with a monthly income of \$10,001-20,000 (\$138.06-276.08) [88.41%] and respondents with an income less than \$5 000 (\$69.02) [84.62%]. Vaccine acceptance was lowest in respondents with a monthly income of \$5,001-10,000 (\$69.03-138.04) [78.79%].

Using multiple logistic regression, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant marital status, area of location, education, occupation, age, healthcare profession, chronic disorders and overall health, respondents with the income of \$20,001-40,000 (\$276.10-552.17) [OR = 1.98,

p < 0.01], a monthly income of \$40,001-80,000 (\$552.18-1,104.33) [OR = 2.82, p < 0.001], and income more than 80 000 (\$1,104.33) [OR = 2.40, p < 0.01] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with an income of less than 5 000 (\$69.02). Respondents with incomes of \$5,001–10,000 (USD 69.03-138.04) and \$10,001-20,000 (\$138.06-276.09) were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with an income of less than \$5,000 (\$69.02).

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between monthly family income and vaccine acceptance whereby as monthly family income increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with a lower monthly income are more vaccine hesitant.

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between monthly income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Alobaidi (2021) found that high income participants (>15,000 SR per month) were most likely to have a definite intent to receive the vaccine [51%, p < 0.001] compared with other income categories, evidencing a positive association between household income and vaccine intention whereby as household income increases, vaccine intention decreases such that respondents with a lower monthly income are more vaccine hesitant.

Multiple Countries, Rozek et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples (except for snowball sample from Russia) of 17 countries (Canada, United States, Germany, Poland, Russia, Sweden, Ukraine, China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam, Turkey) totalling 17,608 responses, Rozek et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured economic wellbeing, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, maybe) but recoded as a binary variable(yes vs. no/maybe) and at a hesitancy rate of 44% (no and maybe combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Using descriptive statistics, Rozek et al. (2021) found that respondents of the lowest levels of economic being [48%] were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents of the highest level of economic wellbeing [41%], evidencing a negative association between economic wellbeing and vaccine hesitancy whereby as economic wellbeing increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that respondents with lower economic wellbeing are more vaccine hesitant.

Relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

Table 21: Studies evidencing that relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between monthly income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable and at a hesitancy rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, occupation, religion, marital status,

age, and rural or urban residence, non-salary earners [OR=2.29, p=0.000] and respondents earning less than \$274 [OR=1.56] per month were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who earned between \$274 and \$548. Respondents earning more than \$548 were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who earned between \$274 and \$548 [p=0.684].

Overall, this study evidences a non-linear association between monthly income and vaccine hesitancy.

Income is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 22: Studies evidencing income is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
5	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
6	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
7	Tao et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
8	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between income and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, there was no association between income and vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a binary variable (less than \$25,000 vs. more than \$25,000), and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Fisher exact test and logistic regression.

Using Fisher exact test, Johnson et al, (2021) found that there was no association between income and vaccine intention [p = 0.666].

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, Black race, Hispanic ethnicity, education, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention and age, income was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.348].

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured using an adapted version of the WHO Sage's 10-item scale, which was then recoded as two binary variables (vaccine rejection and vaccine resistance), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, residence, generation (age), race/ethnicity and political affiliation, respondents with a monthly family income of more than \$10,000 were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with a monthly family income of \$2,000-\$4,999 [OR = 0.44, 95% CI 0.25-0.77]. Respondents with monthly family incomes of less than \$2,000, respondents with monthly family incomes of \$2,000-\$4,999 and respondents with monthly family incomes of \$5,000-\$9,999 were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with a monthly family income of \$2,000-\$4,999. There was no association between monthly family income and vaccine rejection.

Overall, this study provides insufficient evidence of an association between income and vaccine hesitancy or vaccine resistance.

Austria, Paul et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,301 Austrian residents, Paul et al. (2021) examined the relationship between financial situation, measured as a categorical variable, and readiness to get vaccinated, measured on a scale from 1 (completely disagree) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and OLS regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Paul et al. (2021) found that more respondents with good financial situations [55%] completely or somewhat agreed that they intended to receive the vaccine as soon as possible than respondents with medium financial situations [44%] and respondents with difficult financial situations [37%].

Using OLS regression, Paul et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, age, pre-existing condition, subjective health risk, sense of community, conspiracy belief and party voted for, income situation was not associated with intention to receive the vaccine as early as possible.

Overall, this study provides insufficient evidence of an association between income situation and readiness to get vaccinated.

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between monthly household income, measured as a categorical variable, with vaccine intention (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Soares et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education, age, lost income during pandemic and occupation, there was no association between monthly household income and vaccine intention.

India, Kumar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 841 India residents, Kumar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine interest, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested and not sure) at a hesitancy rate of 46.8% (not interested and not sure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and ANOVA.

Kumar et al. (2021) found that there was no associations between income and vaccine hesitancy (p=0.262).

China (Pregnant Women), Tao et al. (2021): In a multi-stage part-random and part-convenience sample of

1,392 pregnant China residents, Tao et al. (2021) examined the relationship between monthly household income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy (intermediate or severe) rate of 41.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Tao et al. found that there were no differences in vaccine acceptance between monthly household income groups [p = 0.11].

Using logistic regression, Tao et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age group, region, education, occupation, gravidity, parity, gestational trimester, history of adverse pregnancy outcomes, history of chronic disease, history of

influence vaccination, gestational complications, COVID-19 knowledge, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, barriers to receiving the vaccine, perceived benefits of the vaccine and cues to action, monthly household income was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the relationship between average monthly income, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Wong et al. (2021) found that average monthly income was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.217].

Conclusions

Table 23: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]			Non-predictive	Total
	As income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As income increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]	Relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy is non-linear [n, %]	[n, %]	
Studies		13 [62%]		8 [38%]	21
Studies	12 [57%]	0	1 [5%]	8 [38%]	21
Region					
Europe	5 [71%]	0	0	2 [29%]	7
North America	4 [57%]	0	0	3 [43%]	7
Asia	2 [40%]	0	0	3 [60%]	5
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	1 [100%]	0	1
Cultural Group					
Anglo	10 [77%]	0	0	3 [23%]	13
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0	0

Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	1 [33%]	0	0	2 [67%]	3
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	1 [100%]	0	1
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Income					
High Income	11 [65%]	0	0	6 [35%]	17
Upper Middle income	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle income	1 [50%]	0	0	1 [50%]	2
Low Income	0	0	1 [100%]	0	1

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between income and vaccine hesitancy, 62% [13 out of 21] found income to be predictive, such that it can be confidently concluded that income is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 13 studies that found income to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 92% [12 out of 13] found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when income is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 57% [12 out of 21] found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that, overall, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between income and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in European countries, 71% [5 out of 7] found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Of studies conducted in North American countries, 57% [4 out of 7] found that as income increases, vaccine

hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in North American countries, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

An association between income and vaccine hesitancy was not evident in studies conducted in Asian countries: 60% of studies [3 out of 5] found that income was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with confidence that in Asia, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [1 study] and Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy in the context of South America [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 77% [10 out of 13] found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Southern Asia [3 studies], Germanic Europe [1 study], Latin Europe [1 study], Confucian Asia [1 study], Sub-Saharan Africa [1 study] and Middle East [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Nordic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies] and Latin America [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 65% [11 out of 17] found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with lower income are more hesitant), such that it can be confidently concluded that in high income countries, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between income and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of lower middle income countries [2 studies], upper middle income countries [1 study] and low income countries [1 study].

DEMOGRAPHICS RACE/ETHNICITY

5.1.5

Race is the physical traits an individual is born with and ethnicity is the cultural identification than an individual learns. Only races/ethnicities that were featured in multiple studies were considered, resulting in evidence purely from the Anglo cultural group. Race/ethnicity was most frequently measured as a categorical variable, but also as a binary variable (e.g., White vs. non-White).

In total, 17 studies considered the association between race/ethnicity and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 13 found that race/ethnicity was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and four found that race/ethnicity was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 13 studies that found race/ethnicity was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 11 found that members of black ethnic groups were most vaccine hesitant, one that members of non-Hispanic ethnic groups were most vaccine hesitant and one that members of non-BAME ethnic groups were most vaccine hesitant.

Members of black ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

Table 24: Studies evidencing that members of black ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Allen et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Savoia et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

10	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
11	Willis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a binary variable (White vs. non-White), and vaccine hesitancy, measured from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that being non-White was positively correlated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.14], whereby non-White respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant other demographic factors (age, gender, education, household income), being non-White was positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.16, p < 0.001], whereby non-White respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents. Ethnicity remained predictive when holding other factors constant. When also holding constant reliance on legacy media and reliance on social media for COVID-19 knowledge, being non-White was still positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.15, p < 0.001]. When holding constant perceived risk of COVID-19 to oneself, the UK and the world, as well as other demographic factors, being non-White was still positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.19, p < 0.001]. When holding constant trust in the government, scientists working at universities, scientists working at private companies, and doctors and nurses, as well as other demographic factors, being non-White was still positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.11, p < 0.001]. When holding constant general vaccine attitude and COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, as well as other demographic factors, being non-White was no longer associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.333], suggesting that these additional factors interact with being non-White and better account for variance in vaccine hesitancy. When holding constant all factors studied in a single model, being non-White was marginally positively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = 0.05, p = 0.048]. In this full model, being non-White was the sixth most predictive factor of vaccine hesitancy after general vaccine hesitancy, COVID-19 conspiracy suspicions, age, personal risk perception and gender.

Overall, this study evidences that non-White respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021)

examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that Black respondents (B = 0.542, p < 0.001) and mixed race respondents (B = 0.316, p = 0.003) were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents. Asian respondents [p = 0.074] and other race respondents [p = 0.297] were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents.

This study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant, followed by mixed race respondents.

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, COVID-19 diagnosis, gender, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19, friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, Black or African Americans were less likely [B = -1.078, p < 0.001] and Asians were more likely [B = 0.378, p = 0.007] to accept the vaccine than White respondents. There was no difference in vaccine intention between respondents of other ethnicity and White respondents [p = 0.44].

Agley et al. (2021) also found that when holding constant age, COVID-19 diagnosis, gender, ethnicity, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19 and friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, there was no association between being Hispanic or Latin and vaccine intention [p = 0.44].

Overall, this study evidences that Black or African American respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Allen et al. (2021): In a purposive sample of 396 United States racially/ethnically diverse women, Allen et al (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, don't know/unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 43.2%, using a

cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Allen et al. (2021) fount that there were significant differences in vaccine intentions by ethnicity [p < 0.01]. Chinese women were the most likely to intend be vaccinated [70.7%], followed by Non-Latin White women [62.4%], multiracial women [64.3%] and Latin women [53.5%]. Non-Latin Black women [39.2%] were the least likely to intend to be vaccinated.

Using simple logistic regression, Allen et al. (2021) found that Non-Latin Black women were less likely to intend to be vaccinated than Non-Latin White women [OR = 0.42, 95% CI 0.22-0.8]. Latin women [95% CI 0.59-3.1], Chinese women [95% CI 0.46-1.62] and multiracial women [95% CI 0.23-2.83] were not more or less likely to intend to be vaccinated than Non-Latin White women.

Using multiple logistic regression, Allen et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, marital status, income, education, employment, insurance, trust in healthcare professionals and belief in safety/efficacy, ethnicity was not associated with vaccine intention, suggesting that other factors better accounted for variance in vaccine intention.

Overall, this study evidences that non-Latin Black women respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity background, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that Black or African American respondents [COR = 3.60, 95% CI 1.54-8.12] and respondents who preferred not to say their ethnicity [COR 5.09, 95% CI 2.68-9.68] were more likely to accept the vaccine than White respondents. American Indian/Alaska Native respondents [95% CI 0.25-5.32], Asian respondents [95% CI 0.56-1.8], Hispanic or Latin respondents [95% CI 0.96-3.42], Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander respondents [95% CI 0-27.25] and mixed race respondents [95% CI 0.74-3.4] were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than White respondents.

Using multiple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, marital status, number of children, education, age, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in

government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19, and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, ethnicity was not associated with vaccine acceptance, suggesting that other factors interacted with ethnicity and better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, there is some evidence that Black or African American respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between gender, measured as a binary variable, and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that Black respondents [COR = 0.36, 95% CI 0.25-0.51] and other race respondents [COR = 0.62, 95% CI 0.43-0.9] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than White respondents.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that Hispanic or Latin respondents were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than White respondents [95% CI 0.25-0.51].

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, Hispanic ethnicity, region, education, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, Black respondents [AOR = 0.59, 95% CI 0.35-1.0] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than White respondents. Respondents of an other race were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than White respondents [95% CI 0.42-1.26].

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, race, region, education, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours and seasonal flu vaccine history, Hispanic or Latino respondents were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than White respondents [95% CI 0.76-2.02].

Overall, this study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as

a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional research design **and Chi-square**.

Using Chi-square, Dorman et al. (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by age group [p < 0.001]. Asian respondents [5.20 out of 7] were most willing to receive the vaccine, followed by Non-Hispanic White respondents [4.72 out of 7], respondents of other race/ethnicity [4.31 out of 7] and non-Hispanic Black participants [3.40 out of 7] were least willing to receive the vaccine.

This study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), politics, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion, age and Latin ethnicity, Black respondents were less likely to accept the vaccine than non-Black respondents when vaccine acceptance is measured as a discrete choice [B =-0.03, p = 0.01] and when measured as individual vaccine evaluation [B =-0.1, p < 0.001].

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), politics, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion, age and Black race, Latin respondents were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine than non-Latin respondents when vaccine acceptance is measured as a discrete choice [p = 0.32] and when measured as individual vaccine evaluation [p 0.06].

This study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Savoia et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,640 United States residents, Savoia et al. (2020) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple logistic regression.

Savoia et al. (2021) found that Black non-Hispanic respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than all other races [OR = 1.22, p < 0.05]. White non-Hispanic respondents, Asian non-Hispanic and Hispanic respondents were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than all other races [p > 0.05].

Savoia et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education and risk perception, Black non-Hispanic respondents were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than all other races [p > 0.05], suggesting that other factors interact with ethnicity and better account for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, there is some evidence that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured using an adapted version of the WHO Sage's 10-item scale, which was then recoded as two binary variables (vaccine rejection and vaccine resistance), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, residence, generation (age), income and political affiliation, non-Hispanic Black respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant [OR = 4.07, 95% CI 1.96-8.42] and vaccine resistant [OR = 2.86, 95% CI 1.4-5.87] than non-Hispanic White respondents. Hispanic respondents [hesitancy 95% CI 0.81-2.99, resistance 95% CI 0.69-3.03] and respondents of an other ethnicity [hesitancy 95% CI 0.72-2.53, resistance 95% CI 0.89-3.49] were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant or vaccine resistant than non-Hispanic White respondents.

This study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

United States, Willis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,205 Arkansas residents, Willis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 78.14%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Willis et al. (2021) found that there was significant variation in vaccine hesitancy between ethnic groups [p < 0.001]. Black/African American respondents [50%] were most vaccine hesitant, followed by Hispanic/Latin respondents [19.18%] and White respondents [18.37%]. Respondents of an other ethnic group [9.76%]

were least likely to be vaccine hesitant. Using logistic regression, Willis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant sex, age, income, education, COVID-19 health literacy, fear of COVID-19 infection and general vaccine trust, Black/African American respondents were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents [OR = 2.42, p < 0.001]. Respondents of an other ethnic group were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents [OR =

0.28, p < 0.05]. Hispanic/Latin respondents were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than White respondents [p > 0.05].

This study evidences that Black respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Members of non-Hispanic ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

Table 25: Studies evidencing that members of non-Hispanic ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a binary variable (Black vs. non-Black; Hispanic vs. non-Hispanic), and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, Hispanic ethnicity, education, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention, income and gender, Black respondents were not

more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than non-Black respondents [p = 0.95].

Using logistic regression, Johnson et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, Black race, education, having had the flu or flu vaccine in the last year, flu vaccine intention, income and gender, Hispanic respondents were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than non-Hispanic respondents [OR= 4.414, p = 0.011].

This study evidences that non-Hispanic respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Members of non-BAME ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

Table 26: Studies evidencing that members of non-BAME ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Sethi et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 4,884 United Kingdom residents, Sethi et al. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intent, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested, unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 20.7% (unsure and not interested combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Sethi et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, smoker status, graduate status, age and health issues, BAME respondents were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than non-BAME respondents [OR = 5.48, p < 0.05].

This study evidences that non-BAME respondents are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Race/ethnicity is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 27: Studies evidencing that Race/ethnicity is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Chu and Liu. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Huynh and Senger. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 2,025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between age, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable with a hesitancy rate of 31%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant sex, age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, ethnicity was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, there was no association between ethnicity and vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Huynh and Senger (2021): In a convenience sample of 351 USA residents, Huynh and Senger. (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccination intention, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and hierarchical regression.

Huynh and Senger. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, education, socio-economic situation and political orientation, ethnicity was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between ethnicity, measured as a categorical variable for Chi-square analysis and a binary variable for linear regression (White vs. non-White), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found significant differences in vaccine uptake intention between ethnic groups [p = 0.001]. White respondents [67.2%] were most likely to get the vaccine followed by Black/African American respondents [59.8%], and Asian respondents [56.5%]. Multicultural/other race respondents were least likely to get the vaccine [43.9%].

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, gender, age, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, ethnicity was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.377].

Overall, there is insufficient evidence of an association between ethnicity and vaccine intention.

Conclusions

Table 28: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]			Non-predictive	Total
	Members of Black ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Members of non- Hispanic ethnic groups are most vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Members of non- BAME groups are most vaccine hesitant [n, %]	[n, %]	
Studies		13 [76%]		4 [24%]	17
Studies	11 [65%]	1 [6%]	1 [6%]	4 [24%]	17
Region					
Europe	2 [50%]	0	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	4
North America	9 [69%]	1 [8%]	0	3 [23%]	13
Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group					
Anglo	11 [65%]	1 [6%]	1 [6%]	4 [24%]	17
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0	0
Income					
High Income	11 [65%]	1 [6%]	1 [6%]	4 [24%]	17

Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between race/ethnicity and vaccine hesitancy, 76% [13 out of 17] found race/ethnicity to be predictive, such that it can be confidently concluded that race/ethnicity is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 13 studies that found race/ethnicity to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 85% [11 out of 13] found that as Black respondents were the most vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when race/ethnicity is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, Black respondents are most hesitant. Out of all studies, 65% [11 out of 17] found that Black respondents are most hesitant, such that it can be confidently concluded that, overall, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

In looking for patterns by region, some associations between race/ethnicity and vaccine hesitancy are evident, but all studies were from the same Anglo cultural group and from high income countries, such that these associations are the same as the overall findings.

Region: Of studies conducted in North American countries, 69% [9 out of 13] found that Black respondents were the most vaccine hesitant, such that it can be confidently concluded that in North American countries, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Of studies conducted in European countries, 50% [2 out of 4] found that Black respondents were the most vaccine hesitant such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in European countries, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Asia [0 studies], Oceania [0 studies], South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

DEMOGRAPHICS MARITAL STATUS

5.1.6

Marital status is the legally defined status with regards to a person's relationship with a significant other. In the evidence reviewed, marital status was most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., married vs. unmarried), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., divorced, widowed).

In total, eight studies considered the association between marital status and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, seven found that marital status was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and one found that marital status was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the seven studies that found marital status was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, five found that unmarried are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than married and two found that married were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than unmarried.

Unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 29: Studies evidencing that unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
3	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
4	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
5	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a binary variable (married vs. not married), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat

unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that likelihood of getting the vaccine differed by marital status [p = 0.001]. Married respondents were more likely to get the vaccine [69%] than not married respondents [53.3%].

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, being 65 years or older, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, gender and preferred media for virus news, marital status was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.225], suggesting other factors better accounted for variance in vaccine intention.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a binary variable (married vs. unmarried), and willingness to pay for a COVID-19 vaccine, measured by asking respondents to identify the maximum amount they would be willing to pay for a vaccine dose and providing four price points, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that intention to take the vaccine differed by marital status [p < 0.001]. Married respondents [94.19%] were more likely to intend to take the vaccine than unmarried respondents [86.35%].

Using logistic regression, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, area of location, education, occupation, income, healthcare profession, chronic disorders and overall health, married respondents were more likely to intend to take the vaccine than unmarried respondents [OR = 2.56, p < 0.001].

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and simple logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that single respondents were less likely to receive the vaccine at the soonest opportunity than married respondents [COR = 0.29, p < 0.05]. Respondents of other marital status were more likely to receive the vaccine at the soonest opportunity than married respondents [COR = 2.54, p < 0.05].

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a binary variable (married vs. unmarried), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable and at a hesitancy rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, sex, education, occupation, religion, income, and rural or urban residence, unmarried respondents were less likely to accept the vaccine than married respondents [OR = 0.73, p = 0.012].

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a binary variable (married vs. not married), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant age, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, not married respondents were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than married respondents [OR = 0.45, p < 0.01]. However, not married respondents were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) than married respondents [p > 0.05].

Married people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 30: Studies evidencing that married people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between relationship status measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that single respondents [B = -0.286, p < 0.001] and widowed respondents [B = -0.377, p < 0.001] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who were married or in a civil partnership. Cohabiting [p = 0.477] and separated [p = 0.193] were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who were married or in a civil partnership.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a binary variable (single vs. married), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (willing = 24.6%, unwilling = 75.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Allagoa et al., (2021) found that when holding constant sex, age, educational attainment, occupation, residential location, chronic illness, positive for COVID-19, possible infection, loss of smell and taste, contact with COVID-19 positive persons and having lost a relative to COVID-19, single respondents were more likely to be willing to take the vaccine than married respondents [OR = 1.55, p = 0.007].

Marital status is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 31: Studies evidencing that marital status is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between marital status, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that separated/divorced respondents [COR = 1.92, 95% CI 1.1-3.27] and respondents who preferred not to state their marital status [OR = 4.36, 95% CI 1.43-13.08] were more likely to intend to take the vaccine than single respondents. Married/civil union respondents [95% CI 0.82-1.44] and widowed respondents [95% CI 0.26-5.87] were not more or less likely to intend to take the vaccine than single respondents.

Using multiple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, number of children, education, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/ demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge,

marital status of participants was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.552].

Overall, considering the lack of distinction between the categories of single and separated/divorced, there is unconvincing evidence that marital status is associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Conclusions

Table 32: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Married people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]		
Studies	7 [8	8%]	1 [12%]	8
Studies	5 [63%]	2 [25%]	1 [12%]	8
Region				
Europe	0	1 [100%]	0	1
North America	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Asia	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	0	2
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	0	2
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	3 [60%]	1 [20%]	1 [20%]	5
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0

Lower Middle Income	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	0	2
Low Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between marital status and vaccine hesitancy, 88% [7 out of 8] found marital status to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that marital status is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the seven studies that found marital status to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 71% [5 out of 7] found that unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when marital status is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Out of all studies, still 63% [5 out of 8] found that unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that, overall, it can be confidently concluded that unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, there is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions on associations when segmenting by region and cultural group, but an association is evident when segmenting evidence by income.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 60% [3 out of 5] found that unmarried people were more likely to be vaccine hesitant such that it can be confidently concluded that in high income countries unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between marital status and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of lower middle income [2 studies] and low income [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between marital status and vaccine hesitancy in the context of upper middle income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS LIVING AREA

5.1.7

Living area was defined in terms of urban-rural classification. An urban living area is a densely developed area of cities or towns, whereas a rural living area is not densely developed outside of cities and towns in the countryside. Living area was most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., urban vs. rural), but some studies broke these categories down further (e.g., city, town and countryside).

In total, eight studies considered the association between living area and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, three found that living area was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and five found that living area was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the three studies that found living income was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, two found that rural dwellers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant and one found that urban dwellers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Rural dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 33: Studies evidencing that rural dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
2	Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021)	Latin America and the Caribbean		Latin America	Varies

Austria, Schernhammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,007 Austria residents, Schernhammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a categorical variable (urban, populous rural, non-populous rural), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy rate of 41.1% (intermediate or high hesitancy), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, education, politics, optimism, resilience, need for cognitive closure, main source of information and health status, non-populous rural dwellers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than urban dwellers

[OR = 1.86, 95% CI 1.36-2.54]. Populous rural dwellers were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than urban dwellers [95% CI 0.48-1.99].

Overall, this study provides some evidence of rural dwellers being more vaccine hesitant than urban dwellers.

Latin America and the Caribbean, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021): In a secondary convenience sample of 472,521 Latin America and the Caribbean residents, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a categorical variable (city, town, village or rural area), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (definitely yes, probably yes, probably no, definitely no), recoded as a binary variable and at

a hesitancy rate of 20%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple log-linear regression (reporting prevalence ratios).

Using simple log-linear regression, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) found that respondents living in a town [CPR = 0.96, p = 0.001] and respondents living in a village or rural area [CPR = 0.92, p < 0.001] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine compared with respondents living in a city.

Using multiple log-linear regression, Urrunaga-Pastor et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, COVID-19 symptomatology, compliance with community mitigation strategies, food insecurity, economic insecurity, fears of becoming ill or that a family member becomes seriously ill from COVID-19, anxiety symptomology,

depressive symptomatology, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by friends and family, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by local health workers, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by the WHO, probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by government health officials and probability of vaccination acceptance when recommended by politicians, rural dwellers were less likely to receive the vaccine than city dwellers [ARP = 0.96; p < 0.001]. Town dwellers were not more or less likely to receive the vaccine than city dwellers [p = 0.659].

Overall, this study evidences that village or rural dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than city dwellers.

Urban dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 34: Studies evidencing that urban dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Echoru et al. (2021)	Western Uganda	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income

Western Uganda, Echoru et al. (2021): In a snowball sample of 1,067 western Uganda residents, Echoru et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a binary variable (rural vs. urban), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable and at a hesitancy rate of 53.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic

regression. Echoru et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education, occupation, religion, marital status, income, and gender, urban dwellers were less likely to accept the vaccine [OR = 0.78, p = 0.062] compared with rural dwellers.

Living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 35: Studies evidencing that living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

4	Kumar et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
5	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a categorical variable (rural, town, city), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, education, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and perceived COVID-19 risk, living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy in both the key workers and non-key workers samples [p > 0.05].

United Kingdom and Ireland, Murphy et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 2025 UK residents and 1041 Ireland residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a categorical variable (suburb, town, rural), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitance, resistance) with hesitancy rates (hesitance and resistance combined) of 35% and 31% respectively, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the British sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, gender, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection, COVID-19 infection of a relative, suburb dwellers were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than rural dwellers [OR = 2.13, p < 0.05]. City dwellers and town dwellers were not more or less likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine resistant) than rural dwellers [p > 0.05]. City dwellers, suburb dwellers and town dwellers were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) or vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than rural dwellers [p > 0.05].

In the Irish sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, gender, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying

health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, COVID-19 infection and COVID-19 infection of a relative, city dwellers were more likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine accepting) than rural dwellers [OR = 1.90, p < 0.05]. Suburb dwellers and town dwellers were not more or less likely to be vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine resistant) than rural dwellers [p > 0.05]. City dwellers, suburb dwellers and town dwellers were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant (compared with vaccine accepting) or vaccine resistant (compared with vaccine hesitant) than rural dwellers [p > 0.05].

Overall, across both samples, there is insufficient evidence that living area is associated with vaccine hesitancy.

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of being infected with COVID-19, measured from 0% to 100%, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitance, resistance), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, generation race/ethnicity, monthly family income, political affiliation, general vaccine hesitancy, perceived risk, perceived vaccine safety and perceived vaccine effectiveness, living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

India, Kumar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 841 India residents, Kumar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between living area, measured as a categorical variable (urban, rural, semi-urban), and vaccine interest, measured as a categorical variable (interested, not interested and not sure) and at a hesitancy rate of 46.8% (not interested and not sure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Kumar et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant information on the vaccine, chances of getting coronavirus disease in the next 6 months, awareness in India COVID 19 vaccine, Indian manufacturing company of vaccine, family history of the laboratory confirmed case, and health status, living area was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.171].

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the

relationship between living area, measured as a binary variable (urban vs. suburban/rural), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely

vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Using Chi-square, Wong et al. (2021) found that living area was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.178].

Conclusions

Table 36: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Rural dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Urban dwellers are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]		
Studies	3 [3	8%]	5 [62%]	8
Studies	2 [25%]	1 [13%]	5 [62%]	8
Region				
Europe	1 [25%]	0	3 [75%]	4
North America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Asia	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	1 [100%]	0	1
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	4 [100%]	4
Germanic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Southern Asia	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	1 [100%]	0	1
Middle East	0	0	0	0

Income				
High Income	1 [20%]	0	4 [80%]	5
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Low Income	0	1 [100%]	0	1

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between living area and vaccine hesitancy, 62% [5 out of 8] found that living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be confidently concluded that living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

In segmenting the evidence by region, cultural group and income, this lack of association becomes even stronger in some segments.

Region: Of studies conducted in European countries, 75% [3 out of 4] found that living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between living area and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Asia [2 studies], North America [1 study] and Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between ethnicity and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Oceania [0 studies] and South America [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 100% [4 out of 4] found that living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between living area and vaccine hesitancy in the cultural group contexts of Southern Asia [2 studies], Germanic Europe [1 study], Latin America [1 study] and Sub-Saharan Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between living area and vaccine hesitancy in the cultural group contexts of Nordic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin Europe [0 studies], Confucian Asia [0 studies] and Middle East [0 studies].

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 80% [4 out of 5] found that living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with

high confidence that in high income countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between living area and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of upper middle income countries [1 study], lower middle income countries [1 study] and low income countries [1 study].

DEMOGRAPHICS HAVING CHILDREN

Having children is the status of being a parent or guardian for children. In the evidence reviewed, marital status was most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., have children vs. do not have children), but also as a categorical variable or discrete numerical variable in terms of number of children. Some studies further defined this factor in terms of age of children (i.e., under 18 years of age) and whether the children lived with the respondent.

In total, 10 studies considered the association between having children and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, five found that having children was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy and five found that having children was predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the five studies that found having children was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, three found that respondents without children are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with children and two found that respondents with children are more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents without children.

Parents are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 37: Studies evidencing that parents are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
2	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Salali and Uysal (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having school-age children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), with vaccine intention (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial logistic regression.

Soares et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant intention to take the flu vaccine, perception of the health status, number of comorbidities, self-reported diabetes, self-reported respiratory disease, and self-reported

autoimmune disease, respondents with school-age children were more likely to be vaccine resistant compared with vaccine accepting [AOR: 1.93, 95% CI 1.37-2.73] and compared with vaccine hesitant [AOR: 1.94, CI: 1.39, 2.69] than respondents without children.

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children under 18 years of age, measured as a binary variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary

variable, using a conjoint experimental design and simple logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that respondents who had children under 18 years of age were less likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents without children under 18 years of age [OR = 0.23, 95% CI 0.06-0.99].

Turkey, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 3,936 Turkey residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine acceptance,

measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant beliefs about origin of the virus, sex, financial satisfaction, education level, COVID-19-related anxiety and COVID-19 perceived risk, respondents with children were less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents without children $[OR=0.82,\,p<0.05].$

NB: Data on having children was not collected from the UK sample in this study.

Childless people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 38: Studies evidencing that childless people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a categorical variable (0, 1 or 2, 3 or more), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that respondents with three or more children were more likely to intend to take the vaccine then respondents with no children [OR = 2.84, 95% CI 1.9-4.22]. Respondents with one or two children were not more or less likely to intend to take the vaccine then respondents with no children [95% CI 0.93-1.67].

Using multiple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, marital status, gender, education, ethnicity, region, COVID-19 risk, COVID-19 diagnosis, COVID-19 fear, desire to protect family, confidence in healthcare providers, confidence in pharmaceutical industry, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommendations/demands, confidence in government guidance, civic responsibility to take vaccine, being sick from COVID-19, opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, respondents with three or more children were more likely to intend to take the vaccine then respondents with no children [OR =

3.88, 95% CI 1.8-8.37]. Respondents with one or two children were not more or less likely to intend to take the vaccine then respondents with no children [95% CI 0.61-1.94].

Overall, this study found that number of children is positively associated with vaccine acceptance whereby as number of children increase, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with less children are more hesitant.

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children under 18 in the household, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance) at a hesitancy rate of 58.9% (refusal and hesitancy categories combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and multiple linear regression.

Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education level, being a healthcare worker, gender, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, risk perception, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, respondents who had children under 18 years in their household were more likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents who did not have children under 18 years in their household [B = 0.039, p = 0.013].

Having children is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 39: Studies evidencing that having children is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Montagni et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
4	Nazli et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
5	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, area, education, income, country, physical health condition, mental health condition, COVID-19 social media exposure, COVID-19 traditional media exposure, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19, perceived symptom severity and six-month risk perception, having children was not associated with vaccine hesitancy in the key worker and non-key worker samples [p > 0.05].

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having a child under 18 years of age, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 4 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that having a child under 18 years of age was not associated with intention to receive the vaccine [95% CI 0.81-1.36].

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant race, region, ethnicity,

age, education, annual household income, perceptions of COVID-19 severity, risk and susceptibility, views of a potential COVID-19 vaccine, virus and vaccine information sources, vaccine beliefs and behaviours, and seasonal flu vaccine history, having a child under 18 years of age was not associated with intention to receive the vaccine [95% CI 0.61-1.34].

France, Montagni et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,344 France residents, Montagni et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a categorical variable (anti-vaccination = 18.6%, hesitant = 10.9%, pro-vaccination = 70.5%), using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Montagni et al. (2021) found that having children was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p = 0.17].

Turkey, Nazli et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 467 Turkey residents, Nazli et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), number of children, measured as a discrete numerical variable, and vaccine attitude, measured as a categorical variable (trust and want to get vaccinated, undecided about positive effects of vaccine but want to get vaccinated, undecided about positive effects of vaccine and do not want to get vaccinated, think vaccine has negative effects and is ineffective and do not want to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 15%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and ANOVA.

Using Chi-square, Nazli et al. (2021) found that having children was not associated with vaccine attitude [p = 0.073].

Using ANOVA, Nazli et al. (2021) found that number of children was not associated with vaccine attitude [p = 0.337].

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between having children, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not

sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant age, education level, marital status, gender, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, having children was not significantly associated with vaccine hesitancy (p > 0.05).

Conclusions

Table 40: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Parents are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Childless people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]		
Studies	5 [5	0%]	5 [50%]	10
Studies	3 [30%]	2 [20%]	5 [50%]	10
Region				
Europe	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
North America	0	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	2
Asia	2 [40%]	1 [20%]	2 [40%]	5
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	1 [33%]	2 [67%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0

Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	1 [33%]	2 [67%]	3
Income				
High Income	2 [29%]	1 [14%]	4 [57%]	7
Upper Middle Income	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between having children and vaccine hesitancy, 50% [5 out of 10] found having children to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy and 50% [5 out of 10] found having children not to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, such that the association between having children and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive. However, when segmenting predictive findings by positive and negative associations, 50% of studies [5 out of 10] found that having children is not associated with vaccine hesitancy, 30% of studies [3 out of 10] found that parents are more likely to be vaccine hesitant and 20% of studies [2 out of 10] found that childless people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that, overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that having children is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, there is only inconclusive or insufficient evidence to draw conclusions regarding associations when segmenting by region and cultural group, but an association is evident when segmenting evidence by income.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 57% [4 out of 7] found that having children was not associated with vaccine hesitancy such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high income countries having children is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between having children and vaccine hesitancy in the context of upper middle income countries [3 studies].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between having children and vaccine hesitancy in the context of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS COVID-19 INFECTION

5.1.9

COVID-19 infection is whether or not an individual has previously been infected with COVID-19, whether a belief or confirmed via test. A previous COVID-19 infection was measured as a binary variable (i.e., yes vs. no).

In total, six studies considered the association between a previous COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, five found that having previously had COVID-19 was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy and one found that a previous COVID-19 infection was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, finding that previously infected with COVID-19 were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Previously COVID-19 infected people more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 41: Studies evidencing that previously COVID-19 infected people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between history of COVID-19 infection, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get

vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a crosssectional survey design and Chi-square.

Alobaidi (2021) found that respondents who had no history of COVID-19 infection were more likely to receive the vaccine than those with a history of COVID-19 infection [41.9% vs. 37.7%, p = 0.008].

COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 42: Studies evidencing that COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

2	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
5	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having had COVID-19, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a rate of 71%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, social media platforms use, age, posting political content online, fact-checking, gender, sources of information, education, trust in the media, voting Conservative, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations, and evaluation of government's handling of COVID-19, having had COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05].

Ireland and the United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,041 Ireland residents and 2025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having had a COVID-19 infection, a relative having had a COVID-19 infection, both measured as binary variables (yes vs. no), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable and at hesitancy rates of 35% and 31% respectively, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

In the Irish sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence, education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, and gender, having had a COVID-19 infection and a relative having had a COVID-19 infection were not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

In the British sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that when holding constant age, birthplace, ethnicity, residence,

education, employment, income, only adult in household, children in household, politics, religion, whether voted, mental health, underlying health conditions, underlying health conditions of a relative, pregnancy, and gender, having had a COVID-19 infection and a relative having had a COVID-19 infection were not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between covid-19 infection diagnosis, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that when holding constant gender, age, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19 and friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, having a COVID-19 infection diagnosis was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.3].

France, Tavolacci et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3089 French students Tavolacci et al. (2021) examined the relationship between having had a COVID-19 infection, a relative having had a COVID-19 infection, both measured as binary variables (yes vs. no), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitancy, resistance), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, years of study, courses of study, COVID-19 infection, having a relative hospitalized or died from COVID-19, COVID-19 knowledge, conventional vaccine beliefs, COVID-19 vaccine beliefs, confidence about conventional vaccination, perceived vaccine efficacy and perceived vaccine security, having had a COVID-19 infection [p = 0.26] and a relative having had a COVID-19 infection [p = 0.9] were not associated with vaccine intention.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined the relationship between testing positive for COVID-19, possible COVID-19 infection, both measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (willing = 24.6%, unwilling = 75.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Allagoa et al. (2021) found that when holding constant, age, marital status, religion, occupation and educational attainment, and the presence of chronic illnesses, both testing positive for COVID-19 [p = 0.081] and having possible COVID-19 infection [p = -149] were not associated with vaccine intention.

Conclusions

Table 43: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Previously COVID-19 infected people more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Non-previously COVID-19 infected people more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]		
Studies	1 [17%]	5 [83%]	6
Studies	1 [17%]	0	5 [83%]	6
Region				
Europe	0	0	4 [100%]	4
North America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	4 [100%]	4
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0

Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	1 [17%]	0	5 [83%]	6
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between a previous COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy, 83% [5 out of 6] found that having previously been infected with COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated vaccine hesitancy.

In segmenting the evidence by region, cultural group and income, this lack of association becomes even stronger in some segments.

Region: Of studies conducted in European countries, 100% [4 out of 4] found that having previously had a COVID-19 infection was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the context of North America, [1 study], Asia [1 study] and Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Oceania [0 studies] and South America [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 100% [4 out of 4] found that having previously had a COVID-19 infection not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the cultural group contexts of Latin Europe [1 study], Sub-Saharan Africa [1 study] and the Middle East [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the cultural group contexts of Germanic Europe [0 studies], Nordic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies], Southern Asia [0 studies] and Confucian Asia [0 studies].

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 83% [5 out of 6] found that having previously had a COVID-19 infection was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the context of lower middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between a COVID-19 infection and vaccine hesitancy in the context of upper middle income countries [0 studies] and low income countries [0 studies].

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY COVID-19 KNOWLEDGE

6.1.1

COVID-19 knowledge is the state of knowing about COVID-19, including knowledge about the virus itself and the vaccine. Belief in debunked COVID-19 conspiracy theories (i.e., improbable explanations) is consistent with a lack of COVID-19 knowledge. It was primarily measured as a test, requiring respondents to indicate whether COVID-19 statements (including COVID-19 conspiracy theories) were true or false, producing a numerical score, but also measured as self-reported perceived COVID-19 knowledge.

In total, 11 studies considered the relationship between COVID-19 and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, eight found that COVID-19 knowledge was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and three found that perceived susceptibility was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the eight studies that found COVID-19 knowledge was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more hesitant) and zero found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy increases.

As COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 44: Studies evidencing that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Lockyer et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Ruiz and Bell (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
4	Sharun et al. (2020)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
5	Tao et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
6	Mose and Yesshaneh (2021)	Ethiopia	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income

7	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income
8	Lindholt et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Lockyer et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 20 United Kingdom (Bradford) residents, Lockyer et al. (2021) examined COVID-19 misinformation and vaccine hesitancy using in-depth phone interviews and reflexive thematic analysis.

Lockyer et al. (2021) found that participants who were vaccine hesitant believed COVID-19 conspiracy theories and had low knowledge about COVID-19.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between (i) vaccine knowledge, measured via a test out of 9, (ii) acceptance of vaccine conspiracies, measured on a scale of 1 (no acceptance) to 5 (full acceptance), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, being 65 years or older, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, vaccine knowledge was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.137, p = 0.001], whereby as general vaccine knowledge increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with low vaccine knowledge are more hesitant.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, being 65 years or older, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and preferred media for virus news, acceptance of vaccine conspiracies was negatively associated with vaccine intention [B =-0.134, p = 0.003], whereby as acceptance of vaccine conspiracies increases, vaccine intention decreases such that respondents who accept vaccine conspiracies are more hesitant.

Overall, this study evidences that vaccine knowledge and rejection of vaccine conspiracies are positively associated with vaccine intention, whereby as vaccine knowledge and rejection of vaccine conspiracies increase, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with low vaccine knowledge and acceptance of vaccine conspiracies are more hesitant.

France, Tavolacci et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,089 French students Tavolacci et al. (2021) examined the relationship between (i) conventional vaccine knowledge (ii) COVID-19 vaccine knowledge, both measured as numerical scores, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitancy, resistance), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and logistic regression.

Using ANOVA, Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that both conventional vaccine [p < 0.0001] and COVID-19 vaccine knowledge [p < 0.0001] differed by vaccine decision groups. Conventional vaccine knowledge was highest in respondents who accepted the vaccine [Mean score = 6.5], followed by respondents who were hesitant towards the vaccine [Mean score = 5.1] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean score = 4.8]. COVID-19 vaccine knowledge was highest in respondents who accepted the vaccine [Mean score = 5.5], followed by respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean score = 4.4] and lowest in respondents who were hesitant towards the vaccine [Mean score = 4.1].

Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, years of study, courses of study, COVID-19 infection, having a relative hospitalized or died from COVID-19, gender, conventional vaccine beliefs, COVID-19 vaccine beliefs, confidence about conventional vaccination, perceived vaccine efficacy, perceived vaccine security, conventional vaccine knowledge was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 0.81, p < 0.0001] and vaccine knowledge was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 0.84, p < 0.0001] and vaccine resistance [OR = 0.9, p < 0.0001].

Overall, conventional and COVID-19 vaccine knowledge is negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy and

resistance whereby as knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy and resistance decrease such that respondents with low knowledge are more hesitant.

India, Sharun et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 351 India residents, Sharun et al. (2020) examined the examined reasons for vaccine hesitancy, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Sharun et al. (2020) found that the third most common barrier to vaccine acceptance reported by respondents was the belief that COVID-19 vaccination is a conspiracy [12% of respondents].

China (Pregnant Women), Tao et al. (2021): In a multistage part-random and part-convenience sample of 1,392 pregnant China residents, Tao et al. (2021) examined the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge, measured as a categorical variable (Chi-square analysis) and numerical score (logistic regression analysis), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy (intermediate or severe) rate of 41.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Tao et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by total COVID-19 knowledge score [p < 0.01]. Vaccine acceptance was highest in respondents with high COVID-19 knowledge [81.5%], followed by respondents with moderate COVID-19 knowledge [78.8%] and lowest in respondents with low COVID-19 knowledge [71.2%].

Using logistic regression, Tao et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant region, education, occupation, income, gravidity, parity, gestational trimester, history of adverse pregnancy outcomes, history of chronic disease, history of influence vaccination, gestational complications, age, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, barriers to receiving the vaccine, perceived benefits of the vaccine and cues to action, COVID-19 knowledge score was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [OR = 1.05, p = 0.01] whereby as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with low COVID-19 knowledge are more hesitant.

Ethiopia, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021): In a random sample of 396 Ethiopia pregnant women, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) examined the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge, measured as a binary variable (good = more than or equal to 80% correct responses to knowledge assessment tool vs. poor < 80%), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and multiple logistic regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that respondents with good COVID-19 knowledge

[64.6% vaccine acceptance] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with poor COVID-19 knowledge [6% vaccine acceptance].

Using multiple logistic regression, Mose and Yeshaneh (2021) found that, when holding constant age, educational status, occupation, gravidity, parity, ANC visit, medical illness, attitude and practice, respondents with good COVID-19 knowledge were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with poor COVID-19 knowledge [AOR = 5.946, 95% CI 3.147-7.065].

Overall, this study evidences that COVID-19 knowledge is positively associated with vaccine acceptance whereby respondents with good COVID-19 knowledge are more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with poor COVID-19 knowledge, such that respondents with poor COVID-19 knowledge are more vaccine hesitant.

Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries, Sallam et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,414 Arab country residents, Sallam et al. (2020) examined the relationship between COVID-19 conspiracy beliefs, measured as binary variables (yes vs. no), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design and multinomial regression.

Sallam et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, sex, country of residence, educational level, history of chronic disease and self or family experience of COVID-19, respondents who believed that COVID-19 was man-made were less likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who believed that COVID-19 originated naturally [OR = 0.47, 95% CI 0.38-0.57]. Respondents who did not believe that COVID-19 is man-made to force people to get the vaccine were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who believed COVID-19 is man-made to force people to get the vaccine [OR = 1.89, 95% CI 1.46-2.43]. Respondents who did not believe that the COVID-19 vaccine will be used to implant microchips to humans were more likely to accept that vaccine than respondents who believed the COVID-19 vaccine will be used to implant microchips to humans [OR = 2.39, 95% CI 1.72-3.3]. Respondents who did not believe that the COVID-19 vaccine causes infertility were more likely to accept that vaccine than respondents who believed the COVID-19 vaccine causes infertility [OR = 2.73, 95% CI 1.9-3.93].

Overall, this study evidences that rejection of COVID-19 conspiracy theories is positively associated with vaccine acceptance, whereby respondents who do not believe conspiracy theories are more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories.

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 18,231

respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 4 (a high degree), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%] and France (47%), and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in Hungary [47%].

Using simple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that COVID-19 knowledge was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.232, p < 0.001], whereby as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine acceptance

increases such that respondents with lower COVID-19 knowledge are more hesitant.

Using multiple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in national health authorities, trust in scientists, trust in the government, democratic rights, support of public protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, political ideology, vote choice (government), fatigue, behaviour change, gender, education, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the economy, support for restrictions and interpersonal trust, COVID-19 knowledge was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05], suggesting that other factors better account for variance in vaccine acceptance than COVID-19 knowledge.

Overall, there is some evidence that COVID-19 knowledge is positively associated with vaccine acceptance.

COVID-19 knowledge is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 45: Studies evidencing that COVID-19 knowledge is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
2	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,529 Malta residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between self-perceived COVID-19 knowledge, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 10 (very much), and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely no) to 10 (definitely yes), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

In multiple regression analysis, Cordina et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, accessing COVID-19 news and information, engaging in preventative behaviour, vaccine efficacy, importance of family and friends. Opinion of the vaccine, importance of healthcare professionals. advice, health worker status, chronic health condition status, gender, education, flu jab status, opinion on giving the vaccine to children and opinion on encouraging elderly patients to take the vaccine, self-perceived COVID-19 knowledge was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.41243].

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge, measured as a categorical variable (high scores, medium scores, low scores), and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (unwilling vs. willing) at a rate of 47.3%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Using Chi-square, Tsai et al. (2021) found that COVID-19 knowledge did not differ by vaccine intention [p = 0.497].

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge of participants, measured as a discrete numerical variable (score ranging from 0-21 from a COVID-19 knowledge test), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%),

using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant age, sex, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility and perceived seriousness of COVID-19,

COVID-19 knowledge score was positively associated with greater protective practices [OR = 1.5, 95% CI 1.38-1.62] but was not associated with vaccine resistance [OR = 1.01, 95% CI 0.94-1.1] or vaccine hesitancy [OR = 1, 95% CI 0.92-1.08].

Conclusions

Table 46: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	8 [7	3%]	3 [27%]	11
Studies	8 [73%]	0	3 [27%]	11
Region				
Europe	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	3 [60%]	0	2 [40%]	5
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Confucian Asia	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1

Middle East	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Income				
High Income	6 [67%]	0	3 [33%]	9
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and vaccine hesitancy, 73% [8 out of 11] found COVID-19 knowledge to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that COVID-19 knowledge is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the eight studies that found COVID-19 knowledge to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% [8 out of 8] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when COVID-19 knowledge is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 73% [8 out of 11] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, overall, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between COVID-19 knowledge and vaccine hesitancy are evident when segmenting by region and income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of cultural group.

Region: Of studies conducted in Asian countries, 60% [3 out of 5] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more hesitant), such that it can be confidently concluded that in Asian countries, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Europe [3 studies], North America [1 study] and Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [0 studies] and South America [0 studies].

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 67% [6 out of 9] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more hesitant), such that it can be confidently concluded that in high income countries, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and vaccine hesitancy in the context of lower middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and vaccine hesitancy in upper middle income countries [0 studies] and low income countries [0 studies].

PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY SOCIAL MEDIA

6.1.2

Social media are media that facilitate the creation and sharing of information, ideas, interests, and beliefs through virtual communities and networks. Studies primarily considered the use of social media for COVID-19 information and news, either measuring use independently on a scale or measuring use in comparison with other forms of media. One study considered the general use of social media and two considered the exposure to or belief that social media provides positive messages about the COVID-19 vaccine.

In total, six studies considered the relationship between using social media for COVID-19 information and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, five found that using social media for COVID-19 information was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and one found that using social media for COVID-19 information was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the five studies that found using social media for COVID-19 information was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all found that users of social media for COVID-19 information were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Users of social media for COVID-19 information are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 47: Studies evidencing that users of social media for COVID-19 information are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allen et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Bendau et al. (2021)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
4	Schernhammer et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
5	Sallam et al. (2021)	Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United States, Allen et al (2021): In a purposive sample of 396 United States racially/ethnically diverse women, Allen (2021) examined the relationship between trust in information from social media, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, don't know/unsure) at a hesitancy rate of 43.2%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

Allen et al. (2021) found an association between trust in information from social media and vaccine intention. Respondents not intending to get the vaccine [34.8%] trusted information from social media more than respondents intending to get the vaccine [24.9%].

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between trusting information from social media usage and vaccine intention whereby those who have greater trust in social media information are more hesitant.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between preferred media for virus news, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, gender, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, political party identity, marital status and age, respondents whose preferred media for virus news was social media [B = -0.090, p < 0.002] and other media sources [B = -0.249,p = 0.02] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents whose preferred media for virus news was traditional broadcast news. Respondents whose preferred media for virus news was CNN/MSNBC [p = 0.525], Fox News [p = 0.243] and the New York Times [p = 0.308] were not more or less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents whose preferred media for virus news was traditional broadcast news.

Germany, Bendau et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,779 Germany residents, Bendau et al., (2021) examined the relationship between usage of social medias and/ or official websites to gain information about the pandemic, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine willingness, measured on a scale of -2 (absolutely not) to +2 (absolutely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and Chi-square.

The usage of social media and/or official websites to gain information about the pandemic was significantly associated with vaccine willingness (p < 0.001). Respondents who used neither official websites nor social media were least willing to accept the vaccine (Mean = 0.96), followed by respondents who used only social media (Mean = 1.16) and respondents who used only official websites (Mean = 1.33). Respondents who used both official websites and social media to gain information about the pandemic were most willing to accept the vaccine (Mean = 1.38).

Overall, this study evidences a negative association between reliance on social media for information about the pandemic, but importantly, that usage of official websites is a more important factor in that, even if people are getting information from social media, they appear able to decipher fact from fiction if also accessing official websites.

Austria, Schernhammer et al. (2021): In a quota sample of 1,007 Austria residents, Schernhammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between main source of COVID-19 information, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy rate of 41.1% (intermediate or severe), using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Schernhammer et al. (2021) found that respondents whose main source of information was social media were most likely to have intermediate or high hesitancy [49%] followed by respondents whose main source of information was TV [42%], respondents whose main source of information was friends [42%], respondents whose main source of information was radio [39%], respondents whose main source of information was an online newspaper [39%] and respondents whose main source of information was a paper newspaper [38%]. Respondents whose main source of information was the web pages of the Austrian ministries [30%] were least likely to have intermediate or high hesitancy.

Overall, respondents whose main source of information was social media were most likely to be hesitant.

Jordan, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Other Arab Countries, Sallam et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,414 Arab country residents, Sallam et al. (2020) examined the relationship between main source of information about COVID-19, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no) at a hesitancy rate of 70.6%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and multinomial regression.

Sallam et al. (2020) found that vaccine acceptance differed by main sources of information about COVID-19 [p <

0.001]. Willingness to get a COVID-19 vaccine was the lower among the respondents who relied on social media as their main source of information about COVID-19 [22.1%] compared with respondents who relied on medical doctors, scientists and scientific journals as their main source of information about COVID-19 [36.1%].

Furthermore, belief in conspiracy theories [Mean = 27.4] was highest in respondents who relied on social media as their main source of information about COVID-19, including beliefs that the vaccine contained microchips [33.8%] and caused infertility [27.3%].

Using social media for COVID-19 information is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 48: Studies evidencing that using social media for COVID-19 information is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between frequency of watching, reading, and hearing reports or updates about COVID-19 on social media (e.g., Twitter, Facebook, and WhatsApp) and on traditional media (e.g., TV, radio, and newspaper), measured as a binary variable (low vs. high exposure), and vaccine hesitancy, as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, area, education, income, having children, country, physical health condition, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19 and exposure to COVID-19 updates on social media, there was no association between exposure to COVID-19 updates on traditional media and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker and non-key worker samples [p > 0.05].

Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, age, area, education, income, having children, country, physical health condition, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19 and exposure to COVID-19 updates on traditional media, there was no association between exposure to COVID-19 updates on social media and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker and non-key worker samples [p > 0.05].

Overall, this study finds no association between the media used to receive COVID-19 updates and vaccine hesitancy.

Using social media is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 49: Studies evidencing that using social media is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between social media use, measured as a numerical discrete variable in years, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 29%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, age, gender, posting political content online, fact-checking, having had COVID-19, sources of information, education, trust in the media, voting Conservative, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations, evaluation of government's

handling of COVID-19, users of YouTube were less likely to be willing to accept the vaccine than non-users of YouTube [OR = 0.672, 95% CI 0.472-0.956]. However, users of Facebook [95% CI 0.654-3.702], Twitter [95% CI 0.787-1.625], Instagram [95% CI 0.902-1.964], Reddit [95% CI 0.561-1.236], Snapchat [95% CI 0.567-1.755] and TikTok [95% CI 0.512-1.764] were not more or less likely to be willing to accept the vaccine than non-users.

Overall, there is insufficient evidence that social media use is associated with vaccine hesitancy. However, it is important to note that use of social media is a different variable to use of social media for COVID-19 information.

Positive social media about COVID-19 vaccine is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 50: Studies evidencing that positive social media about COVID-19 vaccine is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Mir et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
2	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

India, Mir et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 254 India residents, Mir et al. (2021) examined the relationship between belief that social media is supportive of vaccine uptake, measured via three items on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and structural equation modelling.

Mir et al. (2021) found that the belief that social media is supportive of vaccine uptake was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.269]. Considering that social media is more likely to not support vaccine uptake than traditional media, the use of this social media variable as a means to understand vaccine hesitancy is theoretically limited.

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents,

Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about COVID-19 vaccines, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely/quite infrequent) to 3 (extremely/quite frequent), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant overall trust toward government, trust toward governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, overall satisfaction with government, perceived level of vaccination among Hong Kong citizens and acquaintances, perceived vaccine efficacy, perceived duration of vaccine efficacy, perceived risk and life satisfaction, frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about COVID-19 vaccines was not associated with vaccine intention.

Conclusions

Table 51: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total	Non	Non-predictive [n, %]			
	Users of social media for COVID-19 information are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Users of social media for COVID-19 information are less likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Using social media for COVID-19 information is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [n, %]		Using social media is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [n,	Positive social media about COVID-19 vaccine is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [n, %]	Total		
Studies	5 [8	33%]	1 [17%]	6	3	[100%]	3		
Studies	5 [83%]	0	1 [17%]	6	1 [100%]	2 [100%]	3		
Region									
Europe	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3	1 [100%]	0	0		
North America	2 [100%]	0	0	2	0	0	0		
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1	0	2 [100%]	2		
Oceania	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
South America	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Africa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Cultural Group									
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3	1 [100%]	0	0		
Germanic Europe	2 [100%]	0	0	2	0	0	0		
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Latin America	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1		

Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1	0	0	0
Income							
High Income	5 [83%]	0	1 [17%]	6	1 [100%]	1 [100%]	2
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Overall: Studies considered the relationship between vaccine hesitancy and (i) using social media for COVID-19 information, (ii) using social media generally and (iii) positive social media messages about the COVID-19 vaccine.

There was only a single study considering the relationship between using social media generally, which found that general social media use was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the association between use of social media generally and vaccine hesitancy.

There were only two studies considering the relationship between positive social media messages about the COVID-19 vaccine, which found that positive social media messages about the COVID-19 vaccine use were not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the association between positive social media messages about the COVID-19 vaccine and vaccine hesitancy.

Of the studies that considered the relationship between using social media for COVID-19 information and vaccine hesitancy, 83% [5 out of 6] found using social media for COVID-19 information to be predictive, such that it can be confidently concluded that using social media for COVID-19 information is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the five studies that found using social media for COVID-19 information to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% [5 out of 5] found that users of social media for COVID-19 information were more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when using social media for COVID-19 information is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, users of social media for COVID-19 information are most hesitant. Out of all studies, 83% [5 out of 6] found that users of social media for

COVID-19 information are most hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, overall, users of social media for COVID-19 information are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, there was insufficient evidence to draw any additional conclusions about the relationship between using social media for COVID-19 information and vaccine hesitancy.

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY POLITICAL IDEOLOGY

Political ideology refers to people' political beliefs and affiliations. It was measured either as a categorical variable in terms of political parties voted for or identified with or on scales associated with political spectrums (e.g., liberal to conservative; left to right) or even as a binary variable (e.g., left vs. right political orientation).

In total, 10 studies considered the association between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, seven found that political ideology was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and three found that political ideology was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the seven studies that found political ideology was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all found that right wing or conservative voters were more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

Table 52: Studies evidencing that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Huynh and Senger (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Edwards et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
6	Paul et al. (2021)	Austria	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
7	Lamot et al. (2020)	Slovenia	Europe	Eastern Europe	High Income

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between political orientation, measured on a scale of 1 (liberal) to 10 (conservative), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that when holding constant COVID-19 diagnosis, age, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, gender, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, perceived confidence in avoiding COVID-19, friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, being more conservative (right) in political orientation was negatively associated with vaccine intention [B=-0.134, p < 0.001] whereby the more conservative an individual was, the less likely they were to intend to receive the vaccine such that conservative people are more hesitant.

United States, Huynh and Senger. (2021): In a convenience sample of 351 USA residents, Huynh and Senger. (2020) examined the relationship between political orientation, measured on a scale of 1 (completely liberal) to 11 (completely conservative), and vaccination intention, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and hierarchical regression.

Huynh and Senger. (2021) found that, when holding constant ethnicity, age, education, socio-economic situation and gender, a conservative political orientation was negatively associated with vaccination intention [B = -0.20, p < 0.001] whereby as strength of conservative (right) political orientation increases, vaccine intention decreases such that conservative people are more hesitant.

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between political partisanship, measured as a categorical variable (Republican, Democrat, Independent), and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental survey design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), gender, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion and ethnicity, Democrat voters [B = 0.12, p < 0.001] and Republican voters [B = 0.05, p = 0.01] were more likely to accept the vaccine than

Independent voters, such that Democrats (left) were most likely to accept the vaccine.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the relationship between political party affiliation, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 5 (extremely likely) and at a hesitancy rate of 37.8% (extremely or somewhat unlikely and unsure combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and linear regression.

Using Chi-square, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by political party identity [p=0.001]. Respondents who identified as Democrat [73.2%] were most likely to get the vaccine, followed by respondents who identified as Independent [63%]. Respondents who identified as Republican [62.6%] were least likely to get the vaccine.

Using linear regression, Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine knowledge, belief in vaccine conspiracies, COVID-19 threat appraisal, having had the flu vaccine, pre-existing conditions, being 65 years or older, of White race, of Hispanic cultural identity, total household income, education, gender, marital status and preferred media for virus news, respondents who identified as Democrat were more likely to get the vaccine than respondents who identified as Republican [B = 0.199, p = 0.029]. There were no other differences between respondents who identified with other political parties.

Australia, Edwards et al. (2021): In a representative sample of 3,000 Australia residents, Edwards et al. (2021) examined the relationship between political orientation, measured as a binary variable (voted Labor vs. voted Coalition), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not get the vaccine) to 4 (definitely get the vaccine) at a hesitancy rate of 41.4%, using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal probit regression, presenting AME.

Edwards et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant location in Australia, indigenous ethnicity, place of birth, English language, education, deprivation, residing in a capital city, employment, age, income and social attitudes, respondents who voted for Labor (left) were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who voted for the Coalition (centre-right) $[B=0.076,\,p=0.05]$.

Austria, Paul et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,301 Austrian residents, Paul et al. (2021) examined the relationship between vote choice, measured as a categorical variable, and readiness to get vaccinated, measured on a scale from 1 (completely

disagree) to 5 (completely agree), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and OLS regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Paul et al. (2021) found that voters for the New Austria and liberal forum (65%) and Green (59%) intended to receive the vaccine as soon as possible than voters for Freedom Party of Austria (31%).

Using OLS regression, Paul et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, education, income situation, pre-existing condition, subjective health risk, sense of community, conspiracy belief, gender, respondents who voted for the populist-right wing Freedom Party of Austria were significantly less likely to receive the vaccine as soon as possible than respondents who voted for the more central wing Austrian People's Party [B =-0.2, p <

0.05]. There were no other significant differences between respondents who voted for other parties [p > 0.05].

Slovenia, Lamot et al. (2020): In a snowball sample of 851 Slovenia residents, Lamot et al. (2021) examined the relationship between political orientation, measured as a binary variable (left vs. rightist political orientation), and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 0 (not likely at all) to 10 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Lamot et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant age, education, employment status and health, respondents of a left political orientation were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents of rightist political orientation [B=-0.58, p=0.01].

Political ideology is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 53: Studies evidencing that political ideology is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freeman et al. (2020)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
3	Lindholt et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Freeman et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 5,114 UK residents, Freeman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between libertarian and populist political views, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree), and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely) to 5 (definitely not) plus an option for don't know, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple linear regression.

Freeman et al. (2021) found that political view was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.462].

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between voting intention, measured as a binary variable (voting Conservative vs. not voting Conservative), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a rate of 71%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, being COVID-19 misinformed, lockdown scepticism, mistrust of government, distrust of government, social media platforms use, age, gender, posting political content online, fact-checking, having had COVID-19, sources of information, education, trust in the media, perceived personal threat, social trust, trust in the government, trust in experts, trust in health organizations, and evaluation of government's handling of COVID-19, voting Conservative (right) was not associated with vaccine acceptance [p > 0.05].

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 18,231 respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between vote choice, measured as a categorical variable, political ideology, measured on a scale from 1 (the left) to 10 (the right), and vaccine hesitancy, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely

agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%] and France (47 %), and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in Hungary [47%].

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in national health authorities, trust in scientists, trust in the government, democratic rights, support of public protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, gender, fatigue, behaviour change, knowledge, age, education, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the economy, support for restrictions and interpersonal trust, vote choice and political ideology were not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Conclusions

Table 54: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	/e [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]	Left wing or liberal voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [n, %]		
Studies	7 [70	0%]	3 [30%]	10
Studies	7 [70%]	0	3 [30%]	10
Region				
Europe	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4
North America	4 [100%]	0	0	4
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	5 [71%]	0	2 [29%]	7
Germanic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0

Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	7 [78%]	0	2 [22%]	9
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy, 70% [7 out of 10] found that political ideology is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that political ideology is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the seven studies that found political ideology to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% [7 out of 7] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when political ideology is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Out of all studies, still 70% [7 out of 10] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in North American countries, 100% [4 out of 4] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is inconclusive evidence about the association between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy in European countries: 50% of studies [2 out of 4] found that as right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, but 50% [2 out of 4] also found that political ideology was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Oceania [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and vaccine

hesitancy in the contexts of Asia [0 studies], South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 71% [5 out of 7] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Germanic Europe [1 study] and Eastern Europe [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Nordic Europe [0 studies], Latin Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies], Southern Asia [0 studies], Confucian Asia [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies].

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 78% [7 out of 9] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of upper middle income countries [0 studies], lower middle income countries [0 studies] and low income countries [0 studies].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED VACCINE SAFETY

6.3.1

Perceived vaccine safety is the perceived chance of being harmed by a COVID-19 vaccine if taken and is frequently defined in terms of concern and fear of experiencing side effects. It is most frequently measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale), but also as a binary variable (e.g., not worried vs. worried).

In total, 16 studies considered the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, all 16 found that perceived vaccine safety was predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 16 studies that found perceived vaccine safety was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all 16 found that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more hesitant).

As perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 55: Studies evidencing that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Sethi et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Johnson et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Ruiz and Bell (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income

9	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
10	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
11	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
12	Sharun et al. (2020)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
13	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
14	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
15	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Low Income
16	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United Kingdom, Sethi et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 4,884 United Kingdom residents, Sethi et al. (2021) examined the reasons for vaccine hesitancy, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Sethi et al. (2021) found that, among 16 key reasons for not accepting the vaccine, the most common reason [reported by 60% of vaccine hesitant respondents] for being vaccine hesitant was the possibility of the COVID-19 vaccine having side effects.

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between COVID-19 vaccine safety concerns, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived susceptibility, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, COVID-19 vaccine safety concerns were negatively associated with vaccine intention [B =-0.118, p < 0.001] whereby as safety concerns increase, vaccine intention decreases such that respondents with greater safety concerns are more hesitant.

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Dorman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between confidence in the COVID-19 vaccine, measured via three statements on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly

disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional research design and linear regression.

Dorman et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant complacency about the disease, convenience of getting vaccinated, whether one is a person who calculates risks and benefits and concern for others, confidence in the COVID-19 vaccine was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.621, p < 0.001] whereby as confidence in the COVID-19 vaccine increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents with lower confidence in the COVID-19 vaccine are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Johnson et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 248 primary care patients of the Louisiana State University Medicine Clinic in USA, Johnson et al. (2021) examined the relationship between concern about serious side effects of the vaccine, measured as a binary variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no/unsure) and at a hesitancy rate of 67%, using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and Chi-square.

Johnson et al. (2021) found that among participants (n=167) who were unsure or did not intend to receive the COVID-19 vaccination, 48% (n=80) attributed their hesitancy to concern with the side effects of the vaccine.

Using Chi-square, Johnson et al. (2021) found that concern about serious side effects of the vaccine differed by vaccine intention [p < 0.001]. Respondents who intended to receive the vaccine [27.2%] were less likely to be concerned about serious side effects of the vaccine than respondents who were resistant or hesitant to receiving the vaccine [79%].

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between vaccine attribute of risk of severe and mild side effects, measured as a binary variable (risk of severe side effects (hospitalization or death) 1 in 10,000 vs. 1 in 1,000,000; risk of mild side effects (flu-like symptoms) 1 in 10 vs. 1 in 30) and vaccine preference, measured as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B), and vaccine evaluation, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental survey design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that when holding constant vaccine attributes (efficacy, duration, approving body, origin, endorsements), politics, education, flu vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion and ethnicity and gender, vaccine attribute of lower risk of severe side effects (1 in 1,000,000) was associated with greater vaccine preference [B = 0.07, p < 0.001 and greater vaccine evaluation [B = 0.04, p < 0.001] compared with a vaccine attribute of greater risk of severe side effects (1 in 10,000), such that greater side effects risk is associated with greater hesitancy. Vaccine attribute of lower risk of mild side effects (1 in 30) was associated with greater vaccine preference [B = 0.01, p = 0.04] and greater vaccine evaluation [B = 0.02, p = 0.001] compared with a vaccine attribute of greater risk of mild side effects (1 in 10), such that greater side effects risk is associated with greater hesitancy.

United States, Ruiz and Bell (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 804 United States residents, Ruiz and Bell (2021) examined the reasons for vaccine hesitancy, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Ruiz and Bell (2021) found that the belief that the vaccine might have dangerous side effects [43.8% of 304 vaccine hesitant respondents] was the most frequently cited reason for vaccine hesitancy. Of 73 respondents that were extremely unlikely to receive the vaccine, 57.5% believed that the vaccine might have dangerous side effects.

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between vaccine safety attribute, measured as a binary variable (5% fever risk vs. 20% fever risk), and vaccine rejection, measured as a binary variable (rejected vs. not rejected), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, generation race/ethnicity, monthly family income, political affiliation, general vaccine hesitancy, perceived vaccine effectiveness and perceived risk of infection, vaccines with a 20% fever risk were more likely to be rejected than vaccines with a 5% fever risk [OR = 1.63, 95% CI 1.03-2.57] whereby as side effect risk increases, vaccine resistance increases.

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perception of possible side effects of the vaccine, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and stratified linear regression.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant vaccine efficacy, infection situation in Finland, gender, recommendation from a healthcare professional, recommendation from health authorities, conversations with family and friends, how easy it is to get vaccinated, perceived susceptibility, perceived probability of infection, perceived severity if infected, perceived transparency with public, perceived politician honesty, belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theory, belief in other conspiracy theories, education, gender and age, perception of possible side effects of the vaccine was negatively associated with vaccine acceptance [Under 50s: B = -0.27, p < 0.001; Over 50s: B = -0.24, p < 0.001] whereby as perception of possible side effects of the vaccine increases, vaccine acceptance decreases such that those who perceive that the vaccines will have side effects are more hesitant.

France, Tavolacci et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,089 French students, Tavolacci et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived vaccine security, and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitancy, resistance), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and logistic regression.

Using ANOVA, Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that perceived vaccine security differed by vaccine intention [p < 0.0001]. Respondents who intended to receive the vaccine had the highest perception of vaccine security [Mean = 8.8], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 6.8]. Respondents who intended to reject the vaccine had the lowest perception of vaccine security [Mean = 5.4].

Using logistic regression, Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, years of study, courses of study, COVID-19 infection, having a relative hospitalized or died from COVID-19, COVID-19 knowledge, conventional vaccine beliefs, COVID-19 vaccine beliefs, confidence about conventional vaccination and perceived vaccine efficacy, perceived vaccine security was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [OR = 0.57, p < 0.0001] and vaccine resistance [OR = 0.46, p < 0.0001] whereby as perceived vaccine security increases, vaccine intention increases such that those who perceive vaccine security to be lowest are most hesitant.

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 834 Malta residents, Cordina et al. (2021) examined reasons for unwillingness to receive the vaccine, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Lack of vaccine safety was the most frequent reason cited for unwillingness to take the vaccine.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perception of side effects, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Goruntla et al. (2021) found that concerns about side effects from the vaccine [reported by 85.68% of respondents] was the most common perceived barrier to accepting the vaccine.

Using Chi-square, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by concern about having side effects to the vaccine [p < 0.001]. Respondents who agreed that they were concerned about having side effects from the vaccine [87.41%] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents who disagreed that they were concerned about having side effects from the vaccine [95%].

Using logistic regression, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived severity of a COVID-19 infection, perceived benefits of COVID-19 vaccination and perceived barriers to accept the vaccine, respondents who agreed that they were concerned about having side effects from the vaccine were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents who disagreed that they were concerned about having side effects from the vaccine [OR = 0.36, p < 0.001].

India, Sharun et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 351 India residents, Sharun et al. (2020) examined the examined reasons for vaccine hesitancy, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Sharun et al. (2020) found that the most common barrier to vaccine acceptance reported by respondents was concern about COVID-19 vaccine side effects [64.4% of respondents].

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the reasons for vaccine refusal, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Tsai et al. (2021) found that concerns regarding side effects [30.3%] was the second most frequent reason for vaccine refusal after perception that the Emergency Use Authorization process was not strict enough [48.7%].

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between side effect attributes, measured in terms of risk (rare vs. common) and severity (mild vs. severe), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that the risk of side effects was the most influential vaccine attribute and the severity of side effects was the third most influential vaccine attribute for vaccine intention.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined reasons for unwillingness to receive the vaccine, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Allagoa et al., (2021) found that no trust for the COVID-19 vaccine manufacturers was the most common reason for unwillingness [reported by 43.4% of unwilling respondents], belief that the vaccine is unsafe was the third most common reason for unwillingness [reported by 31.7% of unwilling respondents], belief that there have not been enough clinical trials for the vaccine was the fourth most common reason for unwillingness [reported by 23.2% of unwilling respondents] and belief that the vaccine will make one sick (i.e., side effects) was the sixth most common reason for unwillingness [reported by 20% of unwilling respondents].

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between worry about possible side effects of the vaccine and concern about the safety of the vaccine, both measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree) and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Alobaidi (2021) found that vaccination intention differed by worry about possible side effects of the vaccine [p < 0.001]. Respondents who strongly agreed or agreed that they were worried about possible side effects of the vaccine [7.6%] were less likely to intend to receive the vaccine than respondents who disagreed or strongly disagreed that they were worried about possible side effects of the vaccine [33.8%].

Using Chi-square, Alobaidi (2021) found that vaccination intention differed by concern about the safety of the vaccine [p < 0.001]. Respondents who strongly agreed or agreed that they were concerned about the safety of the vaccine [6.4%] were less likely to intend to receive

the vaccine than respondents who disagreed or strongly disagreed that they were worried about possible side effects of the vaccine [34.9%].

Using logistic regression, Alobaidi (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived benefits of vaccination, perceived barriers to vaccination and cues to action, worry about

possible side effects of the vaccine [OR=0.31, p=0.009] and concern about the safety of the vaccine [OR= 0.062, p<0.001] were negatively associated with intention to receive the vaccine whereby as worry about side effects and concern about safety increased, vaccine intention decreased, such that respondents who were more worried about side effects or more concerned about safety were more hesitant.

Conclusions

Table 56: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	16 [100%]		0	16
Studies	16 [100%]	0	0	16
Region				
Europe	4 [100%]	0	0	4
North America	6 [100%]	0	0	6
Asia	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Cultural Group				
Anglo	7 [100%]	0	0	7
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Confucian Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2

Sub-Saharan Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	13 [100%]	0	0	13
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Low Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy, 100% [16 out of 16] found perceived vaccine safety to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived vaccine safety is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Out of all studies, 100% [16 out of 16] found that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in North American [6 out of 6], Asian [5 out of 5] and European [4 out of 4] countries, 100% found that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more hesitant). As such, that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American, Asian and European countries, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in the context of Africa [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [0 studies] and South America [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 100% [7 out of 7] found that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries

of the Anglo cultural group, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Latin Europe [2 studies], Southern Asia [2 studies], Confucian Asia [2 studies], Nordic Europe [1 study], Sub-Saharan Africa [1 study] and Middle East [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [0 studies] Eastern Europe [0 studies] and Latin America [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 100% [13 out of 13] found that as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of lower middle income countries [2 studies] and low income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy in upper middle income countries [0 studies].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED VACCINE EFFICACY

6.3.2

Perceived vaccine efficacy is the belief in the effectiveness of a COVID-19 vaccine in terms of controlling COVID-19, catching COVID-19 and protecting against COVID-19. It is measured as both an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale) and a categorical variable in terms of level of efficacy.

In total, five studies considered the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, four found that perceived vaccine efficacy was predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the four studies that found that perceived vaccine efficacy was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all four found that as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in the effectiveness of the vaccine are more hesitant).

As perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 57: Studies evidencing that as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Kreps et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Tavolacci et al. (2021)	France	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
3	Sharun et al. (2020)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
4	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United States, Kreps et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 1,971 United States residents, Kreps et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy, measured as categorical variable (50%, 70%, 90%), and vaccine acceptance, measured (i) as a discrete choice (vaccine A vs. vaccine B) and (ii) individual vaccine evaluation on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely) to 7 (extremely likely), using a conjoint experimental design and OLS regression.

Kreps et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant, demographic characteristics (politics, education, flu

vaccination, health insurance, pharma favourability, knowing a COVID-19 case, believing that the worst of the pandemic is yet to come, religion and ethnicity, and age) and other vaccine attributes (duration, safety, approving body, origin, endorsements), when vaccine efficacy was 70%, respondents were more likely to choose the vaccine [B = 0.08, p < 0.001] and more likely to accept the vaccine [B = 0.05, p < 0.001] than when vaccine efficacy was 50%. When vaccine efficacy was 90%, respondents were more likely to choose the vaccine [B = 0.17, p < 0.001] and more likely to accept the vaccine [B = 0.10, p < 0.001] than when vaccine efficacy was 50%.

Overall, vaccine efficacy is positively associated with vaccine acceptance whereby as vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that more effective vaccines are more likely to be accepted.

France, Tavolacci et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,089 French students, Tavolacci et al. (2021) examined the relationship between confidence in efficacy of vaccine, measured as a binary variable (yes vs. no), and vaccine intention, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitancy, resistance), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Tavolacci et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, years of study, courses of study, COVID-19 infection, having a relative hospitalized or died from COVID-19, COVID-19 knowledge, conventional vaccine beliefs, COVID-19 vaccine beliefs, confidence about conventional vaccination, gender and perceived vaccine security, respondents who perceived the vaccine to be effective were more likely to be vaccine hesitant [OR = 0.61, p < 0.0001] and less likely to be vaccine resistant [OR = 0.50, p < 0.0001] than respondents who perceived the vaccine to not be effective.

India, Sharun et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 351 India residents, Sharun et al. (2020) examined the examined reasons for vaccine hesitancy, using a cross-sectional survey design and descriptive statistics.

Sharun et al. (2020) found that the second most common barrier to vaccine acceptance reported by respondents was the belief that the vaccine will not stop infection [20.2% of respondents].

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy (vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19; vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19), both measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree), and vaccine uptake, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Alobaidi (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by perception that vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19 [p < 0.001]. Respondents who perceived that vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19 [38.5%] were more likely to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who did not perceive that vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19 [2.9%].

Using Chi-square, Alobaidi (2021) found that vaccine intention differed by perception that vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19 [p < 0.001]. Respondents who perceived that vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19 [40.5%] were more likely to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who did not perceive that vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19 [0.9%].

Using logistic regression, Alobaidi (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived barriers of COVID-19 vaccination, cues to action and perception that vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19, perception that vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine uptake [OR = 7.59, p = 0.009].

Using logistic regression, Alobaidi (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, perceived barriers of COVID-19 vaccination, cues to action and perception that vaccination decreases worry about catching COVID-19, perception that vaccination decreases chance of getting COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine uptake [p = 0.712], suggesting that another factor better accounted for variance in vaccine uptake.

Overall, the majority of evidence found that vaccine efficacy is positively associated with vaccine uptake whereby as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine uptake increases such that those who perceive vaccine efficacy to be lower are more hesitant.

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined reasons for unwillingness to receive the vaccine, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Al-Qaram and Jarab (2021) found that 85.3% of respondents who were vaccine resistant and 82.5% of respondents who were vaccine hesitant had concerns about vaccine efficacy.

Perceived vaccine efficacy is not associated vaccine hesitancy

Table 58: Studies evidencing that perceived vaccine efficacy is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived impact of vaccine controlling COVID-19, measured as a categorical variable (very low/quite low, moderate, quite strong/very strong, don't know), perceived duration of effectiveness of vaccine, measured as a categorical variable (less than 1 year, 1 year and more, don't know), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant overall government trust, trust towards governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, overall satisfaction with government, frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about vaccines, descriptive norms and perceived duration of effectiveness of the vaccine, respondents who moderately [95% CI 0.43-3.95] and strongly [95% CI 0.16-

25.98] perceived the vaccine would be effective in controlling COVID-19 were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who did not perceive the vaccine would be effective in controlling COVID-19.

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant overall government trust, trust towards governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, overall satisfaction with government, frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about vaccines, descriptive norms and perceived impact of vaccine on controlling COVID-19, respondents who believed the vaccine would be effective for a year and more were more likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who believed the vaccine would be effective for less than a year [OR = 2.83, p < 0.05].

Overall, this study provides inconclusive evidence that vaccine efficacy is associated with vaccine acceptance.

Conclusions

Table 59: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Prediction	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	4 [8	0%]	1 [20%]	5
Studies	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5

Region				
Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Confucian Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy and vaccine hesitancy, 80% [4 out of 5] found perceived vaccine efficacy to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived vaccine efficacy is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the four studies that found perceived vaccine efficacy to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% of studies [4 out of 4] found that as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less belief in the efficacy of the vaccine are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with

high confidence that, when perceived vaccine efficacy is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 80% [4 out of 5] found that as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less belief in the efficacy of the vaccine are more hesitant), such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, there is only

inconclusive or insufficient evidence to draw conclusions on associations when segmenting by region and cultural group, but an association is evident when segmenting evidence by income.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 75% [3 out of 4] found that as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less belief in the efficacy of the vaccine are more hesitant) such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy and vaccine hesitancy in the context of lower middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between perceived vaccine efficacy and vaccine hesitancy in the context of upper middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED VULNERABILITY TO COVID-19



Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 is the perceived chance of being harmed by COVID-19 if infected. In the evidence reviewed, the factors considered within the theme of perceived vulnerability include perceived severity of COVID-19, perceived risk of COVID-19, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, fear of COVID-19 and worry of contracting COVID-19. These factors were most frequently measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale), but also as a binary variable (e.g., not worried vs. worried).

In total, 14 studies considered the association between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, 11 found that perceived vulnerability was predictive of vaccine hesitancy and three found that perceived vulnerability was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 11 studies that found perceived vulnerability was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all 11 found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant) and zero found that as income increases, vaccine hesitancy increases.

As perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 60: Studies evidencing that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Dorman et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
6	Caserotti et al. (2021)	ltaly	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
7	Zampetakis and Melas (2021)	Greece	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income

8	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
9	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income
10	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
11	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 10 (very), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, COVID-19 diagnosis, gender, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, confidence in avoiding COVID-19 and friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, seriousness of contracting COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.207, p < 0.001] whereby as perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19 increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less serious are more hesitant.

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19 (three items) and fear of COVID-19 (three items), measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived susceptibility, perceived susceptibility, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, perceived severity was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05], but fear of COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.05, p < 0.01] whereby as fear of COVID-19 increases, so does vaccine intention such that respondents with less fear of COVID-19 were more vaccine hesitant.

Variance in vaccine intention is better accounted for when defining perceived severity in terms of fear.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,047 United States

residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that perceived severity was positively associated with vaccine intention [COR = 1.66, 95% CI 1.42-1.94] whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant.

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, race, region, ethnicity, education, annual household income, having a child, vaccine information sources, past influenza vaccine, influenza vaccine last year, perceived susceptibility of COVID-19, perceived clinical barriers to vaccination, perceived access barriers to vaccination, perceived COVID-19 specific vaccine benefit and perceived general vaccine benefits, perceived severity was positively associated with vaccine intention [AOR = 1.44, 95% CI 1.09-1.91] whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Dorman et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 26,324 United States residents, Dorman et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured via three statements on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional research design and linear regression.

Dorman et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant confidence in the COVID-19 vaccine, convenience of getting vaccinated, whether one is a person who calculates risks and benefits and concern for others, perceived severity of COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention $[B=0.178,\,p<0.001]$ whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents

who do not perceive COVID-19 to be severe are more vaccine hesitant.

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and stratified linear regression.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived COVID-19 vaccine safety, general vaccine attitude, perceived COVID-19 vaccine efficacy, infection situation in Finland, importance of COVID-19 vaccine efficacy in protecting oneself, importance of vaccine efficacy in protecting others, importance of possible side effects, importance of a recommendation from a healthcare professional, importance of a recommendation from health authorities, importance of conversations with family and friends, importance of how easy it is to get vaccinated, own assessment of susceptibility of infection, own assessment of probability of infection, perceived transparency with public, perceived politician honesty, belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theory, belief in other conspiracy theories, education, gender and age, own assessment of severity of infection was positively associated with vaccine acceptance in respondents younger than 50 years old [B = 0.1, p = 0.016] and respondents 50 years old and above [B = 0.08, p = 0.021] whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine acceptance, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant.

Italy, Caserotti et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,267 Italy residents, Caserotti et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of COVID-19, measured via combining three items (perceived likelihood of being infected, perceived severity of COVID-19, fear of COVID-19) on a scale of 1 (not at all likely, not at all likely, not at all scared) to 100 (extremely likely, extremely severe, extremely scared) and recoded into tertiles (low, medium, high), and (i) vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale from 0 (not at all likely) to 100 (very likely), using a logistic regression model (from which ORs were presented) and (ii) vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (no hesitancy vs. hesitancy > 0), using a negative binomial (from which IRRs were presented).

In modelling vaccine acceptance, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, age, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents with medium perceived risk of COVID-19 [OR = 2.46, p < 0.001] and respondents with high

perceived risk of COVID-19 [OR = 3.53, p < 0.001] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with low perceived risk of COVID-19.

In modelling vaccine hesitancy, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, age, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents with medium perceived risk of COVID-19 [IRR = 0.72, p < 0.001] and respondents with high perceived risk of COVID-19 [IRR = 0.66, p < 0.001] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with low perceived risk of COVID-19.

Overall, Caserotti et al. (2021) found a positive association between perceived risk from COVID-19 and vaccine acceptance whereby as perceived risk increases, vaccine acceptance increases, such that respondents who perceive greater risk are more accepting of the vaccine, and a positive association between perceived risk from COVID-19 and vaccine hesitancy whereby as perceived risk increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that respondents who perceive greater risk are less vaccine hesitant.

Greece, Zampetakis and Melas (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,006 Greece residents, Zampetakis and Melas (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured as a binary variable [low vs. high], and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (I absolutely do not intend to vaccinate) to 7 (I absolutely intend to vaccinate), using a conjoint experimental survey design and linear regression.

Zampetakis and Melas (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived susceptibility if I get the vaccine, perceived benefits of the vaccine and perceived barriers to getting the vaccine, perceived severity was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.29, p < 0.001] whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 of India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured via two items (getting very sick from COVID-19, afraid of getting COVID-19) as binary variables (agree vs. disagree), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 10.73%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that respondents who agreed that they will get very sick if they get COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine

[90.65%, p = 0.05] than those who disagreed that they will get very sick if they get COVID-19 [88.18%]. Respondents who agreed that they were very afraid of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [93.53%, p < 0.001] than those who disagreed that they were afraid of getting COVID-19 [85.24%].

Using logistic regression, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that when holding constant perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 infection, perceived benefits of COVID-19 vaccination, perceived barriers to accept vaccine and cues to action, respondents who agreed that they will get very sick if they get COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [OR = 1.29, p < 0.05] than those who disagreed that they will get very sick if they get COVID-19 and respondents who agreed that they were afraid of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [OR = 2.5, p < 0.001] than those who disagreed that they were afraid of getting COVID-19.

Across all data, there is a positive association between perceived severity and vaccine intention whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant. Similar to Chu and Liu (2021), when perceived severity is defined in terms of fear it has a stronger association with vaccine intention.

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity (complications from COVID-19 are serious, being very sick if getting COVID-19, fear of getting COVID-19), measured as binary variables (agree vs. disagree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Wong et al. (2021) found that respondents who agreed that complications from COVID-19 are serious were more likely [49.2%, p < 0.001] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [26.9%].

Respondents who agreed that they would be very sick if getting COVID-19 were more likely [50.7%, p < 0.002] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [39.5%].

Respondents who agreed that they are afraid of getting COVID-19 were more likely [49.7%, p < 0.001] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [32.3%].

Using logistic regression, Wong et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, highest education level, occupation category, average monthly household income, location, diagnosed with chronic diseases, perceived overall health, known others infected

by COVID-19, perceived susceptibility, perceived benefits and perceived barriers, complications from COVID-19 are serious, being very sick if getting COVID-19 and fear of getting COVID-19 were not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05], suggesting that other factors better accounted for variance in vaccine intention.

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely/not at all susceptible) to 7 (extremely likely/very susceptible), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 to 7 and recoded as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance) at a hesitancy rate of 58.9% (refusal and hesitancy categories combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and linear regression.

Using ANOVA and Tukey tests, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that perceived severity of COVID-19 was highest in respondents who accepted the vaccine [Mean = 4.16], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 4.01] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean = 3.75] and that differences were significant [p < 0.001].

Using linear regression, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, gender, education level, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, perceived severity of COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention [B = 0.044, p = 0.019] whereby as perceived severity increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less severe are more vaccine hesitant.

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived seriousness of COVID-19, measured as an ordinal variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, sex, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived susceptibility and COVID-19 knowledge, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 was negatively associated with vaccine resistance (no) [OR = 0.75, p > 0.01] and vaccine hesitance (not sure) [OR = 0.88, p < 0.01] whereby as perceived seriousness of COVID-19 increases, resistance and hesitance decreases, such that respondents who perceive COVID-19 to be less serious are more hesitant.

Perceived vulnerability is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 61: Studies evidencing that perceived vulnerability is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Tsai et al. (2021)	Taiwan	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived COVID-19 symptom severity, measured on a a scale of 1 (asymptomatic/no symptoms) to 5 (deadly symptoms), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, area lived, education, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19 and perceived COVID-19 risk, there was no association between perceived COVID-19 symptom severity and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker and non-key worker samples [p > 0.05].

Taiwan, Tsai et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,020 Taiwan residents, Tsai et al. (2021) examined the relationship between worry about contracting COVID-19, measured as a binary variable (not worried vs. worried), and vaccine hesitance, measured as a binary variable (unwilling vs. willing) at a rate of 47.3%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that worry about contracting COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.57].

Using multiple logistic regression, Tsai et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, sex, education, occupational status, experience of vaccine refusal, severity of the pandemic in Taiwan, health and political orientation, worry about contracting COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.11].

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between perceived severity of COVID-19, measured via three items (perception that complications from COVID-19 are serious, perception of being very sick if getting COVID 19, fear of getting COVID-19) on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Alobaidi (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, nationality, education, working in health care, monthly income, perceived susceptibility, perceived benefits of vaccine and cues to action, perception that complications from COVID-19 are serious [p = 0.167], perception of being very sick if getting COVID 19 [p = 0.907] and fear of getting COVID-19 [p = 0.352] are not associated with vaccine intention.

Conclusions

Table 62: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	11 [7	79%]	3 [21%]	14
Studies	11 [79%]	0	3 [21%]	14
Region				
Europe	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
North America	4 [100%]	0	0	4
Asia	4 [67%]	0	2 [33%]	6
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Confucian Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Income				
High Income	8 [73%]	0	3 [27%]	11
Upper Middle Income	2 [100%]	0	0	2

Lower Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy, 79% [11 out of 14] found perceived vulnerability to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived vulnerability is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the 11 studies that found perceived vulnerability to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% [11 out of 11] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when perceived vulnerability is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 79% [11 out of 14] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, overall, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in North American countries, 100% [4 out of 4] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant). Of studies conducted in European countries, 75% [3 out of 4] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant). As such, that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American and European countries, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Of studies conducted in Asian countries, 67% [4 out of 6] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be confidently concluded that in Asian countries, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [0 studies], South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 80% [4 out of 5] found that

as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Middle East [3 studies], Latin Europe [2 studies], Southern Asia [2 studies], Nordic Europe [1 study] and Confucian Asia [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 73% [8 out of 11] found that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of upper middle income countries [2 studies] and lower middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability and vaccine hesitancy in low income countries [0 studies].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED SUSCEPTIBILITY TO COVID-19



Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 is the perceived chance of being infected with COVID-19, but does not confer the perceived risk of being harmed by COVID-19 if infected, which is considered in sub-section 6.6 as perceived vulnerability. Perceived susceptibility was primarily measured as an ordinal variable from low to high.

In total, 14 studies considered the association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, seven found that perceived susceptibility was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, six found that perceived susceptibility was not predictive of vaccine hesitancy and one had mixed findings in different contexts. Of the seven studies that found perceived susceptibility was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more hesitant) and zero found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy increases.

As perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 63: Studies evidencing that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Salali and Uysal. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Coe et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Shih et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Caserotti et al. (2021)	Italy	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
5	Goruntla et al. (2021)	India	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
6	Tao et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
7	Wong et al. (2021)	Malaysia	Asia	Southern Asia	Upper Middle Income
8	Alobaidi (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

United Kingdom, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 1,088 United Kingdom residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of catching COVID-19, measured on a scale of 0 (no chance of catching it) and 100 (will definitely catch it), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant education, beliefs about origin of the virus, sex, financial satisfaction, having children and COVID-19-related anxiety, perceived risk of catching COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [OR = 1.07, p < 0.01] whereby as perceived risk of catching COVID-19 increases, so does vaccine acceptance such that respondents who perceive a lower risk of catching COVID-19 are more vaccine hesitant.

United States, Coe et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,047 United States residents, Coe et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that perceived susceptibility was positively associated with vaccine intention [COR = 1.67, 95% CI 1.45-1.93] whereby as perceived susceptibility increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more vaccine hesitant.

Using multiple logistic regression, Coe et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, race, region, ethnicity, education, annual household income, having a child, vaccine information sources, past influenza vaccine, influenza vaccine last year, perceived severity of COVID-19, perceived clinical barriers to vaccination, perceived access barriers to vaccination, perceived COVID-19 specific vaccine benefit, perceived general vaccine benefits, perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine intention [AOR = 1.01, 95% CI 0.81-1.27}, suggesting that other factors better accounted for the variance in vaccine intention.

United States, Shih et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 713 United States residents, Shih et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of being infected, measured on a scale of 0% to 100%, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (acceptance, hesitance, resistance), using a conjoint experimental survey design and logistic regression.

Shih et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, generation race/ethnicity, monthly family income, political affiliation, general vaccine hesitancy, perceived vaccine safety and perceived vaccine effectiveness, perceived risk of infection was negatively associated with being vaccine resistant [OR = 0.97, 95% CI 0.95-0.98] whereby as perceived risk of being infected increases, likelihood of being vaccine resistant decreases, such that respondents with lower perceived risk of being infected were more hesitant.

Italy, Caserotti et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,267 Italy residents, Caserotti et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of COVID-19, measured by combining three items (perceived likelihood of being infected, perceived severity of COVID-19, fear of COVID-19) on a scale of 1 (not at all likely, not at all severe, not at all scared) to 100 (extremely likely, extremely severe, extremely scared) and recoded into tertiles (low, medium, high), and (i) vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale from 0 (not at all likely) to 100 (very likely), using a logistic regression model (from which ORs were presented) and (ii) vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (no hesitancy vs. hesitancy > 0), using a negative binomial (from which IRRs were presented).

In modelling vaccine acceptance, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, age, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents with medium perceived risk of COVID-19 [OR = 2.46, p < 0.001] and respondents with high perceived risk of COVID-19 [OR = 3.53, p < 0.001] were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents with low perceived risk of COVID-19.

In modelling vaccine hesitancy, Caserotti et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant presence of a lockdown, perceived risk from COVID-19, perceived risk from flu, perceived risk from external ventricular drain, having had the flu vaccine in 2019, vaccine doubts, willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine, age, gender, deprivation and area in Italy, respondents with medium perceived risk of COVID-19 [IRR = 0.72, p < 0.001] and respondents with high perceived risk of COVID-19 [IRR = 0.66, p < 0.001] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with low perceived risk of COVID-19.

Overall, Caserotti et al. (2021) found a positive association between perceived risk from COVID-19 and vaccine acceptance whereby as perceived risk increases, vaccine acceptance increases, such that respondents who perceive greater risk are more accepting of the vaccine and a positive association between perceived risk from COVID-19 and vaccine hesitancy whereby as perceived risk increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, such that respondents who perceive greater risk are less vaccine hesitant.

India, Goruntla et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,451 of India residents, Goruntla et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility to get COVID-19, measured via three items (worry about getting COVID-19, risk of getting COVID-19, working or communicating with many people each day increases chances of getting COVID-19) as binary variables (agree vs. disagree), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 10.73%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance differed by perceived susceptibility agreement group [p < 0.001]. Respondents who agreed that they worry a lot about getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [91.44%] than those who disagreed that they worry a lot about getting COVID-19 [86.74%]. Respondents who agreed that they were at risk of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [91.81%] than those who disagreed that they were at risk of getting COVID-19 [87.37%]. Respondents who agreed that working or communicating with many people each day increases their chances of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [90.69%] than those who disagreed that working or communicating with many people each day increases their chances of getting COVID-19 [81.96%].

Using logistic regression, Goruntla et al. (2021) found that when holding constant perceived severity of COVID-19 infection, perceived benefits of COVID-19 vaccination, perceived barriers to accept vaccine and cues to action, respondents who agreed that they worry a lot about getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [OR = 1.63, p < 0.001] than those who disagreed that they worry a lot about getting COVID-19, respondents who agreed that they were at risk of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [OR = 1.62, p < 0.001] than those who disagreed that they were at risk of getting COVID-19 and respondents who agreed that working or communicating with many people each day increases their chances of getting COVID-19 were more likely to intend to get the vaccine [OR = 2.14, p < 0.001] than those who disagreed that working or communicating with many people each day increases their chances of getting COVID-19.

Overall, there is a positive association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine intention whereby

as sense of perceived susceptibility increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more vaccine hesitant.

China (Pregnant Women), Tao et al. (2021): In a multi-stage part-random and part-convenience sample of 1,392 pregnant China residents, Tao et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility, measured on a scale of 1 (low) to 3 (high), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a categorical variable (no or little hesitancy, undecided, intermediate or high hesitancy) at a hesitancy (intermediate or severe) rate of 41.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Tao et al. (2021) found that vaccine acceptance was highest in respondents concerned about getting COVID-19 [79%] compared with those not concerned [63.5%, p < 0.01] and that vaccine acceptance was highest in respondents concerned about their unborn baby getting COVID-19 [78.9%] compared with those not concerned [61.2%, p < 0.01].

Using logistic regression, Tao et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant region, education, occupation, income, gravidity, parity, gestational trimester, history of adverse pregnancy outcomes, history of chronic disease, history of influence vaccination, gestational complications, COVID-19 knowledge, perceived susceptibility, perceived severity, barriers to receiving the vaccine, perceived benefits of the vaccine and cues to action, respondents who perceived a high level of susceptibility were more likely to accept the vaccine than respondents who perceived a low level of susceptibility [AOR = 2.18, p = 0.01].

Overall, there is a positive association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine acceptance whereby as sense of perceived susceptibility increases, so does vaccine acceptance, such that respondents who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more vaccine hesitant.

Malaysia, Wong et al. (2021): In a random sample of 1,159 Malaysia residents, Wong et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility (chances of getting COVID-19, worry about likelihood of getting COVID-19, possibility of getting COVID-19), measured as binary variables (agree vs. disagree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (yes, definitely) but recoded as a binary variable (yes, definitely vs. yes, probably/yes, possibly/probably not/definitely not), using a cross-sectional survey design, Chi-square and logistic regression.

Using Chi-square, Wong et al. (2021) found that respondents who agreed that they had a greater chance

of catching COVID-19 were more likely [53%, p < 0.001] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [41.3%].

Respondents who agreed that they were worried about the likelihood of getting COVID-19 were more likely [50.7%, p < 0.001] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [33.7%].

Respondents who agreed that getting COVID-19 was a possibility for them were more likely [53.7%, p < 0.001] to definitely accept the vaccine than respondents who disagreed [41.2%].

Using logistic regression, Wong et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, highest education level, occupation category, average monthly household income, location, diagnosed with chronic diseases, perceived overall health, known others infected by COVID-19, perceived severity, perceived benefits and perceived barriers, perceived chance of getting COVID-19 and worry about the likelihood of getting COVID-19 were not associated [p > 0.05] with vaccine intention, but perceived possibility of getting COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention [OR = 1.36, p < 0.05] whereby respondents who agreed that there was a possibility of them getting COVID-19 were more likely to accept the vaccine.

Overall, this study evidences a positive association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine intention whereby a greater sense of susceptibility is associated with greater vaccine intent such that those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible are more vaccine hesitant. However, that two of the perceived susceptibility items are not associated with vaccine intention in the multiple logistic regression suggests that other factors better account for the variance in vaccine intention than perceived susceptibility.

Saudi Arabia, Alobaidi (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,333 Saudi Arabia residents, Alobaidi (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility of catching COVID-19, measured via three items (chances of getting COVID-19, worried about likelihood of getting COVID-19, possibility of getting COVID-19) on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale from 1 (definitely no) to 4 (definitely yes) and transformed to a binary variable of 1 (intends to get vaccinated) and 0 (does not intend to get vaccinated) at a hesitancy rate of 18.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Alobaidi (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, nationality, education, working in health care, monthly income, perceived severity, perceived benefits of vaccine and cues to action, chances and possibility of getting COVID-19 were not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05], but being worried about the likelihood of getting COVID-19 was positively associated with vaccine intention [OR = 3.82, p = 0.002] whereby as worry about the likelihood of getting COVID-19 increases, so does vaccine intention, such that respondents less worried about the likelihood of getting COVID-19 are more vaccine hesitant.

Although Alobaidi (2021) defined all three items as perceived susceptibility of contracting COVID-19, being worried about getting COVID-19 is arguably more a measure of perceived vulnerability than susceptibility.

Perceived susceptibility is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 64: Studies evidencing that perceived susceptibility is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Butter et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Agley et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Chu and Liu (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Hammer et al. (2021)	Finland	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
5	Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income

6	Salali and Uysal (2021)	Turkey	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
7	Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021)	Jordan	Asiaa	Middle East	High Income

United Kingdom, Butter et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,605 UK key workers (n = 584) and non-key workers (n = 1,021), Butter et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of getting COVID-19, measured on a scale from 0% to 100% and recoded into quartiles, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable (yes to accepting the vaccine vs. no and don't know to accepting the vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Butter et al. (2021) found that there was no statistically significant association between age and vaccine hesitancy in the key worker sample, but age was associated with vaccine hesitancy in the non-key worker sample. When holding constant age, gender, area lived, education, income, having children, country lived in, having a physical health condition, having a mental health condition, exposure to COVID-19 social media, exposure to COVID-19 traditional media, knowing someone diagnosed with COVID-19 and perceived symptom severity, key workers who perceived their risk of getting COVID-19 in the bottom quartile (0-25%) were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than key workers who perceived their risk of getting COVID-19 in the top quartile (75-100%) [OR = 2.44, p < 0.05]. There was no difference in likelihood of vaccine hesitance between respondents in the other quartiles of perceived risk of getting COVID-19 [p > 0.05], and perceived risk of getting COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine hesitancy for non key-workers.

Overall, there is insufficient evidence that perceived susceptibility is associated with vaccine intention, whereby a greater sense of susceptibility is only associated with lower vaccine hesitancy for key workers, but there is no association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the general population.

United States, Agley et al. (2021): In a nationally representative sample of 1,017 United States residents, Agley et al. (2021) examined the relationship between confidence in avoiding COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all confident) to 5 (very confident), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (unlikely) to 7 (likely) at a hesitancy rate of 25.1%, using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Agley et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, COVID-19 diagnosis, gender, race, being Hispanic or Latin, trust in science, religious commitment, political orientation, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19 and friends' or family's avoidance of crowded areas, confidence in

avoiding COVID-19 was not associated with vaccine intention [p = 0.39].

United States, Chu and Liu (2021): In a convenience sample of 934 United States residents, Chu and Liu (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, measured via three items on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (very unlikely) to 5 (very likely), using a cross-sectional survey design and ordinal regression.

Chu and Liu (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education, income, general vaccine hesitancy, norms, cues to action, perceived severity, fear, perceived benefits, perceived barriers and self-efficacy, perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine intention [p > 0.05].

Finland, Hammer et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,141 Finland residents, Hammer et al. (2021) examined the relationship between susceptibility of COVID-19 infection and probability of COVID-19 infection, both measured as on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), using a cross-sectional survey design and stratified linear regression.

Hammer et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant perceived COVID-19 vaccine safety, general vaccine attitude, perceived COVID-19 vaccine efficacy, infection situation in Finland, importance of COVID-19 vaccine efficacy in protecting oneself, importance of vaccine efficacy in protecting others, importance of possible side effects, importance of a recommendation from a healthcare professional, importance of a recommendation from health authorities, importance of conversations with family and friends, importance of how easy it is to get vaccinated, own assessment of severity if infected, perceived transparency with public, perceived politician honesty, belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theory, belief in other conspiracy theories, education, gender and age, own assessment of susceptibility of infection [p = 0.646, p = 0.688] and own assessment of probability of infection [p = 0.566, p = 0.601] were not associated with vaccine acceptance for respondents younger than 50 years old and respondents 50 vears old and above.

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al.

(2021) examined the relationship between perceived possibility of getting COVID-19 and perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, measured on a scale of 1 (extremely unlikely/not at all susceptible) to 7 (extremely likely/very susceptible), and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 to 7 and recoded as a categorical variable (vaccine refusal, vaccine hesitancy, vaccine acceptance) at a hesitancy rate of 58.9% (refusal and hesitancy categories combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, ANOVA and linear regression.

Using ANOVA and Tukey tests, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that perceived possibility of getting infected was highest in respondents who accepted the vaccine [Mean = 4.74], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 4.52] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean = 4.33] and that differences were significant [p < 0.001].

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 was highest in respondents who accepted the vaccine [Mean = 4.71], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 4.65] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean = 4.38] and that differences were significant [p < 0.001].

Using linear regression, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that when holding constant age, gender, education level, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, perceived severity of COVID-19, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust and preventative measures, perceived possibility of getting COVID-19 [p = 0.056] and perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 [p = 0.471] were not associated with vaccine intention.

Overall, when considering that the mean differences were small relative to a scale of 1-7 in the ANOVA analysis, this study does not provide sufficient evidence of an association between vaccine intention and perceived possibility of getting COVID-19 or perceived susceptibility to COVID-19.

Turkey, Salali and Uysal (2021): In convenience samples of 3,936 Turkey residents, Salali and Uysal (2021) examined the relationship between perceived risk of catching COVID-19, measured on a scale of 0 (no chance of catching it) and 100 (will definitely catch it), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Salali and Uysal (2021) found that, when holding constant education, beliefs about origin of the virus, sex, financial satisfaction, having children and COVID-19-related anxiety, there was no association between perceived risk of catching COVID-19 and vaccine acceptance [p = 0.06].

Jordan, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,144 Jordan residents, Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) examined the relationship between perceived susceptibility, measured as a categorical variable, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (no, not sure, yes) at a hesitancy rate of 63.2% (no = 36.8%, not sure = 26.4%), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Al-Qerem and Jarab (2021) found that when holding constant age, sex, education level, marital status, having children, perceived COVID-19 risk, perceived seriousness of COVID-19 and COVID-19 knowledge, perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p > 0.05].

Conclusions

Table 65: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	7 [54%]		6 [46%]	13
Studies	7 [54%]	0	6 [46%]	13
Region				
Europe	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4

North America	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4
Asia	4 [57%]	0	3 [43%]	7
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [50%]	0	3 [50%]	6
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [25%]	0	3 [75%]	4
Income				
High Income	6 [55%]	0	5 [45%]	11
Upper Middle Income	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
Lower Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy, 54% [7 out of 13] found perceived susceptibility to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that perceived susceptibility is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the seven studies that found perceived susceptibility to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% [7 out of 7] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when perceived susceptibility is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 54% [7 out of 13] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e.,

those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that, overall, as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

NB: Salali and Uysal (2021) was not included in the above analysis as it contained two countries for which there were mixed findings in terms of the association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in Asian countries, 57% [4 out of 7] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in Asian countries, as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is inconclusive evidence about the association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in European and North American contexts: In Europe and North America 50% of studies [2 out of 4] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, but 50% [2 out of 4] also found that perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Oceania [0 studies], South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Middle East cultural group, 75% [3 out of 4] found that perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, perceived susceptibility is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is inconclusive evidence about the association between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the context of countries in the Anglo cultural group: 50% of studies [3 out of 6] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases, but 50% [3 out of 6] also found that perceived susceptibility was not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Southern Asia [2 studies], Nordic Europe [1 study], Latin Europe [1 study] and Confucian Asia [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 55% [6 out of 11] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high income countries, as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of upper middle income countries [3 studies] and lower middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and vaccine hesitancy in low income countries [0 studies].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION TRUST IN HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS

Trust in healthcare professionals is the belief in the reliability and integrity of healthcare or medical professionals, providers, practitioners or organizations. It is most frequently measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale), but also as a categorical variable in terms of level of trust.

In total, six studies considered the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, all six found that trust in healthcare professionals was predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the six studies that found that trust in healthcare professionals was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all six found that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant).

As trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 66: Studies evidencing that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income	
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income	
2	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income	
3	Murphy et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income	
		Ireland	Europe	Anglo	High Income	
4	Benis et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income	
5	Cordina et al. (2021)	Malta	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income	
6	Rozek et al. (2021)	Multiple countries aggregated				

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in medical professionals, measured on a scale from from 1 (not at all) to 4 (a great deal) plus an option for don't know, and vaccine hesitancy, measured from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that trust in medical professionals was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.34]. Of the 21 factors studied, trust in medical professionals was the fourth most predictive after vaccine attitude, conspiracy suspicions and trust of scientists working in universities.

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant trust in the government, trust in scientists working in universities and trust in the scientific community, trust in medical professionals was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.18, p < 0.001]. When also holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education and household income, trust in medical professionals was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.14, p < 0.001]. When also holding constant legacy media use, social media use, personal risk perception, UK risk perception and world risk perception, trust in medical professionals was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.03, p < 0.001].

Across all data, trust in medical professionals was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy whereby as trust in medical professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with low trust in medical professionals are most hesitant.

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in health organizations, and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 29%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant social trust, government trust, government mistrust, government distrust, media trust, experts. trust, government handling of COVID-19, perceived personal threat of COVID-19, lockdown scepticism, conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, COVID-19 misinformed, had COVID-19, gender, age, education, support for Conservative Party, information sources, social media use, having

fact-checked an article online and having posted political content online, trust in health organizations was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [OR = 6.218, p < 0.001], whereby as trust in health organizations increased, vaccine acceptance increased such that respondents with lower trust in health organizations are more hesitant.

Trust in health organizations was the third strongest predictor of vaccine acceptance out of 30 factors.

Ireland and the United Kingdom, Murphy et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples of 1,041 Ireland residents and 2025 UK residents, Murphy et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals, measured on a scale of 1 to 5, and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a binary variable with rates of 35% and 31% respectively, using a cross-sectional survey design and ANOVA.

In the Irish sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that trust in healthcare professionals differed by vaccine intention [p < 0.001]. Trust in healthcare professionals was highest in respondents who were vaccine accepting [Mean = 3.95], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 3.57] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean = 3.36].

In the UK sample, Murphy et al. (2020) found that trust in healthcare professionals differed by vaccine intention [p < 0.001]. Trust in healthcare professionals was highest in respondents who were vaccine accepting [Mean = 4.01], followed by respondents who were vaccine hesitant [Mean = 3.71] and lowest in respondents who were vaccine resistant [Mean = 3.32].

Overall, there is a positive association between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine intention whereby as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine intention increases such that respondents with lower trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant.

United States, Benis et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,644 United States residents, Benis et al. (2021) examined the relationship between confidence in healthcare providers, measured as a categorical variable (agree, neutral/no opinion, disagree), and vaccine acceptance, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 18.5%, using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple logistic regression.

Using simple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that respondents who were neutral or had no opinion [OR = 4.99, 95% CI 3.4-7.29] and who disagreed [OR = 22.01, 95% CI 14.82-33.09] that they had confidence in healthcare

providers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who agreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers.

Using multiple logistic regression, Benis et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant age, gender, having children, fear of the COVID-19 disease, desire to protect family and relatives, confidence in pharmaceutical industry and civic responsibility to take vaccine, respondents who disagreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who agreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers [OR = 2.81, 95% CI 1.5-5.29]. Respondents who were neutral or had no opinion that they had confidence in healthcare providers were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who agreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers [95% CI 0.6-2.03].

When also holding constant marital status, education, ethnicity, residence, vulnerability, COVID-19 diagnosis, belief in vaccines as revolutionary and innovative, employer recommending or demanding vaccination, confidence in government guidance, being sick from COVID-19 and opinion on whether vaccines should be free of charge, respondents who disagreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers were more likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who agreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers [OR = 2.83, 95% CI 1.45-5.52]. Respondents who were neutral or had no opinion that they had confidence in healthcare providers were not more or less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents who agreed that they had confidence in healthcare providers [95% CI 0.56-2.05].

Overall, respondents without confidence in healthcare providers were more hesitant than respondents with confidence in healthcare providers.

Malta, Cordina et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 2,529 Malta residents, Cordina et al. (2021) examined the relationship between value of healthcare professionals' advice regarding effectiveness of the vaccine, measured on a scale of 1 (not at all) to 10 (very much), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely no) to 10 (definitely yes), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Cordina et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant COVID-19 knowledge, accessing COVID-19 news and information, engaging in preventative behaviour, vaccine efficacy, importance of family and friends. opinion of the vaccine, health worker status, chronic health condition status, gender, education, flu jab status, opinion on giving the vaccine to children and opinion on encouraging elderly patients to take the vaccine, value of healthcare professionals' advice regarding effectiveness of the vaccine was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.236737, p < 0.0005] whereby as value of healthcare

professionals' advice regarding effectiveness of the vaccine increases, vaccine hesitancy increases such that those who value healthcare professionals' advice regarding effectiveness of the vaccine less are more hesitant.

Turkey, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 3,888 Turkey residents, Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in medical professional organizations, measured on a scale of 1 (very low confidence) to 7 (very high confidence), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) at a hesitancy rate of 58.9% (1-5 on intention scale), using a cross-sectional survey design and linear regression.

Kuçukkarapinar et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant gender, education level, being a healthcare worker, having children, chronic illness, knowledge, self-efficacy, risk perception, conspiracy theories, COVID-19 worries, attitudes to COVID-19, coping, trust in Ministry of Health and trust in media and preventative measures, trust in medical professional organizations was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.068, p = 0.000] whereby as trust in medical professional organizations increased, vaccine acceptance increased such that respondents with lower trust in medical professional are more hesitant.

Multiple Countries, Rozek et al. (2021): In nationally representative (quota) samples (except for snowball sample from Russia) of 17 countries (Canada, United States, Germany, Poland, Russia, Sweden, Ukraine, China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Vietnam, Turkey) totalling 17,608 responses, Rozek et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in medical practitioners, measured as a categorical variable (high, medium, low, none), and vaccine hesitancy, measured as a categorical variable (yes, no, maybe) but recoded as a binary variable (yes vs. no/maybe) and at a hesitancy rate of 44% (no and maybe combined), using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression.

Rozek et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant confidence in local health department, confidence in the ministry of health, confidence in the WHO, age, trust in science, trust in religious leaders, trust in political leaders and gender, level of trust in medical practitioners was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy whereby respondents with high trust [OR = 0.25], medium trust [OR = 0.5] and low trust [OR = 0.75] were less likely to be vaccine hesitant than respondents with no trust of medical practitioners.

Overall, as trust in medical practitioners increases, the odds of vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with lower trust in medical practitioners are more hesitant.

Conclusions

Table 67: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As trust in medical professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As trust in medical professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	6 [10	00%]	0	6
Studies	6 [100%]	0	0	6
Region				
Europe	5 [100%]	0	0	5
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	6 [100%]	0	0	6

Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between trust in medical professionals and vaccine hesitancy, 100% [6 out of 6] found trust in medical professionals to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that trust in medical professionals is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Out of all studies, 100% [6 out of 6] found that as trust in medical professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and economies of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived vaccine safety and vaccine hesitancy are evident.

Region: Of studies conducted in European countries, 100% [5 out of 5] found that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant). As such, that it can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy in the context of North America [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of Asia [0 studies], Oceania [0 studies], South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 100% [5 out of 5] found that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy in the context of the Latin Europe [1 study] cultural group. There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [0 studies], Nordic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies], Southern Asia [0 studies], Confucian Asia [0 studies], Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies] and Middle East [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of studies conducted in high income countries, 100% [6 out of 6] found that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

There is no evidence to draw any conclusions about the relationship between trust in healthcare professionals and vaccine hesitancy in the contexts of upper middle income [0 studies], lower middle income [0 studies] and low income countries [0 studies].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION TRUST IN GOVERNMENT

6.3.6

Trust in government is the belief in the reliability and integrity of the government. It is most frequently measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale), but also as a categorical variable in terms of level of trust.

In total, six studies considered the relationship between trust in government and vaccine hesitancy. Of these, five found that trust in government was predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the five studies that found that trust in government was predictive of vaccine hesitancy, all five found that as trust in government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in government are more hesitant).

As trust in government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

Table 68: Studies evidencing that as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allington et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Soares et al. (2021)	Portugal	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
3	Yu et al. (2021)	Hong Kong	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
4	Allagoa et al. (2021)	Nigeria	Africa	Sub-Saharan Africa	Lower Middle Income
5	Lindholt et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			

United Kingdom, Allington et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 4,343 UK residents, Allington et al. (2021) examined the relationship between trust in government, measured as a great deal, a fair amount, not very much, not at all, don't know, and vaccine hesitancy, measured from 1 (definitely not) to 6 (certain), using a cross-sectional survey design, rank-order correlations and linear rank-order regression.

Using rank-order correlations, Allington et al. (2021) found that trust in government was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs =-0.17].

Using linear rank-order regression models, Allington et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant trust in medical professionals, trust in scientists working in universities and trust in the scientific community, trust in the government

was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.05, p < 0.001]. When also holding constant age, gender, ethnicity, education and household income, trust in the government was still negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy [rs = -0.05, p < 0.001]. When also holding constant legacy media use, social media use, personal risk perception, UK risk perception and world risk perception, trust in the government was not associated with vaccine hesitancy [p = 0.0071], suggesting that one or more of the new factors added to the model better accounted for variance in vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, trust in the government was negatively associated with vaccine hesitancy whereby as trust in the government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases such that respondents with low trust in the government are most hesitant.

Portugal, Soares et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,935 Portugal residents, Soares et al. (2021) examined the relationship between perception of the adequacy of measures implemented by the government, measured as a categorical variable (very adequate and adequate vs. not very adequate and not adequate), with vaccine intention (yes, wait, no) at a hesitancy rate of 65% (wait and no combined), using a cross-sectional survey design, descriptive statistics and multinomial logistic regression.

Using descriptive statistics, Soares et al. (2021) found that respondents who were vaccine resistant were more likely to perceive the adequacy of measures implemented by the government to not be adequate [46.6%] compared with respondents who were vaccine hesitant [4.93%] and respondents who were vaccine accepting [3.4%].

Using multinomial logistic regression, Soares et al. (2021) found that respondents who found the measures implemented by the government to be inadequate were more likely to be vaccine resistant vs. vaccine accepting [OR = 8.49, 95% CI 5.44-13.25] and vs. vaccine hesitant [OR = 6.04, 95% CI 3.93-9.3] compared with respondents who found the measures implemented by the government to be inadequate.

Overall, there is positive association between perception of the adequacy of measures implemented by the government and vaccine intention whereby as perception of the adequacy of measures implemented by the government increases, vaccine intention decreases such that those who perceive greater inadequacy are more resistant.

Hong Kong, Yu et al. (2021): In a random sample (subject to non-response bias) of 450 Chinese Hong Kong residents, Yu et al. (2021) examined the relationship between overall trust toward government, measured as a categorical variable (very strong mistrust/mistrust, neutral, trust/very strong trust, don't know), trust toward governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, measured as a categorical variable

(very strong mistrust/mistrust, neutral, trust/very strong trust), overall satisfaction with government (very strong dissatisfaction/dissatisfaction, neutral, satisfaction/very strong satisfaction, don't know) and vaccine intention, measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not) to 5 (definitely yes) and recoded as a binary variable, using a conjoint experimental design and logistic regression.

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about vaccines, descriptive norms, perceived impact of vaccine on controlling COVID-19, perceived duration of effectiveness of the vaccine, trust towards governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, and overall satisfaction with government, respondents who trusted the government were more likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who mistrusted the government [OR = 9.39, p < 0.01]. Respondents who were neutral in terms of trusting the government were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who mistrusted the government [p > 0.05].

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about vaccines, descriptive norms, perceived impact of vaccine on controlling COVID-19, perceived duration of effectiveness of the vaccine, overall trust toward government and overall satisfaction with government, respondents who trusted the government's measures in controlling COVID-19 were more likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who mistrusted the government's measures in controlling COVID-19 [OR = 11.97, p < 0.01]. Respondents who were neutral in terms of trusting the government's measures in controlling COVID-19 were not more or less likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who mistrusted the government's measures on controlling COVID-19 [p > 0.05].

Yu et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant frequency of exposure to positive social media messages about vaccines, descriptive norms, perceived impact of vaccine on controlling COVID-19, perceived duration of effectiveness of the vaccine, overall trust towards government and trust toward governmental measures in controlling COVID-19, respondents who were satisfied with the government were more likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who mistrusted the government's measures in controlling COVID-19 [OR = 17.43, p < 0.01]. Respondents who were neutral in terms of satisfaction with the government were more likely to accept the vaccine at the earliest opportunity than respondents who were dissatisfied the government [OR = 6.16, p < 0.05].

Overall, trust and satisfaction in the government is positively associated with accepting the vaccine at the

earliest opportunity whereby as trust and satisfaction increases, vaccine acceptance at the earliest opportunity increases such that those with less trust and satisfaction in the government are more hesitant.

Nigeria, Allagoa et al. (2021): In a convenience sample of 1,000 Nigeria residents, Allagoa et al. (2021) examined reasons for unwillingness to receive the vaccine, using a cross-sectional survey design.

Allagoa et al., (2021) found that lack of trust in government was the second most common reason [41.8%] for being unwilling to accept the vaccine.

Denmark, France, Germany, Hungary, Sweden, Italy, United Kingdom, United States, Lindholt et al. (2020): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 18,231 respondents from eight Western democracies, Lindholt et al. (2020) examined the relationship between trust in the government, measured on a scale of 1 (no confidence at all) to 10 (full confidence), and vaccine acceptance, measured on a scale of 1 (completely disagree that I would take a vaccine) to 5 (completely agree that I would take a vaccine), using a cross-sectional survey design and simple and multiple OLS regression.

Lindholt et al. (2020) found that the highest level of vaccine acceptance was in Denmark [83%], followed by the United Kingdom [73%], Sweden [61%], Germany [60%], Italy [60%] the United States [54%] and France (47%), and the lowest level of vaccine acceptance was in **Hungary [47%]**.

Using simple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that trust in the government was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.344, p < 0.001].

Using multiple OLS regression, Lindholt et al. (2020) found that, when holding constant trust in health authorities, trust in scientists, concern about democratic rights, support for protests, conspiracy beliefs, misinformation, ideology vote choice, fatigue, behaviour change, knowledge, sex, age, education, concern for you and your family, concern for hospitals, concern for society, concern for social unrest and crime, concern for the country's economy, support for restriction and interpersonal trust, trust in the government was positively associated with vaccine acceptance [B = 0.05, p < 0.05].

Overall, trust in the government was positively associated with vaccine acceptance whereby as trust in the government increases, vaccine acceptance increases such that respondents with low trust in the government are most hesitant.

Trust in government is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

Table 69: Studies evidencing that trust in government is not associated with vaccine hesitancy

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Jennings et al. (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Jennings et al. (2021): In a nationally representative (quota) sample of 1,476 of UK residents, Jennings et al. (2021) examined the relationship between government trust, mistrust and distrust, all measured on a scale of 1-5, and vaccine willingness, measured as a binary variable at a hesitancy rate of 29%, using a cross-sectional survey design and logistic regression. Predictors were rescaled to a range from 0-1 to allow direct comparison of effect sizes.

Jennings et al. (2021) found that, when holding constant social trust, health organizations trust, media trust, experts trust, government handling of COVID-19, perceived personal threat of COVID-19, lockdown scepticism, conspiracy beliefs, vaccine distrust, COVID-19 misinformed, had COVID-19, gender, age, education, support for Conservative Party, information sources, social media use, having fact-checked an article online and having

posted political content online, government mistrust was negatively associated with vaccine willingness [OR = 0.349, p < 0.05], whereby as mistrust increases, vaccine willingness decreases, but government trust and distrust were not associated with vaccine willingness [p > 0.05].

Overall, there is inconsistent evidence of an association between government trust-related variables and vaccine willingness.

Conclusions

Table 70: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As trust in government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [n, %]	As trust in government increases, vaccine hesitancy increases [n, %]		
Studies	5 [8	3%]	1 [17%]	6
Studies	6 [83%]	0	1 [17%]	6
Region				
Europe	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
North America	0	0	0	0
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3

Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	2	0	0	2
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between trust in the government and vaccine hesitancy, 83% [5 out of 6] found trust in the government to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that trust in the government is predictive of vaccine hesitancy. Of the five studies that found trust in the government to be predictive of vaccine hesitancy, 100% of studies [5 out of 5] found that as trust in the government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less trust in the government are more hesitant), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when trust in the government is predictive of vaccine hesitancy, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 83% of studies [5 out of 6] found that as trust in government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases (i.e., those with less trust in the government are more hesitant), such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as trust in the government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, no further associations between trust in government and vaccine hesitancy can be made due to insufficient evidence.

CONCLUSIONS

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Age

Younger age groups are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [55 per cent of studies; 26 out of 47].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [71 per cent of studies, 17 out of 24].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Germanic Europe cultural group, as age increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Latin American cultural group, age is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Gender/Sex

Females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [69 per cent of studies, 31 out of 45].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [100 per cent of studies, 7 out of 7].

Education

The relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive.

Overall, the relationship between education and vaccine hesitancy is inconclusive [47 per cent of studies, 16 out of 34 found that education is not predictive; 41 per cent of studies, 14 out of 34 found that as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in African countries, as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group countries, as education level increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

It can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, education is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income

People with lower income are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [57 per cent of studies, 12 out of 21].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [71 per cent of studies, 5 out of 7].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as income increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [77 per cent of studies, 10 out of 13].

Ethnicity/Race

Members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to be vaccine hesitant [65 per cent of studies, 11 out of 17].

Marital status

Unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [63 per cent of studies, 5 out of 8].

Living area

Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [62 per cent of studies, 5 out of 8].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, living area is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Having children

Whether someone has children or not is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that having children is not associated vaccine hesitancy [50 per cent of studies, 5 out of 10].

COVID-19 infection

Previously having had COVID-19 is not associated with vaccine hesitancy.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated vaccine hesitancy [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, having previously had a COVID-19 infection is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Capability (psychological)

COVID-19 knowledge

People with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [73 per cent of studies, 8 out of 11].

Social media

Users of social media for COVID-19 information are most likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that users of social media for COVID-19 information are most likely to be vaccine hesitant [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Capability (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review with regard to physical capability.

Opportunity (social)

Political ideology

Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [70 per cent of studies, 7 out of 10].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [71 per cent of studies, 5 out of 7].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant [78 per cent of studies, 7 out of 9].

Opportunity (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review with regard to physical opportunity.

Motivation (reflective

Perceived vaccine safety

People who perceive the vaccine to be less safe or to cause side effects are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 16 out of 16].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6], Asian [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5] and European countries [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4], as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 7 out of 7].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as perceived vaccine safety increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 13 out of 13].

Perceived vaccine efficacy

People who perceive the vaccine to be less effective are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as perceived vaccine efficacy increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Perceived vulnerability

People who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [79 per cent of studies, 11 out of 14].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4] and European countries [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases.

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5 studies].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as perceived vulnerability increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [73 per cent of studies, 8 out of 11].

Perceived susceptibility

People who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that, overall, as perceived susceptibility increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Middle East cultural group countries, perceived susceptibility is not associated with vaccine hesitancy [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Trust in healthcare professionals

Those who have less trust in healthcare professionals are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in European countries, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries of the Anglo cultural group, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, as trust in healthcare professionals increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6].

Trust in government

Those who have less trust in the government are more likely to be vaccine hesitant.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as trust in the government increases, vaccine hesitancy decreases [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Motivation (automatic)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review with regard to automatic motivation.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS



TARGETING THOSE MORE LIKELY TO DELAY OR REFUSE VACCINATION



Age

Support younger age groups to receive the COVID-19 vaccine

Policy makers, particularly in European countries and countries belonging to the Germanic Europe and Latin Europe cultural groups, should support younger age groups to receive the COVID-19 vaccine.

Further research is required to understand why younger ager groups are more likely to be vaccine hesitant so to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support their vaccine uptake. As part of this review, only two studies shed any light on potential mechanisms of vaccine hesitancy. Using correlations between predictors, Allington et al. (2021) found that age was negatively associated with informational use of social media, which, in turn, was positively associated with conspiracy suspicions. Using a linear regression model stratified by age group (under 50 years old vs. 50 years old and above), Hammer et al. (2021) found that only the younger age group were less likely to accept the vaccine when they have previously been infected, more likely to accept the vaccine with a recommendation from a healthcare professional and require it to be easy it to get a vaccine.

Environmental restructuring

Health services should present easy and convenient opportunities to receive a COVID-19 vaccine. For example, the NHS in the UK is using pop-up vaccination sites near young people's most common work, study and leisure locations.

Enablement

Also, smoothing out the registration process for an appointment makes it easier to get a vaccine. For example, the NHS in the UK is making it easier to book and cancel appointments online.

Incentivization

However, financial incentives should be used with caution. There is currently no evidence to support effectiveness of lottery-based incentives in the United States (9)

Sex/gender

Support females to receive the COVID-19 vaccine

In many contexts, but especially in Middle East and Nordic Europe cultural group countries, policy makers should support females to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. Further research is required to understand why females are more likely to be vaccine hesitant to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support their vaccine uptake.

For example, females may be concerned that the COVID-19 vaccine poses a threat to fertility or that the vaccine should not be taken during pregnancy or when breast feeding, related to uncertainty at the start of the vaccine roll out when there was not enough data to be as conclusive about the safety of the vaccine for pregnant women and breast feeding women.

Communication

Doctors and midwives should assure pregnant and breast feeding women of the safety of the vaccine based upon the extensive data that are now available.

Research has not confirmed that having COVID-19 during pregnancy carries a far higher risk than having the vaccine. Stock et al. (2022) (10) found pre-term births, stillbirths and newborn deaths were more common among women who had COVID-19 28 days, or less, before their delivery date.

Income

Support low income people and households to receive the COVID-19 vaccine

Policy makers, especially in European and Anglo cultural group countries, should support low income people and households to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. Further research is required to understand why low income people and households are more likely to be vaccine hesitant as to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support their vaccine uptake. For example, they may not have the resources (e.g., time, transport, childcare) to access the vaccine, therefore the vaccine should be taken to them, e.g., as pop-up vaccination centres in areas of greater deprivation.

Race/Ethnicity

Support Black communities to receive the COVID-19 vaccine

In countries of the Anglo cultural group, policy makers should support Black communities to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. Further research is required to understand why Black communities are more likely to be vaccine hesitant (e.g., lack of trust due to previous abuses of the Black community) so as to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support their vaccine uptake.

Marital status

Support unmarried people to receive the COVID-19 vaccine

Policy makers should seek support for unmarried people to receive the COVID-19 vaccine once efforts to target other groups more definitively established as hesitant have been made Further research is required to understand why unmarried people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant in order to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support their vaccine uptake.

Education

No need to target groups on the basis of education

Only in Africa and the Sub-Saharan Africa cultural group was there evidence that less educated people are more likely to be vaccine hesitant. Overall, policy makers should not target lower educated people with interventions and policies to support vaccine uptake.

In an African context, further research is required to understand why less educated people are more vaccine hesitant so as to inform interventions and policies.

Living area

No need to target groups on basis of living area

Living area was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, so policy makers should not target specific support to rural or urban dwellers.

Having children

No need to target groups on basis of having children

Having children was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, so policy makers should not target specific support to those with children or without children.

COVID-19 infection

No need to consider previous infection in policy and interventions

Having previously had a COVID-19 infection was not associated with vaccine hesitancy, such that policymakers need not consider the psychology associated with having previously been infected with COVID-19 (which offers much less immunity to COVID-19 than the vaccine) in the design of policies and interventions.

IMPROVING PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY



COVID-19 knowledge

Increase COVID-19 knowledge and reduce acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories

Increasing COVID-19 knowledge and reducing acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories would reduce vaccine hesitancy.

Regulation

Continued regulation of COVID-19 conspiracy theories on social media and other channels can help to limit the spread of information that is eroding COVID-19 knowledge.

Education

However, a more sustainable approach is empowering people to be able to think critically about information, and therefore be able to distinguish fact from fiction. Schools should place an emphasis on teaching critical thinking, rather than attempting the futile task of converting vaccine-resistant people who are invested in conspiracy theories.

Communication

Changing highly engrained beliefs in the short term is unlikely. Rather, there is a need to engage with the themes of power, personal freedom, agency, citizen against state and loss of traditional lifestyle, which anti-vax conspiracy theories revolve around and are now being extended to the climate change challenge. Such engagement can be undertaken in schools and universities, and town hall meetings.

Social media

Reduce reliance on social media for COVID-19 information

There is no evidence that using social media is associated with vaccine hesitancy, but when users rely primarily on social media for COVID-19 information, they are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, which can be explained by a greater belief in conspiracy theories about COVID-19.

Regulation

Further to policy implications for COVID-19 knowledge, continued regulation of fake COVID-19 news on social media can help to limit the broadcasting of COVID-19 conspiracy theories. However, mega media corporations labelling pseudoscience as misleading may only support the beliefs of conspiracy theorists. Also, regulating the information shared in groups, such as WhatsApp groups, is much more of a challenge and is where most fake news and conspiracy theories are spread.

IMPROVING SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY



Political ideology

Depoliticize the vaccine, avoid mandates and diversify pro-vaccine messengers

That political ideology is predictive of vaccine hesitancy suggests a need to depoliticise vaccine hesitancy.

Regulation

Governments mandating vaccines serves to strengthen the political divide and should be avoided wherever possible, with focus instead being on building trust and addressing concerns related to receiving the vaccine.

Communication and modelling

There is a need to diversify the messengers, using non-political figures to promote pro-vaccine messages. Also, given that right wing and conservative voters are more likely to be vaccine hesitant, right wing and conservative leaders (especially when not in government) should be involved in promoting pro-vaccine messages.

IMPROVING REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION



Perceived vaccine safety

Communicate real-world safety data in a meaningful context

Policy makers, in particular those in North America, Asia, Europe, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries, should address perceived lack of vaccine safety and the risks of side effects as a barrier to vaccine acceptance.

Communication

Transparent communication of trial and real-world data, focusing not just on the efficacy data, but also the safety data, is required for confidence in vaccine safety. Safety data should be put into context so that they can be more meaningful, such as providing comparable data on blood clot risk from the vaccine, versus COVID-19 itself or birth control pills, or even calculating the risk of hospitalization and death from a COVID-19 vaccine and comparing this with the risk of hospitalization and death from undertaking a car journey.

Perceived vaccine efficacy

Communicate real-world efficacy data for transmission, hospitalizations and deaths when adhering to an appropriate vaccine schedule

Policy makers, in particular those in high income countries, should address perceived lack of vaccine efficacy as a barrier to vaccine acceptance.

Communication

Timely communication about effectiveness of vaccines against new COVID-19 variants is critical to maintain confidence in the efficacy of vaccines so that, even where efficacy in transmission drops, the efficacy of the vaccines in limiting transmission and the spread of the virus is understood and that, even where efficacy in limiting transmission decreases, that efficacy in limiting hospitalizations and deaths remains very high. Furthermore, communication of efficacy data should also consider efficacy of number of doses and boosters and how long protection can be expected to last for before it starts to wane, in order to build confidence in the vaccines when an appropriate vaccine schedule is followed. Real-world data, rather than trial data, should be used wherever possible to ensure communications are more meaningful.

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19

Challenge beliefs of invulnerability

Policy makers, in particular those in North America, Europe, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries, should address perceived invulnerability as a barrier to vaccine acceptance.

Coercion

Communicate risks to groups who do not perceive themselves to be vulnerable to COVID-19, with a focus on different risk profiles dependent upon vaccination status, publicize hospital occupancy rates for different age groups segmented by vaccination status. This will help reframe personal risk assessment to be about the risk of not receiving the vaccine, rather than about the risk of catching COVID-19. For example, in the first half of 2021 in the United Kingdom, for every one death from COVID-19 in the vaccinated population, there were nearly 200 deaths from COVID-19 in the unvaccinated population.

Modelling

Deliver messages via age-appropriate and relevant people who previously considered themselves to be invulnerable until they were infected.

Trust in healthcare professionals

Understand historical reasons for lack of trust as a foundation to rebuild trust and diversify messengers

Policy makers, especially those in Europe, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries, should address low trust in healthcare professionals as a barrier to vaccine acceptance.

Understand, rather than blame

Research is required to understand why different groups have a lack of trust in healthcare professionals as a foundation from which trust can be rebuilt. For example, do certain groups face or have certain groups faced unethical and medical treatment in the past from healthcare professionals? For example, for 40 years in the United States from 1932, the Tuskegee Syphilis Study was an experiment conducted on a group of African American men without their knowledge to see what would happen if their syphilis was left untreated, despite an effective drug (penicillin) being available, resulting in many preventable deaths. More recently, Black Africans have been used to trial experimental drugs, such as in 1996 when 11 Nigerian children died and were left dozens disabled after an experimental meningitis drug was tested on them. This history may lead groups who are being prioritized to receive a vaccine due to age, health conditions and occupation to believe that they are again being used as guinea pigs for experimental drugs.

Modelling

Policymakers should seek to understand community hierarchies and local patterns of trust to diversify the messengers and deliver messages via age-appropriate, relevant and trusted people known to each target group (11). In an experiment by Martin and Sherrington (2021) (11), adverts featuring nurses who had rejected the jab but then changed their mind were shown to care home workers, producing a 93 per cent acceptance rate (compared with the 80 per cent typically found in major UK centres).

Trust in government

Policymakers should address low trust in the government as a barrier to vaccine acceptance

Modelling

State-level research is required to understand if and why trust in a government is a barrier to vaccine acceptance to serve as a foundation from which to rebuild trust. For example, the United Kingdom government lost the trust of many of the British public by not adhering to the same protective rules they were asking the British public to adhere to, in a series of parties that were illegal at the time and which have since been investigated by the police. Governments should model the behaviour that they also expect from their public, including receiving vaccines and engaging in other protective behaviours. Also, if a government is perceived to not accurately be reporting cases and deaths of COVID-19, it may be difficult to trust them with regard to a vaccine. Governments should be transparent and honest during a public health emergency to maintain trust.

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19

No need to factor perceived susceptibility into policy and interventions design

Although there is some evidence that perceived susceptibility is positively associated with vaccine hesitancy, the relationship is not conclusive, such that policy makers should focus on other factors to support vaccine uptake. This may be because the perceived chance of being infected with COVID-19 is distinct from the perceived risk of being harmed by COVID-19, and for many, being infected with COVID-19 can be mild or even asymptomatic. As variants become more contagious, such as the omicron variant, variability in perceived susceptibility will decrease.

REFERENCES



REA references

Agley, J., et al., 'Factors associated with reported likelihood to get vaccinated for COVID-19 in a nationally representative US survey', Public Health, 27 May 2021, 196:91–4.

Allagoa, D.O., et al., 'Predictors of acceptance of Covid-19 vaccine among patients at a tertiary hospital in South-South Nigeria', International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health, 27 April 2021, 8(5):2165–72.

Allen, J.D., et al., 'Factors associated with the intention to obtain a COVID-19 vaccine among a racially/ethnically diverse sample of women in the USA', Translational Behavioral Medicine, 26 March 2021, 11(3):785–92.

Allington, D., et al., 'Coronavirus conspiracy suspicions, general vaccine attitudes, trust and coronavirus information source as predictors of vaccine hesitancy among UK residents during the COVID-19

Pandemic', Psychological Medicine, 12 April 2021 (epub ahead of print), 12:1–12.

Alobaidi, S., 'Predictors of intent to receive the COVID-19 vaccination among the population in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: A survey study', Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare, 18 May 2021, 14:1119–28.

Al-Qerem, W.A. and Jarab, A.S., 'COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and its associated factors among a Middle Eastern population', Frontiers in Public Health, 10 February 2021, 9:632914.

Bendau, A., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and related fears and anxiety', International Immunopharmacology, 27 April 2021 (epub ahead of print), 97:107724.

Benis, A., Seidmann, A. and Ashkenazi, S., 'Reasons for taking the COVID-19 vaccine by US social media users', Vaccines, 29 March 2021, 9(4):315.

Butter, S., et al., 'Psychological, social, and situational factors associated with COVID-19 vaccination intentions: A study of UK key workers and non-key workers', British Journal of Health Psychology, 5 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 27(1):13–29.

Caserotti, M., et al., 'Associations of COVID-19 risk perception with vaccine hesitancy over time for Italian residents', Social Science and Medicine, 7 January 2021 (epub ahead of print), 272:113688.

Chu, H. and Liu, S., 'Integrating health behavior theories to predict American's intention to receive a COVID-19 vaccine', Patient Education and Counseling, 17 February 2021 (epub ahead of print), 104(8):1878–86.

Coe, A.B., et al., 'Perceptions and predictors of intention to receive the COVID-19 vaccine', Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, 1 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 18(4):2593–99.

Cordina, M. and Lauri, M.A., 'Attitudes towards COVID-19 vaccination, vaccine hesitancy and intention to take the vaccine', Pharmacy Practice (Granada), 21 March 2021, 19(1):2317.

Dorman, C., et al., 'Factors associated with willingness to be vaccinated against COVID-19 in a large convenience sample', Journal of Community Health, 9 April 2021 (epub ahead of print), 46(5):1013–19.

Echoru, I., et al., 'Sociodemographic factors associated with acceptance of COVID-19 vaccine and clinical trials in Uganda: a cross-sectional study in western Uganda', BMC Public Health, 10 June 2021, 21(1):1106.

Edwards, B., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and resistance: Correlates in a nationally representative longitudinal survey of the Australian population', PLoS ONE, 24 March 2021, 16(3):e0248892.

Freeman, D., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in the UK: the Oxford coronavirus explanations, attitudes, and narratives survey (Oceans) II', Psychological Medicine, 11 December 2020, 1–15.

Goruntla, N., et al., 'Predictors of acceptance and willingness to pay for the COVID-19 vaccine in the general public of India: A health belief model approach', Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine, 30 July 2020 (epub ahead of print), 14(4):165–75.

Hammer, C.C., et al., 'High but slightly declining COVID-19 vaccine acceptance and reasons for vaccine

Acceptance, Finland April to December 2020', Epidemiology and Infection, 11 May 2021, 149:e123.

Huynh, H.P. and Senger, A.R., 'A little shot of humility: Intellectual humility predicts vaccination attitudes and intention to vaccinate against COVID-19', Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 12 February 2021 (epub. ahead of print), 51(4):449–60.

Jennings, W., et al., 'Lack of trust, conspiracy beliefs, and social media use predict COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy', Vaccines, 3 June 2021, 9(6):593.

Johnson, K.D., et al., 'Combatting a "Twin-demic": A quantitative assessment of COVID-19 and influenza vaccine hesitancy in primary care patients', Health Promotion Perspectives, May 2021, 11(2):179–185.

Kreps, S., et al., 'Factors associated with US adults' likelihood of accepting COVID-19 vaccination', JAMA Network Open, 20 October 2020, 3(10):e2025594.

Kuçukkarapinar, M., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and its relationship with illness risk perceptions, affect, worry, and public trust: An online serial cross-sectional survey from Turkey', Psychiatry and Clinical Pharmacology, April 2021, 31(1):98–109.

Kumar, R., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine acceptability, determinants of potential vaccination, and hesitancy in public: A call for effective health communication', Journal of Education and Health Promotion, 29 October 2021, 10:392.

Lamot, M., Krajnc, M.T. and Kirbiš, A., 'Demographic and socioeconomic characteristics, health status and political orientations as predictors of Covid-19 vaccine hesitancy among the Slovenian public', Druzboslovne Razprave, August 2020, 36:55–73.

Lazarus, J.V., et al., 'Hesitant or not? The association of age, gender, and education with potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine: A country-level analysis', Journal of Health Communication, October 2020, 25(10):799–807.

Lindholt, M.F., et al., 'Public acceptance of COVID-19 vaccines: cross-national evidence on levels

and individual-level predictors using observational data', BMJ Open, June 2021, 11(6):e048172.

Lockyer, B., et al., Bradford Institute for Health Research Covid-19 Scientific Advisory Group, 'Understanding COVID-19 misinformation and vaccine hesitancy in context: Findings from a qualitative study involving citizens in Bradford, UK', Health Expectations, 4 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 24(4):1158–67.

Mesesle, M., 'Awareness and attitude towards COVID-19 vaccination and associated factors in Ethiopia: Cross-sectional study', Infection and Drug Resistance, 14 June 2021, 14:2193–99.

Mir, H.H., et al., 'Using structural equation modeling to predict Indian people's attitudes and intentions towards COVID-19 vaccination', Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews, May 2021, 15(3):1017–22.

Montagni, I., et al., the CONFINS Group, 'Acceptance of a Covid-19 vaccine is associated with ability to detect fake news and health literacy', Journal of Public Health, 9 March 2021 (epub ahead of print), 43(4):695–702.

Mose, A. and Yeshaneh, A., 'COVID-19 vaccine acceptance and its associated factors among pregnant women attending antenatal care clinic in Southwest Ethiopia: Institutional-based cross-sectional study', International Journal of General Medicine, 8 June 2021, 14:2385–95.

Murphy, J., et al., 'Psychological characteristics associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and resistance in Ireland and the United Kingdom', Nature Communications, 4 January 2021, 12(29).

Nazlı, Ş.B., et al., 'Psychological factors affecting COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy', Irish Journal of Medical Science, (1971-), 14 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 191:71–80.

Park, S., Jung, J. and Larson, E.B., 'Preventable health behaviors, COVID-19 severity perceptions, and vaccine uptake in traditional Medicare and Medicare Advantage: A survey-based study', Journal of General Internal Medicine, 12 April 2021 (epub ahead of print), 36(6):1837–40.

Paul, K.T., Eberl, J-M. and Partheymüller, J., 'Policy-relevant attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination: Associations with demography, health risk, and social and political factors', Frontiers in Public Health, 6 July 2021, 9.

Rozek, L.S., et al., 'Understanding vaccine hesitancy in the context of COVID-19: The role of trust and confidence in a seventeen-country survey', International Journal of Public Health, 14 May 2021, 66.

Ruiz, J.B. and Bell, R.A., 'Predictors of intention to vaccinate against COVID-19: Results of a nationwide survey', Vaccine, 9 January 2021 (epub ahead of print), 39(7):1080–6.

Salali, G.D. and Uysal, M.S., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy is associated with beliefs on the origin of the novel coronavirus in the UK and Turkey', Psychological Medicine, 19 October 2020, 1–3.

Sallam, M., et al., 'High rates of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and its association with conspiracy beliefs: A study in Jordan and Kuwait among other Arab countries', Vaccines, 12 January 2021, 9(1):42.

Savoia, E., et al., 'Predictors of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy: Socio-demographics, co-morbidity, and past experience of racial discrimination', Vaccines, 9 July 2021, 9(7):767.

Schernhammer, E., et al., 'Correlates of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in Austria: Trust and the government', Journal of Public Health, March 2022, 44(1):e106–16.

Sethi, S., et al., 'The UPTAKE study: A cross-sectional survey examining the insights and beliefs of the UK population on COVID-19 vaccine uptake and hesitancy', BMJ Open, 15 June 2021, 11(6):e048856.

Sharun, K., et al., 'Covid-19 vaccine acceptance: Beliefs and barriers associated with vaccination among the general population in India', Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences, 31 October 2020, 8(Spl-1-SARS-CoV-2):s210–18.

Shih, S-F., et al., 'Vaccine hesitancy and rejection of a vaccine for the novel coronavirus in the United States', Frontiers in Immunology, 14 June 2021, 12:558270.

Soares, P., et al., 'Factors associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy', Vaccines, 22 March 2021, 9(3):300.

Tao, L., et al., 'Acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine and associated factors among pregnant women in China: A multi-center cross-sectional study based on health belief model', Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics, 14 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 17(8):2378–88.

Tavolacci, M.P., Dechelotte, P. and Ladner, J., 'COVID-19 vaccine acceptance, hesitancy, and resistancy among university students in France', Vaccines, 15 June 2021, 9(6):654.

Tsai, F-J., et al., 'Acceptability of COVID-19 vaccines and protective behavior among adults in Taiwan: Associations between risk perception and willingness to vaccinate against COVID-19', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 23 May 2021, 18(11):5579.

Urrunaga-Pastor, D., et al., 'Cross-sectional analysis of COVID-19 vaccine intention, perceptions and hesitancy across Latin America and the Caribbean', Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease, 16 April 2021 (epub ahead of print), 41:102059.

Wakefield, J.R.H. and Khauser, A., 'Doing it for us: Community identification predicts willingness to receive a COVID-19 vaccination via perceived sense of duty to the community', Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 25 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 31(5):603–14.

Willis, D.E., et al., 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy: Race/ethnicity, trust, and fear', Clinical and Translational Science, 2 July 2021 (epub ahead of print), 14(6):2200–7.

Wong, L.P., et al., 'The use of the health belief model to assess predictors of intent to receive the COVID-19 vaccine and willingness to pay', Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics, 30 July 2020 (epub ahead of print), 16(9):2204–14.

Yu, Y., et al., 'Understanding the prevalence and associated factors of behavioral intention of COVID-19 vaccination under specific scenarios combining effectiveness, safety, and cost in the Hong Kong Chinese general population', International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 18 January 2021 (epub ahead of print), 11(7):1090–1101.

Zampetakis, L.A. and Melas, C., 'The health belief model predicts vaccination intentions against COVID-19: A survey experiment approach' Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 26 February 2021 (epub ahead of print), 13(2):469–84.

Document references

- 1. Aschwanden, C., 'Five reasons why COVID herd immunity is probably impossible', Nature, 18 March 2021, 591(7851):520–2.
- 2. Lazarus, J.V., et al., 'A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine', Nature Medicine, 20 October 2020 (epub ahead of print), 27(2):225–8.
- 3. UK Health Security Agency, Vaccinations in United Kingdom, 27 January 2022, https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/vaccinations, accessed 27 January 2022.
- 4. Roxby, P., 'Covid: Sajid Javid concern over admissions in older people', BBC News, 7 January 2022, <www.bbc.com/news/health-59909813>, accessed 7 January 2022.
- 5. MacDonald, N.E., Sage Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy, 'Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants', Vaccine, 17 April 2015 (epub ahead of print), 33(34):4161–4.
- 6. Michie, S., van Stralen, M.M. and West, R., 'The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions', Implementation Science, 23 April 2011, 6:42.
- 7. UK Department for International Development. Assessing the strength of evidence, March 2014, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291982/HTN-strength-evidence-march2014.pdf, accessed 1 June 2021
- 8. House, R.J., et al., editors, 'Culture, Leadership, and Organizations: The GLOBE Study of 62 Societies', Sage Publications, July 2004.
- 9. Walkey, A.J., Law, A. and Bosch, N.A., 'Lottery-based incentive in Ohio and COVID-19 vaccination rates', JAMA, 2 July 2021, 326(8):766–7.
- 10. Stock, S.J., et al., 'SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 vaccination rates in pregnant women in Scotland', Nature Medicine, 13 January 2022 (epub ahead of print), 28(3):504–12.
- 11. Martin, S. and Sherrington, B., 'How One British Isle Persuaded Its Citizens to Get Vaccinated', Harvard Business Review, 4 June 2021, https://hbr.org/2021/06/how-one-british-isle-persuaded-its-citizens-to-get-vaccinated, accessed 12 February 2022.

for every child, answers

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani 58 50121 Florence, Italy Tel: +39 055 2033 0 Fax: +39 055 2033 220 researchpublications@unicef.org www.unicef-irc.org @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and YouTube



PREDICTORS OF SOCIAL DISTANCING TO PREVENT THE COMMUNITY SPREAD OF SARS-COV-2:

Who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context?

A Rapid Evidence Assessment

January 2023



UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight tackles the questions of greatest importance for children, both current and emerging. It drives change through research and foresight on a wide range of child rights issues, sparking global discourse and actively engaging young people in its work.

UNICEF Innocenti equips thought leaders and decision-makers with the evidence they need to build a better, safer world for children. The office undertakes research on unresolved and emerging issues, using primary and secondary data that represent the voices of children and families themselves. It uses foresight to set the agenda for children, including horizon scanning, trends analysis and scenario development. The office produces a diverse and dynamic library of high-level reports, analyses and policy papers, and provides a platform for debate and advocacy on a wide range of child rights issues.

UNICEF Innocenti provides, for every child, answers to their most pressing concerns.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of UNICEF. This paper has been peer reviewed both externally and within UNICEF.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to utilize larger portions or the full publication should be addressed to the Communications Unit at: researchpublications@unicef.org.

Any part of this publication may be freely reproduced if accompanied by the following citation: Predictors of Social Distancing to Prevent the Community Spread of SARS-CoV-2: Who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context? A Rapid Evidence Assessment, London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre. UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight, Florence, 2022.

This research was commissioned and funded by UNICEF and undertaken by London Metropolitan University's Performance with Purpose Research Centre.

London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre

London Metropolitan University's Centre for Performance with Purpose is located within the Guildhall School of Business and Law. The Centre focuses on research that addresses real societal challenges, such as inclusion, social value and equity, and applies business and management techniques to support effective organizational performance in tackling social problems. The research team was led by Dr. Stephen Hills and included Dr. Justin Webb, Dr. Anna Baker, Dr. Somayeh Pouransari and Alexandros Semertzi. For more information please visit: https://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research-centre/

UNICEF Europe and Central Asia

UNICEF works with and for disadvantaged children and adolescents across 22 countries and territories in Europe and Central Asia where we have country programmes. We also have programmes to respond to the needs of refugee and migrant women and children in the Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland and Slovakia, as well as engagement with institutions across many more countries to uphold the rights of children. In line with our mandate, shaped by the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), we work to ensure that no child is left out of economic and social progress.

Correspondence should be addressed to:

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani, 58 50121 Florence, Italy

Tel: (+39) 055 20 330/Fax: (+39) 055 2033 220

researchpublications@unicef.org

www.unicef-irc.org

- @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and Youtube
- © 2023 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Graphic design by Mason Riley, London Metropolitan University

CONTENTS

01 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
02 INTRODUCTION	8
03 METHODOLOGY	10
04 EVIDENCE	16
05 WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	21
5.1 Demographics	22
5.1.1 Age	22
5.1.2 Sex/gender	30
5.1.3 Education	38
5.1.4 Income	45
5.1.5 Race/ethnicity	51
5.1.6 Marital status	56
5.1.7 Living area	60
5.1.8 Essential worker status	64
06 WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	69
6.1 Psychological capability	70
6.1.1 Mental health	70
6.1.2 COVID-19 knowledge	76
6.1.3 Social media	81
6.2 Social opportunity	85
6.2.1 Perceived social normative pressure	85
6.2.2 Political Ideology	90
6.3 Reflective motivation	95
6.3.1 Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19	95
6.3.2 Perceived behavioral control	100
6.3.3 Behavioural intention	105
6.3.4 Trust in government	109
07 CONCLUSIONS	113
7.1 Who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and in what context?	114
7.2 Why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and in what context?	117
08 POLICY IMPLICATIONS	120
8.1 Targeting those more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures	121
8.2 Improving psychological capability	124
8.3 Improving social opportunity	126
8.4 Improving reflective motivation	128
09 REFERENCES	130

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines being available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to variations in vaccine uptake, global inequities in vaccine access and the emergence of new variants. Therefore, NPIs, including social distancing and even lockdowns, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

Research questions

- Who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?
- 3. In what context are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model proposes that there are three components which play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change it. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing it, have the physical and social opportunity to perform it and the motivation to perform it such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing ones.

Methodology

A systematic search of the literature was undertaken to identify empirical research in journal articles written in

English, published up to and including 30 June 2021, which investigated factors associated with social distancing adherence to limit the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Keywords and search strings were designed and tested to capture this focus and a systematic search was undertaken in PubMed Central, Web of Science and Google Scholar, which returned 561 studies about social distancing nonadherence. The returned articles underwent title, abstract and full text screening against the inclusion and exclusion criteria before a quality appraisal determined the final list of 29 unique studies to be included in this rapid evidence assessment. These studies underwent thematic analysis to establish the factors associated with social distancing non-adherence before the evidence was segmented by region, cultural groups and income of countries to establish the contexts in which the factors were predictive of social distancing non-adherence, using the COM-B model as a theoretical framework.

Who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and in what context?

Age: Younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures: [59 per cent of studies; 13 out of 22], as particularly evident in North American [78 per cent of studies, 7 out of 9] and Anglo cultural group [77 per cent of studies, 10 out of 13] countries.

Sex/gender: The relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [52 per cent of studies, 11 out of 21 found that sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence; 48 per cent of studies, 10 out of 21 found that males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures].

Education: Level of education is not associated with social distancing adherence [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

Income: Amount of income is not associated with social distancing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8],

as particularly evident in North American [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5], Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8] and high-income [78 per cent of studies, 7 out of 9] countries.

Race/ethnicity: Race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence [71 per cent of studies, 5 out of 7], as particularly evident in Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8] and high-income [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8] countries.

Marital status: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between marital status and social distancing adherence.

Living area: Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with social distancing adherence [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Essential worker status: Essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], as particularly evident in Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] and high-income [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] countries.

Why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and in what context?

Psychological capability: Our psychological capability to perform a behaviour.

Mental health: The relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [38 per cent of studies, 3 out of 8 found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures; 38 per cent of studies, 3 out of 8 found that mental health was not associated with not adhering to social distancing measures].

COVID-19 knowledge: People with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5], as particularly evident in high-income countries [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Social media: Users of social media for COVID-19 information are most likely to be vaccine hesitant [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Social opportunity: External social opportunities required to make performing a behaviour possible, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions.

Perceived social normative pressure: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship

between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence.

Political ideology: Right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5], as particularly evident in North American [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5] and high-income [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5] countries.

Reflective motivation: The reflective and internal processes by which we evaluate existing situations, influencing our decision-making and thus behaviours.

Perceived susceptibility: The relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 4 out of 8 found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases; 50 per cent of studies, 4 out of 8 found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence increases].

Perceived behavioural control: Those who perceive themselves to have less control over their social distancing are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5], as particularly evident in high-income [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6] countries.

Behavioural intention: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between behavioural intention and social distancing adherence.

Trust in government: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between trust in government and social distancing adherence.

Policy implications

Support younger age groups to socially distance: Further research is required to understand why younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures. For example, younger age groups may feel less vulnerable to COVID-19 and have greater fear of missing out, such that they are more inclined to risk catching the virus.

Support essential workers to socially distance: Essential workers are required to continue their work in person when other workers are either not required to work or are able to work from home, so are less able to socially distance. Restructuring of essential workers' work environment and training on how to limit social contact should be undertaken to support them to socially distance.

Increase COVID-19 knowledge and reduce acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories: Continued regulation of

COVID-19 conspiracy theories on social media and other channels can help to limit the spread of information that is eroding COVID-19 knowledge. However, a more sustainable approach is empowering people to be able to think critically about information, so as to be able to distinguish fact from fiction. Schools should place an emphasis on teaching critical thinking. Social marketing campaigns should be used to educate populations on how to maintain social distancing and to highlight the evidence of its effectiveness in limiting the spread of SARS-CoV-2, using quality information presented by reliable and respected sources.

Depoliticize COVID-19 and diversify messengers promoting protective measures: Lockdown measures and removal of freedoms serve to strengthen the political divide and should be avoided wherever possible. Messengers should be diversified, using non-political figures and right-wing and conservative leaders to promote the importance of social distancing.

Increase behavioural control by providing space and choice to enable work and essential services: Where possible, require that employers provide their employees with the option of working from home. Restrict the number of people permitted to access certain locations, so that there remains space for people to have control over their social distancing; ensure capacity of delivery services for essential goods, such as groceries and medicine, so that people can control their need to be out in public; and provide environmental cues, such as signs and visual markers on the floor, use barriers to separate people and implement one-way systems to increase capability to socially distance.

INTRODUCTION



Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines having been available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to variations in vaccine uptake, global inequities in vaccine access (1) and the emergence of new variants (2). Therefore, NPIs, including social distancing and even lockdowns, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

This rapid evidence assessment (REA) seeks to understand and synthesize the existing evidence about who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context. It focuses on non-adherence, rather than adherence, so to be able to inform policies and interventions for those that require support to socially distance.

This report forms part of a larger evidence assessment to investigate non-pharmacological interventions (NPIs) or behavioural interventions to prevent the community spread of SARS-CoV-2, namely the delay or refusal of vaccination, mask wearing and self-isolation.

Research questions

- 1. Who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?
- 3. In what context are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model (3) was used as a conceptual framework for this REA. It proposes that there are three components which play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change it. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, such as the behaviour of social distancing, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing it, have the physical and social opportunity to perform it and the motivation to perform it such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing ones, such as not adhering with social distancing measures.

- Capability: Our abilities to perform a behaviour, including psychological capability, such as knowledge, and physical capability.
- Opportunity: External factors required to make performing a behaviour possible, including physical opportunities, such as being able to access a location, having the time and the resources, and social opportunities, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions. Furthermore, opportunities may include campaigns or interventions (e.g., advertizing campaigns) designed to encourage adherence.
- Motivation: Internal processes that influence our decision-making and thus behaviours, including reflective motivation, which covers the reflective processes whereby we evaluate existing situations, such as perceptions of the impact of the behaviour on oneself, and automatic motivation, such as desires and impulses.

METHODOLOGY



Systematic search

Inclusion criteria: The inclusion criteria are presented in Table 1 below. Only published academic journal articles are included in this REA, so that the evidence being rapidly assessed has first gone through the peer review process to pass an initial quality threshold. Only studies written in English are included, such that there may be relevant evidence published in non-English that is excluded in this review. Collection of evidence commenced on 30 June 2021, so any studies published after this date are excluded. This REA includes factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities, motivations, campaigns) associated with the non-adherence (or conversely the adherence) of social

distancing measures. Studies about efficacy of social distancing measures are excluded, but studies about the efficacy of campaigns to increase social distancing adherence are included, if available. Although there are pre-COVID-19 studies (e.g., SARS, Ebola, swine flu), in these contexts they are excluded and only ones in the context of COVID-19 are included. Study designs that are included are empirical research, whether quantitative or qualitative. Theoretical or conceptual studies are excluded, as are studies that lack explanation of the methodology used or which are secondary literature reviews (as opposed to systematic reviews or REAs). Systematic reviews or REAs are also excluded to avoid double review of studies included in the REA as independent studies.

Table 1: Inclusion criteria

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Publication format	Journal articles	Not journal articles
		Pre-Prints
Language	English	Not in English
Publication date	Up to and including 30 June 2021	Post 30 June 2021
Aim of study	Investigating factors associated with social distancing non-adherence (or conversely social distancing adherence) Efficacy of campaigns or interventions to tackle social distancing non-adherence	Not investigating factors associated with social distancing non-adherence (or conversely social distancing adherence) Efficacy of social distancing
Protective measure	Social/physical distancing	Not social/physical distancing

Virus	COVID-19	SARS Ebola Swine flu
		Not COVID-19
Study population	General population for a given territory Specific populations defined by demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age	Specific populations defined by factors other than demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age (e.g., hospital populations).
Study design	Empirical research (quantitative OR qualitative)	EITHER theoretical/conceptual OR lacking explanation of methodology OR secondary literature review OR systematic reviews OR REAs

Keywords and search strings: The following table provides a list of the keywords for the systematic search of studies via the study's title, abstract and key words. Three layers of keywords are utilised so to reflect the inclusion criteria.

Table 2: Covid vaccine hesitancy keywords

Keywords 1	Covid; coronavirus
Keywords 2	Social distanc* [distance/distancing]; physical distanc* [distance/distancing]
Keywords 3	Compl* [compliance/compliancy/comply/complied]; adher* [adherence/adherency/adhere/adhering/adhered]; follow* [following/followed]; rule* [rules]; guid* [guidelines/guided]; prevent* [preventative/preventing/prevented]; reason* [reasons]; associat* [associated/associations]; predict* [predictors/predicted]; expla* [explanatory/explained]; campaign* [campaigns]

The research team tested the keywords and search strings across the databases and found that they were effective at returning relevant evidence ahead of the full search commencing.

Databases: The research team undertook a comprehensive search of academic and open source databases, as listed in Table 3.

Table 3: List of databases searched

PubMed Central

Web of Science

Google Scholar

Screening

The following three-stage screening process was undertaken to determine the evidence to be included in the REA.

Title screening stage: The titles of studies returned by the systematic searches were screened for relevance using the inclusion criteria, and studies clearly not meeting the inclusion criteria, based upon the limited information available from a title, were excluded. Where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) in the next stage of screening.

Abstract screening stage: Of the remaining studies, their abstracts were next screened for relevance against the inclusion criteria, using the greater information available in an abstract such that it was possible to consider more of the inclusion criteria. Studies deemed not to meet the inclusion criteria were excluded. Again, where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) for the next stage of screening.

Full text screening stage: Of the remaining studies, they were read in full to determine if all inclusion criteria had been met and excluded if not. Where a member of the research team was unsure, a second member of the research team also read the full text. Both then discussed the study and came to a decision together on whether it should be included or excluded. The quality of a study was also appraised when reading the full text, considering guidance from the UK's Department for International Development (DFID, 4) on assessing the strengths of evidence.

Quality appraisal

According to DFID (4), judgement about a study's quality should be based upon a combination of criteria covering conceptual framing, transparency, appropriateness, cultural sensitivity, validity, reliability and cogency, as summarized and applied to this REA below:

Conceptual framing: The study should acknowledge existing research or theory, construct a conceptual or

theoretical framework setting out the study's assumptions and pose specific research questions or hypotheses.

Transparency: The study should be transparent about its design and methods, including data collection and analysis and research setting, such that results can be reproduced. Studies receiving funding from a party with vested interests are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Appropriateness: The study should use an appropriate research design to answer its research question or achieve its aim or objectives. The screening process will have included only studies investigating the factors associated with adherence of the included COVID-19 interventions. Experimental designs are most appropriate for establishing causal linkages between a treatment (e.g., campaign) and a dependent variable (e.g., adherence), but, other than campaigns, most factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities and motivations) can only be measured and observed as independent variables, rather than manipulated or randomly assigned. As such, associations are most appropriately measured using observational designs, such as regression ones, that measure the association between factors and adherence whilst controlling for confounding variables to protect against bias whereby an unmeasured and uncontrolled variable can result in a distortion in the measurement of an association between a factor and adherence. Qualitative studies are not appropriate for measuring associations, but they are included in this REA because rich qualitative data can provide valuable evidence in terms of detailing the mechanisms and processes by which a factor is associated with adherence. Studies using an inappropriate design are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Cultural sensitivity: The study should take steps to consider the local, socio-cultural factors that might affect the association between factors and adherence of social distancing measures (i.e., are confounding variables). This is particularly important in the context of campaigns as treatment variables, where a control condition, in which the setting (i.e., socio-cultural factors) is held constant, should be included as part of the design to isolate effect of a campaign from the setting in which it was implemented. Such measures are not possible when observing

independent variables, but a study could theoretically consider socio-cultural factors when they represent a potential bias

Validity: The study should take steps to ensure measurement validity, internal validity, external validity and ecological validity.

Measurement validity: The study should use indicators that are well suited to measure the target concept and which are valid in the research setting of the study. For example, using statements that measure the construct or variable of interest and using concrete facts (e.g., qualifications obtained to measure education), rather than abstract concepts where available.

Internal validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its evidence establishes a cause and effect relationship. The study should take steps to control for confounding variables, which is possible in both experimental and observational designs. Furthermore, the study should take steps to consider reverse causality; the possibility that the supposed independent variable and supposed dependent variable are operating in reverse such that the supposed dependent variable is causing the supposed independent variable. For example, perceived susceptibility has been conceived as an independent variable in relation to the dependent variable of social distancing adherence, but equally, an individual's social distancing adherence can just as plausibly be an independent variable in relation to perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, i.e., 'I am not adhering with social distancing measures so I am more susceptible to infection'. An experimental design removes the possibility of reverse causality because the sequence of cause and effect can be observed following implementation of a treatment. However, reverse causality is a potential problem in observational research and where this is a risk it should be considered theoretically, i.e., provide an explanation based upon what we know about the variables to make a claim that one is causing the other.

External validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its findings are likely to be generalizable and replicable across other contexts. Quantitative studies should take steps to construct a representative sample of the population of interest, such as using a sampling frame, randomly selecting responsive units from that sampling frame so that no units are systematically excluded, and collecting a sufficient sample size for appropriate margin of error and confidence level.

Ecological validity: The study should take steps to capture or accurately represent the real world by undertaking reflexivity to consider how much the activity of doing the research biased the research findings. For example, asking questions about legal adherence with measures in a way

and in a context that captures the truth, rather than the socially desirable response.

Reliability: The study should take steps to ensure stability, internal reliability and analytical reliability.

Stability: The study should take steps to ensure that measures being used work consistently (i.e., results are stable under the same conditions), for example, by ensuring researchers are consistent in the way questions are asked and data gathered.

Internal reliability: The study should take steps to ensure internal consistency between different components of a measure. For example, Cronbach's Alpha can be used to measure the internal consistency of items comprising a scale and items from scales or variables removed from studies where internal consistency thresholds are not met.

Analytical reliability: The study should take steps to ensure that dramatically different results from the same set of data by different researchers or analytical steps being used are avoided. For example, using multiple researchers and using a coding scheme in thematic analysis.

Cogency: The study should provide a clear, logical thread that runs throughout the manuscript, linking conceptual frameworks to data collection, data analysis and conclusions, only making claims supported by the data and findings. Furthermore, the study should consider alternative explanations and interpretations of the data and findings and be self-critical such that limitations of the study are identified.

Where a member of the research team was unsure whether to include or exclude on the basis of quality, a second member of the research team undertook a quality appraisal of the study before both discussed to jointly reach a decision on inclusion or exclusion.

Data analysis and synthesis

Predictors: Next, using NVivo software, open coding was undertaken to identify predictors of social distancing adherence. Once all studies had been coded for predictors, lists of studies containing each predictor were established. At this point, predictors were reviewed to identify predictors of equivalent meaning but different labelling and these collapsed to form a single predictor. For example, it was decided that knowledge and belief in conspiracy theories were equivalent predictors.

Predictor-specific study summaries: Next, predictor-specific summaries of each study were written, identifying the study's context (e.g., United Kingdom residents), sampling method (e.g., convenience sample), how it defined and measured the predictor, how it defined (e.g., social distancing or physical distancing) and measured (e.g.,

binary variable; adherent or not) the outcome variable, the study design (e.g., cross-sectional survey design) and data analysis method (e.g., logistic regression). Next, a summary of the evidence relevant to the predictor of interest was written, which may have been quantitative or qualitative. Where the quantitative analysis was simple (e.g., Chi-square with a single independent variable), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., percentage differences and statistical significance), but where it was multiple (e.g., multiple logistic regression) the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., odds ratio and statistical significance) when holding other variables constant. Finally, a conclusion was drawn as to the overall finding of the study in terms of the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable.

This may have been identifying a category (e.g., males were most likely to not adhere to social distancing measures) where the outcome variable was most prevalent, whether a numerical association was positive (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering with social distancing measures increases), negative (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering with social distancing measures decreases), non-linear or nonsignificant (e.g., there was no association between age and social distancing adherence). Where there was conflicting evidence within a single study, the strength of the conflicting evidence was weighed up to determine an overall finding. For example, if the vast majority of categories of a predictor were not significantly associated with an outcome variable, then that study would be deemed to be evidence that the predictor was not associated with the outcome variable.

Themes by finding: Next, the predictor-specific study summaries were thematically analysed on the basis of their findings. For example, studies were grouped on the basis of a positive association, negative association, non-linear association or no association.

Data synthesis: To draw conclusions for each predictor, frequencies of studies for each theme were counted and percentages calculated. This was done first at the level of predictive vs non-predictive whereby, for example, studies finding statistically significant associations, regardless of the direction of the association, were grouped and counted and compared against all studies that did not find a statistically significant association between a predictor and outcome variable.

Next, this synthesis was undertaken at the granular level of themes, breaking predictive studies down into their different findings (e.g., positive association, negative association, non-linear association and no association). Where a category made up 70 per cent or above of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of high

confidence about the relationship and where a category made up 60–69 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a confident conclusion about the relationship. Where a category made up 50–59 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of some confidence about the relationship, unless another category also made up 50 per cent of the evidence, in which case the evidence was deemed inconclusive. Equally, if no categories made up at least 50 per cent of the evidence it was deemed inconclusive.

Context segmentation: To address the question of 'in what contexts are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' evidence was segmented on the basis of (i) region, (ii) cultural group and (iii) income, as determined by the country in which the study was conducted. Region segments used were Europe, North America, Asia, Oceania, South America and Africa. Cultural group segments used were Anglo, Germanic Europe, Nordic Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin Europe, Latin America, Southern Asia, Confucian Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East, as defined by House et al. (5). Income segments used were high income, upper middle income, lower middle income and low income, as defined by the World Bank. The above data synthesis approach was followed at the level of each segment. Where there were fewer than four studies in a segment, it was deemed that this was insufficient evidence by which to draw conclusions about the relationship between a predictor and outcome variable.

Themes by conceptual framework: Demographic predictors were identified so to answer the 'who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' question. The remaining predictors were then organised within the COM-B model conceptual framework in terms of psychological capability (e.g., knowledge), physical capability (e.g., physical strength), physical opportunity (e.g., time, location and resources), social opportunity (e.g., cultural norms and social cues), reflective motivation (e.g., reflections and motivations) and automatic motivation (e.g., desires, impulses and inhibitions) to answer the 'why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' question.

EVIDENCE



Systematic search and screening results

The systematic search returned 561 studies about social distancing (221 from Web of Science, 220 from Google Scholar and 120 from PubMed). After duplicates were removed on Zotero software, the number of studies decreased to 283.

Title screening stage: Of the 283 unique studies returned from the systematic search, 174 were excluded at the title screening stage:

 174 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with social distancing adherence.

Abstract screening stage: Of the 109 studies remaining after the title screening stage, 73 were excluded at the abstract screening stage:

 73 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with social distancing adherence.

Full text screening and quality appraisal stage: Of the 36 studies remaining after the abstract screening stage, 7 were excluded at the full text screening and quality appraisal stage:

- One study was excluded for being about too specific a population
- Four were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring relevant outcomes.
- Two were excluded for not being relevant: reporting non-individual data.

Overview of vaccine hesitancy evidence

The final list of social distancing evidence to be reviewed consisted of 29 studies, a summary of which is in table 4:

Table 4: Summary of studies included in REA

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al.(2020)	Kuwait, United States & South Korea	Asia & North America	Middle East, Anglo & Confucian Asia	High Income
2	Allcot et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Alotaibi et al. (2020)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
4	Beeckman et al. (2020)	Belgium	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
5	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Christner et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
7	Coroiu et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated	North America & Europe	Anglo	High Income
8	Ebrahimi et al. (2021)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
9	Einberger et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo and Middle East	High Income and Upper Middle Income
10	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
11	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
12	Gratz et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
13	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
14	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
15	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia & United States	Oceania & North America	Anglo	High Income
16	Hills & Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
17	Kaspar (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
18	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
19	Megreya et al. (2021)	Qatar	Asia	Anglo	High Income
20	Norton et al. (2021)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
21	Pedersen & Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
22	Qazi et al. (2020)	Pakistan	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income

23	Seiter & Curran (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
24	Sturman et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
25	Tabernero et al. (2020)	Spain	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
26	Taylor et al. (2020)	Canada & United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
27	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
28	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
29	Zhang & Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle income

Region: Evidence was reviewed from four regions of the world, the majority from North America [38 per cent] and Europe [24 per cent]. There was no evidence from South America or Africa.

Cultural group: Evidence was reviewed from several cultural groups of the world, but dominated by evidence from the Anglo cultural group [62 per cent]. There was no evidence from the Eastern Europe, Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa cultural groups.

Income: The vast majority of evidence reviewed was from high-income countries [90 per cent]. There was no evidence from low-income ones.

Study design: All studies [100 per cent] followed a cross-sectional survey research design, which lends itself well to measuring factors associated with social distancing non-adherence.

Table 5: Studies by region, cultural group, income category and study design

	Number	%
Region		
Europe	7	24%
North America	11	38%
Asia	5	17%
Oceania	3	10%
South America	0	0%
Africa	0	0%
Multi-regional	3	10%
Cultural group		
Anglo	18	62%
Germanic Europe	4	14%
Nordic Europe	1	3%

Eastern Europe	0	0%
Latin Europe	1	3%
Latin America	0	0%
Southern Asia	1	3%
Confucian Asia	2	7%
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0%
Middle East	1	3%
Multi-cultural group	1	3%
Income		
High Income	26	90%
Upper Middle Income	2	7%
Lower Middle Income	1	3%
Low Income	0	0%
Multi-incomes	0	0%
Study design		
Cross-sectional	29	100%
Conjoint experiment	0	0%
Qualitative	0	0%
Total	29	100%

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



DEMOGRAPHICS AGE

5.1.1

Age is the number of years since an individual was born. The evidence reviewed measured it as either discrete numerical data (i.e., the exact age in years of a respondent) or as a categorical variable (i.e., the age range group that a respondent's age corresponds to).

In total, 22 studies considered the association between age and social distancing adherence. Of these, 14 found that age was predictive of social distancing adherence and eight found that age was not predictive. Of the 14 studies that found age was predictive of social distancing adherence, 13 found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence increases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures) and 1 study found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., older age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures).

As age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 6: Studies evidencing that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Coroiu et al. (2020)	Multiple countr	ies aggregated	Anglo	High Income
3	Ebrahimi et al. (2021)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
4	Einberger et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
8	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Megreya et al. (2021)	Qatar	Asia	Middle East	High Income
11	Pedersen and Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
12	Tabernero et al. (2020)	Spain	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
13	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income

United States, Bourassa et al. (2020): Bourassa et al. (2020) explored GPS-derived movement behaviours with social distancing measured by remaining within 1 mile of home and people driving fewer miles per day. This was done across 2,858 counties in the United States. Modelling was conducted accounting for demographic characteristics but also exploring the role of health behaviours in adherence behaviours. Regression analysis by county and state level was conducted. Adults aged over 65 years of age were more likely to remain at home (=0.08; [0.03, 0.14]) and travel a shorter distance (=0.07, [0.02, 0.13]) than adults aged under 65 years of age.

Multiple English-speaking countries, Coroiu et al. (2020): Coroiu et al. (2020) carried out an online cross-sectional study with 2,013 participants completing measures for socio-demographic characteristics, psychological constructs, including motivations to engage in social distancing, prosocial attitudes, distress and social distancing behaviours. Social distancing was measured for the following behaviours: working remotely; avoiding contact outside of the household; avoiding socializing in person; keeping a safe distance of at least 2 metres; and avoiding leaving the home except for essential shopping. Adults aged 65 years and older were more likely to be adherent of avoiding socializing in person (90 per cent compared with 68.7 per cent) and keeping a safe distance (88.8 per cent compared with 48.9 per cent) than 18-24 year olds. Logistic regression was used to explore the impact of factors on adherence to social distancing. Adults aged 65 years and older were more likely to avoid socializing in person (=2.55; [1.32, 4.95]) and to keep a safe distance (=6.77; [3.65, 12.57]) than 18-24 year olds.

Norway, Ebrahimi et al. (2021): Ebrahimi et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 10,061 adults in Norway to explore social distancing and mental health. A proportional sample of adults across Norwegian regions was included. Adherence was assessed on reported adherence to government guidelines. Younger adults were found to be less adherent than older adults for social distancing guidelines.

United States, Einberger et al. (2021): Einberger et al. (2021) explored the relationship between adherence and alcohol consumption in a sample of young adults. They carried out a cross-sectional survey of 560 young adults (aged 22–28) with adherence to guidelines as the indicator of social distancing behaviours. Self-report measures were used to identify strong adherers and poor adherers. Logistic regression was carried out to explore the difference between them. Older adults were significantly (OR=1.16, [1.05, 1.29], p < 0.01) more likely to be strong adherers than younger adults.

United States, Fridman et al. (2020): Fridman et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey (n=1,243), using a stratified recruitment procedure by US region

and demographics. Outcome variables included trust in information sources about COVID-19, frequency of accessing information, knowledge of COVID-19 and adherence to social distancing measures. Age was found to have a significant association with adherence to social distancing (=0.02, p < 0.001), with older age associated with greater adherence.

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing. Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate and logistic regression was carried out to explore associates and predictors. Spearman's correlation showed that participants who were younger (r=0.48, p < 0.001) reported less adherence. This was supported with the logistic regression including socio-demographic and health factors showing being 70 years or older (OR=1.98, p<0.01) predicted greater adherence, and age was independently associated with the addition of psychological factors (OR=1.66, p<0.05) and also with the fully adjusted model with distress and loneliness added (OR=1.67, p<0.05) in predicting reported adherence.

New Zealand, Gray et al. (2021): Gray et al. (2021) explored social distancing among other measures during lockdown requirements in New Zealand with a total sample of 2,407 participants. The survey included collection of demographic information, household composition, experience of symptoms and contact with COVID-19 cases. Respondents were also asked about their views towards measures implemented to slow the spread of infection, adherence to preventative measures and factors having an influence on the ability to practise physical distancing. Logistic regression analysis explored social distancing difficulties with a sample size of 740 participants who had visited a place in the past 7 days. 15–34 year olds (OR=2.08, p < 0.05) and 35–54 years (OR=1.32, p < 0.05) were more likely to find social distancing hard than those aged 55 and over.

Australia and United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7

days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including socio-demographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. Age was significantly positively correlated with current (Australia: r=0.135, p<0.01; United States: r=0.078, p<0.05) social distancing behaviour and past behaviour (Australia: r=0.130, p<0.01; United States: r=1.64, p<0.001).

United States, Masters et al. (2020): Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations in a convenience sample of 800 people. The sample included Baby Boomers (56-74 years old, born 1946-1964), GenX (people 40-55 years old, born 1965-1980), Millennials (people 24-39 years old, born 1981-1996) and GenZ (people 8–23 years old, born 1997–2012, although only people >18 years were included in the analysis). Using multivariable regression models, Masters et al. (2020) found that there was a slight increase in the proportion who were social distancing as age increased. The marginal mean proportion who reported social distancing was 62.2 per cent (95 per cent CI: 53.4 per cent, 70.3 per cent) among GenZ, 62.2 per cent (95 per cent CI: 53.4 per cent, 70.3 per cent) among Millennials, 64.9 per cent (95 per cent CI: 55.9 per cent, 73.0 per cent) among GenX and 72.9 per cent (95 per cent CI: 64.0 per cent, 80.4 per cent) among Baby Boomers. Therefore, the results of the present study suggesting that older participants are more accepting of social distancing show the relationship between age and social distancing.

Qatar, Megreya et al. (2021): Megreya et al. (2021) examined the associations between demographic variables (i.e., gender, age, marital and working status, having a family member or a friend infected with COVID-19) and acceptance of social distancing procedure as well as quality of life during the peak of the pandemic and related lockdown in a convenience sample of 280. Pearson correlation coefficients were used to examine the correlations between the demographic variables mentioned above, and the acceptance of social distancing. Social distancing was correlated positively with age (r (278)=0.26, p<0.001) as older people were more likely to adhere to social distancing. Furthermore, except for a negative correlation between social relation of quality of life domain and age, no relationship was found between quality of life and demographic characteristics.

United States, Pedersen & Favero (2020): Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people see themselves maintaining social distancing in a representative sample of 1,449 people. Using ordinary least squares regression, they found that older people (>45 years) are more likely to be associated "indirectly" with social distancing adherence (=4.02, p<0.05; =3.83, p<0.05).

Spain, Tabernero et al. (2020): Tabernero et al. (2020) investigated the psychosocial factors associated with the performance of both physical distancing adherence and self-interested consumption behaviours carried out during the first 10 days of confinement in Spain in 1,324 people. Pearson correlation coefficient analysis found that age showed a positive and significant correlation as older adults were more likely to adhere to the regulations on COVID-19 (r=0.10, p<0.001), maintaining more than a 1 metre distance from others (r=0.06, p<0.05).

Germany, Tomczyk et al. (2020): Tomczyk et al. (2020) investigated social distancing adherence and age in a community sample of 157 German adults. Multinomial logistic regression was used to predict adherence patterns by socio-demographic data and psychological factors (stigmatizing attitudes, risk perception and subjective knowledge). The results showed that low social distancing adherence was associated with younger age groups (=0.72, [0.57, 0.93]).

As age increases, social distancing non-adherence increases

Table 7: Studies evidencing that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence increases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Christner et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income

Germany, Christner et al. (2020): Christner et al. (2020) explored psychological and social factors related to social distancing. An online survey of 246 participants was carried out to look at the role of moral judgement, moral identity, empathy, fear of infection and fear of punishment alongside democratic factors. Univariate analysis using

correlations as well as regression analysis explored individual and combined effect with other variables. Age was found to be significantly associated with lower social distancing (β =-0.13, p<0.05). This remained with the inclusion of other psychological factors (β =-0.13, [-0.01, -0.00]). As age increased social distancing was reduced.

Age is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 8: Studies evidencing that age is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			High Income
2	Alotaibi et al. (2020)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
3	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
4	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
5	Kaspar (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
6	Taylor et al. (2020)	Canada and United States aggregated	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Zhang and Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

Kuwait, South Korea and United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020): Al-Hasan et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home). Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence.

Univariate and multivariate analysis showed a non-significant relationship between age and adherence levels with the age groups 18–27 years (n=192, 37.3 per cent), 28–37 years (n=150, 29.1 per cent), 38–47 years (n=70, 13.6 per cent), 48–57 years (n=43, 8.4 per cent) and 58 years or older (n=60, 11.7 per cent) represented.

Saudi Arabia, Alotaibi et al. (2020): Alotaibi et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional survey across central regions of Saudi Arabia during Ramadan. A total of 1,515 participants took part in the survey. Measures of social distancing included not attending gatherings, keeping a safe distance, not making physical contact and staying at home during partial lockdown. There were no differences found between age groups in any social distancing behaviours.

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. There was no significant association with age and social distancing adherence.

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore the independent relationships between factors, with age being non-significant. Further, there was no statistically significant multivariate association (p>0.05) between age and the outcome variable of intentional non-adherence to social distancing rules.

Germany, Kaspar (2020): Kaspar (2020) conducted an examination of four aspects relating to COVID protection which included motivation for social distancing, using a contact tracing app, providing infection status to a contact tracing app and using a Data Donation app. Here, results for motivation for social distancing are explored as a representation of social distancing behaviour. A mix of demographic and psychological factors including severity, vulnerability, rewards self-efficacy, response efficacy, response costs and trust were included in multiple regression analysis for motivation for social distancing (R2=0.547, p<0.001). Age was not related to motivation to socially distance.

Canada and United States, Taylor et al. (2020): In a sample of 6,854 people, Taylor et al. (2020) investigated over- and under-responses, along with measures of distress, excessive avoidance and non-adherence to social distancing. Over-response beliefs were examined by scales measuring beliefs about the level of danger of COVID-19 (personal health and socio-economic threats) and COVID-19-related xenophobia (beliefs that foreigners are spreading the virus). Using regression analysis, Taylor et al. (2020) found that age was not a predictor for social distancing adherence.

United States, Xie et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 850 people, Xie et al. (2020) examined the association of working memory and social distancing including demographic characteristics. Other covariates, such as age, gender, education, income level, depressed mood, anxious feelings, personality and fluid intelligence were treated as background confounders. Using mediation analysis, Xie et al. (2020) examined working memory as a predictor to social distancing, and found that age did not have a significant impact on the relationships between variables.

China, Zhang and Zhou (2021): Zhang and Zhou (2021) examined the association of people's perceived risk of COVID-19 and their psychological stress; risk beliefs with regard to being outside; and safeguarding behaviours for being outside under the shock of epidemic in a representative sample of 189 people. Further, they explored the predictors for reporting concerns about COVID-19, social distancing and panic buying. They did not find age to be a predictor for social distancing.

Conclusions

Table 9: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As age increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	14 [64%]	8 [36%]	22
Studies	13 [59%]	1 [5%]	8 [36%]	22
Region				
Europe	3 [50%]	1 [17%]	2 [33%]	6
North America	7 [78%]	0	2 [22%]	9
Asia	1 [20%]	0	4 [80%]	5
Oceania	2 [100%]	0	0	2
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	10 [77%]	0	3 [23%]	13
Germanic Europe	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Nordic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Income				
High Income	13 [65%]	1 [5%]	6 [30%]	20
Upper Middle Income	0	0	2 [100%]	2

Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between age and social distancing adherence, 64 per cent [14 out of 22] found age to be predictive, such that it can be confidently concluded that age is predictive of social distancing adherence. Of the 14 studies that found this, 93 per cent [13 out of 14] found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when age is predictive of social distancing adherence, as age increases, social distancing nonadherence decreases. Out of all studies, only 59 per cent [13 out of 22] found that as age increases, social distancing nonadherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that, overall, it can be concluded only with some confidence that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between age and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: A relationship between age and social distancing adherence was not evident in an Asian context: 80 per cent of studies [4 out of 5] found that age was not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in Asia, age is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Out of studies conducted on countries in North America, 78 per cent [7 out of 9] found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

Out of studies conducted on countries in Europe, 50 per cent [3 out of 6] found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in European countries, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence in the context of Oceania [2 studies].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence

in the contexts of South America [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 77 per cent [10 out of 13] found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Anglo cultural group, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [3 studies], Confucian Asia [2 studies], Middle East [2 studies], Nordic Europe [1 study] and Latin Europe [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence in the contexts of the Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin America [0 studies], Southern Asia [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Out of studies conducted on high-income countries, 65 per cent of studies [13 out of 20] found that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures), such that it can be confidently concluded that in high- income countries, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence in the context of upper middle-income countries [2 studies].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between age and social distancing adherence in the context of lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS SEX/GENDER

5.1.2

Sex is the biological characteristics and gender is the socially constructed characteristics of males, females and other categories. In the evidence reviewed sex and gender were most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., male vs female), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., other).

In total, 21 studies considered the association between sex/gender and social distancing adherence. Of these, 10 found that sex/gender was predictive of social distancing adherence and 11 found that it was not. Of the 10 studies that found sex/gender was predictive of social distancing adherence, all 10 found that males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures than females.

Males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

Table 10: Studies evidencing that males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Alotaibi et al. (2020)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
2	Coroiu et al. (2020)	Multiple counti	ies aggregated	Anglo	High Income
3	Ebrahimi et al. (2021)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
4	Einberger et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
7	Pedersen and Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
9	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Zhang and Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

Saudi Arabia, Alotaibi et al. (2020): Alotaibi et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional survey across central regions of Saudi Arabia during Ramadan. A total of 1,515 participants took part in the survey. Measures of social distancing included not attending gatherings, keeping a safe distance, not making physical contact and staying at home during partial lockdown. Chi-square tests were used to explore differences between men and women, showing significant variations in not attending gatherings (p<0.001), keeping a safe distance (p<0.001), not making physical contact (p=0.002) and staying home during partial lockdown (p<0.001). Women reported greater commitment to not attending gatherings, keeping a safe distance and staying home during partial lockdown compared with men but lower commitment to not making physical contact. Overall rates of commitment were high in both groups for all social distancing behaviours.

Multiple English-speaking countries, Coroiu et al. (2020): Coroiu et al. (2020) carried out an online cross-sectional study with 2,013 participants completing measures for socio-demographic characteristics, psychological constructs, including motivations to engage in social distancing, prosocial attitudes, distress and social distancing behaviours. Social distancing was measured for the following behaviours: working remotely; avoiding contact outside of the household; avoiding socializing in person; keeping a safe distance of at least 2 metres; and avoiding leaving the home except for essential shopping.

Logistic regression was used to explore the impact of factors on adherence to social distancing. Participants classified as other gender had lower adherence rates compared with men for working remotely (=0.21, [0.06, 0.78]) and keeping a safe distance of at least 2 metres (=1.50, [1.11, 2.03]) but higher rates for avoiding socializing in person (=2.79, [0.87, 8.98]). Women were more adherent compared with men for avoiding socializing in person (=2.02, [1.45, 2.82]), keeping a safe distance (=1.50, [1.11, 2.03]) and avoiding leaving the home (=1.42, [1.05, 1.91]), but less adherent for working remotely (=0.84, [0.57, 1.25]).

Norway, Ebrahimi et al. (2021): Ebrahimi et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 10,061 adults in Norway to explore social distancing and mental health. A proportional sample of adults across Norwegian regions was included. Mental health was assessed using the GAD-7 (Spitzer et al., 2006) and PHQ-9 (Kroenke et al., 2001) measures to assess anxiety and depression. Adherence was assessed on reported adherence to government guidelines. Linear multiple regressions were used to explore predictors of depression, anxiety and adherence. For the purpose of this report, only analysis with adherence as the outcome will be discussed. Men reported lower adherence than women (=-0.589, p<0.001).

United States, Einberger et al. (2021): Einberger et al. (2021) explored the relationship between adherence and alcohol consumption in a sample of young adults. They carried out a cross-sectional survey of 560 young adults (aged 22–28) with adherence to guidelines as the indicator of social distancing behaviours. Self-report measures were used to identify strong adherers and poor adherers. Logistic regression was done to explore the difference between them. Women were more likely to be strong adherers compared with men (OR: 0.62, 0.42, 0.95; p<0.05).

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing. Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate and logistic regression was carried out to explore associates and predictors. Spearman's correlation showed that male participants (0.005, d=0.21) reported less adherence. The logistic regression including socio-demographic and health factors also found being female (OR: 1.58, p<0.001) was associated with greater reported adherence and was independently associated when including additional psychological factors (OR: 1.30, p<0.05) and within the fully adjusted model with distress and loneliness added (OR: 1.35, p<0.05).

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategy of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. Only gender was found to be a significant predictor of social distancing reporting among demographic factors, with women three times more likely than men to socially distance (OR: 3.12, p<0.05).

United States, Pedersen and Favero (2020): In a representative sample of 1,449 people, Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the observation of the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing. Using ordinary least squares regression, Pedersen and Favero (2020) found that regarding social distancing behaviour,

women report higher levels of adherence than men (r=5.37, p<0.01; r=4.60, p<0.01; r=2.91, p<0.01; r=3.03, p<0.01).

Germany, Tomczyk et al. (2020): In a community sample of 157 German adults, Tomczyk et al. (2020) investigated social distancing adherence and age. Tomczyk et al. (2020) used multinomial logistic regressions to predict adherence patterns by socio-demographic data and psychological factors (stigmatizing attitudes, risk perception and subjective knowledge). Males were significantly less likely to adhere to recommendations [relative risk ratio (RRR)=0.08 (0.01; 0.85)].

United States, Xie et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 850 people, Xie et al. (2020) examined the association of working memory and social distancing including demographic characteristics. Other covariates, such as age, gender, education, income level, depressed mood, anxious feelings, personality and fluid intelligence were treated as background confounders. Using mediation analysis, Xie et al. (2020) examined working memory as a predictor to social distancing and females showed more social distancing adherence (r=(552) 0.15, p<0.05).

China, Zhang and Zhou (2021): In a representative sample of 189 people, Zhang and Zhou (2021) examined the association of people's perceived risk of COVID-19 and their psychological stress; risk beliefs with regard to being outside; and safeguarding behaviours for being outside under the shock of epidemic. Further, they explored the predictors for reporting concerns about COVID-19, social distancing and panic buying. Zhang and Zhou (2021) used hierarchical regression to analyse the data. Gender was a significant predictor of reported social distancing by cancelling outings. Specifically, females were more likely to adhere to social distancing by cancelling outings (r=0.182, p<0.05; r=0.177, p<0.05; r=0.140, p<0.140). However, there were no differences for the other social distancing behaviours.

Sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 11: Studies evidencing that sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Multi	ple countries aggreç	gated	High Income
2	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Christner et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
4	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Southern Asia	High Income
5	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Latin Europe	High Income
6	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
8	Kaspar (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
9	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Megreya et al. (2021)	Qatar	Asia	Anglo	High Income
11	Taylor et al. (2020)	Canada & United States aggregated	North America	Anglo	High Income

Kuwait, South Korea, United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020): Al-Hasan at al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home).

Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence. Univariate and multivariate analysis showed a nonsignificant relationship between gender and adherence across the whole sample, and within countries.

United States, Bourassa et al. (2020): Bourassa et al. (2020) explored GPS-derived movement behaviours with social distancing measured by remaining within 1 mile of home and people driving fewer miles per day. This was done across 2,858 counties in the United States. Modelling was conducted accounting for demographic characteristics but also exploring the role of health behaviours in adherence behaviours. Regression analysis by county and state level was carried out. There were no gender differences found for either increase in the percentage remaining at home or decrease in vehicle miles travelled.

Germany, Christner et al. (2020): Christner et al. (2020) explored psychological and social factors related to social

distancing. An online survey of 246 participants was carried out to look at the role of moral judgement, moral identity, empathy, fear of infection and fear of punishment alongside democratic factors. There were no gender differences found with either univariate or regression analysis conducted.

United States, Fridman et al. (2020): Fridman et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey (n=1,243), using a stratified recruitment procedure by US region and demographics. Outcome variables included trust in information sources about COVID-19, frequency of accessing information, knowledge of COVID-19 and adherence to social distancing measures. Adherence was measured based on participants adhering to seven specific social distancing behaviours (to all social distancing behaviours if they responded). Overall, 32 per cent adhered to all seven behaviours. Trust was explored for government sources, private sources and social networking ones. Fridman et al. (2020) reported no association between gender and social distancing adherence although no statistical results were provided.

New Zealand, Gray et al. (2021): Gray et al. (2021) explored social distancing among other measures during lockdown requirements in New Zealand with a total sample of 2,407 participants. The survey included collection of demographic information, household composition, experience of symptoms and contact with COVID-19 cases. Respondents were also asked about their views towards measures implemented to slow the spread of infection, adherence to preventative measures and factors having an influence on the ability to practise physical distancing. Logistic regression analysis explored social distancing difficulties with a sample size of 740 participants who had visited a place in the past 7 days. There were no significant differences by gender.

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including socio-demographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. Gender was not significantly associated with current social distancing behaviour or past social distancing behaviour for either country.

United Kingdom, Hills & Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules

and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore the independent relationships between factors, with gender being non-significantly associated with social distancing rules. Further, there was no statistically significant multivariate association (p>0.05) between gender and the outcome variable of intentional non-adherence to social distancing rules

Germany, Kaspar (2020): Kaspar (2020) conducted an examination of four aspects relating to COVID protection which included motivation for social distancing, using a contact tracing app, providing infection status to a contact tracing app and using a Data Donation app. Here, results for motivation for social distancing will be explored as a representation of social distancing behaviour. A mix of demographic and psychological factors including severity, vulnerability, rewards self-efficacy, response efficacy, response costs and trust were included in multiple regression analysis for motivation for social distancing (R2=0.547, p<0.001). There was no association between gender and motivation to socially distance.

United States, Masters et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 713 people, Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations. Masters et al. (2020) used logistic regression to control for gender, as well as urbanicity, race/ethnicity, family income and political affiliation. There were no statistically significant differences in social distancing adherence by gender.

Qatar, Megreya et al. (2021): The aim of this study was to examine the associations between demographic variables (i.e., gender, age, marital and working status, having a family member or a friend infected with COVID-19) and acceptance of social distancing procedure as well as quality of life during the peak of the pandemic and related lockdown in a convenience sample of 280. Pearson correlation coefficients were used to examine the correlations between the demographic variables mentioned above, and the acceptance of social distancing. Pearson correlation coefficients showed no correlation between gender and social distancing adherence.

Canada & United States, Taylor et al. (2020): In a sample of 6,854 people, Taylor et al. (2020) investigated overand under-responses, along with measures of distress, excessive avoidance and non-adherence to social distancing. Over-response beliefs were examined by scales measuring beliefs about the level of danger of COVID-19 (personal health and socio-economic threats) and COVID-19-related xenophobia (beliefs that foreigners are spreading the virus). Using regression analysis, Taylor et al. (2020) found that gender was not a predictor for social distancing adherence.

Conclusions

Table 12: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]		Total
	Males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Females are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	
Studies	10 [4	48%]	11 [52%]	21
Studies	10 [48%]	0	11 [52%]	21
Region				
Europe	2 [40%]	0	3 [60%]	5
North America	4 [44%]	0	5 [56%]	9
Asia	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Oceania	0	0	1 [100%]	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	5 [36%]	0	9 [64%]	14
Germanic Europe	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
Nordic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [50%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	10 [45%]	0	12 [55%]	2

Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: The overall relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence is inconclusive: 48 per cent of studies [10 out of 21] found sex/gender to be predictive of social distancing adherence and 52 per cent of studies [11 out of 21] found that it is not, such that the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence is inconclusive. Of the 10 studies that found sex/gender to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [10 out of 10] found that males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when sex/gender is predictive of social distancing adherence, males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between sex/gender and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in Asian countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that males were more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Asian countries, males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Out of studies conducted in European countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be confidently concluded that in European countries, sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence.

Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 56 per cent [3 out of 5] found that sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in North American countries, sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence in the context of Oceania [1 study].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence in the contexts of South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted on Anglo cultural group countries, 64 per cent [9 out of 14] found that sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be confidently concluded that in Anglo

cultural group countries, sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [3 studies], Confucian Asian [2 studies], Nordic European [1 study] and Middle Eastern [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 55 per cent [12 out of 22] found that sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high-income countries sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS EDUCATION

5.1.3

Education is the process of learning. Education was measured in terms of the highest level of formal education achieved by respondents as a categorical, but ordered, variable from low (e.g., no formal qualifications) to high (e.g., doctoral degree).

In total, 13 studies considered the association between education and social distancing adherence. Of these, six found that education was predictive of social distancing adherence and 7 found that it was not associated with it. Of the six studies that found education was predictive of social distancing adherence, five found that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases and one found that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence increases.

As education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 13: Studies evidencing that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Alotaibi et al. (2020)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
2	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Coroiu et al. (2020)	Multiple counti	ries aggregated	Anglo	High Income
4	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Zhang and Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

Saudi Arabia, Alotaibi et al. (2020): Alotaibi et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional survey across central regions of Saudi Arabia during Ramadan. A total of 1,515 participants took part in the survey. Measures of social distancing included not attending gatherings, keeping a safe distance, not making physical contact and staying at home during partial lockdown. Chi-square tests were used to explore differences in educational levels with significant differences observed for not attending gatherings (p=0.002), not having meals with others (p=0.035) and staying at home during partial lockdown (p=0.005). Participants with a PhD were more likely to be committed to social distancing compared with the other groups.

United States, Bourassa et al. (2020): Bourassa et al. (2020) explored GPS-derived movement behaviours with social distancing measured by remaining within 1 mile of home and people driving fewer miles per day. This was done across 2,858 counties in the United States. Modelling was conducted accounting for demographic characteristics but also exploring the role of health behaviours in adherence behaviours. Regression analysis by county and state level was carried out. Results found that counties that were more educated were more likely to have an increase in the percentage of people remaining less than 1 mile from home (=0.23; 0.18, 0.27) and a decrease in vehicle miles travelled (=0.37, [0.31, 0.43]). The more educated the sample was the more likely they were to restrict movement.

Multiple English-speaking countries, Coroiu et al. (2020): Coroiu et al. (2020) carried out an online cross-sectional study with 2,013 participants completing measures for socio-demographic characteristics, psychological constructs, including motivations to engage in social distancing, prosocial attitudes, distress and social distancing behaviours. Social distancing was measured for the following behaviours: working remotely; avoiding contact outside of the household; avoiding socializing in person; keeping a safe distance of at least 2 metres; and avoiding leaving the home except for essential shopping. Logistic regression was used to explore the impact of factors on adherence to social distancing. Those who had a bachelor's degree were more adherent than those without for working remotely (=1.48, [1.06, 2.08]). There were no significant differences for the other social distancing behaviours.

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past

behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors on social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including socio-demographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. Educational level was not significantly associated with current or past social distancing in Australia but was found to be significant for both in the United States sample for current (r=0.08, p<0.05) and past behaviour (r=0.139, p<0.001).

China, Zhang and Zhou (2021): Zhang and Zhou (2021) examined the association of people's perceived risk of COVID-19 and their psychological stress; risk beliefs with regard to being outside; and safeguarding behaviours for being outside under the shock of epidemic in a representative sample of 189 people. Further, they explored the predictors for reporting concerns about COVID-19, social distancing and panic buying. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyse the data. Regarding demographic parameters, the variable of education was a key determinant in predicting reported concerns about COVID-19. Respondents' education group was significantly correlated with risk beliefs regarding being outside (r=-0.182, p<0.05), safeguarding behaviours for being outside (r=0.184, p<0.05) and reported social distancing by cancelling outings (r=0.190, p<0.01). They also found that respondents with a higher education level had a higher risk perception of COVID-19 (p<0.01) and a lower risk belief regarding being outside (p<0.05).

As education level increases, social distancing non-adherence increases

Table 14: Studies evidencing that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence increases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore independent relationships between factors.

When holding other factors constant, the odds of intentionally not adhering to social distancing rules are 66.8 per cent lower if a participant's highest qualification is a master's degree (OR=0.332), 69.3 per cent lower if a professional qualification (OR=0.307), 63.9 per cent lower if a bachelor's degree (OR=0.361) and 82.6 per cent lower if a vocational or work-related qualification (OR=0.174), than if a doctoral degree. In sum, as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence increases.

Education is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 15: Studies evidencing that education is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Ebrahimi et al. (2021)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
2	Einberger et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
4	Pedersen and Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Taylor et al. (2020)	Canada & United States aggregated	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
7	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Norway, Ebrahimi et al. (2021): Ebrahimi et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 10,061 adults in Norway to explore social distancing and mental health. A proportional sample of adults across Norwegian regions was included. Mental health was assessed using the GAD-7 (Spitzer et al., 2006) and PHQ-9 (Kroenke et al., 2001) measures to assess anxiety and depression. Adherence

was assessed on reported adherence to government guidelines. Linear multiple regressions were used to explore predictors of depression, anxiety and adherence. For the purpose of this report, only analysis with adherence as the outcome will be discussed. There were no significant differences based on educational level.

United States, Einberger et al. (2021): Einberger et al. (2021) explored the relationship between adherence and alcohol consumption in a sample of young adults. They carried out a cross-sectional survey of 560 young adults (aged 22–28) with adherence to guidelines as the indicator of social distancing behaviours. Self-report measures were used to identify strong adherers and poor adherers. Logistic regression was done to explore the difference between them. There were no differences based on those who were college students or not for adherence rating.

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. There were no educational variations in social distancing observed.

United States, Pedersen and Favero (2020): In a representative sample of 1,449 people, Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the observation of the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing. Using ordinary least squares regression, Pedersen and Favero (2020) found that education levels do not significantly predict social distancing outcomes in any of their models.

Canada, United States, Taylor et al. (2020): Taylor et al. (2020) investigated over- and under-responses, along with measures of distress, excessive avoidance and

non-adherence to social distancing in a sample of 6,854 people. Over-response beliefs were examined by scales which included the level of danger of COVID-19 (personal health and socio-economic threats) and COVID-19-related xenophobia (beliefs that foreigners are spreading the virus). The majority of participants had completed at least full or partial college education (79 per cent), followed by high school education (18 per cent) and no high school diploma (3 per cent). Taylor et al. (2020) used regression analysis and found that education level was not a significant predictor for social distancing.

Germany, Tomczyk et al. (2020): Tomczyk et al. (2020) investigated social distancing adherence and demographic factors in a German community sample of 157 German adults. Of the sample, 2.6 per cent had lower secondary education, 59 per cent had higher secondary education and 38.3 per cent had tertiary education. Multiple logistic regression was used to predict adherence patterns by socio-demographic data and psychological factors (stigmatizing attitudes, risk perception, preventive behaviour and subjective knowledge). Education level was not found to be associated with social distancing adherence.

United States, Xie et al. (2020): Xie et al. (2020) examined the association of working memory and social distancing including demographic characteristics in a convenience sample of 850 people. The covariates of age, gender, education, income level, depressed mood, anxious feelings, personality and fluid intelligence were treated as background confounders. Using mediation analysis, Xie et al. (2020) examined working memory as a predictor to social distancing. Social distancing adherence measure was not significantly correlated with education of the participants.

Conclusions

Table 16: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As education level increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]	[11, /0]	
Studies	6 [4	6%]	7 [54%]	13
Studies	5 [38%]	1 [8%]	7 [54%]	13
Region				
Europe	0	1 [33%]	2[67%]	3
North America	2 [33%]	0	4 [67%]	6
Asia	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	4 [44%]	1 [11%]	4 [44%]	9
Germanic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1[100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	4 [36%]	1 [9%]	6 [55%]	11

Upper Middle income	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Lower Middle income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between education and social distancing adherence, 54 per cent [7 out of 13] found education to be non-predictive, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that education is not associated with social distancing adherence. Of the six studies that found education to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 83 per cent [5 out of 6] found that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when education is predictive of social distancing adherence, as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between education and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 67 per cent [4 out of 6] found that education is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be confidently concluded that in North American countries, education is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of European [3 studies], Asian [3 studies] and Oceanian [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: There is inconclusive evidence about the association between education and social distancing adherence in Anglo cultural group countries: 44 per cent of studies [4 out of 9] found that as education level increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, but 44 per cent [4 out of 9] also found that education was not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Confucian Asian [2 studies], Germanic European [1 study], Nordic European [1 study] and Middle Eastern [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 55 per cent [6 out of 11] found that education was not associated with social distancing adherence such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high-income countries education is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the context of upper middle-income countries [2 studies].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS INCOME

5.1.4

Income is the regular money received by an individual through work, a pension, investments, benefits or other sources. Income was primarily measured as a categorical, but ordered, variable using different money ranges, differing in terms of unit of income (e.g., household income or individual income) and time frame of income (e.g., monthly or annual income).

In total, eight studies considered the association between income and social distancing adherence. Of these, two found that income was predictive of social distancing adherence and six found that income was not predictive of it. Of the two studies that found income was predictive of social distancing adherence, both found that as income increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are less adherent).

As income increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 17: Studies evidencing that as income increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Anglo	High Income

United States, Bourassa et al. (2020): Bourassa et al. (2020) explored GPS-derived movement behaviours with social distancing measured by remaining within 1 mile of home and people driving fewer miles per day. This was done across 2,858 counties in the United States. Modelling was conducted accounting for demographic characteristics but also exploring the role of health behaviours in adherence behaviours. Regression analysis by county and state level was carried out. Results found that counties with greater household income were more likely to have an increase in the percentage of people remaining less than 1 mile from home (=0.46, [0.39, 0.54]) and a decrease in vehicle miles travelled (=0.16, [0.11, 0.22]).

New Zealand, Gray et al. (2021): Gray et al. (2021) explored social distancing among other measures during lockdown

requirements in New Zealand with a total sample of 2,407 participants. The survey included collection of demographic information, household composition, experience of symptoms and contact with COVID-19 cases. Respondents were also asked about their views towards measures implemented to slow the spread of infection, adherence to preventative measures and factors having an influence on the ability to practise physical distancing. Logistic regression analysis explored social distancing difficulties with a sample size of 740 participants who had visited a place in the past 7 days. Deprivation was explored using the NZDep2013 quintile index with those in the most deprived groups (quintiles 3 and 4) more likely to find difficulties distancing compared with those from less deprived areas (OR: 1.75, p<0.05 and OR: 1.39, p<0.05).

Income is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 18: Studies evidencing income is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income	
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Multi	Multiple countries aggregated			
2	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High income	
3	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Australia Oceania		High income	
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income	
4	Hills & Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High income	
5	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High income	
6	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North American	Anglo	High income	

Kuwait, South Korea, United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020): Al-Hasan et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home). Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence. There was no association between household income and adherence to social distancing in any countries.

United States, Fridman et al. (2020): Fridman et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey (n=1,243), using a stratified recruitment procedure by US region and demographics. Outcome variables included trust in information sources about COVID-19, frequency of accessing information, knowledge of COVID-19 and adherence to social distancing measures. Adherence was measured based on participants adhering to seven specific social distancing behaviours (to all social distancing behaviours if they responded). Overall, 32 per cent adhered to all seven behaviours. Trust was explored for government sources, private sources and social networking ones. Fridman et al. (2020) reported no association between

income and social distancing adherence although no statistical results were provided.

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including socio-demographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. There were no differences in past or present social distancing behaviour based on income levels in either Australia or the United States.

United Kingdom, Hills & Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Logistic regression was used to explore predictors of social distancing

behaviours and intentional non-adherence by breaking social distancing rules. Results for both these outcomes found that deprivation was non-significantly associated (p>0.05).

United States, Masters et al. (2020): Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations in a convenience sample of 713 people. A multiple regression model was used which found that there were no statistically significant differences in social distancing behaviour by family income.

United States, Xie et al. (2020): Xie et al. (2020) examined the association of working memory and social distancing in a convenience sample of 850 people. Covariates, such as age, gender, education, income level, depressed mood, anxious feelings, personality and fluid intelligence were treated as background confounders. Using mediation analysis, they found that social distancing adherence measure was not significantly correlated with the income levels of the participants.

Conclusions

Table 19: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As income increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As income increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	2 [2	25%]	6 [75%]	8
Studies	2 [25%]	0	6 [75%]	8
Region				
Europe	0	0	1[100%]	1
North America	1 [20%]	0	4 [80%]	5
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [25%]	0	6 [75%]	8
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	2 [22%]	0	7 [78%]	9

Upper Middle income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between income and social distancing adherence, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found income to be non-predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that income is not associated with social distancing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between income and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that income is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, income is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between income and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Oceanian [2 studies] and European [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between income and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Asian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found that income is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo

cultural group countries, income is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between income and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 78 per cent [7 out of 9] found that income was not associated with social distancing adherence such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries income is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between income and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS RACE/ETHNICITY

5.1.5

Race is the physical traits an individual is born with and ethnicity is the cultural identification than an individual learns. Only races/ethnicities that were featured in multiple studies were considered, resulting in evidence purely from the Anglo cultural group. Race/ethnicity was most frequently measured as a categorical variable, but also as a binary variable (e.g., White vs. non-White).

In total, seven studies considered the association between race/ethnicity and social distancing adherence. Of these, two found that race/ethnicity was predictive of social distancing adherence and five found that race/ethnicity was not predictive of social distancing adherence.

Out of the studies that considered the association between ethnicity and social distancing, two out of seven [29 per cent] found ethnicity to be predictive of social distancing, although there was no conclusive pattern for individual ethnic groups.

Race/ethnicity is associated with social distancing adherence

Table 20: Studies evidencing that ethnicity is associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bourassa et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Pedersen & Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Bourassa et al. (2020): Bourassa et al. (2020) explored GPS-derived movement behaviours with social distancing measured by remaining within 1 mile of home and people driving fewer miles per day. This was done across 2,858 counties in the United States. Modelling was conducted accounting for demographic characteristics but also exploring the role of health behaviours in adherence behaviours. Regression analysis by county and state level was carried out. Results showed that counties with a lower percentage of non-Hispanic compared with Whites had higher identified adherence levels (β =-0.17, [-0.27, -0.07]) in terms of increase in the percentage remaining close to

home, although there were no ethnic differences in terms of decrease in vehicle miles travelled.

United States, Pedersen & Favero (2020): Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may explain variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing in a representative sample of 1,449 people. Using ordinary least squares regression, they found that ethnicity was a significant predictor for social distancing. Specifically, people of Black race were more like to adhere to social distancing (r=-5.31, p<0.05; r=-5.83, p<0.01; r=-3.74, p<0.05; r=2.90, p<0.05).

Race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 21: Studies evidencing that Race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
2	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Taylor et al. (2020)	Canada and United States aggregated	North America	Anglo	High Income

New Zealand, Gray et al. (2021): Gray et al. (2021) explored social distancing among other measures during lockdown requirements in New Zealand with a total sample of 2,407 participants. The survey included collection of demographic information, household composition, experience of symptoms and contact with COVID-19 cases. Respondents were also asked about their views towards measures implemented to slow the spread of infection, adherence to preventative measures and factors having an influence on the ability to practise physical distancing. Logistic regression analysis explored social distancing difficulties with a sample size of 740 participants who had visited a place in the past 7 days. There were no significant differences found between Maori and non-Maori ethnic groups.

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The

study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including socio-demographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. There were no ethnicity differences (Black, Caucasian/White, Asian or Middle Eastern) associated with current or past social distancing behaviour.

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was

measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore independent relationships between factors with ethnicity being non-significant. There was also no statistically significant multivariate association (p>0.05) between ethnicity and the outcome variable of intentional non-adherence of social distancing rules.

United States, Masters et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 713 people, Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations. Masters et al. (2020) used logistic regression to control for gender, as well

as urbanicity, race/ethnicity, family income and political affiliation. Masters et al. (2020) found that ethnicity was not a significant predictor for social distancing.

Canada, United States of America, Taylor et al. (2020): In a sample of 6,854 people, Taylor et al. (2020) investigated over- and under-responses, along with measures of distress, excessive avoidance and non-adherence to social distancing. Over-response beliefs were examined by scales which included the level of danger of COVID-19 (personal health and socio-economic threats) and COVID-19-related xenophobia (beliefs that foreigners are spreading the virus). Taylor et al. (2020) used multiple regression and found that ethnicity is not a significant predictor for social distancing.

Conclusions

Table 22: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
Studies	2 [29%]	5 [71%]	7
Region			
Europe	0	1 [100%]	1
North America	2 [40%]	3 [60%]	5
Asia	0	0	0
Oceania	0	2 [100%]	2
South America	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0
Cultural Group			
Anglo	2 [25%]	6 [75%]	8
Germanic Europe	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0

Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0
Income			
High Income	2 [25%]	6 [75%]	8
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between education and social distancing adherence, 71 per cent [5 out of 7] found race/ethnicity to be non-predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence. Of the two studies that found ethnicity to be predictive of social distancing adherence, there were no conclusive patterns by individual race or ethnicity.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between education and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be confidently concluded that in North American countries, race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Oceanian [2 studies] and European [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between education and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Asian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted on Anglo cultural group countries, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found that race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found that race/ethnicity was not associated with social distancing adherence such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS MARITAL STATUS

5.1.6

Marital status is the legally defined status with regards to a person's relationship with a significant other. In the evidence reviewed, marital status was most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., married vs. unmarried), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., divorced, widowed).

In total, two studies considered the association between marital status and social distancing adherence. Of these, one found that marital status was predictive of social distancing adherence and one found that it was not. The study that found marital status was predictive of social distancing found that unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

Table 23: Studies evidencing that unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Ruiz and Bell. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Qatar, Megreya et al. (2021): The aim of this study was to examine the associations between demographic variables (i.e., gender, age, marital and working status, having a family member or a friend infected with COVID-19) and acceptance of social distancing procedure as well as quality of life during the peak of the pandemic and related lockdown in a convenience sample of 280. Pearson correlation coefficients were used to examine the correlations between the demographic variables mentioned above, and the acceptance of social distancing.

Pearson correlation coefficients were used to examine the correlations between some demographic variables (age, marital status, working status and having a family member or a friend infected with COVID-19) and the acceptance of social distancing. Social distancing was correlated negatively with marital status (married, unmarried, divorced and widowed) (r (178)=–0.29, p<0.001). Conclusively, married participants accepted social distancing more.

Marital status is not associated with social distancing non-adherence

Table 24: Studies evidencing that marital status is not associated with social distancing non-adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured

by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. There were no variations in social distancing observed by marital status.

Conclusions

Table 25: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Married people are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	1 [5	0%]	1 [50%]	2
Studies	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	0	0	0	0
Asia	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	0	0
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0

Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
				-
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	1 [100%]	2
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between marital status and social distancing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

DEMOGRAPHICS LIVING AREA

5.1.7

Living area was defined in terms of urban-rural classification. An urban living area is a densely developed area of cities or towns, whereas a rural living area is one not densely developed outside of cities and towns in the countryside. Living area was measured as a binary variable (i.e., urban vs rural).

In total, four studies considered the association between living area and social distancing adherence. Of these, all four found that living area is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Living area is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 26: Studies evidencing that living area is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
2	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Tabernero et al. (2020)	Spain	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income
4	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategy of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. There were no significant differences based on urban versus no urban residence.

United States, Masters et al. (2020): Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations in a convenience sample of 713 people. Logistic regression was

used to explore social distancing, controlled for gender, as well as urbanicity, race/ethnicity, family income and political affiliation. There were no statistically significant differences in social distancing adherence by residence (urbanicity).

Spain, Tabernero et al. (2020): Tabernero et al. (2020) investigated the analysis of psychosocial factors associated with the performance of both physical distancing adherence and self-interested consumption behaviours carried out during the first 10 days of confinement in Spain in 1,324 people. Univariate analyses of variance (ANOVAs) and repeated-measures ANOVAs found that residence was not a significant predictor of social distancing.

Germany, Tomczyk et al. (2020): Tomczyk et al. (2020) investigated social distancing adherence and demographic factors in a German community sample of 157 German adults. Multiple logistic regression was used to predict adherence patterns by socio-demographic

data and psychological factors (stigmatizing attitudes, risk perception, preventive behaviour and subjective knowledge). Region was not found to be associated with social distancing adherence.

Conclusions

Table 27: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Rural dwellers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Urban dwellers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	С)	4 [100%]	4
Studies	0	0	4 [100%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	2 [100%]	2
North America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Asia	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0

Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between living area and social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that living area was not associated with social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that living area is not associated with social distancing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, no associations between living area and social distancing adherence are evident due to insufficient evidence.

DEMOGRAPHICS ESSENTIAL WORKER STATUS

Essential worker status was defined in terms of a state's classification of a job role as essential. Such a status was accompanied by certain permissions. For example, an essential worker may have been exempted from lockdown and stay at home rules or been given priority to certain resources. For example, children of essential workers may have been able to access schools when schools were otherwise closed. Essential worker status was measured as a binary variable (i.e., yes vs no).

In total, four studies considered the relationship between essential worker status and social distancing adherence. Of these, three found that essential worker status was predictive of social distancing adherence and one found that it was not associated with it. Of the three studies that found that essential worker status was predictive of social distancing adherence, all three found that essential workers were more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

Table 28: Studies evidencing that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Gray et al. (2021)	New Zealand	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
3	Pedersen & Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing. Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate and logistic regression was carried out to explore associates and

predictors. Spearman's correlation showed that essential workers (p<0.001, d=0.61) reported less adherence. The logistic regression which included both socio-demographic and health factors found strong associations with being an essential worker for lower adherence (OR: 0.31, p<0.001). Essential work status was also independently associated with the addition of psychological factors (OR: 0.32, p<0.001) and within the fully adjusted model with distress and loneliness added (OR: 0.32, p<0.001) in terms of association with lower adherence.

New Zealand, Gray et al. (2021): Gray et al. (2021) explored social distancing among other measures during lockdown

requirements in New Zealand with a total sample of 2,407 participants. The survey included collection of demographic information, household composition, experience of symptoms and contact with COVID-19 cases. Respondents were also asked about their views towards measures implemented to slow the spread of infection, adherence to preventative measures and factors having an influence on the ability to practise physical distancing. Logistic regression analysis explored social distancing difficulties with a sample size of 740 participants who had visited a place in the past 7 days. Logistic regression showed being an essential worker was associated with difficulties in social distancing (OR: 5.53, p<0.05).

United States, Pedersen & Favero (2020): In a representative sample of 1,449 people, Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the observation of the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing. As one could expect, essential workers who is less able to socially distance because of their jobs, reported adhering to social distancing less (r=-4.29, p<0.01; r=-3.57, p<0.01; r=-2.97, p<0.01; r=-3.48, p<0.01).

Essential worker status is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 29: Studies evidencing that essential worker status is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	North America	Europe	High Income

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules

(92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Both univariate and logistical regression analysis found no association between key worker status and reported social distancing adherence levels, nor intentional non-adherence.

Conclusions

Table 30: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Essential workers are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	3 [7	5%]	1 [25%]	4
Studies	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
North America	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1

South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between essential worker status and social distancing adherence, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that essential worker status is predictive of social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that essential worker status is predictive of social distancing adherence. Of the three studies that found essential worker status to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [3 out of 3] found that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when essential worker status is predictive of social distancing adherence, essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures. Out of all studies, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between essential worker status and social distancing adherence are evident when segmenting by cultural group

and income, but there are no further associations evident when looking for patterns by region of the countries in the studies.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted on Anglo cultural group countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between essential worker status and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted on high-income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing

measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between essential worker status and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY MENTAL HEALTH



Mental health refers to a range of emotional states including depression, anxiety, stress and loneliness. It was measured as both a binary variable (i.e., mental health sufferer vs not a mental health sufferer) and as a categorical variable (i.e., type of mental illness).

In total, seven studies considered the association between mental health and social distancing adherence. Of these, four found that mental health was predictive of social distancing adherence and three found that it was not associated with it. Of the four studies that found mental health was predictive of social distancing adherence, two found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, one found that they are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and one study found both that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and that they are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and one found both relationships.

Mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

Table 31: Studies evidencing that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Beeckman et al. (2020)	Belgium	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
2	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Europe	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

Belgium, Beeckman et al. (2020): Beeckman et al. (2020) carried out two cross-sectional surveys among adults in Belgium. The first survey (n=2,379) focused on adherence to physical distancing measures, whilst the second (n=805) focused on difficulty with, and perseverance in, adhering to these measures. Measures of social distancing included staying at home and keeping a physical distance of 1.5 metres. Linear regression models were used to examine associations between a range of factors and adherence levels. There were mixed results on the impact of psychological well-being as measured by depression, anxiety, anger and social isolation in terms of adherence

to social distancing rating. In the Study 1 results there was lack of evidence for an association between psychological well-being variables and adherence to the 'keeping 1.5m physical distance' measure for those who had recently started and those who had been adhering for some time. In Study 2, which explored difficulties in social distancing for 'staying at home', anxiety (=1.54, [0.38, 2.71]), depression (=2.01, [0.81, 3.22]), anger (=2.29, [0.91, 3.66]) and social isolation (=2.94, 1.78, 4.09]) were all associated with difficulties as were anxiety (=1.95, [0.75, 3.15]), depression (=2.55, [1.31, 3.78]), anger (=3.14, [1.72, 4.57]) and social isolation (=2.50, [1.30, 3.70]) for 'keeping 1.5m physical

distance'. For those who indicated that they could not persevere as long as needed, depression (=2.19, [0.96, 3.42]; =2.55, [1.31, 3.78]), anger (=2.94, [1.53, 4.35]; =3.14, [1.72, 4.57]) and social isolation (=2.19, [1.00, 3.37]; =2.50, [1.30, 3.70]) were all significant for both staying at home and keeping a 1.5-metre distance for depression. Anxiety was only significant for persevering with keeping a 1.5-metre distance (=1.95, [0.75, 3.15]) but not for staying at home.

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing. Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate and logistic

regression was carried out to explore associates and predictors.. Spearman's correlations found that emotional distress was associated with lower adherence levels (p<0.05, d=-0.08). However, this was not significant in the full logistic regression model which included demographic, health and psychological factors.

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. Both psychological distress and depressive symptoms were associated with social distancing levels. For depressive symptoms there were lower odds of social distancing (OR: 0.90, p<0.05).

Mental health sufferers are less likely to not adhere to social distancing

Table 32: Studies evidencing that mental health sufferers are less likely to not adhere to social distancing

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
2	Xie et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. Both psychological distress and depressive symptoms were associated with social distancing levels. For psychological distress there were higher odds for social distancing (OR: 1.07, p<0.05).

United States, Xie et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 850 people, Xie et al. (2020) examined the association of working memory and social distancing including demographic characteristics. Other covariates, such as age, gender, education, income level, depressed mood, anxious

feelings, personality and fluid intelligence were treated as background confounders. Using mediation analysis, Xie et al. (2020) found that working memory predicts social distancing adherence even after controlling for several mood-related covariates, such as depressed mood, anxious feelings and poor sleep quality. Xie et al. (2020) found that social distancing adherence was associated with self-report measures of depressed mood (r=-0.36, [-0.45, -0.27], p<0.001), anxious feelings (r=-0.26, [-0.35, -0.17], p<0.001) and poor sleep quality (r=-0.24, [-0.33, -0.14], p<0.001). Specifically, people with high scores of depressed mood, anxious feelings and poor sleep quality were more likely to adhere to social distancing.

Mental health is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 33: Studies evidencing that mental health is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Ebrahimi et al. (2021)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	Upper Middle Income
2	Seiter & Curran (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Zhang & Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

Norway, Ebrahimi et al. (2021): Ebrahimi et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 10,061 adults in Norway to explore social distancing and mental health. A proportional sample of adults across Norwegian regions was included. Adherence was assessed on reported adherence to government guidelines. Linear multiple regressions were used to explore predictors of depression, anxiety and adherence. For the purpose of this report, only analysis with adherence as the outcome will be discussed. There was no association between depressive or anxiety symptoms and adherence to guidelines (p=ns).

Unites States, Seiter & Curran (2021): Seiter and Curran (2021) investigated individual differences associated with depressive symptoms and adherence to Centers for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines, two major health outcomes critical to understand during the COVID-19 pandemic. No statistical analysis was conducted to analyse the direct effect of mental health for social distancing adherence. The results indicate that psychological wellbeing can play a variable role in adherence to social distancing measures depending on the actual measures. Issues around being alone may be affected by physical

barriers and constraints. Overall, there is a lack of exploration on the mechanisms between psychological well-being and behaviours. Results were not consistent but do suggest that consideration of psychological well-being may be relevant in providing appropriate support for people in need. Social distancing may exacerbate feelings of depression, anxiety and loneliness but also can have a protective role in avoiding negative thinking patterns.

China, Zhang & Zhou (2021): In a representative sample of 189 people, Zhang and Zhou (2021) examined the association of people's perceived risk of COVID-19 and their psychological stress; risk beliefs with regard to being outside; and safeguarding behaviours for being outside under the shock of epidemic. Further, they explored the predictors for reporting concerns about COVID-19, social distancing and panic buying. Zhang and Zhou (2021) used hierarchical regression to analyse the data and found that stress was not a significant predictor for social distancing adherence.

Conclusions

Table 34: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Mental health sufferers are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	4 [5	7%]	3 [43%]	7
Studies	3 [38%]	2 [25%]	3 [38%]	8
Region				
Europe	1 [50%]	0	1 [33%]	2
North America	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Asia	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	2 [40%]	1 [20%]	2 [40%]	5

Upper Middle Inco	me 1 [33%]	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Lower Middle Inco	me 0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between mental health and social distancing adherence, 57 per cent [4 out of 7] found that mental health is predictive of social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that mental health is predictive of social distancing adherence. Of the studies that found mental health to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be confidently concluded that, when mental health is predictive of social distancing adherence, mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures. Out of all studies, only 38 per cent [3 out of 8] found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and 38 per cent [3 out of 8] found that mental health was not associated with social distancing adherence, such that, overall, the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence is inconclusive.

NB: Guo et al. (2021) was counted twice in all analysis other than the predictive vs non-predictive comparison as for one mental health condition it found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and for another mental health condition it found that they are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between mental health and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of North American [3 studies], Asian [3 studies] and European [2 studies] countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Oceanian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Anglo [3 studies], Confucian Asian [3 studies], Germanic European [1 study] and Nordic European [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 40 per cent [2 out of 5] found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and 40 per cent [2 out of 5] found that mental health was not associated with social distancing adherence such that for high-income countries, the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence is inconclusive.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income countries [3 studies].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence in the contexts of lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY COVID-19 KNOWLEDGE

6.1.2

COVID-19 knowledge is the state of knowing about COVID-19, including knowledge about the virus itself and the vaccine. Belief in debunked COVID-19 conspiracy theories (i.e., improbable explanations) is consistent with a lack of COVID-19 knowledge. It was primarily measured as a test, requiring respondents to indicate whether COVID-19 statements (including COVID-19 conspiracy theories) were true or false, producing a numerical score, but also measured as self-reported perceived COVID-19 knowledge.

In total, five studies considered the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and social distancing adherence. Of these, four found that COVID-19 knowledge was predictive of social distancing adherence and one found that it was not. Of the four studies that found COVID-19 knowledge was predictive of social distancing adherence, all found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are less adherent).

As COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 35: Studies evidencing that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			High Income
2	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Qazi et al. (2020)	Pakistan	Asia	Southern Asia	Lower Middle Income
4	Sturman et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income

Kuwait, South Korea, United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020): Al-Hasan et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home). Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence. Knowledge was significantly associated with adherence across the whole sample (p<0.001); higher knowledge was associated with higher adherence.

United States, Fridman et al. (2020): Fridman et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey (n=1,243), using a stratified recruitment procedure by US region and demographics. Outcome variables included trust in information sources about COVID-19, frequency of accessing information, knowledge of COVID-19 and adherence to social distancing measures. Adherence was measured based on participants adhering to seven specific social distancing behaviours (to all social distancing behaviours if they responded). Overall, 32 per cent adhered to all seven behaviours. Trust was explored for government sources, private sources and social networking ones. Mediation analysis found that there was a direct relationship between knowledge of COVID-19 (β =-2.58, p<0.001) and adherence to social distancing

behaviour. There was also an indirect effect of knowledge through trust on social distancing (β =0.18, p<0.001). Higher knowledge was associated with higher social distancing.

Pakistan, Qazi et al. (2020): Qazi et al. (2020) investigated the influence of information (formal and informal) sources on situational awareness of the public for adopting health protective behaviours such as social distancing. A sample of 210 adults completed a questionnaire collecting data on demographics, information sources, understanding and social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling analysis found that perceived understanding predicted adoption of social distancing (β =0.34, p<0.001). Perceived understanding was affected by both formal and informal information sources (p<0.01).

Australia, Sturman et al. (2020): Sturman et al. (2020) investigated whether a modified Theory of Planned Behaviour including knowledge of current social distancing measures could predict intentions to adhere to social distancing restrictions in 374 adults who were living in metropolitan Melbourne, Australia. During this period, metropolitan Melbourne was in stage 4 social distancing restrictions. The participants ranged in age from 19 to 86 years (M=44.0, SD=15.6). Knowledge was a significant predictor of intention to adhere to social distancing in specific situations using path modelling analysis (0.43, p<0.01). It also had an indirect effect through positive attitudes (0.13, p<0.05). However, when looking at general intention to adhere to social distancing, it was not significant. Greater knowledge was associated with higher adherence intentions.

COVID-19 knowledge is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 36: Studies evidencing that COVID-19 knowledge is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate

analysis was conducted. COVID-19 knowledge was not a significant predictor of social distancing (p>0.05).

Conclusions

Table 37: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	4 [80%]		1 [20%]	5
Studies	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Region				
Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High-income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4

Upper middle income	0	0	0	0
Lower middle income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Low-income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and social distancing adherence, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found COVID-19 knowledge to be predictive of social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that COVID-19 knowledge is predictive of social distancing adherence. Of the four studies that found COVID-19 knowledge to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are less adherent), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when COVID-19 knowledge is predictive of social distancing adherence, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that as COVID-19 increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are less adherent), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, overall, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between COVID-19 knowledge and social distancing

adherence are evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are less adherent), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and social distancing adherence in the context of lower middleincome countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between COVID-19 knowledge and social distancing adherence in upper middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY SOCIAL MEDIA



Social media are media that facilitate the creation and sharing of information, ideas, interests and beliefs through virtual communities and networks. One study considered the general use of social media and the other considered its use to get news, measuring social media as a binary variable (i.e., social media user vs not a social media user).

In total, two studies considered the relationship between using social media and social distancing adherence. Both found that using social media was predictive of social distancing adherence and both found that social media users are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Social media users are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

Table 38: Studies evidencing that social media users are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Guo et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
2	Pederson and Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

China, Guo et al. (2021): Guo et al. (2021) carried out a survey with 2,130 Chinese adults to explore predictors of social distancing. Measures collected included demographics (age, gender, education, marriage status, income, self-rated health), social distancing, mental health and social media use. Social distancing was measured by prevention strategies of avoiding social gatherings, avoiding contact with people not living in one's own home and self-isolating at home. Although this measure explores social isolation it has been included within this section. Logistic regression results showed that more time spent on social media was associated with higher social distancing (2=1.40, 95 per cent Cl=1.16–1.69). There was also an interaction between time on social media and

psychological distress, showing less time on social media alongside psychological distress was associated with more likelihood of maintaining social distancing (2=0.96, 95 per cent Cl=0.94–0.99).

United States, Pedersen and Favero (2020): Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing in a representative sample of 1,449 people. Regression analysis found that participants who primarily get their news from social media tend to report slightly less social distancing (=-0.161, p<0.05).

Conclusions

Table 39: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Social media users are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Social media users are less likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	2 [10	0%]	0	2
Studies	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				

High Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between social media use and social distancing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY PERCEIVED SOCIAL NORMATIVE PRESSURE

Social normative pressure is an individual's perception of pressure in the form of the judgement of significant others with regard to whether a particular behaviour should be performed or not. Perceived social normative pressure was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, five studies considered the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence. Of these, three found that perceived social normative pressure was predictive of social distancing adherence and two found that it was not. Of the three studies that found COVID-19 knowledge was predictive of social distancing adherence, all found that as perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive lower social normative pressure are less adherent).

As perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

<u>Table 40: Studies evidencing that as perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases</u>

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Christner et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
2	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Hagger et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Germany, Christner et al. (2020): Christner et al. (2020) explored psychological and social factors related to social distancing. An online survey of 246 participants was carried out to look at the role of moral judgement, moral identity, empathy, fear of infection and fear of punishment alongside democratic factors. Univariate analysis using correlations as well as regression analysis explored individual and combined effect with other variables. Moral judgement represents moral norms in terms of social distancing. Results found that moral judgement was a significant predictor of social distancing behaviour (=0.46, p<0.001).

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing. Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate analysis showed

that injunctive social norms (e.g., perception of behaviours approved or disapproved by others) (p<0.05, d=-0.06) and injunctive personal norms (e.g., perceptions of how one should behave) (p<0.05, d=-0.06) were all associated with adherence levels. However, regression analysis showed only descriptive social norms, and injunctive personal norms remained significant when including demographic factors (OR: 1.25, p<0.05; OR: 1.68, p<0.01). The beliefs about what others think was associated with greater adherence.

United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of

Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing.

Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. In the United States sample results showed indirect effects of social norms (=0.072, p<0.05) and moral norms (=0.212, p<0.001) via intention on social distancing.

Social normative pressure is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 41: Studies evidencing that social normative pressure is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
2	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

Australia, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors on social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. There were no associations between social norms or normative beliefs in the Australian sample.

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate analysis found lower perception of normative pressure from friends (5.47±1.718) compared with those who adhered ((6.24±1.234), t

(679)=3.101, p=0.002), although these were non-significant for normative pressure from family or neighbours. Normative pressure was not significant for any factors in the regression analysis including other factors. Regression analysis to explore intentional non-adherence found no association with normative pressure for any group.

Conclusions

Table 42: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]		
Studies	2 [6	7%]	1 [33%]	3
Studies	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Region				
Europe	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
North America	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	1 [100%]	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4
Germanic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [60%]	0	2 [40%]	5

Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to make overall conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence.

NB: Hagger et al. (2020) was not included in the above analysis as it contained two countries for which there were mixed findings in terms of the association between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group, other than an inconclusive association for Anglo cultural group countries; half of studies [2 out of 4[found that as perceived social normative pressure increases, social

distancing non-adherence decreases and half of studies [2 out of 4] found that perceived social normative pressures were not associated with social distancing adherence.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that as perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive lower social normative pressure are less adherent), such that it can be confidently concluded that in high-income countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income countries [0 studies], lower middle-income countries [0 studies] and low-income countries [0 studies].

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY POLITICAL IDEOLOGY

Political ideology refers to people' political beliefs and affiliations. It was measured either as a categorical variable in terms of political parties voted for or identified with or on scales associated with political spectrums (e.g., liberal to conservative; left to right) or even as a binary variable (e.g., left vs right political orientation).

In total, five studies considered the association between political ideology and social distancing adherence. Of these, four found that political ideology was predictive of social distancing adherence and one found that it was not. Of the four studies that found political ideology was predictive of social distancing adherence, all found that right-wing or conservative voters were more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures

<u>Table 43: Studies evidencing that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures</u>

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Allcott et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Gratz et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Pedersen and Favero (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Allcott et al. (2020): Allcott et al. (2020) carried out an online cross-sectional survey with 2,000 participants across the United States with a broad range of participants in terms of political persuasion, age, gender and race. Social distance was measured via self-reported social distancing alongside political persuasion, beliefs about reported numbers and efficacy of social distancing.

Analysis was not conducted directly to explore the relationship between demographic factors and reported social distancing in this paper. Over time results indicated a greater reduction in contact for Strong Democrats (72.1 per cent) compared with strong Republicans (67.8 per cent) with 0.18 SD reduction. Results for staying inside were similar with a difference of 0.23 SD between political persuasion.

United States, Gratz et al. (2021): Gratz et al. (2021) carried out a prospective cross-online survey at three time points (baseline, 1-month follow-up and 3-month follow-up) to explore psychological beliefs, trust and political persuasion on initial adherence and shifts in adherence to social distancing over time.

Measures included demographic characteristics (e.g., gender, age, ethnicity), pseudoscientific beliefs, beliefs in a just world, COVID risk perceptions, trust in government of the CDC, political persuasion and adherence to social distancing guidelines. Univariate and multivariate analysis explored the relationships between factors across the timeline of the surveys.

Political party affiliation was not associated with adherence at baseline or 1-month follow-up but was associated with a negative association with adherence at 3 months for Republicans (p<0.01, d=-0.12) and is positively associated for Democrats (p<0.01, d=0.12). Hierarchical regression analysis over time showed that both Democrats (d=0.494) and Independents (d=0.502) were found to have a significantly lower decline in adherence rates compared with Republicans.

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules

(92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore the independent relationships between factors.

There were no significant differences found in adherence to social distancing based on voting or not voting for the Government. However, for intentional non-adherence those who voted for the Conservative UK Government compared with not voting for it showed greater intention to non-adhere (=0.461, p< 0.05]. The odds of intentionally not adhering to social distancing rules were 53.9 per cent lower when not having voted for the Government compared with voting for it.

United States, Pedersen and Favero (2020): In a representative sample of 1,449 people, Pedersen and Favero (2020) examined the individual-level factors that may define the observation of the variation both in social distancing behaviour and in the duration that people can see themselves maintaining social distancing.

Regression models with fewer independent, attitudinal variables showed a significant association with social distancing and political affiliation. Democrats reported a higher level of social distancing than either Republicans or those who identify with neither of the major US political parties (r=3.73, p<0.01).

Political ideology is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 44: Studies evidencing that political ideology is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Masters et al. (2020): Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations in a convenience sample of 713 people. Multiple regression models were used and found that there were no statistically significant differences in social distancing behaviour by political affiliation.

Conclusions

Table 45: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]	Left-wing or liberal voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [n, %]		
Studies	4 [8	0%]	1 [20%]	5
Studies	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Region				
Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
North America	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				

High Income	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between political ideology and social distancing adherence, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that political ideology is predictive of social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that political ideology is predictive of social distancing adherence. Of the four studies that found political ideology to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when political ideology is predictive of social distancing adherence, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures. Out of all studies, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between political ideology and social distancing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and social distancing adherence in the context of European countries [1 study]. There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Asian [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural Group: Out of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and social distancing adherence in the contexts of upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED SUSCEPTIBILTY TO COVID-19



Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 is the perceived chance of being infected with COVID-19, but does not confer the perceived risk of being harmed by it if infected, which is considered later as perceived vulnerability. Perceived susceptibility was primarily measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, eight studies considered the association between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence. Of these, four found that perceived susceptibility was predictive of social distancing adherence and four found that it was not associated with it. Of the four studies that found perceived susceptibility was predictive of social distancing adherence, all found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are less adherent).

As perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 46: Studies evidencing that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Multiple countries aggregated			High Income
2	Gouin et al. (2021)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Gratz et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

Kuwait, South Korea, United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020): Al-Hasan et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the

government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home).

Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence. Threat appraisal was determined by perceived severity and susceptibility. Threat appraisal was predictive of adherence to social distancing (p<0.001). Individual country analysis showed a significant result for the United States (p<0.01) and South Korea (p<0.001) but not in Kuwait (p=ns).

Country comparison showed a stronger result in the United States compared with South Korea (β 2 11.91, p<0.001) and a significant difference between South Korea and Kuwait (2 12.45, p< 0.001).

Canada, Gouin et al. (2021): Gouin et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional study with 1,003 participants using quota sampling to ensure representation based on age, gender and urbanicity. The online survey explored demographic, health, cognitive, emotional and social factors associated with social distancing.

Social distancing was measured based on adherence to government guidance around staying at home and minimizing non-essential journeys. Using a 5-point Likert scale, this included avoiding having guests in the house, refraining from social gatherings with more than two people and staying at least 2 metres away from others outside the home. Univariate analysis found that perceived susceptibility (p<0.05, d=-0.06), perceived severity (p<0.01, d=0.14) and perceived susceptibility for others (p<0.05, d=0.08) were associated with social distancing. However multivariate analysis showed no significant results when accounting for demographic variations.

United States, Gratz et al. (2021): Gratz et al. (2021) carried out a prospective cross-online survey at three time points (baseline, 1-month follow-up and 3-month follow-up) to explore psychological beliefs, trust and political persuasion on initial adherence and shifts in adherence to social distancing over time. Measures included

demographic characteristics (e.g., gender, age, ethnicity), pseudoscientific beliefs, beliefs in a just world, COVID risk perceptions, political persuasion and adherence to social distancing guidelines.

Univariate analysis showed a positive association between risk perceptions and adherence rates (p<0.01, d=0.11), whilst government trust was significant at 1 month (p<0.05, d=0.22), which was also demonstrated in the hierarchical regression for all factors over time which showed higher risk perceptions were associated with lower decline in adherence levels (p<0.05, d=1.51).

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent).

Univariate analysis found an association between perceived susceptibility and adherence to all social distancing behaviour (p<0.05) and also intentional non-adherence (p<0.01) with high perceived risk associated with higher social distancing behaviours or intentions. Multivariate analysis using logistic regression found no association between perceived susceptibility and social distancing behaviours or intentional non-adherence.

Perceived susceptibility is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 47: Studies evidencing that perceived susceptibility is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Beeckman et al. (2020)	Belgium	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
2	Masters et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Tomczyk et al. (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
4	Zhang and Zhou (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income

Belgium, Beeckman et al. (2020): Beeckman et al. (2020) carried out two cross-sectional surveys among adults in Belgium. The first survey (n=2,379) focused on adherence to physical distancing measures, whilst the second (n=805) focused on difficulty with, and perseverance in, adhering to these measures. Measures of social distancing included staying at home (e.g., except for

essential activities) and keeping a physical distance of 1.5 metres.

Linear regression models were used to examine associations between a range of factors and adherence levels. Results in Study 1 found that perceived threat of COVID-19 was not significantly associated with recently

'keeping 1.5m distance' (p=ns), already adhering to keeping a distance of 1.5 metres (p=ns) nor having been adhering to COVID-19 physical distancing measures for a long time. The results in Study 2 were similar, with no association found with difficulty in adhering to either staying at home or keeping a distance of 1.5 metres.

United States, Masters et al. (2020): In a convenience sample of 713 people, Masters et al. (2020) examined the relationship of risk perceptions and adherence to social distancing recommendations. Masters et al. (2020) did not use a statistical analysis to analyse the data between social distancing and risk perception.

Germany, Tomczyk et al. (2020): In a German community sample of 157 German adults, Tomczyk et al. (2020) investigated social distancing adherence and age as well as other demographic factors. Tomczyk et al. (2020) used multinomial logistic regressions to predict adherence patterns by socio-demographic data and psychological

factors (stigmatizing attitudes, risk perception, preventive behaviour and s ubjective knowledge). The results showed that having a regard for social distancing and high adherence did not differ by risk perception.

China, Zhang and Zhou (2021): In a representative sample of 189 people, Zhang and Zhou (2021) examined the association of people's perceived risk of COVID-19 and their psychological stress; risk beliefs with regard to being outside; and safeguarding behaviours for being outside under the shock of epidemic.

Further, they explored the predictors for reporting concerns about COVID-19, social distancing and panic buying. Zhang and Zhou (2021) used one-way ANOVA to analyse the data and found the variables of perceived risk of COVID-19 and psychological stress had no significant predictive effects on respondents' reported social distancing by refusing to have visitors.

Conclusions

Table 48: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	4 [5	0%]	4 [50%]	8
Studies	4 [50%]	0	4 [50%]	8
Region				
Europe	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
North America	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Germanic Europe	0	0	2 [100%]	2

Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
	-	-	-	
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Lurope	U	U	U	U
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	4 [57%]	0	3 [43%]	7
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: The overall relationship between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence is inconclusive: 50 per cent of studies [4 out of 8] found that perceived susceptibility was predictive of social distancing adherence, but equally 50 per cent of studies [4 out of 8] found that it was not associated with it. Also, 50 per cent of studies [4 out of 8] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are less adherent), but equally 50 per cent of studies [4 out of 8] found that perceived susceptibility was not associated with social distancing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence are evident when segmenting by cultural group and income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [2 studies] and Confucian Asian [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence in the contexts of Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group studies.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 57 per cent [4 out of 7] found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, such that it can be concluded with some confidence that in high-income countries, as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence in the context of upper middleincome countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence in lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED BEHAVIOURAL CONTROL

Perceived behavioural control is an individual's perception of the ease or difficulty in performing a behaviour, closely related to self-efficacy, which is an individual's perception of their ability and capacity to execute a behaviour. Perceived control over ability to socially distance was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, five studies considered the association between perceived behavioural control and social distancing adherence. Of these, all five found that perceived behavioural control was predictive of social distancing adherence. Of these five studies, all found that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to have less control over their social distancing are less adherent).

As perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 49: Studies evidencing that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Al-Hasan et al. (2020)	Mult	High Income		
2	Beeckman et al. (2020)	Belgium	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
3	Hagger et al. (2020)	United States	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
4		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Kasper (2020)	Germany	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
6	Tabernero et al. (2020)	Spain	Europe	Latin Europe	High Income

Kuwait, South Korea, United States, Al-Hasan et al. (2020):

Al-Hasan et al. (2020) carried out a cross-sectional online survey to assess social distancing behaviours in 162 citizens of the United States, 185 of Kuwait and 71 of South Korea with a total sample size of 418. Adherence to social distancing was measured using self-reported intention to socially distance and beliefs about adherence including sheltering or social distancing measures: beliefs about sheltering or social distancing measures are effective

at slowing the spread of COVID-19 and belief that the government has the right to enforce sheltering (i.e., people must stay at home).

Regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between independent factors on reported adherence. Coping appraisal was a combination of self-efficacy and response efficacy. Results found that the variable coping appraisal was a significant predictor of social distancing in the United States (=0.344, p<0.01), South Korea (=0.531, p=0.001) and Kuwait (=0.536, p<0.001). Results were also significant when taking into account other demographic and psychological variables.

Belgium, Beeckman et al. (2020): Beeckman et al. (2020) carried out two cross-sectional surveys among adults in Belgium. The first survey (n=2,379) focused on adherence to physical distancing measures, whilst the second (n=805) focused on difficulty with, and perseverance in, adhering to these measures. Measures of social distancing included staying at home (e.g., except for essential activities) and keeping a physical distance of 1.5 metres.

Linear regression models were used to examine associations between a range of factors and adherence levels. Psychological factors of relevance included self-efficacy, social support, intention, action planning and coping planning. Regression analysis in Study 1 found an association between self-efficacy (=0.28, p<0.05), action planning (=0.33, p<0.05) and coping planning (=0.29, p<0.05) with social distancing.

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour.

Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing. Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Regression analysis found perceived behavioural control (=0.126, p<0.001) had direct effects on social distancing behaviour in the Australian sample. These findings were replicated in the United States sample for perceived behavioural control (=0.074, p<0.05).

Germany, Kaspar (2020): Kaspar (2020) conducted an examination of four aspects relating to COVID protection which included motivation for social distancing, using a contact tracing app, providing infection status to a contact tracing app and using a Data Donation app. Here, results for motivation for social distancing will be explored as a representation of social distancing behaviour.

A mix of demographic and psychological factors including severity, vulnerability, rewards self-efficacy, response efficacy, response costs and trust were included in multiple regression analysis for motivation for social distancing (R2=0.547, p<0.001). Regression analysis found that self-efficacy about social distancing (=0.211, p<0.001) was associated with greater social distancing.

Spain, Tabernero et al. (2020): A total of 1,324 people took part in Tabernero et al.'s (2020) study that investigated the analysis of psychosocial factors associated with the performance of both physical distancing adherence and self-interested consumption behaviours carried out during the first 10 days of confinement in Spain. The individual perception of the capacity to carry out each of the specific self-care and normative acts was evaluated using 13 items (e.g., "To what extent do you feel capable of remaining at home for the period determined by the government?").

Participants were required to reflect on their levels of confidence using a six-point scale, where response scores ranged from 1=not at all confident to 6=totally confident. The Cronbach's alpha for this scale was 0.84. Tabernero et al. (2020) used a univariate analysis and found that in relation to physical distancing behaviours self-efficacy in coping (r=0.29, p<0.01) and self-protection self-efficacy (r=0.26, p<0.01) were significant. These relationships were also sustained in Structural equation modelling analysis.

Conclusions

Table 50: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non- adherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non- adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	5 [10	00%]	0	5
Studies	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Region				
Europe	3 [100%]	0	0	3
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Germanic Europe	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				

High Income	6 [100%]	0	0	6
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between perceived behavioural control and social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that perceived behavioural control is predictive of social distancing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived behavioural control is predictive of social distancing adherence.

Of the five studies that found perceived behavioural control to be predictive of social distancing adherence, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to have less control over their social distancing are less adherent), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when perceived behavioural control is predictive of social distancing adherence, as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

Out of all studies, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, such that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between perceived susceptibility and social distancing adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 100 per cent [6 out of 6] found that as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between perceived behavioural control and social distancing adherence in upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION BEHAVIOURAL INTENTION

Behavioural intention is an individual's readiness to perform a behaviour. Intention to socially distance was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, three studies considered the association between behavioural intention and social distancing adherence. Of these, all three found that behavioural intention was predictive of social distancing adherence. Of these three studies, all found that as behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who do not intend to socially distance are less adherent).

As behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 51: Studies evidencing that as behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Beeckman et al. (2020)	Belgium	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
2	Hagger et al. (2020)	Australia	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
		United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

Belgium, Beeckman et al. (2020): Beeckman et al. (2020) carried out two cross-sectional surveys among adults in Belgium. The first survey (n=2,379) focused on adherence to physical distancing measures, whilst the second (n=805) focused on difficulty with, and perseverance in, adhering to these measures. Measures of social distancing included staying at home (e.g., except for essential activities) and keeping a physical distance of 1.5 metres.

Linear regression models were used to examine associations between a range of factors and adherence levels. Psychological factors of relevance included self-efficacy, social support, intention, action planning and

coping planning. Other factors are not discussed here due to lack of identification in other papers. Of the sample, 98 per cent reported adhering to social distancing measures of 'staying at home' and maintaining a physical distance of 1.5 metres.

However, 38 per cent reported great difficulty for staying at home and 31 per cent reported great difficulty for maintaining a physical distance of 1.5 metres reported. Also, 39 per cent reported not being able to persevere staying at home in the long term and 31 per cent reported not being able to persevere maintaining a physical distance in the long term. Results in Study 1 found that higher

scores on intention were associated with recently 'keeping 1.5m distance' (β =0.55; [0.41, 0.70]) and already adhering to this (β =0.74; [0.61, 0.88]). Further, higher intention was associated with adhering to 'keeping 1.5m distance for a longer time' (β =0.19; [0.15, 0.24]).

In Study 2 results shown for intention to socially distance found lower intention for those with greater difficulty adhering to 'staying at home' (β =-0.23; 95 per cent CI [-0.31, -0.16]) and 'keeping 1.5m distance' (β = 0.17; [0.25, 0.09]). For those who indicated that they could not persevere as long as needed, intention was lower for 'staying at home' (β =-0.36; [-0.44, -0.28]) and 'keeping 1.5m distance' (β =-0.42; [-0.50, -0.34]).

Australia, United States, Hagger et al. (2020): Hagger et al. (2020) conducted a prospective cross-sectional survey of Australian (n=365) and US (n=440) participants. The study explored the influence of social cognition constructs from the Theory of Planned Behaviour alongside past behaviours, behavioural intentions, planning, habit and action planning on social distancing behaviour. Structural equation modelling was used to explore the role of factors in social distancing.

Social distancing was assessed via frequency of social distancing behaviours in the past 7 days. Univariate analysis was conducted for all variables including sociodemographic factors whilst structural equation modelling was used to determine the impact of Theory of Planned Behaviour factors on behaviour. The Theory of Planned Behaviour contains the following factors: social and moral norms, anticipated regret, perceived behavioural control,

actional planning as well as intention. Results found that intention (β =0.220, p<0.001) had direct effects on social distancing behaviour in the Australian sample. Indirect effects of moral norms (β =0.068, p<0.05) via intention were found, and habits over time (β =0.078, p<0.01) and past behaviour (β =0.081, p<0.05) affected social distancing behaviour.

For the United States sample the study found that intention (β =0.142, p<0.001) had direct effects on social distancing even taking into account past behaviour, which was also found to be significant (β =0.673, p<0.001). Indirect effects of social norms (β =0.072, p<0.05), moral norms (β =0.212, p<0.001) and perceived behavioural control (β =0.088, p<0.001) via intention were found, and habits over time (β =0.166, p<0.001), past behaviour indirectly via habits (β =0.068, p<0.001) and past behaviour (β =0.178, p<0.001) affected social distancing behaviour.

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis was conducted to explore independent relationships between factors. The odds of intentionally not adhering to SD rules increased if a participant had a lower intention to socially distance [β =0.468]. Therefore, higher intention was associated with greater reported behaviour around social distancing.

Conclusions

Table 52: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As behavioural intention increases, social distancing nonadherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	3 [10	00%]	0	3
Studies	3 [100%] 0		0	3
Region				
Europe	2 [100%] 0		0	2
North America	1 [100%]	0	0	1

Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	1 [100%]	0	0	1
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Germanic Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	4 [100%]	0	0	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to make overall conclusions about the relationship between behavioural intention and social distancing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high-income countries, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that as behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases,

such that it can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between behavioural intention and social distancing adherence in upper middle-income [0 studies], lower middle-income [0 studies] and low-income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION TRUST IN GOVERNMENT

6.3.4

Trust in government is the belief in the reliability and integrity of the government. It is most frequently measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, three studies considered the relationship between trust in government and social distancing adherence. Of these, two found that trust in government was predictive of social distancing adherence and one found that it was not associated with it. Of the two studies that found that trust in government was predictive of social distancing adherence, both found that as trust in government increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who have less trust in government are less adherent).

As trust in government increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

Table 53: Studies evidencing that as trust in government increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Fridman et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Gratz et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Fridman et al. (2020): Fridman et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey (n=1,243), using a stratified recruitment procedure by US region and demographics. Outcome variables included trust in information sources about COVID-19, frequency of accessing information, knowledge of COVID-19 and adherence to social distancing measures. Adherence was measured based on participants adhering to seven specific social distancing behaviours (to all social distancing behaviours if they responded).

Overall, 32 per cent adhered to all seven behaviours. Trust was explored for government sources, private sources and social networking ones. Chi-square analysis found an association between social distancing adherence and trust of the following sources of government information: CDC and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (p<0.001), local health department (p<0.001) and World Health

Organization (p<0.05), but no association with trust of the White House as a source (p=ns). A positive association between social distancing adherence and trust of private sources was found for Reuters (p<0.05) and The Hill (p<0.01) news sources, but not for other TV/news stations.

There were negative associations between social media adherence and trust in social media networks for Facebook (p<0.01), Twitter (p<0.01) and other social media sources (p<0.001). Regression analysis found that trust in the government sources of the CDC and FDA predicted social distancing adherence (=0.50, p<0.01) directly and also when knowledge was added to the analysis (=0.35, p<0.05). Knowledge partially mediated the relationship between trust and adherence.

United States, Gratz et al. (2021): Gratz et al. (2021) carried out a prospective cross-online survey at three time points

(baseline, 1-month follow-up and 3-month follow-up) to explore the influence of psychological beliefs, trust and political persuasion on initial adherence and shifts in adhering to social distancing over time. Measures included demographic characteristics (e.g., gender, age, ethnicity), pseudoscientific beliefs, beliefs in a just world, COVID risk perceptions, political persuasion and adherence to social distancing guidelines. Univariate analysis found that there were variations depending on the trust of the organization.

Dispositional trust was associated with social distancing at T1 (p<0.04, d=0.11), whilst government trust was significant at 1 month (p<0.05, d=0.13) and CDC trust was significant at 3 months (p<0.05, d=0.13).

Hierarchical regression found that lower trust in government (p<0.01, d=0.022) and, surprisingly, greater trust in the CDC (p<0.05, d=-0.127) were significantly associated with lower adherence at baseline.

Trust in government is not associated with social distancing adherence

Table 54: Studies evidencing that trust in government is not associated with social distancing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hills and Eraso (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

United Kingdom, Hills and Eraso (2021): Hills and Eraso (2021) carried out a cross-sectional survey of 681 residents of North London on adherence to social distancing rules and intentional non-adherence. Non-adherence was measured as not adhering to all social distancing rules (92.8 per cent) whilst intentional non-adherence was also

measured (48.6 per cent). Univariate and multivariate analysis found that there was not a statistically significant difference based on trust in government for those intentionally not adhering to social distancing rules (p>0.05).

Conclusions

Table 55: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As trust in government increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As trust in government increases, social distancing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	2 [67%]		1 [33%]	3
Studies	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Region				
Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
North America	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0

South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
	U	U	U	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between trust in government and social distancing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

CONCLUSIONS



WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Age

Younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [59 per cent of studies; 13 out of 22].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in Asia, age is not associated with social distancing adherence [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [78 per cent of studies, 7 out of 9].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in countries in the Anglo cultural group, as age increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [77 per cent of studies, 10 out of 13].

Gender/sex

The relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence is inconclusive.

Overall, the relationship between sex/gender and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [52 per cent of studies, 11 out of 21 found that sex/gender is not associated with social distancing adherence; 48 per cent of studies, 10 out of 21 found that males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Asian countries, males are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Education

Level of education is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that education is not associated with social distancing adherence [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

Income

Amount of income is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that income is not associated with social distancing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, income is not associated with social distancing adherence [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, income is not associated with social distancing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries income is not associated with social distancing adherence [78 per cent of studies, 7 out of 9].

Race/ethnicity

Race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence [71 per cent of studies, 5 out of 7].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, race/ethnicity is not associated with social distancing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8]

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries race/ethnicity is not associated

Marital status

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between marital status and social distancing adherence.

Living area

Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with social distancing adherence.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that living area is not associated with social distancing adherence [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Essential worker status

Essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Capability (psychological)

Mental health

The relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence is inconclusive.

Overall, the relationship between mental health and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [38 per cent of studies, 3 out of 8 found that mental health sufferers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures; 38 per cent of studies, 3 out of 8 found that mental health was not associated with not adhering to social distancing measures].

COVID-19 knowledge

People with less COVID-19 knowledge or who believe COVID-19 conspiracy theories are more likely to not adhere to social distancing.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as COVID-19 knowledge increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Capability (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical capability.

Opportunity (social)

Perceived social normative pressure

There is insufficient evidence to make overall conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and social distancing adherence.

Political ideology

Right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in North American countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Opportunity (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical opportunity.

Motivation (reflective)

Perceived susceptibility

The relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and social distancing adherence is inconclusive.

Overall, the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and social distancing adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 4 out of 8 found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases; 50% of studies, 4 out of 8 found that as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence increases].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived susceptibility increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Perceived behavioural control

Those who perceive themselves to have less control over their social distancing are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as perceived behavioural control increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [100 per cent of studies, 6 out of 6].

Behavioural intention

There is insufficient evidence to make overall conclusions about the relationship between behavioural intention and social distancing adherence.

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high-income countries, as behavioural intention increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [100 per cent of studies, 4 out of 4].

Trust in government

There is insufficient evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between trust in government and social distancing adherence.

Motivation (automatic)

Nothing was identified in the rapid evidence review with regard to automatic motivation.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS



TARGETING THOSE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SOCIAL DISTANCING MEASURES



Age

Support younger age groups to socially distance

Policy makers, certainly in Asian and North American countries and countries belonging to the Anglo cultural group, should support younger age groups in adhering with social distancing rules.

Further research is required to understand why younger age groups are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures so as to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to be adherent with social distancing rules. For example, younger age groups may feel less vulnerable to COVID-19 and have greater fear of missing out, such that they are more inclined to risk catching the virus.

Essential worker status

Support essential workers to socially distance

Policy makers, certainly in countries belonging to the Anglo cultural group and high-income countries, should support essential workers to adhere to social distancing rules.

Further research is required to understand why essential workers are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures so as to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to be adherent with social distancing rules. That said, it can be assumed that, given that essential workers are required to continue their work in person when other workers are either not required to work or are able to work from home, essential workers are less able to socially distance.

Environmental restructuring

Where possible, managers of essential workers should undertake restructuring of their work environment, so as to minimize contact with others, wherever possible.

Training

Where possible, managers of essential workers should train essential workers on how to undertake their role whilst minimizing their contact with others.

Sex/gender

No need to target groups on the basis of sex/gender except in Asia

Other than in Asian countries, sex/gender was not associated with social distancing adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to males or females.

Policy makers in Asian countries should support males in adhering with social distancing rules. Further research is required to understand why males in Asian countries are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures so as to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to be adherent with social distancing rules.

Education

No need to target groups on the basis of education

Education was not associated with social distancing adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their education level.

Income

No need to target groups on the basis of income

Education was not associated with social distancing adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their income level or socio-economic status.

Race/ethnicity

No need to target groups on the basis of race

Race/ethnicity was not associated with social distancing adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of racial or ethnic group.

Living area

No need to target groups on the basis of living area

Living area was not associated with social distancing adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to rural or urban dwellers.

IMPROVING PSYCHOLOGICAL CAPABILITY



COVID-19 Knowledge

Increase COVID-19 knowledge and reduce acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories

Increasing COVID-19 knowledge and reducing acceptance of COVID-19 conspiracy theories would reduce vaccine hesitancy.

Regulation

Continued regulation of COVID-19 conspiracy theories on social media and other channels can help to limit the spread of information that is eroding COVID-19 knowledge.

Education

However, a more sustainable approach is empowering people to be able to think critically about information, so as to be able to distinguish fact from fiction. Schools should place an emphasis on teaching critical thinking.

Education

Social marketing campaigns should be used to educate populations on how to maintain social distancing and to highlight the evidence of the effectiveness of social distancing in limiting the spread of COVID-19, using quality information presented by reliable and respected sources.

IMPROVING SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY



Political Ideology

Depoliticize COVID-19 and diversify messengers promoting protective measures

That political ideology is predictive of social distancing non-adherence suggests a need to depoliticize COVID-19 and the associated protective measures, certainly in North American countries, Anglo cultural group ones and high-income ones.

Regulation

Lockdown measures and removal of freedoms serve to strengthen the political divide and should be avoided wherever possible.

Communication and modelling

There is a need to diversify the messengers, using non-political figures to promote the importance of protective measures. Also, given that right-wing and conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures, right-wing and conservative leaders (especially when not in government) should be involved in promoting protective behaviours, including social distancing.

IMPROVING REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION



Perceived behavioural control

Provide space and choice to enable accessing work and essential services

Increasing control over social distancing, certainly in high-income countries, can improve adherence with social distancing rules.

Regulation

Where possible, require that employers provide their employees with the option of working from home.

Regulation

Restrict the number of people permitted to access certain locations, so that there remains space for people to have control over their social distancing.

Enablement

Ensure capacity of delivery services for essential goods, such as groceries and medicine, so that people can control their need to be out in public.

Environmental restructuring

Provide environmental cues, such as signs and visual markers on the floor, use barriers to separate people and implement one-way systems to increase capability to socially distance.

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19

Challenge beliefs to insusceptibility in Anglo cultural group countries

Given that a lack of perceived susceptibility is associated with social distancing non-adherence in Anglo cultural group countries, policy makers in Anglo-speaking countries can increase adherence with social distancing rules by educating their populations on the contagiousness of COVID-19 and, therefore, the susceptibility of their populations to the virus.

Communication

Regular and meaningful communication of infection rates can challenge perceptions of insusceptibility. For example, for given locations at a given point in time, how many people are infected.

REFERENCES



REA References

Al-Hasan, A., Khuntia, J., &Yim, D. (2020). Threat, coping, and social distance adherence during COVID-19: Cross-continental comparison using an online cross-sectional survey. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22(11), e23019. https://doi.org/10.2196/23019

Allcott, H., Boxell, L., Conway, J., Gentzkow, M., Thaler, M., & Yang, D. (2020). Polarization and public health: Partisan differences in social distancing during the coronavirus pandemic. Journal of Public Economics, 191, 104254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104254

Alotaibi, N., Almutairi, S., Alotaibi, M., Alotaibi, M. M., & Alsufian, T. (2020). The extent of commitment of Saudis during Holy Ramadan to social distancing measures required for the prevention of transmission of COVID-19. Journal of Community Health, 46(4), 693–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-020-00936-3

Beeckman, M., De Paepe, A., Van Alboom, M., Maes, S., Wauters, A., Baert, F., Kissi, A., Veirman, E., Van Ryckeghem, D. M. L., & Poppe, L. (2020). Adherence to the physical distancing measures during the COVID-19 pandemic: A HAPA-based perspective. Applied Psychology: Health and Well Being, 12(4), 1224–1243.

Bourassa, K. J., Sbarra, D. A., Caspi, A., & Moffitt, T. E. (2020). Social distancing as a health behavior: County-level movement in the United States during the COVID-19 pandemic is associated with conventional health behaviors. Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine, 54(8), 548–556. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kaaa049

Christner, N., Sticker, R. M., Söldner, L., Mammen, M., & Paulus, M. (2020). Prevention for oneself or others? Psychological and social factors that explain social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Health Psychology, 27(6), 1342–1353. 10:1359105320980793. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105320980793

Coroiu, A., Moran, C., Campbell, T., & Geller, A. C. (2020). Barriers and facilitators of adherence to social distancing recommendations during COVID-19 among a large international sample of adults. PLoS ONE, 15(10), e0239795. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239795

Ebrahimi, O. V., Hoffart, A., & Johnson, S. U. (2021). Physical distancing and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: Factors associated with psychological symptoms and adherence to pandemic mitigation strategies. Clinical Psychological Science, 9(3), 489–506. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702621994545

Einberger, C., Graupensperger, S., & Lee, C. M. (2021). Young adults' physical distancing behaviors during the initial months of the COVID-19 pandemic: Adherence to guidelines and associations with alcohol use behavior. Emerging Adulthood, 9(5), 541–549. https://doi.org/10.1177/21676968211004679

Fridman, I., Lucas, N., Henke, D., & Zigler, C. K. (2020). Association between public knowledge about COVID-19, trust in information sources, and adherence to social distancing: Cross-sectional survey. JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, 6(3), e22060. https://doi.org/10.2196/22060

Gouin, J. P., MacNeil, S., Switzer, A., Carrese-Chacra, E., Durif, F., & Knäuper, B. (2021). Socio-demographic, social, cognitive, and emotional correlates of adherence to physical distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic: A cross-sectional study. Canadian Journal of Public Health = Revue canadienne de sante publique, 112(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-020-00457-5

Gratz, K. L., Richmond, J. R., Woods, S. E., Dixon-Gordon, K. L., Scamaldo, K. M., Rose, J. P., & Tull, M. T. (2021). Adherence to social distancing guidelines throughout the COVID-19 pandemic: The roles of pseudoscientific beliefs, trust, political party affiliation, and risk perceptions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine, 55(5), 399–412. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kaab024

Gray, L., Rose, S. B., Stanley, J., Zhang, J., Tassell, N., Matamua, N., Puloka, V., Kvalsvig, A., Wiles, S., Murton, S. A., et al. (2021). Factors influencing individual ability to follow physical distancing recommendations in Aotearoa New Zealand during the COVID-19 pandemic: A population survey. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand, 51(sup1), S107–S126. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2021.1879179

Guo, Y., Qin, W., Wang, Z., & Yang, F. (2021). Factors influencing social distancing to prevent the community spread of COVID-19 among Chinese adults. Preventive Medicine, 143, 106385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106385

Hagger, M. S., Smith, S. R., Keech, J. J., Moyers, S. A., & Hamilton, K. (2020). Predicting social distancing intention and behavior during the COVID-19 pandemic: An integrated social cognition model. Annals of Behavioral Medicine: A publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine, 54(10), 713–727. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kaaa073

Hills, S., & Eraso, Y. (2021). Factors associated with non-adherence to social distancing rules during the COVID-19 pandemic: A logistic regression analysis. BMC Public Health, 21(1), 352. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10379-7

Kaspar, K. (2020). Motivations for social distancing and app use as complementary measures to combat the COVID-19 pandemic: Quantitative survey study. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22(8), e21613. https://doi.org/10.2196/21613

Masters, N. B., Shih, S. F., Bukoff, A., Akel, K. B., Kobayashi, L. C., Miller, A. L., Harapan, H., Lu, Y., & Wagner, A. L. (2020). Social distancing in response to the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in the United States. PLoS ONE, 15(9), e0239025. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239025

Megreya, A. M., Latzman, R. D., Al-Ahmadi, A. M., & Al-Dosari, N. F. (2021). The COVID-19-related lockdown in Qatar: Associations among demographics, social distancing, mood changes, and quality of life. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 1–17. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-021-00536-9

Norton, J. O., Evans, K. C., Semchenko, A. Y., Al-Shawaf, L., & Lewis, D. (2021). Why do people (not) engage in social distancing? Proximate and ultimate analyses of norm-following during the COVID-19 pandemic. Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 648206. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.648206

Pedersen, M. J., & Favero, N. (2020). Social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic: Who is the present and future non-compliers? Public Administration Review, 80(5), 805–814. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13240

Qazi, A., Qazi, J., Naseer, K., Zeeshan, M., Hardaker, G., Maitama, J. Z., & Haruna, K. (2020). Analyzing situational awareness through public opinion to predict adoption of social distancing amid pandemic COVID-19. Journal of Medical Virology, 92(7), 849–855. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25840

Seiter, J. S., & Curran, T. (2021). Social-distancing fatigue during the COVID-19 pandemic: A mediation analysis of cognitive flexibility, fatigue, depression, and adherence to CDC guidelines. Communication Research Reports, 38(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/08824096.2021.1880385

Sturman, D., Auton, J. C., & Thacker, J. (2020). Knowledge of social distancing measures and adherence to restrictions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Health Promotion Journal of Australia: Official journal of Australian Association of Health Promotion Professionals, 32(2), 344–351. https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.443

Tabernero, C., Castillo-Mayén, R., Luque, B., & Cuadrado, E. (2020). Social values, self- and collective efficacy explaining behaviours in coping with Covid-19: Self-interested consumption and physical distancing in the first 10 days of confinement in Spain. PLoS ONE, 15(9), e0238682. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238682

Taylor, S., Landry, C. A., Paluszek, M. M., & Asmundson, G. (2020). Reactions to COVID-19: Differential predictors of distress, avoidance, and disregard for social distancing. Journal of Affective Disorders, 277, 94–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.002

Tomczyk, S., Rahn, M., & Schmidt, S. (2020). Social distancing and stigma: Association between adherence with behavioral recommendations, risk perception, and stigmatizing attitudes during the COVID-19 outbreak. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 1821. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01821

Xie, K., Liang, B., Dulebenets, M. A., & Mei, Y. (2020). The impact of risk perception on social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(17), 6256. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176256

Zhang, Y., & Zhou, R. (2021). Promoting social distancing and preventing panic buying during the epidemic of COVID-19: The contributions of people's psychological and behavioural factors. Journal of Public Health: From Theory to Practice. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-021-01497-y

Document References

- 1. Burgess R.A., et al., 'The COVID-19 vaccines rush: participatory community engagement matters more than ever', The Lancet, 10 December 2020 (epub ahead of print), 397(10268):8–10.
- 2. Aschwanden C., 'Five reasons why COVID herd immunity is probably impossible', Nature, 18 March 2021, 591(7851):520–2.
- 3. Michie S., van Stralen M.M. and West R., 'The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions', Implementation Science, 23 April 2011, 6:42.
- 4. UK Department for International Development, 'Assessing the strength of evidence', March 2014, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291982/HTN-strength-evidence-march2014.pdf, accessed 1 June 2021.
- 5. House R.J., et al., editors, 'Culture, leadership, and organizations: The GLOBE study of 62 societies', Sage Publications, July 2004.

for every child, answers

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani 58 50121 Florence, Italy Tel: +39 055 2033 0 Fax: +39 055 2033 220 researchpublications@unicef.org www.unicef-irc.org @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and YouTube



PREDICTORS OF SELF-ISOLATING TO PREVENT THE COMMUNITY SPREAD OF SARS-COV-2:

Who does not adhere to self-isolation measures, why and in what context?

A Rapid Evidence Assessment

January 2023



UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight tackles the questions of greatest importance for children, both current and emerging. It drives change through research and foresight on a wide range of child rights issues, sparking global discourse and actively engaging young people in its work.

UNICEF Innocenti equips thought leaders and decision-makers with the evidence they need to build a better, safer world for children. The office undertakes research on unresolved and emerging issues, using primary and secondary data that represent the voices of children and families themselves. It uses foresight to set the agenda for children, including horizon scanning, trends analysis and scenario development. The office produces a diverse and dynamic library of high-level reports, analyses and policy papers, and provides a platform for debate and advocacy on a wide range of child rights issues.

UNICEF Innocenti provides, for every child, answers to their most pressing concerns.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of UNICEF. This paper has been peer reviewed both externally and within UNICEF.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to utilize larger portions or the full publication should be addressed to the Communications Unit at: researchpublications@unicef.org.

Any part of this publication may be freely reproduced if accompanied by the following citation: Predictors of Social Distancing to Prevent the Community Spread of SARS-CoV-2: Who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context? A Rapid Evidence Assessment, London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre. UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight, Florence, 2022.

This research was commissioned and funded by UNICEF and undertaken by London Metropolitan University's Performance with Purpose Research Centre.

London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre

London Metropolitan University's Centre for Performance with Purpose is located within the Guildhall School of Business and Law. The Centre focuses on research that addresses real societal challenges, such as inclusion, social value and equity, and applies business and management techniques to support effective organizational performance in tackling social problems. The research team was led by Dr. Stephen Hills and included Dr. Justin Webb, Dr. Anna Baker, Dr. Somayeh Pouransari and Alexandros Semertzi. For more information please visit: https://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research-centre/

UNICEF Europe and Central Asia

UNICEF works with and for disadvantaged children and adolescents across 22 countries and territories in Europe and Central Asia where we have country programmes. We also have programmes to respond to the needs of refugee and migrant women and children in the Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland and Slovakia, as well as engagement with institutions across many more countries to uphold the rights of children. In line with our mandate, shaped by the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), we work to ensure that no child is left out of economic and social progress.

Correspondence should be addressed to:

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani, 58 50121 Florence, Italy

Tel: (+39) 055 20 330/Fax: (+39) 055 2033 220

researchpublications@unicef.org

www.unicef-irc.org

- @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and Youtube
- © 2023 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Graphic design by Mason Riley, London Metropolitan University

CONTENTS

01 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
02 INTRODUCTION	7
03 METHODOLOGY	9
04 EVIDENCE	15
05 WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SELF-ISOLATION MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	19
5.1 Demographics	20
5.1.1 Age	20
5.1.2 Sex/gender	24
5.1.3 Education	28
06 CONCLUSIONS	32
6.1 Who is more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures and in what context?	33
6.2 Why are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures and in what context?	117
07 POLICY IMPLICATIONS	37
7.1 Targeting those more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures	38
08 REFERENCES	40

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs), including self-isolation, have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines being available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to people delaying or refusing vaccination, vaccine nationalism, whereby high income nations have secured more vaccines than they need while lower income countries have struggled to access vaccines, the emergence of new variants and the delayed arrival of vaccinations for children. Therefore, NPIs, including self-isolation, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

Research questions

- Who is more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to selfisolation measures?
- 3. In what contexts are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model proposes that there are three components that play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change behaviour. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing the behaviour, have the physical and social opportunity to perform the behaviour, and the motivation to perform the behaviour such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing behaviours.

Methodology

A systematic search of the literature was undertaken to identify empirical research in journal articles written in English, published up to and including 30 June 2021, which investigated factors associated with self-isolation adherence to limit the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Keywords and search strings were designed and tested to capture this focus and a systematic search was undertaken in PubMed Central, Web of Science and Google Scholar, which returned 30 studies about self-isolation adherence. The returned articles underwent title, abstract and full text screening against the inclusion and exclusion criteria before a quality appraisal determined the final list of seven unique studies to be included in this REA. These studies underwent thematic analysis to establish factors associated with selfisolation non-adherence before evidence was segmented by region, cultural groups and income of countries to establish the contexts in which factors were predictive of self-isolation non-adherence, using the COM-B model as a theoretical framework.

Who is more likely to not adhere to selfisolation measures and in what context?

Age: The relationship between age and self-isolation adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 found that age is not associated with social distancing adherence; 50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 found that as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence increases].

Sex/gender: Sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence [67 per cent of studies; 4 out of 6], as particularly evident in high income countries [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Education: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and self-isolation adherence.

Why are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures and in what context?

There was insufficient evidence to make any conclusions as to why people are more likely to not adhere with self-isolation measures. As such, it is recommended that this review be repeated when more evidence on this topic is available.

Policy implications

No need to target groups on the basis of sex/gender: Sex/gender was not associated with self-isolation adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their sex/gender.

INTRODUCTION

Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines having been available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to variations in vaccine uptake, global inequities in vaccine access (1) and the emergence of new variants (2). Therefore, NPIs, including self-isolation, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

This rapid evidence assessment (REA) seeks to understand and synthesize the existing evidence about who does not adhere to self-isolation measures, why and in what context. It focuses on non-adherence, rather than adherence, to inform policies and interventions for those who require support to self-isolate.

This report forms part of a larger evidence assessment to investigate NPIs or behavioural interventions to prevent the community spread of SARS-CoV-2, namely delaying or refusing vaccination, social distancing and mask wearing.

Research questions

- Who is more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?
- 3. In what contexts are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model (3) was used as a conceptual framework for this REA. It proposes that there are three components which play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change it. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, such as the behaviour of social distancing, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing it, have the physical and social opportunity to perform it and the motivation to perform it such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing ones, such as not adhering with social distancing measures.

- Capability: Our abilities to perform a behaviour, including psychological capability, such as knowledge, and physical capability.
- Opportunity: External factors required to make performing a behaviour possible, including physical opportunities, such as being able to access a location, having the time and the resources, and social opportunities, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions. Furthermore, opportunities may include campaigns or interventions (e.g., advertizing campaigns) designed to encourage adherence.
- Motivation: Internal processes that influence our decision-making and thus behaviours, including reflective motivation, which covers the reflective processes whereby we evaluate existing situations, such as perceptions of the impact of the behaviour on oneself, and automatic motivation, such as desires and impulses.

METHODOLOGY



Systematic search

Inclusion criteria: The inclusion criteria are presented in Table 1 below. Only published academic journal articles are included in this REA, so that the evidence being rapidly assessed has first passed through the peer review process so as to pass an initial quality threshold. Only studies written in English are included, such that there may be relevant evidence published in non-English that is excluded from this review. Collection of evidence commenced on 30 June 2021, so any studies published after this date are excluded. This REA includes factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities, motivations, campaigns) associated with not adhering (or conversely adhering) to self-isolation measures. Studies about the efficacy of self-isolation are excluded, but studies about the

are included, if available. Evidence was first categorised by demographics (to answer who does not adhere to self-isolation measures) and then by explanatory factors (to answer why people do not adhere to self-isolation measures), which were then organised within the COM-B framework. Although there are pre-COVID-19 studies (e.g., SARS, Ebola, swine flu), studies in these contexts are excluded and only studies in the context of COVID-19 are included. Study designs that are included are empirical research, whether quantitative or qualitative. Theoretical or conceptual studies are excluded, as are studies lacking explanation of the methodology used or that are secondary literature reviews (as opposed to systematic reviews or REAs). Systematic reviews or REAs are also excluded, to avoid double review of studies included in the REA as independent studies.

Table 1: Inclusion criteria

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Publication format	Journal articles	Not journal articles
		Pre-Prints
Language	English	Not in English
Publication date	Up to and including 30 June 2021	Post 30 June 2021
Aim of study	Investigating factors associated with self-isolation non-adherence (or conversely, self-isolation adherence) Efficacy of campaigns or interventions to tackle self-isolation non-adherence	Not investigating factors associated with self-isolation non-adherence (or conversely, self-isolation adherence) Efficacy of self-isolation
Protective measure	Self-isolation	Not self-isolation

Virus	COVID-19	SARS Ebola Swine flu Not COVID-19
Study population	General population for a given territory Specific populations defined by demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age	Specific populations defined by factors other than demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age (e.g., hospital populations).
Study design	Empirical research (quantitative OR qualitative)	EITHER theoretical/conceptual OR lacking explanation of methodology OR secondary literature review OR systematic reviews OR REAs

Keywords and search strings: The following table provides a list of the keywords for the systematic search of studies via the study's title, abstract and key words. Three layers of keywords are utilised so to reflect the inclusion criteria.

Table 2: Self-isolation adherence keywords

Keywords 1	Covid; coronavirus
Keywords 2	Self-isolat* [isolation/isolating/isolate]; test* [testing] trac* [trace/tracking]
Keywords 3	Compl* [compliance/compliancy/comply/complied]; adher* [adherence/adherency/adhere/adhering/adhered]; follow* [following/followed]; rule* [rules]; guid* [guidelines/guided]; prevent* [preventative/preventing/prevented]; reason* [reasons]; associat* [associated/associations]; predict* [predictors/predicted]; expla* [explanatory/explained]; campaign* [campaigns]

The research team tested the keywords and search strings across the databases and found that they were effective at returning relevant evidence ahead of the full search commencing.

Databases: The research team undertook a comprehensive search of academic and open source databases, as listed in Table 3.

Table 3: List of databases searched

PubMed Central	
Web of Science	
Google Scholar	

Screening

The following three-stage screening process was undertaken to determine the evidence to be included in the REA.

Title screening stage: The titles of studies returned by the systematic searches were screened for relevance using the inclusion criteria. Studies clearly not meeting the inclusion criteria, based on the limited information available from a title, were excluded. Where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) in the next stage of screening.

Abstract screening stage: Abstracts of the remaining studies were next screened for relevance against the inclusion criteria, using the greater information available in an abstract to consider more of the inclusion criteria. Studies deemed not to meet the inclusion criteria were excluded. Again, where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) for the next stage of screening.

Full text screening stage: The remaining studies were read in full to determine if all inclusion criteria had been met, and excluded if not. Where a member of the research team was unsure, a second member of the research team also read the full text. Both then discussed the study and came to a decision together on whether the study should be included or excluded. The quality of a study was also appraised when reading the full text, considering guidance from the UK's Department for International Development (DFID, 4) on assessing the strengths of evidence.

Quality appraisal

According to DFID (4), judgement about a study's quality should be based on a combination of criteria covering conceptual framing, transparency, appropriateness, cultural sensitivity, validity, reliability and cogency, as summarised and applied to this REA below:

Conceptual framing: The study should acknowledge existing research or theory, construct a conceptual or

theoretical framework setting out the study's assumptions, and pose specific research questions or hypotheses.

Transparency: The study should be transparent about its design and methods, including data collection and analysis, and research setting, so that results can be reproduced. Studies receiving funding from a party with vested interests are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Appropriateness: The study should use an appropriate research design to answer its research question or achieve its aim or objectives. The screening process will have included only studies investigating the factors associated with adherence of the included COVID-19 interventions. Experimental designs are most appropriate for establishing causal linkages between a treatment (e.g., campaign) and a dependent variable (e.g., adherence), but, other than campaigns, most factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities and motivations) can only be measured and observed as independent variables, rather than manipulated or randomly assigned. As such, associations are most appropriately measured using observational designs, such as regression ones, that measure the association between factors and adherence whilst controlling for confounding variables to protect against bias whereby an unmeasured and uncontrolled variable can result in a distortion in the measurement of an association between a factor and adherence. Qualitative studies are not appropriate for measuring associations, but they are included in this REA because rich qualitative data can provide valuable evidence in terms of detailing the mechanisms and processes by which a factor is associated with adherence. Studies using an inappropriate design are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Cultural sensitivity: The study should take steps to consider the local, socio-cultural factors that might affect the association between factors and adherence to COVID-19 interventions (i.e., are confounding variables). This is particularly important in the context of campaigns, as treatment variables, where a control condition in which the setting (i.e., socio-cultural factors) is held constant, should be included as part of the design to isolate the effect of a campaign from the setting in which it was implemented. Such measures are not possible when

observing independent variables, but a study could theoretically consider socio-cultural factors when they represent a potential bias.

Validity: The study should take steps to ensure measurement validity, internal validity, external validity and ecological validity.

Measurement validity: The study should use indicators that are well suited to measure the target concept and valid in the research setting of the study. For example, using statements that measure the construct or variable of interest and using concrete facts (e.g., qualifications obtained to measure education) rather than abstract concepts where available.

Internal validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its evidence establishes a cause and effect relationship. As described above, the study should take steps to control for confounding variables, which is possible in both experimental and observational designs. Furthermore, the study should take steps to consider reverse causality; the possibility that the supposed independent variable and supposed dependent variable are operating in reverse so that the supposed dependent variable is causing the supposed independent variable. For example, perceived susceptibility has been conceived as an independent variable in relation to the dependent variable of adherence to self-isolation measures, but equally, an individual's adherence to self-isolation measures can just as plausibly be an independent variable in relation to perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, i.e., 'I am not adhering to self-isolation measures so I am more susceptible to infection.' An experimental design removes the possibility of reverse causality because the sequence of cause and effect can be observed following implementation of a treatment. However, reverse causality is a potential problem in observational research and, where this is a risk, it should be considered theoretically, i.e., provide an explanation based upon what we know about the variables to make a claim that one is causing the other.

External validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its findings are likely to be generalizable and replicable across other contexts. Quantitative studies should take steps to construct a representative sample of the population of interest, such as using a sampling frame, randomly selecting responsive units from that sampling frame so that no units are systematically excluded, and collecting a sufficient sample size for appropriate margin of error and confidence level.

Ecological validity: The study should take steps to capture or accurately represent the real world by undertaking reflexivity to consider how much the activity of doing the research biased the research findings. For example, asking questions about legal adherence with rules in a way and

in a context that captures the truth, rather than the socially desirable response.

Reliability: The study should take steps to ensure stability, internal reliability and analytical reliability.

Stability: The study should take steps to ensure that measures being used work consistently (i.e., results are stable under the same conditions), for example, by ensuring researchers are consistent in the way questions are asked and data gathered.

Internal reliability: The study should take steps to ensure internal consistency between different components of a measure. For example, Cronbach's Alpha can be used to measure the internal consistency of items comprising a scale and items from scales or variables removed from studies where internal consistency thresholds are not met.

Analytical reliability: The study should take steps to ensure that dramatically different results from the same set of data by different researchers or analytical steps being used are avoided. For example, using multiple researchers and using a coding scheme in thematic analysis.

Cogency: The study should provide a clear, logical thread that runs throughout the manuscript, linking conceptual frameworks to data collection, data analysis and conclusions, only making claims supported by the data and findings. Furthermore, the study should consider alternative explanations and interpretations of the data and findings and be self-critical such that limitations of the study are identified.

Where a member of the research team was unsure whether to include or exclude on the basis of quality, a second member of the research team undertook a quality appraisal of the study before both discussed to jointly reach a decision on inclusion or exclusion.

Data analysis and synthesis

Predictors: Using NVivo software, open coding was undertaken to identify predictors of self-isolation non-adherence. Once all studies had been coded for predictors, lists of studies containing each predictor were established. At this point, predictors were reviewed to identify predictors of equivalent meaning but different labelling and these collapsed to form a single predictor. For example, it was decided that fear of COVID-19 and perceived vulnerability were equivalent predictors.

Predictor-specific study summaries: Next, predictor-specific summaries of each study were written, identifying the study's context (e.g., United Kingdom residents), sampling method (e.g., convenience sample), how it defined and measured the predictor, how it defined (e.g., self-isolation or test and trace) and measured (e.g., binary variable;

adherent or not) the outcome variable, the study design (e.g., cross-sectional survey design) and data analysis method (e.g., logistic regression). Next, a summary of the evidence relevant to the predictor of interest was written, which may have been quantitative or qualitative. Where the quantitative analysis was simple (e.g., Chisquare with a single independent variable), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., percentage differences and statistical significance), but where it was multiple (e.g., multiple logistic regression), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., odds ratio and statistical significance) when holding other variables constant.

Finally, a conclusion was drawn as to the overall finding of the study in terms of the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable. This may have been identifying a category (e.g., males were most likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures) where the outcome variable was most prevalent, whether a numerical association was positive (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering to self-isolation measures increases), negative (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering to self-isolation measures decreases), non-linear or non-significant (e.g., there was no association between age and self-isolation adherence). Where there was conflicting evidence within a single study, the strength of the conflicting evidence was weighed up to determine an overall finding. For example, if the vast majority of predictor categories were not significantly associated with an outcome variable then that study would be deemed to evidence that the predictor was not associated with the outcome variable.

Themes by finding: Next, the predictor-specific study summaries were thematically analysed on the basis of their findings. For example, studies were grouped on the basis of a positive association, negative association, non-linear association or no association.

Data synthesis: To draw conclusions for each predictor, frequencies of studies for each theme were counted and percentages calculated, first at the level of predictive vs. non-predictive whereby, for example, studies finding statistically significant associations, regardless of direction of the association, were grouped and counted and compared against all studies that did not find a statistically significant association between a predictor and outcome variable. Next, this synthesis was undertaken at the granular level of themes, breaking predictive studies down into their different findings (e.g., positive association, negative association, non-linear association and no association). Where a category made up 70 per cent or above of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of high confidence about the relationship; where a category made up 60 per cent to 69 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a confident conclusion about the relationship; where a category made up 50 per

cent to 59 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of some confidence about the relationship, unless another category also made up 50 per cent of the evidence, in which case the evidence was deemed inconclusive. Equally, if no category made up at least 50 per cent of the evidence it was deemed inconclusive.

Context segmentation: To address the question of 'in what contexts are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures?' evidence was segmented on the basis of (i) region, (ii) cultural group and (iii) income, as determined by the country in which the study was conducted. Region segments used were Europe, North America, Asia, Oceania, South America and Africa. Cultural group segments used were Anglo, Germanic Europe, Nordic Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin Europe, Latin America, Southern Asia, Confucian Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East, as defined by House et al. (5). Income segments used were high income, upper middle income, lower middle income and low income, as defined by the World Bank. The above data synthesis approach was followed at the level of each segment. Where there were less than four studies in a segment, it was deemed that this was insufficient evidence from which to draw conclusions about the relationship between a predictor and outcome variable.

Themes by conceptual framework: Demographic predictors were identified to answer the 'who is more likely to not adhere to self-isolation' question. It was intended that the remaining predictors would then be organised within the COM-B model conceptual framework in terms of psychological capability (e.g., knowledge), physical capability (e.g., physical strength), physical opportunity (e.g., time, location and resources), social opportunity (e.g., cultural norms and social cues), reflective motivation (e.g., reflections and motivations) and automatic motivation (e.g., desires, impulses and inhibitions) to answer the 'why are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation?' question. However, there was not sufficient evidence for any themes relevant to the 'why are people more likely to not adhere to self-isolation?' question. Consequently, the only research question that this review could contribute to was 'who is more likely to adhere to self-isolation and in what context?'

EVIDENCE



Systematic search and screening results

The systematic search returned 41 studies about self-isolation. After duplicates were removed on Zotero software, the number of studies decreased to 30 (15 from Web of Science, nine from Google Scholar and six from PubMed).

Title screening stage: Of the 30 unique studies returned from the systematic search, 11 studies were excluded at the title screening stage:

• 11 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with self-isolation.

Abstract screening stage: Of the 19 studies remaining after the title screening stage, six studies were excluded at the abstract screening stage:

 6 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with self-isolation adherence.

Full text screening and quality appraisal stage: Of the 13 studies remaining after the abstract screening stage, six studies were excluded at the full text screening and quality appraisal stage:

 6 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring relevant outcomes.

Overview of vaccine hesitancy evidence

The final list of self-isolation adherence evidence to be reviewed consisted of seven studies, a summary of which follows:

Table 4: Summary of studies included in REA

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bodas and Peleg (2020a)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income
2	Bodas and Peleg (2020b)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income
3	Eraso and Hills (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
4	Kowalski et al. (2020)	Poland	Europe	Eastern Europe	Upper Middle Income
5	Petrocchi et al. (2021)	Switzerland	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
6	Shati et al. (2020)	Iran	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
7	Steens et al. (2020)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income

Region: Evidence was reviewed from two regions of the world, mostly from Europe [57 per cent], followed by Asia [43 per cent].

Cultural group: The most represented cultural group was the Middle East [43 per cent] with other cultural groups having no more than a single study reviewed.

Income: The majority of evidence reviewed was from high income countries [71 per cent], followed by upper-middle income countries [29 per cent].

Study design: All studies [100 per cent] followed a cross-sectional survey research design, which lends itself well to measuring factors associated with self-isolation adherence.

Table 5: Studies by region, cultural group, income category and study design

	Number	%		
Region				
Europe	4	57%		
North America	0	0%		
Asia	3	43%		
Oceania	0	0%		
South America	0	0%		

Africa	0	0%	
Multi-regional	0	0%	
Cultural group			
Anglo	1	14%	
Germanic Europe	1	14%	
Nordic Europe	1	14%	
Eastern Europe	1	14%	
Latin Europe	0	0%	
Latin America	0	0%	
Southern Asia	0	0%	
Confucian Asia	0	0%	
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0%	
Middle East	3	43%	
Multi-cultural group	0	0%	
Income			
High Income	5	71%	
Upper Middle Income	2	29%	
Lower Middle Income	0	0%	
Low Income	0	0%	
Multi-incomes	0	0%	
Study design			
Cross-sectional	7	100%	
Conjoint experiment	0	0%	
Qualitative	0	0%	
Total	7	100%	

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SELF-ISOLATION MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



DEMOGRAPHICS AGE

5.1.1

Age is the number of years since an individual was born. The evidence reviewed measured it as either discrete numerical data (i.e., the exact age in years of a respondent) or as a categorical variable (i.e., the age range group that a respondent's age corresponds to).

In total, four studies considered the association between age and self-isolation adherence. Of these, two found that age was predictive of self-isolation adherence and two found that age was not associated with self-isolation adherence. Of the two studies that found age was predictive of self-isolation adherence, both found that, as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere).

As age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases

Table 6: Studies evidencing that, as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Shati et al. (2020)	Iran	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
2	Bodas and Peleg (2020a)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income

Iran, Shati et al. (2020): In a representative sample of 558 people, Shati et al. (2020) examined the relationship between age, gender, living condition and self-isolation adherence. Shati et al. (2020) used logistic regression and found a positive relationship between age group and self-isolation where older age groups showed higher probability to self-isolation adherence. This association, however, was only statistically significant for participants older than 80 years when compared to those younger than 70 years old [OR: 2.2, 95% CI: 1.2, 4.0].

Israel, Bodas and Peleg (2020a): A representative sample of 563 was investigated regarding the association of the compensated, non-compensated self-isolation and age. Bodas and Peleg (2020a) used independent t-test and found that the older people (40.46 \pm 14.46) were more likely to self-isolate than the younger [37.64 \pm 13.44] people [t = - 3.15, df = 855.69, p = 0.001].

Age is not associated with self-isolation adherence

Table 7: Studies evidencing that age is not associated with self-isolation adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Eraso and Hills (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income
2	Petrocchi et al. (2021)	Switzerland	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income

United Kingdom, Eraso and Hills (2021): In a convenience sample of 681 people, Eraso and Hills (2021) investigated the association between adherence to self-isolation and psychological, health, housing, political, social and other demographic factors including age. However, further to descriptive statistics, age was tested with a logistic regression, but it was found to be a non-significant predictor for self-isolation.

Switzerland, Petrocchi et al. (2021): Petrocchi et al. (2021) examined in the first phase of their study whether a high level of affective empathy is a predictor of the acceptance of lockdowns, controlling for psychological distress, health status and socio-demographic characteristics. In the second phase of their study, they also added the evaluation of the risk exposure condition in three groups, categorised as high, moderate, and low risk. Age as a covariate was not significantly associated with the acceptance of physical isolation.

Conclusions

Table 8: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As age increases, self-isolation non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	2 [5	50%]	2 [50%]	4
Studies	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	2 [100%]	2
North America	0	0	0	0
Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0

Latin Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	2 [100%]	0	0	2
Income				
High Income	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: The overall relationship between age and self-isolation adherence is inconclusive: 50 per cent of studies [2 out of 4] found age to be predictive of self-isolation adherence and 50 per cent of studies [2 out of 4] found that it is not, such that the relationship between age and self-isolation adherence is inconclusive. Of the two studies that found age to be predictive of self-isolation adherence, 100 per cent [2 out of 2] found that, as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere). However, out of all studies, only 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found that, as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, no associations between age and self-isolation adherence are evident due to insufficient evidence.

DEMOGRAPHICS SEX/GENDER

5.1.2

Sex is the biological characteristics and gender is the socially constructed characteristics of males, females and other categories. In the evidence reviewed sex and gender were most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., male vs female), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., other).

In total, six studies considered the association between sex/gender and self-isolation adherence. Of these, two found that sex/gender was predictive of self-isolation adherence and four found that sex/gender was not associated with self-isolation adherence. Of the two studies that found sex/gender was predictive of self-isolation adherence, both found that males are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures than females.

Males are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures

Table 9: Studies evidencing that males are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Shati et al. (2020)	Iran	Asia	Middle East	Upper Middle Income
2	Bodas and Peleg (2020a)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income

Iran, Shati et al. (2020): In a representative sample of 558 people, Shati et al. (2020) examined the relationship between age, gender, living condition and self-isolation adherence; 54.4 per cent of the participants were females. Shati et al. (2020) used logistic regression and found a significant association between self-isolation compliance and gender [p < 0.0001]. Females had better self-isolation adherence than males. Females were twice more likely to comply to 'complete isolation' than males [OR complete vs. partial: 2.2, 95% CI: 1.5, 3.1].

Israel, Bodas and Peleg (2020a): A representative sample of 563 was investigated regarding the association of the compensated, non-compensated self-isolation and age. Bodas and Peleg (2020) used independent t-test for statistical analysis, and they did not find statistical significance regarding gender association with self-isolation. Bodas and Peleg (2020a) used univariate analysis which showed that gender is associated with the intent to comply with self-isolation. Specifically, females (67.2%) were more likely to self-isolate than males (60.2%) (2 = 5.675, df = 1, p = 0.017) without being compensated.

Sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence

Table 10: Studies evidencing that sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bodas and Peleg (2020a)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income

2	Petrocchi et al. (2021)	Switzerland	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
3	Steens et al. (2020)	Norway	Europe	Nordic Europe	High Income
4	Eraso and Hills (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

Israel, Bodas and Peleg (2020a): In the first study, conducted in February 2020, a convenience sample of 563 adults took part. Bodas and Peleg (2020a) examined the relationship between age, gender, religion, religiosity, residence, family status, having children, education, income, employment status and the intention of compensated and non-compensated self-isolation. Chisquare tests showed that gender was not a significant predictor for self-isolation.

Switzerland, Petrocchi et al. (2021): Petrocchi et al. (2021) examined in the first phase of their study whether a high level of affective empathy is a predictor of the acceptance of lockdowns, controlling for psychological distress, health status and socio-demographic characteristics. In the second phase of their study, they also added the evaluation of the risk exposure condition in three groups categorised as high, moderate, and low risk. Petrocchi et al. (2021) used non-parametric comparisons to examine the association

between sex and self-isolation, but the results were not significant.

Norway, Steens et al. (2020): In a sample of 1,704 people in Norway, Steens et al. (2020) investigated the association between age, gender, COVID-19 symptoms and self-isolation within four waves of timeline. Using regression models, they found that gender was not a significant predictor for self-isolation.

United Kingdom, Eraso and Hills (2021): In a convenience sample of 681 people, Eraso and Hills (2021) investigated the association between adherence to self-isolation and psychological, health, housing, political, social and other demographic factors including gender; 82.7% of the participants were females. Eraso and Hills (2021) used logistic regression for statistical analysis, but gender was not found to be a significant predictor for self-isolation.

Conclusions

Table 11: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]		Total
	Males are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures [n, %]	Females are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	
Studies	2 [3	3%]	4 [67%]	6
Studies	2 [33%]	0	4 [67%]	6
Region				
Europe	0	0	3 [100%]	3
North America	0	0	0	0
Asia	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Oceania	0	0	0	0

South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Income				
High Income	1 [20%]	0	4 [80%]	5
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between sex/gender and self-isolation adherence, 67 per cent [4 out of 6] found that sex/gender is not predictive of self-isolation adherence. As such, it can be confidently concluded that sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence. Of the two studies that found sex/gender to be predictive of self-isolation adherence, 100 per cent [2 out of 2] found that males are more likely to not adhere to self-isolation measures.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between sex/gender and self-isolation adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that sex/gender is not predictive of self-isolation adherence. As such, it can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries, sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and self-isolation adherence in upper middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and self-isolation adherence in lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS EDUCATION

5.1.3

Education is the process of learning. Education was measured in terms of the highest level of formal education achieved by respondents as a categorical, but ordered, variable from low (e.g., no formal qualifications) to high (e.g., doctoral degree).

In total, three studies considered the association between education and self-isolation adherence. Of these, all three found that education was not predictive of self-isolation adherence.

Education is not associated with self-isolation adherence

Table 12: Studies evidencing that education is not associated with self-isolation adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Bodas and Peleg (2020b)	Israel	Asia	Middle East	High Income
2	Petrocchi et al. (2021)	Switzerland	Europe	Germanic Europe	High Income
3	Eraso and Hills (2021)	United Kingdom	Europe	Anglo	High Income

Israel, Bodas and Peleg (2020b): In the first study, conducted in February 2020, a convenience sample of 563 adults took part. Bodas and Peleg (2020b) examined the relationship between age, gender, religion, religiosity, residence, family status, having children, education, income, employment status and the intention of compensated and non-compensated self-isolation. Bodas and Peleg (2020b) used independent chi square test and found that education level is not a significant predictor for self-isolation.

Switzerland, Petrocchi et al. (2021): Petrocchi et al. (2021) examined in the first phase of their study whether a high level of affective empathy is a predictor of the acceptance of lockdowns, controlling for psychological distress, health status and socio-demographic characteristics. In the

second phase of their study, they also added the evaluation of the risk exposure condition in three groups categorised as high, moderate, and low risk. Mediation analysis showed that education level was not a significant predictor for self-isolation adherence.

United Kingdom, Eraso and Hills (2021): In a convenience sample of 681 people, Eraso and Hills (2021) investigated the association between adherence to self-isolation and psychological, health, housing, political, social and other demographic factors including education level. Eraso and Hills used a binary logistic regression model to measure the associations between self-isolation and educational qualifications. The level of education was not a significant factor for self-isolation.

Conclusions

Table 13: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As education level increases, self-isolation non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As education level increases, self-isolation non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	()	3 [100%]	3
Studies	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Region				
Europe	0	0	2 [100%]	2
North America	0	0	0	0
Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Germanic Europe	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0

Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Income				
High Income	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Upper Middle income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and self-isolation adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

CONCLUSIONS

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SELF-ISOLATION MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT??



Age

The relationship between age and self-isolation adherence is inconclusive.

Overall, the relationship between age and self-isolation adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 found that age is not associated with social distancing adherence; 50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 found that as age increases, self-isolation non-adherence increases].

Gender/Sex

Sex/gender is not associated with self-isolation adherence.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that sex/gender is not predictive of self-isolation adherence [67 per cent of studies; 4 out of 6].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that in high income countries sex/gender is not predictive of self-isolation adherence [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Education

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and self-isolation adherence. Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that education is not associated with social distancing adherence [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SELFISOLATION MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Capability (psychological)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to psychological capability.

Capability (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical capability.

Opportunity (social)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical capability.

Opportunity (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical opportunity.

Motivation (reflective)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical capability.

Motivation (automatic)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to automatic motivation.

Implication

Given that there was not sufficient evidence available to draw any conclusions for this research question, it is recommended that this review be repeated at a later date when there is sufficient evidence from which to draw conclusions.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS



TARGETING THOSE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO SELFISOLATION MEASURES



Sex/Gender

No need to target groups on the basis of sex/gender

Sex/gender was not associated with self-isolation adherence, so policy makers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their sex/gender.

REFERENCES



REA References

Bodas, M. and Peleg, K., 'Income assurances are a crucial factor in determining public compliance with self-isolation regulations during the COVID-19 outbreak – cohort study in Israel', Israel Journal of Health Policy Research, 20 October 2020, 9(1):1–10.

Bodas, M. and Peleg, K., 'Self-isolation compliance in the COVID-19 era influenced by compensation: Findings from a recent survey in Israel: Public attitudes toward the COVID-19 outbreak and self-isolation: A cross sectional study of the adult population of Israel', Health Affairs, 9 April 2020 (epub ahead of print), 39(6):936–941.

Eraso, Y. and Hills, S., 'Self-Isolation and quarantine during the UK's first wave of COVID-19. A mixed-methods study of non-adherence', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 30 June 2021, 18(13):7015.

Kowalski, J. et al., 'Adherence to safety and self-isolation guidelines, conspiracy and paranoia-like beliefs during COVID-19 pandemic in Poland- associations and moderators', Psychiatry research, 27 October 2020, (epub ahead of print), 294:113540.

Petrocchi, S. et al., 'Affective empathy predicts self-isolation behaviour acceptance during coronavirus risk exposure', Scientific Reports, 12 May 2021, 11(1):10153.

Shati, M. et al., 'Adherence to self-isolation measures by older adults during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) epidemic: A phone survey in Iran', Medical Journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran, 10 November 2020, 34:152.

Steens, A. et al., 'Poor self-reported adherence to COVID-19-related quarantine/isolation requests, Norway, April to July 2020', Eurosurveillance, 17 September 2020, 25(37):2001607.

Document References

- 1. Burgess R.A. et al., 'The COVID-19 vaccines rush: participatory community engagement matters more than ever', The Lancet, 10 December 2020 (epub ahead of print), 397(10268):8–10.
- 2. Aschwanden C., 'Five reasons why COVID herd immunity is probably impossible', Nature, 18 March 2021, 591(7851):520–2.
- 3. Michie S., van Stralen M.M. and West R., 'The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions', Implementation Science, 23 April 2011, 6(1):42.
- 4. UK Department for International Development, 'Assessing the strength of evidence', March 2014, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291982/HTN-strength-evidence-march2014.pdf, accessed 1 June 2021
- 5. House R.J. et al., editors, 'Culture, Leadership, and Organizations: The GLOBE Study of 62 Societies', Sage Publications, July 2004.

for every child, answers

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani 58 50121 Florence, Italy Tel: +39 055 2033 0 Fax: +39 055 2033 220 researchpublications@unicef.org www.unicef-irc.org @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and YouTube



PREDICTORS OF MASK WEARING TO PREVENT THE COMMUNITY SPREAD OF SARS-COV-2:

Who does not adhere to mask wearing measures, why and in what context?

A Rapid Evidence Assessment

January 2023



UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight tackles the questions of greatest importance for children, both current and emerging. It drives change through research and foresight on a wide range of child rights issues, sparking global discourse and actively engaging young people in its work.

UNICEF Innocenti equips thought leaders and decision-makers with the evidence they need to build a better, safer world for children. The office undertakes research on unresolved and emerging issues, using primary and secondary data that represent the voices of children and families themselves. It uses foresight to set the agenda for children, including horizon scanning, trends analysis and scenario development. The office produces a diverse and dynamic library of high-level reports, analyses and policy papers, and provides a platform for debate and advocacy on a wide range of child rights issues.

UNICEF Innocenti provides, for every child, answers to their most pressing concerns.

The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of UNICEF. This paper has been peer reviewed both externally and within UNICEF.

Extracts from this publication may be freely reproduced with due acknowledgement. Requests to utilize larger portions or the full publication should be addressed to the Communications Unit at: researchpublications@unicef.org.

Any part of this publication may be freely reproduced if accompanied by the following citation: Predictors of Social Distancing to Prevent the Community Spread of SARS-CoV-2: Who does not adhere to social distancing measures, why and in what context? A Rapid Evidence Assessment, London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre. UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight, Florence, 2022.

This research was commissioned and funded by UNICEF and undertaken by London Metropolitan University's Performance with Purpose Research Centre.

London Metropolitan University Performance with Purpose Research Centre

London Metropolitan University's Centre for Performance with Purpose is located within the Guildhall School of Business and Law. The Centre focuses on research that addresses real societal challenges, such as inclusion, social value and equity, and applies business and management techniques to support effective organizational performance in tackling social problems. The research team was led by Dr. Stephen Hills and included Dr. Justin Webb, Dr. Anna Baker, Dr. Somayeh Pouransari and Alexandros Semertzi. For more information please visit: https://www.londonmet.ac.uk/research-centre/

UNICEF Europe and Central Asia

UNICEF works with and for disadvantaged children and adolescents across 22 countries and territories in Europe and Central Asia where we have country programmes. We also have programmes to respond to the needs of refugee and migrant women and children in the Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Poland and Slovakia, as well as engagement with institutions across many more countries to uphold the rights of children. In line with our mandate, shaped by the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), we work to ensure that no child is left out of economic and social progress.

Correspondence should be addressed to:

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani, 58 50121 Florence, Italy

Tel: (+39) 055 20 330/Fax: (+39) 055 2033 220

researchpublications@unicef.org

www.unicef-irc.org

- @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and Youtube
- © 2023 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Graphic design by Mason Riley, London Metropolitan University

CONTENTS

01 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
02 INTRODUCTION	8
03 METHODOLOGY	10
04 EVIDENCE	16
05 WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?	21
5.1 Demographics	22
5.1.1 Age	22
5.1.2 Sex/gender	28
5.1.3 Education	34
5.1.4 Income	39
5.1.5 Race/ethnicity	44
5.1.6 Marital status	49
5.1.7 Living area	53
5.1.8 Health status	58
5.1.9 Access to health care	62
06 WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT	T? 66
6.1 Social opportunity	67
6.1.1 Perceived social normative pressure	67
6.1.2 Political ideology	73
6.1.3 Setting	78
6.1.4 Mandating mask wearing	82
6.2 Reflective motivation	86
6.2.1 Perceived mask wearing efficacy	86
6.2.2 Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19	91
6.2.3 Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19	95
6.2.4 Perceived behavioral control	100
07 CONCLUSIONS	105
7.1 Who is more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures and in what context?	106
7.2 Why are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures and in what context?	109
08 POLICY IMPLICATIONS	113
8.1 Targeting those more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures	114
8.2 Improving social opportunity	116
8.3 Improving reflective motivation	118
09 REFERENCES	121

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines being available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to variations in vaccine uptake, global inequities in vaccine access and the emergence of new variants. Therefore, NPIs, including mask wearing, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

Research questions

- 1. Who is more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?
- 3. In what context are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model proposes that there are three components which play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change it. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing it, have the physical and social opportunity to perform it and the motivation to perform it such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing ones.

Methodology

A systematic search of the literature was undertaken to identify empirical research in journal articles written in English, published up to and including 30 June 2021, which investigated factors associated with mask wearing adherence to limit the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Keywords and search strings were designed and tested to capture this focus and a systematic search was undertaken in PubMed Central, Web of Science and Google Scholar, which returned 179 studies about mask wearing adherence. The returned articles underwent title, abstract and full text screening against the inclusion and exclusion criteria before a quality appraisal determined the final list of 16 unique studies to be included in this REA. These studies underwent thematic analysis to establish factors associated with mask wearing non-adherence before evidence was segmented by region, cultural groups and income of countries to establish the contexts in which factors were predictive of mask wearing non-adherence, using the COM-B model as a theoretical framework.

Who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures and in what context?

Age: Age is not associated with mask wearing adherence [64 per cent of studies; 7 out of 11], as particularly evident in North American [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8] and Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8] countries.

Sex/gender: Males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures than females [55 per cent of studies; 6 out of 11].

Education: Those who are less educated are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures [57 per cent of studies, 4 out of 7], as particularly evident in high income countries [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income: Amount of income is not associated with mask wearing adherence [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4].

Race/ethnicity: Members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask [60 per cent of studies, 3 out of 5].

Marital status: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between marital status and mask wearing adherence.

Living area: Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with mask wearing adherence [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4].

Health status: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between health status and mask wearing adherence.

Access to health care: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between access to health care and mask wearing adherence.

Why are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures and in what context?

Social opportunity: External social opportunities required to make performing a behaviour possible, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions.

Perceived social normative pressure: Those who perceive less social normative pressure to wear a mask are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures [86 per cent of studies, 6 out of 7], as particularly evident in North American [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5], Anglo cultural group [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5] and high income [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6] countries.

Political ideology: Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5], as particularly evident in North American [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5], Anglo cultural group [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5] and high income [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5] countries.

Setting: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between setting and mask wearing adherence.

Mandating mask wearing: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between mandating mask wearing and mask wearing adherence.

Reflective motivation: The reflective and internal processes by which we evaluate existing situations, influencing our decision-making and thus behaviours.

Perceived mask wearing efficacy: Those who perceive mask wearing to be less effective are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures [60 per cent of studies, 3 out of 5], as particularly evident in North American [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] and high income [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] countries.

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19: The relationship between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 found that, as perceived vulnerability increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases; 50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4 studies found that perceived vulnerability is not predictive of mask wearing adherence].

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19: Those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to catching COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5], as particularly evident in North American [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], Anglo cultural group [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] and high income [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4] countries.

Perceived behavioural control: Those who perceive themselves to have less control over their mask wearing are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing easures [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4], as particularly evident in high income countries [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Policy implications

Support males to wear masks: Further research is required to understand why males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures in order to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to adhere to mask wearing measures.

Support less educated people to wear masks: Further research is required to understand why less educated people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures in order to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to adhere to mask wearing measures.

Learn why members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask, but least likely to receive the vaccine:
Further research is required to understand why members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask, but least likely to receive a COVID-19 vaccine (see equivalent

REA on vaccine hesitancy in this series), in particular with regard to perceived vulnerability, perceived susceptibility and trust.

Model mask wearing and make mask wearing a requirement in social settings: Community leaders should model mask wearing adherence to encourage members of their community to adhere to mask wearing measures. Furthermore, ambassadors from peer groups should be recruited to model mask wearing adherence for groups who are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures. Social normative pressure can be further strengthened by restricting access to social venues and social events to those not wearing a mask, although this carries a risk of politicising COVID-19 and mask wearing.

Depoliticise COVID-19 and diversify messengers promoting mask wearing: Removal of freedoms can lead to a widening of the political divide and should be avoided wherever possible. Messengers should be diversified, using non-political figures, as well as right wing and conservative leaders, to promote the importance of mask wearing.

Communicate how masks work and how effective they are: The role of masks in limiting the spread of COVID-19 should be clearly communicated. Source control to block exhaled COVID-19 virus is where, if someone has the virus, they can protect others by wearing a mask to block the release of up to 80 per cent of exhaled respiratory particles and droplets into the environment. Filtration for wearer protection is where, if someone comes into contact with the virus, wearing a mask can reduce their exposure to infectious particles and droplets, filtering nearly 50 per cent of fine particles. The effectiveness of face masks at limiting the release of the virus from the wearer, but also protecting them from exposure, has consistently been found to reduce transmission by approximately 70 per cent in real-world settings.

Challenge beliefs of insusceptibility to COVID-19 with real-time location-specific data: Regular and meaningful communication of infection rates can challenge perceptions of insusceptibility.

Provide free-of-charge masks and reminders to wear masks: Provide free-of-charge masks at entrances to locations where mask wearing is required or advised, and environmental cues, such as signs, to remind people to wear masks.

INTRODUCTION

Background

Non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) have played a critical role in reducing transmission rates and the impact of COVID-19 and will continue to be an important tool in slowing and preventing the spread of SARS-CoV-2. Despite effective vaccines having been available since 2020, they have thus far been unable to eradicate COVID-19 due to variations in vaccine uptake, global inequities in vaccine access (1) and the emergence of new variants (2). Therefore, NPIs, including mask wearing, have been retained as a protective measure against COVID-19.

This rapid evidence assessment (REA) seeks to understand and synthesize the existing evidence about who does not adhere to mask wearing measures, why and in what context. It focuses on non-adherence, rather than adherence, to be able to inform policies and interventions for those who require support to wear masks.

This report forms part of a larger evidence assessment to investigate NPIs or behavioural interventions to prevent the community spread of SARS-CoV-2, namely the delay or refusal of vaccination, social distancing and self-isolation.

Research questions

- Who is more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?
- 2. Why are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?
- 3. In what context are people more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures?

Conceptual framework

The COM-B model (3) was used as a conceptual framework for this REA. It proposes that there are three components which play a pivotal role in producing behaviour and which, therefore, can be modified to change it. According to the model, in order to perform a behaviour, such as the behaviour of social distancing, an individual must feel that they are physically and psychologically capable of performing it, have the physical and social opportunity to perform it and the motivation to perform it such that they want to or need to carry out the behaviour more than competing ones, such as not adhering with social distancing measures.

- Capability: Our abilities to perform a behaviour, including psychological capability, such as knowledge, and physical capability.
- Opportunity: External factors required to make performing a behaviour possible, including physical opportunities, such as being able to access a location, having the time and the resources, and social opportunities, such as social pressures, cultural rules and expectations, and cultural perceptions.
 Furthermore, opportunities may include campaigns or interventions (e.g., advertizing campaigns) designed to encourage adherence.
- Motivation: Internal processes that influence our decision-making and thus behaviours, including reflective motivation, which covers the reflective processes whereby we evaluate existing situations, such as perceptions of the impact of the behaviour on oneself, and automatic motivation, such as desires and impulses.

METHODOLOGY



Systematic search

Inclusion criteria: The inclusion criteria are presented in Table 1 below. Only published academic journal articles are included in this REA, so that the evidence being rapidly assessed has first gone through the peer review process to pass an initial quality threshold. Only studies written in English are included, such that there may be relevant evidence published in non-English that is excluded in this review. Collection of evidence commenced on 30 June 2021, so any studies published after this date are excluded. This REA includes factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities, motivations, campaigns) associated with the non-adherence (or conversely the adherence) of social

distancing measures. Studies about efficacy of social distancing measures are excluded, but studies about the efficacy of campaigns to increase social distancing adherence are included, if available. Although there are pre-COVID-19 studies (e.g., SARS, Ebola, swine flu), in these contexts they are excluded and only ones in the context of COVID-19 are included. Study designs that are included are empirical research, whether quantitative or qualitative. Theoretical or conceptual studies are excluded, as are studies that lack explanation of the methodology used or which are secondary literature reviews (as opposed to systematic reviews or REAs). Systematic reviews or REAs are also excluded to avoid double review of studies included in the REA as independent studies.

Table 1: Inclusion criteria

	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Publication format	Journal articles	Not journal articles
		Pre-Prints
Language	English	Not in English
Publication date	Up to and including 30 June 2021	Post 30 June 2021
Aim of study	Investigating factors associated with mask wearing non-adherence (or conversely, mask wearing adherence) Efficacy of campaigns or interventions to tackle mask wearing non-adherence	Not investigating factors associated with mask wearing non-adherence (or conversely, mask wearing adherence) Efficacy of masks
Protective measure	Mask wearing	Not mask wearing

Virus	COVID-19	SARS
		Ebola
		Swine flu
		Not COVID-19
Study population	General population for a given territory Specific populations defined by demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age	Specific populations defined by factors other than demographic factors of ethnicity, gender OR age (e.g., hospital populations).
Study design	Empirical research (quantitative OR qualitative)	EITHER theoretical/conceptual OR lacking explanation of methodology OR secondary literature review OR systematic reviews OR REAs

Keywords and search strings: The following table provides a list of the keywords for the systematic search of studies via the study's title, abstract and key words. Three layers of keywords are utilised so to reflect the inclusion criteria.

Table 2: Mask wearing non-adherence keywords

Keywords 1	Covid; coronavirus
Keywords 2	Mask; face cover* [covering]
Keywords 3	Compl* [compliance/compliancy/comply/complied]; adher* [adherence/adherency/adhere/adhering/adhered]; follow* [following/followed]; rule* [rules]; guid* [guidelines/guided]; prevent* [preventative/preventing/prevented]; reason* [reasons]; associat* [associated/associations]; predict* [predictors/predicted]; expla* [explanatory/explained]; campaign* [campaigns]

The research team tested the keywords and search strings across the databases and found that they were effective at returning relevant evidence ahead of the full search commencing.

Databases: The research team undertook a comprehensive search of academic and open source databases, as listed in Table 3.

Table 3: List of databases searched

PubMed Central

Web of Science

Google Scholar

Screening

The following three-stage screening process was undertaken to determine the evidence to be included in the REA.

Title screening stage: The titles of studies returned by the systematic searches were screened for relevance using the inclusion criteria, and studies clearly not meeting the inclusion criteria, based upon the limited information available from a title, were excluded. Where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) in the next stage of screening.

Abstract screening stage: Of the remaining studies, their abstracts were next screened for relevance against the inclusion criteria, using the greater information available in an abstract such that it was possible to consider more of the inclusion criteria. Studies deemed not to meet the inclusion criteria were excluded. Again, where a member of the research team was unsure about a study, it was discussed with a second member of the team to decide on inclusion (or not) for the next stage of screening.

Full text screening stage: Of the remaining studies, they were read in full to determine if all inclusion criteria had been met and excluded if not. Where a member of the research team was unsure, a second member of the research team also read the full text. Both then discussed the study and came to a decision together on whether it should be included or excluded. The quality of a study was also appraised when reading the full text, considering guidance from the UK's Department for International Development (DFID, 4) on assessing the strengths of evidence.

Quality appraisal

According to DFID (4), judgement about a study's quality should be based upon a combination of criteria covering conceptual framing, transparency, appropriateness, cultural sensitivity, validity, reliability and cogency, as summarized and applied to this REA below:

Conceptual framing: The study should acknowledge existing research or theory, construct a conceptual or

theoretical framework setting out the study's assumptions and pose specific research questions or hypotheses.

Transparency: The study should be transparent about its design and methods, including data collection and analysis and research setting, such that results can be reproduced. Studies receiving funding from a party with vested interests are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Appropriateness: The study should use an appropriate research design to answer its research question or achieve its aim or objectives. The screening process will have included only studies investigating the factors associated with adherence of the included COVID-19 interventions. Experimental designs are most appropriate for establishing causal linkages between a treatment (e.g., campaign) and a dependent variable (e.g., adherence), but, other than campaigns, most factors (e.g., demographics, capabilities, opportunities and motivations) can only be measured and observed as independent variables, rather than manipulated or randomly assigned. As such, associations are most appropriately measured using observational designs, such as regression ones, that measure the association between factors and adherence whilst controlling for confounding variables to protect against bias whereby an unmeasured and uncontrolled variable can result in a distortion in the measurement of an association between a factor and adherence. Qualitative studies are not appropriate for measuring associations, but they are included in this REA because rich qualitative data can provide valuable evidence in terms of detailing the mechanisms and processes by which a factor is associated with adherence. Studies using an inappropriate design are considered fatally flawed and should be excluded from this REA.

Cultural sensitivity: The study should take steps to consider the local, socio-cultural factors that might affect the association between factors and adherence of social distancing measures (i.e., are confounding variables). This is particularly important in the context of campaigns as treatment variables, where a control condition, in which the setting (i.e., socio-cultural factors) is held constant, should be included as part of the design to isolate effect of a campaign from the setting in which it was implemented. Such measures are not possible when observing

independent variables, but a study could theoretically consider socio-cultural factors when they represent a potential bias

Validity: The study should take steps to ensure measurement validity, internal validity, external validity and ecological validity.

Measurement validity: The study should use indicators that are well suited to measure the target concept and which are valid in the research setting of the study. For example, using statements that measure the construct or variable of interest and using concrete facts (e.g., qualifications obtained to measure education), rather than abstract concepts where available.

Internal validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its evidence establishes a cause and effect relationship. The study should take steps to control for confounding variables, which is possible in both experimental and observational designs. Furthermore, the study should take steps to consider reverse causality; the possibility that the supposed independent variable and supposed dependent variable are operating in reverse such that the supposed dependent variable is causing the supposed independent variable. For example, perceived susceptibility has been conceived as an independent variable in relation to the dependent variable of social distancing adherence, but equally, an individual's social distancing adherence can just as plausibly be an independent variable in relation to perceived susceptibility to COVID-19, i.e., 'I am not adhering with social distancing measures so I am more susceptible to infection'. An experimental design removes the possibility of reverse causality because the sequence of cause and effect can be observed following implementation of a treatment. However, reverse causality is a potential problem in observational research and where this is a risk it should be considered theoretically, i.e., provide an explanation based upon what we know about the variables to make a claim that one is causing the other.

External validity: The study should correctly interpret the extent to which its findings are likely to be generalizable and replicable across other contexts. Quantitative studies should take steps to construct a representative sample of the population of interest, such as using a sampling frame, randomly selecting responsive units from that sampling frame so that no units are systematically excluded, and collecting a sufficient sample size for appropriate margin of error and confidence level.

Ecological validity: The study should take steps to capture or accurately represent the real world by undertaking reflexivity to consider how much the activity of doing the research biased the research findings. For example, asking questions about legal adherence with measures in a way

and in a context that captures the truth, rather than the socially desirable response.

Reliability: The study should take steps to ensure stability, internal reliability and analytical reliability.

Stability: The study should take steps to ensure that measures being used work consistently (i.e., results are stable under the same conditions), for example, by ensuring researchers are consistent in the way questions are asked and data gathered.

Internal reliability: The study should take steps to ensure internal consistency between different components of a measure. For example, Cronbach's Alpha can be used to measure the internal consistency of items comprising a scale and items from scales or variables removed from studies where internal consistency thresholds are not met.

Analytical reliability: The study should take steps to ensure that dramatically different results from the same set of data by different researchers or analytical steps being used are avoided. For example, using multiple researchers and using a coding scheme in thematic analysis.

Cogency: The study should provide a clear, logical thread that runs throughout the manuscript, linking conceptual frameworks to data collection, data analysis and conclusions, only making claims supported by the data and findings. Furthermore, the study should consider alternative explanations and interpretations of the data and findings and be self-critical such that limitations of the study are identified.

Where a member of the research team was unsure whether to include or exclude on the basis of quality, a second member of the research team undertook a quality appraisal of the study before both discussed to jointly reach a decision on inclusion.

Data analysis and synthesis

Predictors: Next, using NVivo software, open coding was undertaken to identify predictors of social distancing adherence. Once all studies had been coded for predictors, lists of studies containing each predictor were established. At this point, predictors were reviewed to identify predictors of equivalent meaning but different labelling and these collapsed to form a single predictor. For example, it was decided that knowledge and belief in conspiracy theories were equivalent predictors.

Predictor-specific study summaries: Next, predictor-specific summaries of each study were written, identifying the study's context (e.g., United Kingdom residents), sampling method (e.g., convenience sample), how it defined and measured the predictor, how it defined (e.g., social distancing or physical distancing) and measured (e.g.,

binary variable; adherent or not) the outcome variable, the study design (e.g., cross-sectional survey design) and data analysis method (e.g., logistic regression). Next, a summary of the evidence relevant to the predictor of interest was written, which may have been quantitative or qualitative. Where the quantitative analysis was simple (e.g., Chi-square with a single independent variable), the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., percentage differences and statistical significance), but where it was multiple (e.g., multiple logistic regression) the summary described the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable (e.g., odds ratio and statistical significance) when holding other variables constant. Finally, a conclusion was drawn as to the overall finding of the study in terms of the relationship between the predictor and the outcome variable.

This may have been identifying a category (e.g., males were most likely to not adhere to social distancing measures) where the outcome variable was most prevalent, whether a numerical association was positive (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering with social distancing measures increases), negative (e.g., as age increases, likelihood of not adhering with social distancing measures decreases), non-linear or nonsignificant (e.g., there was no association between age and social distancing adherence). Where there was conflicting evidence within a single study, the strength of the conflicting evidence was weighed up to determine an overall finding. For example, if the vast majority of categories of a predictor were not significantly associated with an outcome variable, then that study would be deemed to be evidence that the predictor was not associated with the outcome variable.

Themes by finding: Next, the predictor-specific study summaries were thematically analysed on the basis of their findings. For example, studies were grouped on the basis of a positive association, negative association, non-linear association or no association.

Data synthesis: To draw conclusions for each predictor, frequencies of studies for each theme were counted and percentages calculated. This was done first at the level of predictive vs non-predictive whereby, for example, studies finding statistically significant associations, regardless of the direction of the association, were grouped and counted and compared against all studies that did not find a statistically significant association between a predictor and outcome variable.

Next, this synthesis was undertaken at the granular level of themes, breaking predictive studies down into their different findings (e.g., positive association, negative association, non-linear association and no association). Where a category made up 70 per cent or above of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of high

confidence about the relationship and where a category made up 60–69 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a confident conclusion about the relationship. Where a category made up 50–59 per cent of the evidence it was deemed to yield a conclusion of some confidence about the relationship, unless another category also made up 50 per cent of the evidence, in which case the evidence was deemed inconclusive. Equally, if no categories made up at least 50 per cent of the evidence it was deemed inconclusive.

Context segmentation: To address the question of 'in what contexts are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' evidence was segmented on the basis of (i) region, (ii) cultural group and (iii) income, as determined by the country in which the study was conducted. Region segments used were Europe, North America, Asia, Oceania, South America and Africa. Cultural group segments used were Anglo, Germanic Europe, Nordic Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin Europe, Latin America, Southern Asia, Confucian Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa and the Middle East, as defined by House et al. (5). Income segments used were high income, upper middle income, lower middle income and low income, as defined by the World Bank. The above data synthesis approach was followed at the level of each segment. Where there were fewer than four studies in a segment, it was deemed that this was insufficient evidence by which to draw conclusions about the relationship between a predictor and outcome variable.

Themes by conceptual framework: Demographic predictors were identified so to answer the 'who is more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' question. The remaining predictors were then organised within the COM-B model conceptual framework in terms of psychological capability (e.g., knowledge), physical capability (e.g., physical strength), physical opportunity (e.g., time, location and resources), social opportunity (e.g., cultural norms and social cues), reflective motivation (e.g., reflections and motivations) and automatic motivation (e.g., desires, impulses and inhibitions) to answer the 'why are people more likely to not adhere to social distancing measures?' question.

EVIDENCE



Systematic search and screening results

The systematic search returned 179 studies about mask wearing adherence (133 from Web of Science, 45 from Google Scholar and 1 from PubMed). After duplicates were removed on Zotero software, the number of studies decreased to 129.

Title screening stage: Of the 129 unique studies returned from the systematic search, 69 were excluded at the title screening stage:

 69 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with mask wearing adherence.

Abstract screening stage: Of the 60 studies remaining after the title screening stage, 27 were excluded at the abstract screening stage:

 27 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring factors associated with mask wearing adherence.

Full text screening and quality appraisal stage: Of the 33 studies remaining after the abstract screening stage, 17 were excluded at the full text screening and quality appraisal stage:

- 10 studies were excluded for not being relevant: not measuring relevant outcomes.
- Five studies were excluded for not being empirical
 research
- Two studies were excluded for being about too specific a population.

Overview of vaccine hesitancy evidence

The final list of mask wearing adherence evidence to be reviewed consisted of 16 studies, a summary of which follows:

Table 4: Summary of studies included in REA

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
3	van der Linden and Savoie (2020)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Chen et al. (2020)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
5	Sun et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
6	Al Naam et al. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
7	Adjodah et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
8	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
9	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
10	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
11	Datta et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
12	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
13	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
14	Mahalik et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Region: Evidence was reviewed from three regions of the world, the vast majority from North America [69 per cent] but also Asia [19 per cent] and South America [13 per cent]. There was no evidence from Europe, Oceania or Africa.

Cultural group: Evidence was reviewed from four cultural groups of the world, but dominated by evidence from the Anglo cultural group [69 per cent]. There was no evidence from the Germanic Europe, Nordic Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin Europe, Southern Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa cultural groups.

Income: The vast majority of evidence reviewed was from high income countries [88 per cent]. There was no evidence from lower middle income and low income countries.

Study design: All studies [100 per cent] followed a cross-sectional survey research design, which lends itself well to measuring factors associated with mask wearing non-adherence.

Tatale 5: Studies by regMinadulmor ചിവുതു u (2021)	o, inclonited:Stateary and Mordly Alesègica	Anglo	High Income
	Number	%	0
Region			
Europe	0	09	%
North America	11	69	%
Asia	3	19	%
Oceania	0	0%	%
South America	2	13	%
Africa	0	09	%
Multi-regional	0	09	%
Cultural group			
Anglo	11	69	%
Germanic Europe	0	0	
Nordic Europe	0	0)
Eastern Europe	0	09	%
Latin Europe	0	0)
Latin America	2	13	%
Southern Asia	0	0)
Confucian Asia	2	13	%
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	09	%
Middle East	1	69	%
Multi-cultural group	0	09	%
Income			
High Income	14	88	%
Upper Middle Income	2	13%	
Lower Middle Income	0	0%	%
Low Income	0	0%	%

Multi-incomes	0	0%
Study design		
Cross-sectional	16	100%
Gross sectional	10	10070
Conjoint experiment	0	0%
Qualitative	0	0%
Total	16	100%

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



DEMOGRAPHICS AGE

5.1.1

Age is the number of years since an individual was born. The evidence reviewed measured it as either discrete numerical data (i.e., the exact age in years of a respondent) or as a categorical variable (i.e., the age range group that a respondent's age corresponds to).

In total, 11 studies considered the association between age and mask wearing adherence. Of these, four found that age was predictive of mask wearing adherence and seven found that age was not associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the four studies that found age was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that, as age increases, mask wearing non-adherence increases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere).

As age increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 6: Studies evidencing that, as age increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Al Naam et al. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
3	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Stosic et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba, Brazil, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variable of face mask usage in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba against the independent variables of sex, age group, education, family income, marital status, hand washing and social isolation, using analysis of variance or the Student's t-test (social isolation and sex). Age was identified as a significant factor in mask wearing [p < 0.01] with use increasing with age; this was the case across settings: in health environments, the home environment and in public (mask usage was more likely in health environments and in public than in the home environment). During the time of the study, face mask use was recommended by the local and national authorities.

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported a significant difference in mask wearing in those aged 60 and above compared to a reference group of those under 30 years of age [OR: 1.95, p < 0.01].

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacts reported face mask wearing in the United States. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling

for gender, race, ethnicity, region and political ideology, Stosic et al. (2021) report that age is a small but significant predictor of mask wearing, with mask wearing increasing as the age category increased [OR: 1.02, p < 0.001; age categories not reported].

Saudi Arabia, Al Naam et al. (2021): Al Naam et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adult Saudi residents (n = 3,572) to investigate the relationship between knowledge, attitudes and demographic factors, and compliance with the use of face masks. A one way analysis of variance identified a significant difference [p

< 0.001] in reported compliance to mask wearing by age group (grouped in 10-year blocks: 16 to 24, 25 to 34 and so on), with a positive trend towards older age groups. A significant difference [p < 0.001] in positive attitudes towards mask wearing was also reported between age groups with increases, in the main, seen with increased age. Further, a significant difference [p < 0.001] was reported in the perceived barriers to mask wearing across age groups with a trend towards less perceived barriers as age increased. No difference in knowledge surrounding face mask wearing were reported by age group.

Age is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 7: Studies evidencing that age is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	van der Linden and Savoie (2020)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
7	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed 15,507 observations, over an eight-week period, of adults wearing masks in outdoor recreational spaces while walking, running and cycling, collected just after a period of strict lockdown in Argentina. Regression analysis with face mask wearing as the outcome variable and with the predictors of time (week number within the observation period), activity, group size, estimated age and estimated gender showed that older adults were significantly more likely to wear a mask while walking [B = 0.19, p < 0.001] with no difference reported by age while running or cycling.

Freidin et al. (2021) also completed a survey of 578 respondents to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regression analysis was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance included all

of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Age explained 5 per cent of the variance in mask wearing but this was not significant.

Canada, van der Linden and Savoie (2020): Using a crosssectional survey design with 2,194 participants stratified by age, sex, education, partisanship and region, van der Linden and Savoie (2020) assessed whether Canadians exhibit a higher propensity to wear masks in response to appeals to a sense of collective interest or self-interest. A linear regression model (including the categorical independent variables of sex, age group, highest level of educational attainment and vote choice in the 2019 Canadian federal election, as well as the impact of self or collective interest on mask wearing) found age to be a nonsignificant factor in predicting mask wearing.

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional

survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model; age was not found to be a significant predictor of mask wearing and was consequently removed from the final regression model.

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ ethnicity and education), adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intention to use, or of use of, a face covering. Barile et al. (2020) report that age is not a predictor of intention to use, or of use of, a face covering of any kind.

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Using data collected from secondary sources, Cunningham and Nite (2021) assessed the predictability of mask wearing in the United States from health behaviours, clinical care, environmental factors and socio-economic conditions, hypothesising that, as these factors increase, so too

would the use of face masks, assessed using regression modelling. Data concerning mask wearing were taken from a survey of 250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighted by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings and Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, ethnicity (White and non-White), setting (urban, rural) and voting preference. Age was not associated with mask wearing.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Age was not correlated with adherence to mask wearing; a pathway model also did not find this to be a significant factor.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government issuing recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. No trend was evident in use by age, although the highest reported use was in the 30 to 39 age group at 84.4 per cent and the lowest in the 40 to 49 age group at 68 per cent. No statistical analysis was reported.

Conclusions

Table 8: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As age increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As age increases, mask wearing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	4 [36%]		7 [64%]	11
Studies	4 [36%] 0		7 [64%]	11
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	2 [25%]	0	6 [75%]	8
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1

Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [25%]	0	6 [75%]	8
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	3 [33%]	0	6 [67%]	9
Upper Middle Income	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between age and mask wearing adherence, 64 per cent [7 out of 11] found age to be non-predictive, such that it can be confidently concluded that age is not associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the four studies that found age to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that, as age increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere), such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when age is predictive of mask wearing adherence, the association is negative. However, out of all the studies, only 36 per cent [4 out of 11] found that, as age increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., younger age groups are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between age and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found that age was not

associated with mask wearing adherence, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in countries in North America, age is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of South America [2 studies] and Asia [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Europe [0 studies], Oceania [0 studies] and Africa [0 studies].

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in countries in the Anglo cultural group, 75 per cent [6 out of 8] found that age is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in countries in the Anglo cultural group, age is not associated with mask wearing adherence. There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask

wearing adherence in the contexts of the Latin America [2 studies] and Middle East [1 study] cultural groups.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of the Germanic Europe [0 studies], Eastern Europe [0 studies], Latin Europe [0 studies], Southern Asia [0 studies], Confucian Asia [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan Africa [0 studies] cultural groups.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 67 per cent [6 out of 9] found that age is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be confidently concluded that, in high income countries, age is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income countries [2 studies].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between age and mask wearing adherence in the context of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS SEX/GENDER

5.1.2

Sex is the biological characteristics and gender is the socially constructed characteristics of males, females and other categories. In the evidence reviewed sex and gender were most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., male vs female), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., other).

In total, 11 studies considered the association between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence. Of these, six found that sex/gender was predictive of mask wearing adherence and five found that sex/gender was not associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the six studies that found sex/gender was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all six found that males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing than females.

Males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 9: Studies evidencing that males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	van der Linden and Savoie (2020)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Al Naam et al. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
4	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Mahalik et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Stosic et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	Upper Middle Income

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba, Brazil, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variable of face mask usage in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba against the independent variables of sex, age group, education, family income, marital status, hand washing and social isolation using analysis of variance or the Student's t-test (social isolation and sex). Sex was identified as a significant factor in mask wearing [p < 0.01], with females more likely to wear a mask

than males. There was some variation across settings, with a significant difference reported in face mask use score in healthcare settings and in public (females again, more likely), but not in the home.

Canada, van der Linden and Savoie (2020): Using a crosssectional survey design with 2,194 participants stratified by age, sex, education, partisanship and region, van der Linden and Savoie (2020) assessed whether Canadians exhibit a higher propensity to wear masks in response to appeals to a sense of collective interest or self-interest. A linear regression model (including the categorical independent variables of sex, age group, highest level of educational attainment, and vote choice in the 2019 Canadian federal election, as well as the impact of self or collective interest on mask wearing) found that males were less likely than females to wear masks [OR: 0.593, p < 0.01].

Saudi Arabia, Al Naam et al. (2021): Al Naam et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adult Saudi residents (n=3,572) to investigate the relationship between knowledge, attitudes and demographic factors, and compliance with the use of face masks. A one way analysis of variance identified significant differences in compliance to mask wearing by gender, with females more likely to wear a mask than males [p < 0.001].

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported that males were significantly less likely to wear a mask than females [OR: 0.69, p < 0.01].

United States, Mahalik et al. (2021): Mahalik et al. (2021) investigated the impact of conformity to masculine norms on attitudes to wearing a face mask. Mahalik et al. (2021) reported findings from an online survey of 596 male adults from the United States stating that greater conformity to male masculine norms results in a significant reduction in positive attitude towards use of face coverings [B=-0.02, p < 0.001]. This relationship was mediated by perceived benefits of mask wearing; those with high conformity were less likely to perceive benefits compared to those with low conformity to masculine norms, more likely to perceive barriers, and less likely to have confidence in science and empathy for vulnerable people.

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacts reported face mask wearing in the United States and the mediating role of belief in mask effectiveness. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling for age, race, ethnicity, region and political ideology, Stosic et al. (2021) report gender to be a significant predictor of mask wearing, with males less likely to wear a mask than females [total effect – OR: 0.66, p < 0.001; direct effect – OR: 0.65, p < 0.001].

Sex/gender is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 10: Studies evidencing that sex/gender is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Chen et al. (2020)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed 15,507 observations, over an eight-week period, of mask wearing in outdoor recreational spaces while walking, running and cycling, collected just after a period of strict lockdown in Argentina. Regression analysis with face mask wearing as the outcome variable and with the predictors of time (week number within the observation period), activity, group size, estimated age and estimated gender showed that females were significantly more likely

to wear a mask while walking [B = 0.26, p < 0.001) and running (B = 0.25, p < 0.001) but with no gender difference reported in mask wearing while cycling.

Freidin et al. (2021) also completed a survey of 578 respondents to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regressions was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits

(mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance reported by Freidin et al. (2021) included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Gender explained 3 per cent of the variance in mask wearing but this was not significant.

China, Chen et al. (2020): Chen et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 8,569 Chinese school children from 15 Wuhan primary schools in February 2020, to assess mask wearing and the sociodemographic factors influencing their use. A Chi-square test was used to identify significant independent variables (gender, grade, and mother's and father's occupations and education) for binary logistic regression analysis with odds ratios reported. Gender was not identified as a factor in mask wearing.

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education), adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face

covering. Females were identified as more likely to intend to wear a face mask [OR = 1.56, p < 0.01] but no differences were reported in actual use.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Gender was not correlated with adherence to mask wearing; a pathway model also did not find this to be a significant factor.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. There was little difference between sexes/genders: males were slightly more likely to wear a mask than females [77.6 per cent vs. 75.3 per cent]. Statistical analysis was not reported.

Conclusions

Table 11: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	Predictive [n, %]		Total
	Males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]	Females are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	
Studies	6 [5	5%]	5 [45%]	11
Studies	6 [55%]		5 [45%]	11
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	4 [57%]	0	3 [43%]	7
Asia	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2

Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	4 [57%]	0	3 [43%]	7
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	o	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Income				
High Income	5 [56%]	0	4 [44%]	9
Upper Middle Income	1 [50%]	0	1 [50%]	2
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence, 55 per cent [6 out of 11] found that sex/gender is predictive of mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that sex/gender is associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the six studies that found sex/ gender to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [6 out of 6] found that males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when sex/gender is predictive of mask wearing adherence, males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing. However, out of all studies, only 55 per cent [6 out of 11] found males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that, overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations

between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Out of studies conducted in North American countries, 57 per cent [4 out of 7] found that males were more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in North American countries, males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the context of Asian [2 studies] and South American [2 studies] countries.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 57 per cent [4 out of 7] found that males were more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Latin American [2 studies], Confucian Asian [1 study] and Middle Eastern [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to make conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies] and Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Out of studies conducted in high income countries, 56 per cent [5 out of 9] found that sex/gender was not associated with mask wearing adherence so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in high income countries, males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income countries [2 studies].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS EDUCATION

5.1.3

Education is the process of learning. Education was measured in terms of the highest level of formal education achieved by respondents as a categorical, but ordered, variable from low (e.g., no formal qualifications) to high (e.g., doctoral degree).

In total, seven studies considered the association between education and mask wearing adherence. Of these, five found that education was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that education was not associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the five studies that found education was predictive of mask wearing adherence, four found that, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., less educated people are more likely to not adhere) and one found that the relationship between education and mask wearing adherence was non-linear.

As education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 12: Studies evidencing that, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Chen et al. (2020)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	Upper Middle Income
2	Al Naam et al. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income
3	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

China, Chen et al. (2020): Chen el al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 8,569 Chinese school children from 15 Wuhan primary schools in February 2020, to assess mask wearing and the sociodemographic factors influencing their use. A Chi-square test was used to identify significant independent variables (gender, grade, mother's and father's occupations and education) for binary logistic regression analysis with odds ratios reported. No significant difference was reported between grades 1 to 2 and 3 to 4; however, those in grades 5 to 6 were significantly more likely to wear a face covering when compared to grades 1 to 2 as the reference group [OR: 1.21, p < 0.05]. Chen et al. (2020) also assessed the impact of parental education attainment on the mask wearing of their children; no significant association was reported in the father's educational attainment, however, the higher a mother's educational attainment, the greater the likelihood of mask wearing [OR: 1.87, p < 0.05, attainment of an undergraduate education compared to a reference value of primary or below; OR: 2.28, p < 0.05, attainment of postgraduate or above compared to a reference value of primary or below].

Saudi Arabia, Al Naam et al. (2021): Al Naam et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of Saudi residents who were above 16 years of age and who had access to the internet; all Saudi residents who met these criteria were invited to participate, with 3,572 responses received. A one way analysis of variance reported statistically significance differences in compliance to mask wearing by level of education [p < 0.001], with those with a university and postgraduate education the most likely to wear a mask.

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19-prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model; those with a further education, having some trade or vocational schooling, or some college experience, were 3.5 times more likely to wear a face mask than those with a high school diploma, general equivalency diploma (GED), or less (reference category) [OR: 3.562, p = 0.005]; those with graduate schooling experience were 4.5 times more likely to wear a face mask than those with a high school diploma, GED, or less (reference category) [OR: 4.454, p = 0.001].

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported that those with lower levels of education [no high school diploma, OR: 0.90, not significant; high school diploma, OR: 0.70, p < 0.05; college education, OR: 0.74, p < 0.05] were less likely to wear a face covering compared to college graduates as the reference category.

Relationship between education and mask wearing adherence is non-linear

Table 13: Studies evidencing that the relationship between education and mask wearing adherence is non-linear

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba, Brazil, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variable of face mask usage in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba against the independent variables of sex, age group, education, family income, marital status, hand washing and social isolation using analysis of variance or the Student's t-test (social isolation

and sex). Level of education was identified as a significant factor in mask wearing [p < 0.01]. However, the relationship was non-linear and there was no clear trend with those with a postgraduate education most likely to wear a mask, those with just a primary education the next likely, then those with a high-school level education, and finally those with a graduate level education the least likely.

Education is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 14: Studies evidencing that education is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed a survey of 578 adult respondents in Argentina to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regressions was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance reported by Freidin et al. (2021) included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Education level was not a predictor of mask wearing.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Education was not correlated with adherence to mask wearing; a pathway model also did not find this to be a significant factor.

Conclusions

Table 15: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

		Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive	Total
	As education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence increases [n, %]	Relationship between education and mask wearing adherence is non- linear [n, %]	[n, %]	
Studies		5 [71%]		2 [29%]	7
Studies	4 [57%]	0	1 [14%]	2 [29%]	7
Region					
Europe	0	0	0	0	0
North America	2 [67%]	0	0	1 [33%]	3
Asia	2 [100%]	0	0	0	2
Oceania	0	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	2
Africa	0	0	0	0	0

Cultural Group					
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	0	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	1 [50%]	1 [50%]	2
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0	0
Middle East	1[100%]	0	0	0	1
Income					
High Income	3 [75%]	0	0	1 [25%]	4
Upper Middle income	1 [33%]	0	1 [33%]	1 [33%]	3
Lower Middle income	0		0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0	0

Overall: Out of the studies that considered the association between education and mask wearing adherence, 71 per cent [5 out of 7] found education to be predictive, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that education is predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the five studies that found education to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, such that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when education is predictive of mask wearing nonadherence, the association is negative. However, out of all studies, only 57 per cent [4 out of 7] found that, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, such that, overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., less educated people are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between education and mask wearing adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient

evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Out of the studies conducted in high income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that education was not associated with mask wearing adherence so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in high income countries, education is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income countries [2 studies].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between education and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS INCOME

5.1.4

Income is the regular money received by an individual through work, a pension, investments, benefits or other sources. Income was primarily measured as a categorical, but ordered, variable using different money ranges, differing in terms of unit of income (e.g., household income or individual income) and time frame of income (e.g., monthly or annual income).

In total, four studies considered the association between income and mask wearing adherence. Of these, two found that income was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that income was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the two studies that found income was predictive of mask wearing adherence, one found that, as income increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with a lower income are more to not adhere) and one found that the relationship between income and mask wearing adherence was non-linear.

As income increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 16: Studies evidencing that, as income increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba, Brazil, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variable of face mask usage in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba against the independent variables of sex, age group, education, family income,

marital status, hand washing and social isolation using analysis of variance or the Student's t-test (social isolation and sex). Family income was a significant factor [p < 0.01] in mask wearing; in general, those with higher family income were more likely to wear a face mask, such that income is positively associated with mask wearing.

Relationship between income and mask wearing adherence is non-linear

Table 17: Studies evidencing that, as income increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19-prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were

entered into a regression model; women with an annual household income of less than US\$30,000 were over twice as likely to wear a mask [OR: 2.284, p = 0.016], as were women in households making more than US\$50,000 annually [OR: 2.25, p = 0.013], compared to those making between US\$30,000 and US\$50,000. As such, this study found that the relationship between income and mask wearing is non-linear.

Income is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 18: Studies evidencing income is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High income
2	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High income

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Income was not a significant factor in adherence to mask wearing.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in

the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. No trend was seen in income, with 84.8 per cent of those earning more than US\$100,000 per annum the most likely to wear a mask and those earning between US\$50,000 and US\$99,999 the least likely [72.2 per cent]. Those who own their own home were slightly more likely to wear a mask [79.2 per cent] than those who rented [78.1 per cent] or lived with others at no cost [56.6 per cent]. No statistical data were reported.

Conclusions

Table 19: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

		Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive	Total
	As income increases, social distancing non-adherence decreases [n, %]	As income increases, mask wearing non-adherence increases [n, %]	Relationship between income and mask wearing adherence is non- linear [n, %]	[n, %]	
Studies		2 [50%]		2 [50%]	4
Studies	1 [25%]	0	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Region					
Europe	0	0	0	0	0
North America	0	0	1 [33%]	2 [67%]	3
Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Africa	0	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group					
Anglo	0	0	1 [33%]	2 [67%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0	0

Income					
High Income	0	0	1 [33%]	2 [67%]	3
Upper Middle income	1 [100%]	0	0	0	1
Lower Middle income	0	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between income and mask wearing adherence, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found income to be predictive and 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found income to be non-predictive, such that it is inconclusive as to whether income is predictive of mask wearing adherence, although, when breaking down studies further into the different categories of predictive findings, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] of studies found income is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that income is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, no associations between income and mask wearing adherence are evident due to insufficient evidence.

DEMOGRAPHICS RACE/ETHNICITY

5.1.5

Race is the physical traits an individual is born with and ethnicity is the cultural identification than an individual learns. Only races/ethnicities that were featured in multiple studies were considered, resulting in evidence purely from the Anglo cultural group. Race/ethnicity was most frequently measured as a categorical variable, but also as a binary variable (e.g., White vs. non-White).

In total, five studies considered the association between race/ethnicity and mask wearing adherence. Of these, four found that race/ethnicity was predictive of mask wearing adherence and one found that race/ethnicity was not predictive of mask wearing. Of the five studies that found race/ethnicity was predictive of mask wearing adherence, three found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask and one found that White people were most likely to wear a mask.

Members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 20: Studies evidencing that members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Stosic et al.(2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported that Black [OR: 2.24, p < 0.001], Latino [OR: 1.62, p < 0.05] and Asian people [OR: 2.87, p < 0.001] were more likely to wear a mask than White people (reference group).

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacts reported face mask wearing in the United States and the mediating role of belief in mask effectiveness. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants, analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling for age, gender, race, region and political ideology, Stosic et al. (2021) report that ethnicity is a significant predictor

of mask wearing, with people with an Hispanic or Latino ethnicity less likely to wear a mask than those not of Hispanic or Latino ethnicity [direct effect – OR: 0.51, p < 0.01]. Black people were significantly more likely to wear a mask than White people [direct effect – OR: 2.03, p < 0.01] with no difference between White people and Asian people or those of an 'other' ethnicity.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings.

The outcome of interest was use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. Non-Hispanic Black people were most likely to wear a mask [82.3 per cent], then those of Hispanic or Latino ethnicity [76.2 per cent], then non-Hispanic White people [75.1 per cent]. Statistical analysis was not reported.

Members of white ethnic groups are most likely to adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 21: Studies evidencing that members of white ethnic groups are most likely to adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Using data collected from secondary sources, Cunningham and Nite (2021) assessed the predictability of mask wearing in the United States from health behaviours, clinical care, environmental factors and socio-economic conditions, using regression modelling, hypothesising that, as these factors increase, so too would the use of face masks. Data concerning mask wear were taken from a survey of

250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighted by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings & Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, age (over and under 65), setting (urban, rural) and voting preference. Ethnicity was associated with mask wearing, with non-White people slightly more likely to wear a mask [p < 0.05].

Race/ethnicity not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 22: Studies evidencing that race/ethnicity is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of

wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model; no variance was reported in the likelihood of wearing a face mask by ethnicity.

Conclusions

Table 23: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
Studies	2 [29%]	5 [71%]	7
Region			
Europe	0	1 [100%]	1
North America	2 [40%]	3 [60%]	5
Asia	0	0	0
Oceania	0	2 [100%]	2
South America	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0
Cultural Group			
Anglo	2 [25%]	6 [75%]	8
Germanic Europe	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0
Income			
High Income	2 [25%]	6 [75%]	8
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between race/ethnicity and mask wearing adherence, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that race/ethnicity is predictive of mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that race/ethnicity is associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the four studies that found race/ethnicity to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when race/ethnicity is predictive of mask wearing adherence, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask. Of all studies, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask, so that, overall, it can be confidently concluded that members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask, so that it can be confidently concluded that, in North American countries, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Asian [0]

studies], Oceanian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask, so that it can be confidently concluded that, in Anglo cultural group countries, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found that members of Black ethnic groups were most likely to wear a mask, so that it can be confidently concluded that, in high income countries, members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between race/ethnicity and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of upper middle income [0 studies], lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS MARITAL STATUS

5.1.6

Marital status is the legally defined status with regards to a person's relationship with a significant other. In the evidence reviewed, marital status was most frequently measured as a binary variable (i.e., married vs. unmarried), but also as a categorical variable with additional categories (e.g., divorced, widowed).

In total, three studies considered the association between marital status and mask wearing adherence. Of these, one found that marital status was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that marital status was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. The study that found marital status was predictive of mask wearing found that unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures.

Unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 24: Studies evidencing that unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba, Brazil, during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variable of face mask usage in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba against the independent variables of sex, age group, education, family income, marital status, hand washing and social isolation using analysis of variance or the Student's t-test (social

isolation and sex). A significant difference was reported in the variance in mask wearing by marital status grouping; those separated were the most likely to wear a face mask, followed by those who were married, then widowers and finally those who were single. There was some variation by setting; the significant results held true in healthcare settings and in public, but no differences were reported in score on the scale of face mask use at home (scores were lower across the board for use at home).

Marital status is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 25: Studies evidencing that marital status is not associated with mask wearing non-adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model; being in a relationship was suggested to increase the likelihood of mask wearing,

however, this was not included in the final model. Living with others did also not predict mask wearing.

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported no differences in mask wearing by marital status.

Conclusions

Table 26: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Unmarried people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]	Married people are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]		
Studies	1 [3	3%]	2 [67%]	3
Studies	1 [33%]	0	2 [67%]	3
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				

Anglo	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between marital status and mask wearing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

DEMOGRAPHICS LIVING AREA

5.1.7

Living area was defined in terms of urban-rural classification. An urban living area is a densely developed area of cities or towns, whereas a rural living area is one not densely developed outside of cities and towns in the countryside. Living area was measured as a binary variable (i.e., urban vs rural).

In total, four studies considered the association between living area and mask wearing adherence. Of these, two found that living area was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that living area was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the two studies that found living area was predictive of mask wearing, one found that rural dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing and one found that urban dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Rural dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 27: Studies evidencing that rural dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Stosic et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacts reported face mask wearing in the United States and the mediating role of belief in mask effectiveness. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants, analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling for

age, gender, race, ethnicity, region and political ideology, Stosic et al. (2021) report that urban-dwellers are more likely to wear a mask compared to suburban or rural-dwellers [total effect – OR: 1.67, p < 0.001; direct effect – OR: 1.80, p < 0.001].

Urban dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

Table 28: Studies evidencing that urban dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards

elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model; education, knowing where to get tested, household income and environment (urban/rural) were all included in the final model. Living in an urban community decreased the odds of mask wearing by about 60 per cent [OR: 0.41, p = 0.002].

Living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 29: Studies evidencing that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (n = 885), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education), adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included

as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. No differences were reported by rural or urban setting and the use, or intended use, of face coverings.

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Data concerning mask wear were taken from a survey of 250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighting by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings & Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, age (over and under 65), ethnicity (White and non-White) and voting preference. Setting (rural or urban) was not significantly associated with mask wearing.

Conclusions

Table 30: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Rural dwellers are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]	Urban dwellers are more likely to adhere to mask wearing [n, %]		
Studies	2 [5	0%]	2 [50%]	4
Studies	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0

Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	1 [25%]	1 [25%]	2 [50%]	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between living area and mask wearing adherence, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found living area to be predictive and 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found living area to be non-predictive, such that it is inconclusive as to whether living area is predictive of mask wearing adherence, although, when breaking down studies further into the different categories of predictive findings, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] of studies found living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] of studies found that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in North American countries, living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between living area and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Asian [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in North Anglo cultural group countries, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with some confidence that, in Anglo cultural groups countries, living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between living area and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence, so that it can

be concluded with some confidence that, in high income countries, living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between living area and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of upper middle income [0 studies], lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

DEMOGRAPHICS HEALTH STATUS

Health status is an individual's relative level of wellness and illness. Health status was measured as a categorical variable.

In total, three studies considered the association between health status and mask wearing adherence. All three found that health status was not predictive of mask wearing adherence.

Health status is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 31: Studies evidencing that health status is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	Oceania	Anglo	High Income
3	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020): Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting women's practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backward elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model. No variance was reported in the likelihood of wearing a face mask by current health status, having a long-term condition, having had COVID-19

symptoms, or having been tested or diagnosed with COVID-19.

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported no differences in mask wearing by health status.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a crosssectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Self-related health was not correlated with adherence to mask wearing; a pathway model also did not find this to be a significant factor.

Conclusions

Table 32: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As health status improves, mask wearing non- adherence increases [n, %]	As health status improves, mask wearing non- adherence decreases [n, %]		
Studies	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Studies	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0

Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	0	0	3 [100%]	3
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between health status and mask wearing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

DEMOGRAPHICS ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE

5.1.9

Access to health care is whether or not an individual has access to health care, including health insurance. Health status was measured as a binary variable (i.e., yes vs. no)

In total, two studies considered the association between health status and mask wearing adherence. Both found that health status was not predictive of mask wearing adherence.

Access to health care is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 33: Studies evidencing that access to health care is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Data concerning mask wear were taken from a survey of 250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighting by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings & Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, age (over and under 65), ethnicity (White and non-White), setting (urban, rural) and voting preference. Cunningham and Nite (2021) reported that clinical care did not hold a significant association with mask wearing.

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimates (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported no differences by health insurance status.

Conclusions

Table 34: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Access to health care increases likelihood of mask wearing nonadherence [n, %]	Access to health care decreases likelihood of mask wearing non-adherence [n, %]		
Studies	()	2 [100%]	2
Studies	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				

High Income	0	0	2 [100%]	2
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between access to health care and mask wearing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY PERCEIVED SOCIAL NORMATIVE PRESSURE

Social normative pressure is an individual's perception of pressure in the form of the judgement of significant others with regard to whether a particular behaviour should be performed or not. Perceived social normative pressure was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, seven studies considered the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence. Of these, six found that perceived social normative pressure was predictive of mask wearing adherence and one found that perceived social normative pressure was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the six studies that found perceived social normative pressure was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive less social normative pressure to wear a mask are more likely to not adhere).

As perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

<u>Table 35: Studies evidencing that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases</u>

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	Europe	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Sun et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income
3	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Hearne and Niño (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
6	Datta et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed a survey of 578 adult respondents in Argentina to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regression analysis was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Freidin et al. (2021) reported that social norms were a significant predictor of mask wearing, explaining 26 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001].

China, Sun et al. (2021): Sun et al. (2021) predicted that attitude, subjective norms and perceived behavioural control were all positively associated with the intention to wear a face mask. Further, Sun et al. (2021) predicted that subjective norms are affected by attitude and perceived behavioural control towards mask wearing. Sun et al. (2021) used a cross-sectional survey design with a convenience sample of 477 international university students studying in China to investigate these hypotheses, assessed using structural equation modelling. Attitude and perceived behavioural control were, respectively, directly and positively related to behavioural intention (attitude explained 14.8 per cent of the variance; perceived behaviour control explained 13.1 per cent of the variance). Subjective norm had a direct effect on attitude (explaining 21 per cent of the variance), perceived behavioural control (explaining 34 per cent of the variance) and behavioural intention (explaining 58.8 per cent of the variance). Subjective norm also indirectly promoted behavioural intention through attitude and perceived behavioural control (7.5 per cent of the variance). The effects of living area, countries where international students were living, and grade were controlled.

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (n = 885), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ ethnicity and education), adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. Intention to wear a face covering was positively associated with wearing a cloth face mask when other people were observed doing the same in public at least "rarely" [OR = 1.43], with a stronger association if they observed others as "sometimes" [OR = 1.83], "often" [OR = 2.32], or "always" [OR = 2.96] wearing a face mask. For other types of face masks, a positive association between intention and behaviour is only present when observing

others wearing face masks "often" [OR = 1.25] or "always" [OR = 1.48].

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Using data collected from secondary sources, Cunningham and Nite (2021) assessed the predictability of mask wearing in the United States from health behaviours, clinical care, environmental factors and socio-economic conditions, hypothesising that, as these factors increase, so too would the use of face masks, assessed using regression modelling. Data concerning mask wear were taken from a survey of 250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighting by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings and Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, age (over and under 65), ethnicity (White and non-White), setting (urban, rural) and voting preference. Cunning and Nite (2021) found that people were more likely to wear masks when residing in counties where healthy behaviours were commonplace [estimate = 0.120, standard error = 0.021, p < 0.001].

United States, Hearne and Niño (2021): Hearne and Niño (2021) took a representative sample of 4,688 adults from the United States COVID Impact Survey. The primary outcome variable was mask wearing adherence. Logistic regression estimate (including ethnicity, gender, time of survey completion, age, household income, level of education, marital status, region, work status, health insurance and self-reported physical health) reported that adherence increased across the time points of the survey [April 2020: reference category; May 2020, OR: 1.23, not significant; June, OR: 1.79, p < 0.001] suggesting that people were more willing to wear a mask as the size, scale and severity of the pandemic increased and mask wearing became commonplace.

United States, Datta et al. (2021): Datta et al. (2021) conducted semi-structured interviews with 16 healthcare professionals on the barriers and facilitators to face mask compliance. The qualitative study identified a need for communication from management with positive reinforcement, presenting that others are wearing masks and that they feel it important to do so.

Social normative pressure is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 36: Studies evidencing that social normative pressure is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a crosssectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Perceived social norms were significantly correlated to mask wearing $[r2=0.22,\,p<0.01)$, however, a pathway analysis did not find this to be a significant factor.

Conclusions

Table 37: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]			Total
	As perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing nonadherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	6 [8	6%]	1 [14%]	7
Studies	6 [86%]	0	1 [14%]	7
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	5
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	1
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	1

Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	5 [83%]	0	1 [17%]	6
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence, 86 per cent [6 out of 7] found that perceived social normative pressure is predictive of mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived social normative pressure is associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the six studies that found perceived social normative pressure to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [6 out of 6] found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive less social normative pressure to wear a mask are more likely to not adhere), so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when perceived social normative pressure is predictive of mask wearing non-adherence, the association is negative. Out of all studies, 86 per cent [6 out of 7] found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing nonadherence decreases, so that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive less social normative pressure to wear a mask are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between sex/gender and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high

confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Asian [1 study] and South American [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Latin American [1 study] and Confucian Asian [1 study] cultural group countries.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern

European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 83 per cent [5 out of 6] found that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income [1 study] countries.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived social normative pressure and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY POLITICAL IDEOLOGY

Political ideology refers to people' political beliefs and affiliations. It was measured either as a categorical variable in terms of political parties voted for or identified with, or on scales associated with political spectrums (e.g., liberal to conservative; left to right) or even as a binary variable (e.g., left vs. right political orientation).

In total, five studies considered the association between political ideology and mask wearing adherence. Of these, all five found that political ideology was predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the five studies that found political ideology was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that right wing or conservative voters were more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures

<u>Table 38: Studies evidencing that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures</u>

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	van der Linden and Savoie (2020)	Canada	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Cunningham and Nite (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Mahalik et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
5	Stosic et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

Canada, van der Linden and Savoie (2020): Using a crosssectional survey design with 2,194 participants stratified by age, sex, education, partisanship and region, van der Linden and Savoie (2020) assessed whether Canadians exhibit a higher propensity to wear masks in response to appeals to a sense of collective interest or self-interest. A linear regression model (including the categorical independent variables of sex, age group, highest level of educational attainment and vote choice in the 2019 Canadian federal election, as well as the impact of self or collective interest on mask wearing) suggested that partisan differences had an effect on the adoption of masks. Those who voted for the Liberal Party [p < 0.001] and the New Democratic Party [p < 0.001]) in the 2019 Canadian federal election were more likely to wear a face mask than Conservative, Green, and Bloc Québécois voters. The authors suggested that left-leaning Canadians were more receptive to the idea of mask wearing.

United States, Cunningham and Nite (2021): Using data collected from secondary sources, Cunningham and Nite (2021) assess the predictability of mask wearing in the United States from health behaviours, clinical care, environmental factors and socio-economic conditions hypothesising that, as these factors increase, so too would the use of face masks, assessed using regression modelling. Data concerning mask wearing were taken from a survey of 250,000 people with responses aggregated at the county level weighting by age, gender and zip code. Health data were taken from the County Health Rankings & Roadmaps website. Cunningham and Nite (2021) controlled for gender, age (over and under 65), ethnicity (White and non-White) and setting (urban, rural). Democrat voters were more likely to wear a mask [estimate = 0.051, standard error = 0.003, p < 0.001].

United States, Mahalik et al. (2021): Mahalik et al. (2021) investigated the impact of conformity to male masculine norms on attitudes to wearing a face mask. Mahalik et al.(2021) reported findings from an online survey of 596

male adults from the United States that greater conformity to male masculine norms results in a significant reduction in attitude towards use of face coverings [B=-0.02, p < 0.001]. This relationship was mediated by perceived benefits of mask wearing; those with high conformity were less likely to perceive benefits compared to those with low conformity to masculine norms, more likely to perceive barriers, and less likely to have confidence in science and empathy for vulnerable people. These mediating factors were in turn influenced by political ideology, with liberals seeing greater benefits, perceiving fewer barriers, and having greater confidence in the scientific community and more empathy.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Political views (conservative) were negatively correlated to adherence to mask wearing [r2=-0.20, p < 0.01] and were found to be a significant predictor in the pathway analysis explaining 14 per cent of the variance [negatively in relation to conservative voting; p < 0.01].

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacts reported face mask wearing in the United States and the mediating role of belief in mask effectiveness. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling for age, gender, race, ethnicity and region, Stosic et al. (2021) reported that a liberal political ideology was a predictor of mask wearing [direct effect – OR: 1.16, p < 0.001].

Conclusions

Table 39: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [n, %]	Left wing or liberal voters are more likely to adhere to mask wearing [n, %]		
Studies	5 [100%]		0	5
Studies	5 [100%]	0	0	5

Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Anglo	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High-income	5 [100%]	0	0	5
Upper middle income	0	0	0	0
Lower middle income	0	0	0	0
Low-income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between political ideology and mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that political ideology is predictive of mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that political ideology is predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the five studies that found political ideology to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when political ideology is predictive of mask wearing adherence, right wing or conservative

voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing. Of all the studies, again, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between political ideology and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Asian [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies], South American [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Latin American [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 100 per cent [5 out of 5] found that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

There is no evidence from which to draw conclusions about the relationship between political ideology and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of upper middle income [0 studies], lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY SETTING

Setting refers to the location of the behaviour of mask wearing. It was measured as a categorical variable (e.g., at home, in public).

In total, three studies considered the association between setting and mask wearing adherence. Of these, all three found that setting was predictive of mask wearing adherence (i.e., that mask wearing adherence differed by location).

Setting is associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 40: Studies evidencing that setting is associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
2	Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021)	Brazil	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income
3	Al Naam et al. (2021)	Saudi Arabia	Asia	Middle East	High Income

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed 15,507 observations of adults wearing masks while walking, running and cycling in Argentina for six weeks between May and July 2020, and for a further two weeks between October and November 2020. A probit regression with cycling as the reference category showed that mask wearing was significantly more likely for those walking [B = 0.65, p < 0.001] and marginally less likely for those running [B =-0.07, p = 0.08] relative to those cycling. A negative relationship is reported between group size (larger groups) and mask wearing while walking [B = -0.04, p = 0.016], running [B =-0.17, p < 0.001] and cycling [B =-0.06, p = 0.04]. This mix of results highlights that the behaviour of mask wearing varies across activities and that caution is required if attempting to generalise the

determinants of mask wearing across activities. Freidin et al. (2021) also reported that mask wearing significantly decreased over the study period.

Brazil, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021): The objective of the study by Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) was to evaluate the practice of using face masks by the population of Paraíba during the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a cross-sectional, descriptive-analytical design, Pereira-Ávila et al. (2021) assessed the outcome variables of face mask usage across a number of domains in 1,327 adult participants living in Paraíba. Descriptive statistics showed that mask wearing differed by environment and context, with 65.5 per cent of participants stating that they would wear a face mask when in a doctor's clinic to protect themselves from illness,

compared to 61.1 per cent in a public place; 55.8 per cent stated that they would wear a face mask in a doctor's clinic if they had signs of illness, compared to 47.5 per cent if in a public place. Only 23.8 per cent stated that they would wear a mask at home if they had signs of illness; 20 per cent of participants stated that they would wear a mask at home if a family member showed signs of illness.

Saudi Arabia, Al Naam et al. (2021): Al Naam et al. (2021) conducted a cross-sectional survey of Saudi residents

who were above 16 years old and who had access to the internet; all Saudi residents who met these criteria were invited to participate, with 3,572 responses received. Descriptive statistics reported by Al Naam et al. (2021), showed that 87.2 per cent of respondents agreed to wear a face mask frequently in public places, 80.5 per cent in the workplace, and 47.5 per cent at social gatherings. Al Naam et al. (2021) reported that the most popular place to buy a face mask is a pharmacy (67.1 per cent), followed by a supermarket (7.2 per cent).

Conclusions

Table 41: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
Studies	3 [100%]	0	3
Region			
Europe	0	0	0
North America	0	0	0
Asia	1 [100%]	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0
South America	2 [100%]	0	2
Africa	0	0	0
Cultural Group			
Anglo	0	0	0
Germanic Europe	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0
Latin America	2 [100%]	0	2
Southern Asia	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0
Middle East	1 [100%]	0	1
Income			

High Income	1 [100%]	0	1
Upper Middle Income	2 [100%]	0	2
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between setting and mask wearing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY MANDATING MASK WEARING

Mandating mask wearing refers to requiring people to wear a face mask in certain situations. It was measured as a binary variable (i.e., presence or absence of a mandate to wear a mask).

In total, three studies considered the association between mandating mask wearing and mask wearing adherence. Of these, all three found that mandating mask wearing was predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the three studies that found mandating mask wearing was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that mandating mask wearing increases likelihood of mask wearing adherence.

Mandating mask wearing increases likelihood of mask wearing adherence

Table 42: Studies evidencing that mandating mask wearing increases likelihood of mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Adjodah et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Datta et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Adjodah et al. (2021): Adjodah et al. (2021) conducted secondary analysis of publicly available secondary data sources on adherence to mask wearing by adults in the United States. The data were from online surveys of more than 1 million American residents. Adjodah et al. (2021) weighted the data to be representative of the population of the United States. Adjodah et al. (2021) reported that mask wearing increased by 23.4 per cent in the weeks following mandated action, with a 3.19 per cent decrease in the weeks following the removal of the mandate.

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Those who stated they had followed previous/current guidelines in relation to COVID-19 were significantly more likely to adhere to wearing a face covering [r2 = 0.28, p <0.01;

explaining 13 per cent of the variance in the pathway analysis, p < 0.01]. The path analyses also showed a small effect of the presence of a shelter-in-place order being associated with more frequent mask wearing.

United States, Datta et al. (2021): Datta et al. (2021) conducted 1,561 observations of healthcare professionals to assess compliance with use of face mask coverings. This was followed by semi-structured interviews with 16 healthcare professionals on the barriers and facilitators to face mask compliance to influence the development of an

intervention to bring about change. Follow-up observations (n = 2,651 observations) occurred over a 14-week period. The qualitative study identified a need for the mandated use of face masks to increase compliance. A mandate for universal face mask coverings was introduced as part of the multimodal intervention, which increased use in the short term [= 0.02; p = 0.002] but no significant secular trend was observed in face mask compliance over the study period [= 0.002; p = 0.08]. Datta et al. (2021) did not report what components of the multimodal intervention were impactful.

Conclusions

Table 43: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predicti	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	Mandating mask wearing increases likelihood of mask wearing adherence [n, %]	Mandating mask wearing decreases likelihood of mask wearing adherence [n, %]		
Studies	3 [10	00%]	0	3
Studies	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0

Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [100%]	0	0	3
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between mandating mask wearing and mask wearing adherence, including when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED MASK WEARING EFFICACY

Perceived mask wearing efficacy is the belief in the effectiveness of wearing a face mask in terms of preventing catching COVID-19 or spreading it. It is measured as both an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale) and a categorical variable in terms of level of efficacy.

In total, five studies considered the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence. Of these, three found that perceived mask wearing efficacy was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that perceived mask wearing efficacy was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the three studies that found that perceived mask wearing efficacy was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all three found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive mask wearing to be less effective are more likely to not adhere).

As perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 44: Studies evidencing that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Mahalik et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Stosic et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Mahalik et al. (2021): Mahalik et al. (2021) investigated the impact of conformity to male masculine norms on attitudes to wearing a face mask. Mahalik et al. (2021) report findings from an online survey of 596 male adults from the United States, stating that those perceiving more benefits from mask wearing [B = 0.005, p < 0.001] had a more positive attitude to mark wearing.

United States, Stosic et al. (2021): Stosic et al. (2021) investigated whether a belief in science directly impacted reported face mask wearing in the United States and the mediating role of a belief in mask effectiveness. Using a cross-sectional survey design of 1,050 adult participants, analysed using ordinal logistic regression controlling for age, gender, race, ethnicity, region and political ideology, Stosic et al. (2021) report that a belief in mask effectiveness

was a strong predictor of mask wearing [direct effect – OR: 1.82, p < 0.001].

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. Descriptive statistics showed that 81.8 per cent

of those who wore a mark perceived it important to do so; 79.5 per cent of those who wore a mask perceived it important for everyone to do so; 78.1 per cent of those who wore a mask thought it a good idea and a good idea for everyone (77.9 per cent); 76.8 per cent of those who wore a mask in the last six weeks felt that it would protect others and 77.4 per cent believed that it would protect them, with the belief (for 76.3 per cent of them) that it would prevent the spread of COVID-19.

Perceived mask wearing efficacy is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 45: Studies evidencing that perceived mask wearing efficacy is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education) and adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. Attitude, in terms of perceived importance of wearing a face covering, significantly

increased the intention to use a face covering [OR: 4.65, p < 0.01], however, this did not result in significant increases in actual use.

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed a survey of 578 respondents to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regressions was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance reported by Freidin et al. (2021) included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Belief in the effectiveness of mask wearing was not a significant predictor.

Conclusions

Table 46: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non- adherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non- adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	3 [6	0%]	2 [40%]	5
Studies	3 [60%]	0	2 [40%]	5
Region				

Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Asia	0	0	0	0
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence, 60 per cent [3 out of 5] found perceived mask wearing efficacy to be predictive, so that it can be confidently concluded that perceived mask wearing efficacy is predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the three studies that found perceived mask wearing efficacy to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [3 out of 3] found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive mask wearing to be less effective are more likely to not adhere). Out of all the studies, 60 per

cent [3 out of 5] found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those with less belief in the efficacy of mask wearing are more likely to not adhere), so that, overall, it can be confidently concluded that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive mask wearing to be less effective are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations

between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence in the context of South American countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Asian [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Of the studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence in the context of Latin American cultural group countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Southern Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived mask wearing efficacy and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income countries [1 study].

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED VULNERABILITY TO COVID-19

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 is the perceived risk of being harmed by COVID-19 if infected. perceived risk of COVID-19, perceived seriousness of contracting COVID-19, fear of COVID-19, and worry of contracting COVID-19. Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, four studies considered the association between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence. Of these, two found that perceived vulnerability was predictive of mask wearing adherence and two found that perceived vulnerability was not predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the two studies that found perceived vulnerability was predictive of mask wearing adherence, both found that, as perceived vulnerability increases, mask wearing adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less vulnerable to COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere).

As perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 47: Studies evidencing that, as perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

		Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	l	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	2	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education) and adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two

outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. Perceived severity showed a significant association with the wearing of a paper disposable mask, surgical mask, dust mask, or other respirator, such as an N95 [OR: 1.13, p < 0.05].

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing

by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six

weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Perceived risk to health of COVID-19 [r2 = 0.20, p < 0.01] was positively correlated to mask wearing, but not a significant factor in the pathway analysis.

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 48: Studies evidencing that perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Anderson and Stockman (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

United States, Anderson and Stockman (2020):

Anderson and Stockman (2020) enrolled 491 adult women from the United States into the COPE Study, a cross-sectional survey of experiences related to COVID-19 and COVID-19 prevention behaviours. Binary logistic modelling was employed to identify factors predicting the practice of wearing a face mask in public. Using stepwise backwards elimination to obtain a parsimonious model with predictive ability, all variables significant at the bivariate level were entered into a regression model. Fear of COVID-19 was not a significant predictor of mask wearing, nor was knowing someone who had had COVID-19 or had been hospitalised because of, or died from, COVID-19.

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed a survey of 578 respondents to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regressions was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance reported by Freidin et al. (2021) included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Perceived disease severity was not a significant predictor.

Conclusions

Table 49: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing nonadherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing nonadherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	2 [5	0%]	2 [50%]	4
Studies	2 [50%]	0	2 [50%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0 0		0
North America	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Asia	0	0	0	0

Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Upper Middle Income	0	0	1 [100%]	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence, 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found perceived vulnerability to be predictive and 50 per cent [2 out of 4] found perceived vulnerability not to be predictive, such that the relationship between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence is inconclusive.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence when looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED SUSCEPTIBILITY TO COVID-19

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 is the perceived risk of being infected with COVID-19, but does not refer to the perceived risk of being harmed by COVID-19 if infected, which is considered in the previous section as perceived vulnerability. Perceived susceptibility was primarily measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, five studies considered the association between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence. Of these, four found that perceived susceptibility was predictive of mask wearing adherence and one found that perceived susceptibility was not associated with mask wearing adherence. Of the four studies that found perceived susceptibility was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that, as perceived susceptibility increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere).

As perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 50: Studies evidencing that, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Datta et al. (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
4	Freidin et al. (2021)	Argentina	South America	Latin America	Upper Middle Income

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a cross-sectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Perceived

risk of exposure to Sars-Cov-2 [r2 = 0.15, p < 0.01] was positively correlated to mask wearing but was not a significant factor in the pathway analysis.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous

six weeks. Descriptive statistics showed that 81.8 per cent of those wearing a mask had a perceived susceptibility to getting COVID-19.

United States, Datta et al. (2021): Datta et al. (2021) conducted semi-structured interviews with 16 healthcare professionals on the barriers and facilitators to face mask compliance to influence the development of an intervention to bring about change. The qualitative study identified that a concern for potential exposure to COVID-19 was a motivator for mask wearing.

Argentina, Freidin et al. (2021): Freidin et al. (2021) completed a survey of 578 respondents to assess the predictors of mask wearing using hierarchically organised regressions. The entering order of factors in the regressions was as follows: age, gender, education, contagion risk, illness severity, benefits (mask effectiveness), costs and norms. The model with the greatest predictive validity of variance reported by Freidin et al. (2021) included all of the aforementioned regression factors, explaining 39 per cent of the variance [p < 0.001]. Perceived risk of contagion was a significant predictor of mask wearing [p < 0.05] with those expressing a greater perceived risk more likely to wear a mask.

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 51: Studies evidencing that perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education) and adjusted for clustering

by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering) and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. No significant association was reported between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and intention to wear, or actual wearing of, a cloth face covering.

Conclusions

Table 52: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictiv	ve [n, %]	Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing nonadherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing nonadherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	4 [80%]		1 [20%]	4
Studies	4 [80%]	0	1 [20%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	3
Asia	0	0	0	0

Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	0	0	0	0
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	3
Upper Middle Income	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found perceived susceptibility to be predictive, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived susceptibility is predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the four studies that found perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [4 out of 4] found that, as perceived susceptibility increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere), so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, when perceived susceptibility is predictive of mask wearing non-adherence, the association is negative. Of all the studies, 80 per cent [4 out of 5] found that, as perceived susceptibility increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that, overall, it

can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived susceptibility increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, some associations between perceived COVID-19 susceptibility and mask wearing adherence are evident.

Region: Of the studies conducted in North American countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the context of South American countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of European [0 studies], Asian [0 studies], Oceanian [0 studies] and African [0 studies] countries.

Cultural group: Out of studies conducted in Anglo cultural group countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the context of Latin American cultural group countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of Germanic European [0 studies], Nordic European [0 studies], Eastern European [0 studies], Latin European [0 studies], Southern

Asian [0 studies], Confucian Asian [0 studies], Sub-Saharan African [0 studies] and Middle Eastern [0 studies] cultural group countries.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the context of upper middle income countries [1 study].

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence in the contexts of lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION PERCEIVED BEHAVIOURAL CONTROL

Perceived behavioural control is an individual's perception of the ease or difficulty in performing a behaviour; closely related to self-efficacy, which is an individual's perception of their ability and capacity to execute a behaviour. Perceived control over mask wearing adherence was measured as an ordinal variable (i.e., on a scale).

In total, four studies considered the association between perceived behavioural control and mask wearing adherence. Of these, three found that perceived behavioural control was predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the three studies that found perceived behavioural control was predictive of mask wearing adherence, all found that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to have less control over their mask wearing are more likely to not adhere).

As perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

Table 53: Studies evidencing that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Barile et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
2	Fisher et al. (2020)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income
3	Sun et al. (2021)	China	Asia	Confucian Asia	High Income

United States, Barile et al. (2020): Barile et al. (2020) conducted a cross-sectional survey of adults from the United States (N = 1,004), examining the predictors of intention to wear a face covering, reported use of cloth face coverings and reported use of other face masks such as a surgical mask or N95 respirator, in public. Using an ordinal regression path model utilising sample weights based on US census characteristics (by gender, age, region, race/ethnicity and education) and adjusted for clustering by state of residence, Barile et al. (2020) report on one mediator (intention to use a cloth face covering)

and two outcomes (use of cloth face covering and use of other face covering). The covariates of age, gender and urbanicity were included as predictors of intentions to use, and use of, a face covering. Attitude, in terms of perceived importance of wearing a face covering, significantly increased the intention to use a face covering [OR: 4.65, p < 0.01], however, this did not result in significant increases in actual use. Self-efficacy significantly increased the intention to use a face covering [intention – OR: 1.9, p < 0.001]. However, this did not result in significant increases in actual use.

United States, Fisher et al. (2020): Fisher et al. (2020) surveyed a representative sample of adults (n = 1,005) in the United States in the month following the Government recommendation to wear face coverings. The outcome of interest was the use of face coverings within the previous six weeks. Descriptive statistics showed that 83.4 per cent of people found the practice easy, with 78 per cent of them able to use a face covering.

China, Sun et al. (2021): Sun et al. (2021) investigated multiple hypotheses using a cross-sectional design with questionnaires distributed to a convenience sample of 477 international university students studying in China. Sun et al. (2021) predicted that attitude, subjective norm

and perceived behavioural control were all positively associated with intention to wear a face mask. Further, Sun et al. (2021) predicted that the effect of subjective norm on intention to use a face mask would be mediated by both attitude towards mask wearing and perceived behavioural control. The hypothesis model was analysed using structural equation modelling; living area, countries where international students were from, and grade were controlled for. Perceived behavioural control was directly and positively related to behavioural intention (perceived behavioural control explained 13.1 per cent of the variance). The effects of living area, countries where international students were living, and grade were controlled.

Perceived behavioural control is not associated with mask wearing adherence

Table 54: Study evidencing that perceived behavioural control is not associated with mask wearing adherence

	Study	Country	Region	Cultural Group	Income
1	Milad and Bogg (2021)	United States	North America	Anglo	High Income

United States, Milad and Bogg (2021): Using a crosssectional survey design with 500 adult participants, Milad and Bogg (2021) assessed adherence to mask wearing by age, sex, perceived health, political views, personality traits, perceived norms, perceived control, attitudes, self-efficacy, guideline adherence intention, guideline adherence, perceived exposure risk and perceived health risk as predictors of follow-up mask wearing (four to six weeks after the collection of baseline measures). Perceived control was not significantly correlated; self-efficacy was correlated but was not found to be significant in a pathway model [r2=0.18, p < 0.01].

Conclusions

Table 55: Analysis of evidence by findings, region, cultural group and income

	Predictive [n, %]		Non-predictive [n, %]	Total
	As perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non- adherence decreases [n, %]	As perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non- adherence increases [n, %]		
Studies	3 [75%]		1 [25%]	4
Studies	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Region				
Europe	0	0	0	0
North America	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3

Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Oceania	0	0	0	0
South America	0	0	0	0
Africa	0	0	0	0
Cultural Group				
Anglo	2 [67%]	0	1 [33%]	3
Germanic Europe	0	0	0	0
Nordic Europe	0	0	0	0
Eastern Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin Europe	0	0	0	0
Latin America	0	0	0	0
Southern Asia	0	0	0	0
Confucian Asia	1 [100%]	0	0	1
Sub-Saharan Africa	0	0	0	0
Middle East	0	0	0	0
Income				
High Income	3 [75%]	0	1 [25%]	4
Upper Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Lower Middle Income	0	0	0	0
Low Income	0	0	0	0

Overall: Of the studies that considered the association between perceived behavioural control and mask wearing adherence, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that perceived behavioural control is predictive of mask wearing adherence, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that perceived behavioural control is predictive of mask wearing adherence. Of the three studies that found perceived behavioural control to be predictive of mask wearing adherence, 100 per cent [3 out of 3] found that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to have less control over their mask wearing are more likely to not adhere). Of all the studies, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that, overall, it can be concluded with high confidence

that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases (i.e., those who perceive themselves to have less control over their mask wearing are more likely to not adhere).

In looking for patterns by region, cultural group and income of the countries in the studies, an association between perceived behavioural control and mask wearing adherence is evident when segmenting by income, but there is insufficient evidence to draw any conclusions on the basis of region and cultural group.

Income: Of the studies conducted in high income countries, 75 per cent [3 out of 4] found that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases, so that it can be concluded with high confidence that, in

high income countries, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases.

There is no evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between perceived behavioural control and mask wearing adherence in upper middle income [0 studies], lower middle income [0 studies] and low income [0 studies] countries.

CONCLUSIONS

WHO IS MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Age

Age is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that age is not associated with mask wearing adherence [64 per cent of studies; 7 out of 11].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, age is not associated with mask wearing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, age is not associated with mask wearing adherence [75 per cent of studies, 6 out of 8].

Gender/Sex

Males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing than females.

Overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing than females [55 per cent of studies; 6 out of 11].

Education

Those who are less educated are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Overall, it can be concluded with some confidence that education is not associated with social distancing adherence [54 per cent of studies, 7 out of 13].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as education level increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income

Amount of income is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

Overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that income is not associated with mask wearing adherence [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4].

Race/ethnicity

Members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask [60 per cent of studies, 3 out of 5].

Marital status

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between marital status and mask wearing adherence.

Living area

Whether someone is a rural or urban dweller is not associated with mask wearing adherence.

Overall, it can only be concluded with some confidence that living area is not associated with mask wearing adherence [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4].

Health status

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between health status and mask wearing adherence.

Access to health care

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between access to health care and mask wearing adherence.

WHY ARE PEOPLE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES AND IN WHAT CONTEXT?



Capability (psychological)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to psychological capability.

Capability (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical capability.

Opportunity (social)

Perceived social normative pressure

Those who perceive less social normative pressure to wear a mask are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [86 per cent of studies, 6 out of 7].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived social normative pressure increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [83 per cent of studies, 5 out of 6].

Political ideology

Right-wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, right wing or conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing [100 per cent of studies, 5 out of 5].

Setting

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between setting and mask wearing adherence.

Mandating mask wearing

There is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the relationship between mandating mask wearing and mask wearing adherence.

Opportunity (physical)

Nothing identified in the rapid evidence review in regard to physical opportunity.

Motivation (reflective)

Perceived mask wearing efficacy

Those who perceive mask wearing to be less effective are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Overall, it can be confidently concluded that, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [60 per cent of studies, 3 out of 5].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived mask wearing efficacy increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19

The relationship between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence is inconclusive.

Overall, the evidence between the relationship between perceived vulnerability to COVID-19 and mask wearing adherence is inconclusive [50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4, found that, as perceived vulnerability increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases; 50 per cent of studies, 2 out of 4, found that perceived vulnerability is not predictive of mask wearing adherence].

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19

Those who perceive themselves to be less susceptible to catching COVID-19 are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [80 per cent of studies, 4 out of 5].

Regional context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in North American countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Cultural group context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in Anglo cultural group countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived susceptibility to COVID-19 increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Perceived behavioural control

Those who perceive themselves to have less control over their mask wearing are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing.

Overall, it can be concluded with high confidence that, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Income context: It can be concluded with high confidence that, in high income countries, as perceived behavioural control increases, mask wearing non-adherence decreases [75 per cent of studies, 3 out of 4].

Motivation (automatic)

Nothing was identified in the rapid evidence review with regard to automatic motivation.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS



TARGETING THOSE MORE LIKELY TO NOT ADHERE TO MASK WEARING MEASURES



Age

No need to target groups on the basis of age

Age was not associated with mask wearing adherence, so policymakers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their age.

Sex/Gender

Support males to wear masks

Policymakers should support males to adhere with mask wearing measures. Further research is required to understand why males are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing in order to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to adhere to mask wearing measures.

Education

Support those less educated to wear masks

Policymakers should support less educated people to adhere to mask wearing measures. Further research is required to understand why those less educated are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing in order to inform the design of interventions and policies that can support them to adhere to mask wearing measures.

Income

No need to target groups on the basis of income

Income was not associated with mask wearing adherence, so policymakers should not target specific support to groups on the basis of their income level or socio-economic status.

Race/ethnicity

Learn why members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask, but least likely to receive the vaccine

Further research is required to understand why members of Black ethnic groups are most likely to wear a mask, but least likely to receive a COVID-19 vaccine (see equivalent REA on vaccine hesitancy in this series), in particular with regard to perceived vulnerability, perceived susceptibility and trust.

Living area

No need to target groups on the basis of living area

Living area was not associated with mask wearing adherence, so policymakers should not target specific support to rural or urban dwellers.

IMPROVING SOCIAL OPPORTUNITY

8.2

Perceived social normative pressure

Model mask wearing and make mandatory in social settings

That perceived social normative pressure is positively associated with mask wearing adherence presents an opportunity to socially influence mask wearing adherence, certainly in North American countries, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries.

Modelling

Community leaders should model mask wearing adherence to encourage members of their community to adhere to mask wearing measures. Furthermore, ambassadors from peer groups should be recruited to model mask wearing adherence for groups who are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing measures.

Restrictions

Social normative pressure can be strengthened by restricting access to social venues and social events to those not wearing a mask, although this carries a risk of politicising COVID-19 and mask wearing.

Political ideology

Depoliticise COVID-19 and diversify messengers promoting mask wearing

That political ideology is predictive of mask wearing non-adherence suggests a need to depoliticise COVID-19 and mask wearing, certainly in North American countries, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries.

Regulation

Removal of freedoms, such as making mask wearing mandatory, can lead to a widening of the political divide and should be avoided wherever possible.

Communication and modelling

There is a need to diversify the messengers promoting mask wearing, using non-political figures to promote the importance of mask wearing. Also, given that right wing and conservative voters are more likely to not adhere to mask wearing, right wing and conservative leaders (especially when not in government) should be involved in promoting mask wearing.

IMPROVING REFLECTIVE MOTIVATION



Perceived mask wearing efficacy

Communicate how masks work and how effective they are

Policymakers, in particular in North American countries, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries, should address perceived lack of efficacy as a barrier to mask wearing.

Communication

The role of masks in limiting the spread of COVID-19 should be clearly communicated: they act both as source control devices to block exhaled COVID-19 virus and as filtration to protect the wearer. Source control to block exhaled COVID-19 virus is where, if someone has the virus, they can protect others by wearing a N95 mask to block the release of up to 90 per cent of exhaled respiratory particles and droplets into the environment (6). Filtration for wearer protection is where, if someone comes into contact with the virus, wearing a N95 mask can reduce their exposure to infectious particles and droplets by between 80 and 90 per cent (6).

The effectiveness of face masks at limiting the release of the virus from the wearer, but also protecting them from exposure, has consistently been found to reduce transmission by approximately 70 per cent in real-world settings. For example, following an outbreak of COVID-19 aboard USSTheodore Roosevelt, sailors who wore face masks were 70 per cent less likely to be infected than those not using a face mask (7). In a study in Thailand with over 1,000 participants, those who reported always wearing masks in high-risk exposure circumstances were 84 per cent less likely [COR = 0.16, p < 0.001] to be infected than those who did not wear a mask (8). In a study of 124 Beijing households with a confirmed case of COVID-19, secondary transmission was 79 per cent lower in the households where masks were worn (9). In a study of schools in Arizona, United States, outbreaks were 3.5 times more likely in schools without mask mandates (10). In a study of a high-exposure event where two symptomatically ill hair stylists in the United Sates continued to work while wearing masks, coming into direct contact with 139 clients also wearing masks for, on average, approximately 20 minutes, there were no cases of COVID-19 transmission (11). Real-world data such as these, rather than trial data, should be used wherever possible to ensure communications are more meaningful.

Perceived vulnerability to COVID-19

No need to factor into policy and interventions design

Although there is some evidence that perceived vulnerability is positively associated with mask wearing adherence, the relationship is not conclusive, so policymakers should focus on other factors to support mask wearing adherence.

Perceived susceptibility to COVID-19

Challenge beliefs of insusceptibility to COVID-19 with real-time location-specific data

Given that a lack of perceived susceptibility is positively associated with mask wearing non-adherence, in particular in North American countries, Anglo cultural group countries and high income countries, policymakers can increase adherence to mask wearing measures by educating their populations on the contagiousness of COVID-19 and, therefore, the susceptibility of their populations to COVID-19.

Communication

Regular and meaningful communication of infection rates can challenge perceptions of insusceptibility (e.g., for given locations at a given point in time, how many people are infected).

Perceived behavioural control

Provide free-of-charge masks and reminders to wear masks

Increasing control over mask wearing, certainly in high income countries, can improve adherence with mask wearing measures.

Enablement

Provide free-of-charge masks at entrances to locations where mask wearing is required or advised.

Environmental restructuring

Provide environmental cues, such as signs, to remind people to wear masks.

REFERENCES



REA References

Adjodah, D., et al., 'Association between COVID-19 outcomes and mask mandates, adherence, and attitudes', PLoS ONE, 23 June 2021, 16(6):e0252315.

Al Naam, Y.A. et al., 'Community practice of using face masks for the prevention of COVID-19 in Saudi Arabia', PLoS ONE, 19 February 2021, 16(2):e0247313.

Anderson, K.M. and Stockman, J. K., 'Staying home, distancing, and face masks: COVID-19 prevention among U.S. Women in the COPE Study', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 29 December 2020, 18(1):180.

Barile, J.P., et al., 'Theory-based behavioral predictors of self-reported use of face coverings in public settings during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States', Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 10 December 2020 (epub ahead of print), 55(1):82–88.

Chen, X., et al., 'Hand hygiene, mask-wearing behaviors and its associated factors during the COVID-19 epidemic: A cross-sectional study among primary school students in Wuhan, China', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 22 April 2020, 17(8):2893.

Cunningham, G.B. and Nite, C., 'Demographics, politics, and health factors predict mask wearing during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study', BMC Public Health, 15 July 2021, 21(1):1403.

Datta, R., et al., 'Increasing face-mask compliance among healthcare personnel during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic', Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 3 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 43(5):616–622.

Fisher, K.A., et al., 'Factors associated with cloth face covering use among adults during the COVID-19 pandemic – United States, April and May 2020', MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 17 July 2020, 69(28):933–937.

Freidin, E., et al., 'Field observations and survey evidence to assess predictors of mask wearing across different outdoor activities in an Argentine city during the COVID 19 pandemic', Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being, 13 July 2021 (epub ahead of print), 14(1):81-100.

Hearne, B.N. and Niño, M.D., 'Understanding how race, ethnicity, and gender shape mask-wearing adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from the COVID Impact Survey', Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities, 19 January 2021 (epub ahead of print), 9(1):176-183.

van der Linden, C. and Savoie, J., 'Does collective interest or self-interest motivate mask usage as a preventive measure against COVID-19?', Canadian Journal of Political Science, 14 May 2020, 53(2):391–397.

Mahalik, J.R., Di Bianca, M. and Harris, M.P., 'Men's attitudes toward mask-wearing during COVID-19: Understanding the complexities of mask-ulinity', Journal of Health Psychology, 10 February 2021 (epub ahead of print), 27(5):1187–1204.

Milad, E. and Bogg, T., 'Spring 2020 COVID-19 Surge: Prospective relations between demographic factors, personality traits, social cognitions and guideline adherence, mask wearing, and symptoms in a U.S. sample', Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 15 May 2021 (epub ahead of print), 55(7):665–676.

Pereira-Ávila, F. M. V., et al., 'Fatores associados à prática do uso de máscaras pela população paraibana durante a pandemia da COVID-19', Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da USP, 2 June 2021, 55:e03735.

Stosic, M. D., Helwig, S. and Ruben, M. A., 'Greater belief in science predicts mask-wearing behavior during COVID-19', Personality and Individual Differences, 12 February 2021 (epub ahead of print), 176:110769.

Sun, Y., et al., 'Predicting mask-wearing behavior intention among international students during COVID-19 based on the theory of planned behavior', Annals of Palliative Medicine, 11 February 2021 (epub ahead of print), 10(4):3633–3647.

Document References

- 1. Burgess R.A., et al., 'The COVID-19 vaccines rush: participatory community engagement matters more than ever', The Lancet, 10 December 2020 (epub ahead of print), 397(10268):8–10.
- 2. Aschwanden C., 'Five reasons why COVID herd immunity is probably impossible', Nature, 18 March 2021, 591(7851):520–2.
- 3. Michie S., van Stralen M.M. and West R., 'The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions', Implementation Science, 23 April 2011, 6:42.
- 4. UK Department for International Development, 'Assessing the strength of evidence', March 2014, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291982/HTN-strength-evidence-march2014.pdf, accessed 1 June 2021.
- 5. House R.J., et al., editors, 'Culture, leadership, and organizations: The GLOBE study of 62 societies', Sage Publications, July 2004.
- 6. Ueki H., et al., 'Effectiveness of face masks in preventing airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2', mSphere, 21 October 2020, 5(5):e00637-20.
- 7. Payne D.C., et al., 'SARS-CoV-2 infections and serologic responses from a sample of US Navy service members USS Theodore Roosevelt, April 2020', MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 12 June 2020, 69(23):714–721.
- 8. Doung-Ngern P., et al., 'Case-control study of use of personal protective measures and risk for SARS-CoV 2 infection, Thailand', Emerging infectious diseases, 15 September 2020 (epub ahead of print), 26(11):2607–2616.
- 9. Wang Y., et al., 'Reduction of secondary transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in households by face mask use, disinfection and social distancing: a cohort study in Beijing, China', BMJ Global Health, 28 May 2020, 5(5):e002794.
- 10. Jehn M., et al., 'Association between K–12 school mask policies and school-associated COVID-19 outbreaks Maricopa and Pima Counties, Arizona, July–August 2021', MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 1 October 2021, 70(39):1372–1373.
- 11. Hendrix M.J., et al., 'Absence of apparent transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from two stylists after exposure at a hair salon with a universal face covering policy Springfield, Missouri, May 2020', MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 17 July 2020, 69(28):939–932.

for every child, answers

UNICEF Innocenti – Global Office of Research and Foresight Via degli Alfani 58 50121 Florence, Italy Tel: +39 055 2033 0 Fax: +39 055 2033 220 researchpublications@unicef.org www.unicef-irc.org @UNICEFInnocenti on Twitter, LinkedIn, Facebook, Instagram and YouTube